

Human Enhancement Drugs

The Emerging Challenges to Public Health





Authors and Editor

Authors:

Michael Evans-Brown - Senior Researcher in Emerging Drug Issues m.j.evans-brown@ljmu.ac.uk

Jim McVeigh* - Reader in Substance Use Epidemiology, Deputy Director of the Centre for Public Health j.mcveigh@ljmu.ac.uk

Clare Perkins - Deputy Director of the North West Public Health Observatory, Deputy Director of the Centre for Public Health c.perkins@ljmu.ac.uk

Mark A Bellis OBE – Professor of Public Health, Director of the North West Public Health Observatory, Director of the Centre for Public Health m.a.bellis@ljmu.ac.uk

Contributing Editor:

Emma Clark emmaclarklam@gmail.com

*Correspondence relating to this report and other drug-related research to:

Jim McVeigh North West Public Health Observatory Centre for Public Health Liverpool John Moores University 0151 231 4512 j.mcveigh@ljmu.ac.uk

www.nwpho.org.uk

www.cph.org.uk

Acknowledgements

This report was peer reviewed by Prof. Ross Coomber (Director, Drug and Alcohol Research Unit, Plymouth University); Dr. Andrew Kicman (Head of Research & Development, Drug Control Centre, King's College London) and Prof. Rod Thomson (Director of Public Health, Shropshire County Primary Care Trust). We are grateful for their constructive comments and helpful advice.

The authors would also like to thank the following people and organisations for their contribution to the report: Andreas Kimergård, (Aarhus University), for his helpful discussions related to §5.6; Dr Simon Brandt, (Liverpool John Moores University), for his helpful discussion related to n-nitrosofenfluramine; Jennifer Brizell and John Germain; Julia Humphreys and staff at the North West Public Health Observatory; David Seddon and staff at the Centre for Public Health; John McCracken (Department of Health); The Danish Medicines Agency for providing figures 6, 7, 8; The Audio Visual Services at Vendsyssel Hospital for providing figures 17 and 18; and Torben Breindahl (Vendsyssel Hospital) and Dr Allan Stensballe (Aalborg University). We are also grateful to those individuals who originally produced figures 2 and 3. These were previously reproduced in the Journal of the American Medical Association in 1933 and 1936 respectively. However, due to the age of the material an original contact could not be found. The authors would be pleased to make the necessary arrangements with them at the first opportunity.

Disclaimer

This report is intended to raise the profile of the emerging challenge to health from the self-directed use of drugs to enhance the human body, and to inform the development of approaches to understanding and tackling the problem. While every effort has been made to ensure that the information in this report is up-to-date and as accurate as possible at the time of publication, readers are advised to check the most current information that is available.

Most of the drugs discussed in this report are currently obtained from an illicit market, i.e. outside of government regulation. As such, without forensic analysis it is impossible to determine the composition and authenticity of such products. The inclusion of a drug product in this report, whether by generic or brand name, as well as example dosages are used for illustrative purposes only and are based on information published in the literature and in online communities. They are included in order to help inform healthcare professionals, researchers, commissioners and policy makers of the relevant issues discussed therein and should not be viewed or taken as a criticism or endorsement of any kind. The information provided in this report should not be used during any medical emergency, for the diagnosis, or treatment of any medical condition, or in relation to the self-directed use of such drugs. The case studies presented in this report serve to illustrate elements of this form of drug use. These were developed from sources that include academic research, online communities and media reports. They are not intended to refer to any particular person.

To the fullest extent of the law, neither the North West Public Health Observatory nor the authors assume any liability for any injury and/or damage to persons or property arising out of or related to any use of the material contained in this report.

April 2012

Foreword

It is more than 100 years since the British Medical Association raised concerns over unregulated enhancement 'potions', and exposed this profitable industry's tricks of the trade in their report Secret Remedies. Although much has changed since then, the drive for human enhancement has not diminished. Nowadays, it takes only seconds to find websites offering products purporting to enhance our strength and intelligence, help us shed excess weight and even delay the effects of ageing. There are many people who, unhappy with their bodies, their abilities or with the natural ageing process, are prime customers for such products, and there are plenty of manufacturers and retailers ready to exploit this demand.

The fact that some of these compounds sold can have genuine actions on the body's physiology including, in some instances, serious health threatening side effects, means that we need to review regularly whether we have adequate measures in place to protect people's health. As this report identifies, such drugs can cause ill health and sometimes even death. They may never have been tested for the purposes for which they are advertised; they may be products which are no longer used for their original purpose, due to unpleasant or harmful side effects, but which are still being marketed for their enhancement properties; and they may be manufactured without any of the quality assurance required for legitimate pharmaceuticals.

The increasing ease with which pharmaceuticals can be manufactured and distributed means this is likely to be a growing problem. It challenges the very concept of health and the expectations we place on health services. What should the limits of health service responsibilities be for an increasingly ageing population, many of whom wish to keep as much of the beauty and virility of youth for as long as possible? If a patient's doctor does not prescribe what they want, will the patient then access enhancement drugs online – only to return to the doctor for treatment of any subsequent adverse effects? Which enhancement drugs can safely be sold and advertised on the internet, and how could any form of regulation of such products work in a global market?

One of the core reasons the Public Health Observatories were established was to scan horizons for future health issues. Human enhancement drugs and how we live in a world where they are increasingly accessible is one such issue. I am delighted that this report has been written to shine a spotlight on some uncomfortable facts, and to encourage us all to face up to questions as fundamental as what health really means in a century where better strength, intelligence and looks can appear to be only a tablet away.

Professor Lindsey M. Davies CBE, FFPH, FRCP President, UK Faculty of Public Health

Contents

Executive summary		9
1.	Scope of the report	19
2.	The historical context	23
3.	The current context	33
4.	The harms to public health	51
5.	Drugs used to enhance the structure and function of muscle	63
6.	Drugs used to enhance weight loss	81
7.	Drugs used to enhance the appearance of the skin and hair	89
8.	Drugs used to enhance sexual function and behaviour	101
9.	Drugs used to enhance cognitive function	109
10	. Drugs used to enhance mood and social behaviours	117
11	. Discussion	123
Glossary		131
References		136

List of tables

Table 5. Examples of drugs used to enhance the structure and function of muscle.	76
Table 6. Examples of drugs used to enhance weight loss.	84
Table 7. Examples of drugs used to enhance the appearance of the skin and hair.	96
Table 8. Examples of drugs used to enhance sexual function and behaviour.	106
Table 9. Examples of drugs used to enhance cognitive function.	114
Table 10. Examples of drugs used to enhance mood and social behaviours.	120

Executive summary

Public health faces a new kind of drug problem with the growing prevalence of so–called 'enhancement drugs' that have the potential to improve human attributes and abilities. The widespread availability of such drugs has generated a new and growing audience of users. People are seeking out enhancement drugs in a quest to improve their bodies and minds—to look younger and more beautiful, to be stronger, happier and more intelligent.^{1–107} These types of drugs share a few similarities with recreational or addictive drugs—such as heroin, cocaine, ecstasy and 'legal highs'^{108–135}—but also attract people who do not necessarily perceive themselves as 'drug users' and are vulnerable to cultural pressures to optimise their bodies.

Manufacturers and retailers around the world are tapping into the demand for such drugs by harnessing innovations in science and medicine, as well as improvements in transport and communication networks.^{136–151} Significantly, in the case of illicit markets, retailers are able to circumvent national laws and regulation with creative and persuasive marketing strategies via the Internet. Often their customers are duped or remain unaware of the considerable harms associated with usage of these drugs, a situation that presents a threat to public health and throws up challenges for healthcare systems around the world.

The human condition

The age–old desire to be beautiful, fitter or more intelligent has marked human endeavour since the beginning of civilisation. Magic, religion, diet, exercise, education and surgery have all played a part, some woven together to form intricate rituals and lifestyles. Drugs too have been at the heart of these attempts—some of our ancestors sipped drinkable gold *aurum potabile* to make themselves young again. Others feasted on animal testicles to boost their strength and sexual prowess. Introspective Arab poets, meanwhile, chewed khat to stay awake for long periods, meditate on the soul and translate their experiences into poetry.^{152–190}

By the 1880s there was huge growth in the commercial sale of medicines in the United Kingdom and other industrialised nations. This, along with the increasing development of potent synthetic drugs, provoked concerns amongst professional groups over the lack of market regulation.^{190–210} Interestingly, this period saw the same use of dubious advertising techniques and circumvention of laws by retailers, as well as gaps in public scrutiny, that still concern healthcare professionals today (see §2 & §3). Most modern enhancement drugs are obtained from a thriving illicit market, which exploits people's insecurities about their looks, in an environment where the media and popular culture reinforce idealised body types on a daily basis (see Box I).

Box I: Drugs examined in this report are used to enhance:

Structure and function of muscle, such as anabolic steroids to get a 'six pack' or 'bulk up', or growth hormone to 'get toned and trim' (see §5)

Weight loss, such as rimonabant or sibutramine to suppress the appetite, or DNP to 'burn fat' (see §6)

Cosmetic appearance of the skin and hair, such as mercury–containing creams for 'healthy, lighter, more radiant skin', or melanotan II for that 'holiday tan' (see §7)

Sexual behaviour and function, such as sildenafil to 'get a better, stronger erection' and bremelanotide to 'get in the mood' (see \S 8)

Cognitive function, such as methylphenidate and modafinil to 'help study' (see §9)

Mood and social behaviours, such as paroxetine to be 'better than well' (see $(10)^{i}$)

All of these drugs can have potent effects.ⁱⁱ Some are licensed medicines that have been shown to be efficacious and/or effective in treating disease.Yet whether licensed, banned or untested, there is limited scientific evidence to support many of the claims made about their benefits when used by healthy people.

There is also the issue of over medicalisation, a phenomenon that blurs the distinction between normal life events and disease. Ageing, being overweight, sexual performance, hair loss, shyness, tiredness and being 'too' short are some of the events that have been redefined as medical issues and 'treated' with drugs (see §3.2).²⁻⁴ This is causing more people to seek out such treatments, a growing number of whom appear to obtain them from the illicit market.

In the US, the fallout from over-medicalisation has seen the soaring diagnosis of childhood and adult attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), where stimulants such as methylphenidate or amphetamine–based medicines are often prescribed. It is likely that the availability and awareness of such drugs (dubbed 'smart' drugs for their claimed ability to enhance concentration or memory) have fuelled usage in the healthy population, specifically among university students and school children (see §9.3).^{18,74,218–222}

While we know probably the least amount about these types of drugs, the potential market for the next generation of highly active mood enhancing drugs is considerable and will further blur our current definitions and limited understanding of recreational drug users and enhancement drug users.

ii Similar to other drugs and substances, placebo and nocebo effects are likely to play a substantial role in mediating some of the effects (including harms) related to these drugs.²¹¹⁻²¹⁷

Benefits or harms?

All drugs whether licit or illicit have the potential to cause harm to individuals (see §4). To minimise risk to an acceptable level in countries such as the UK, medicines undergo a process of careful regulation including rigorous assessment and constant monitoring.^{223–247} Failure in any of these aspects can cause serious harm—for example, the drug thalidomide, used to treat morning sickness in pregnancy, is reported to have not been sufficiently tested and led to serious birth defects.^{248–276} While analysis of a broad range of drugs sold on the illicit market has found that some are genuine and licensed medicines, there are growing numbers of banned, untested, and/or adulterated drugs being detected.^{e.g. 277–555} These include banned appetite suppressants such as rimonabant and sibutramine being taken to lose weight,^{556–572} and untested drugs such as the synthetic hormone melanotan II being used to tan the skin.^{573–587}

It is illegal to sell a medicine that is not licensed for use in the UK,²²³⁻²³¹ but many retailers ignore this or attempt to conceal the true nature of their products by advertising them as food or herbal supplements, cosmetics, 'research chemicals' and 'not for human consumption'.ⁱ In the case of food and herbal supplements—a market that has seen explosive growth-unscrupulous manufacturers and retailers exploit the common belief that 'natural' products are safer and healthier alternatives to synthetic drugs⁵⁸⁸⁻⁵⁹⁰ and hide potent active substances in them (see (4.3)).^{e.g. 292–457} In some cases these products are sought out by consumers who have read about their rumoured effects on the Internet in discussion forums or reviews. Between 2005 and 2009 the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) tested 138 unlicensed herbal products sold as treatments for erectile dysfunction.ⁱⁱ It found that 65% of the products contained active substances such as sildenafil, or untested analogues (see Box II), and lignocaine, a local anaesthetic. While the strength varied widely, in some cases there was enough active substance to cause an overdose.²⁹⁶

Similarly, products sold as muscle builders, fat burners, diet pills, sunless self–tanning sprays and cosmetics have all been found to contain potent active substances that are often banned or untested.^{292–304,483} However, establishing the extent of the harms caused by these products is difficult, partly because most consumers are not aware that they are taking a drug. They may also be too embarrassed to admit that they have used such products, or simply do not know how to report any harms. In addition, consumers have no way of checking the quality, safety and efficacy of products sold on the illicit market. Instead they

These two latter strategies are also commonly used in the 'legal high' market in order to circumvent regulation under medicine, food or consumer protection law.¹²³⁻¹³⁵

iii Overall, in the past six years, the MHRA has found more than 280 examples of 'all natural' products that contain undeclared potent synthetic active substances, although not all of these would have been intended for the 'enhancement' market.²⁹⁶

rely on anecdotes from online communities and other social contacts, wishful thinking and the misleading claims made by manufacturers and retailers (see §4.2).

Box II: Untested analogues found in 'food' or 'herbal' products

In the past 10 years, more than 40 untested substances similar to sildenafil, tadalafil and vardenafil (used to treat erectile dysfunction) have been found hidden in food and herbal supplements sold for 'sexual enhancement'. About half of these substances are frequently detected in products on the European market.³⁹² Most of these are not 'new' but by–products of the legitimate pharmaceutical drug–development process. It has been suggested that one of the reasons why these analogues have been used in illicit products is because they have different chemical signatures to 'known' drugs such as sildenafil. This makes them harder to detect by the authorities, which typically screen products for these 'known' drugs.

Most of these untested drugs have not been studied in humans so we do not know what effects and harms they can cause. However, a few appear to be capable of causing serious harms. In one case, a new designer drug, nitroso–prodenafil—a hybrid of a sildenafil– type substance with one that appears to be capable of releasing nitric oxide (a potent vasodilator)—was detected. Although it has not been studied in detail, this could be a potentially deadly combination as it might cause a sudden drop in blood pressure which could lead to a heart attack.⁴³⁸

The effects of these drugs often go undetected until reports of unusual and/or serious harms expose the problem. These vary from individual case reports and case series to outbreaks that involve tens or hundreds of people. Few systematic surveys of the level of use and harms caused by these drugs have been conducted, and studies in the UK are particularly limited. Despite this, it is recognised that substantial numbers of people across the globe have already been harmed in the last decade.

- More than 160 people in Japan suffered liver damage (with some estimates suggesting the figure was more than 800 injured) after using weight loss supplements containing hidden quantities of the untested drug n-nitroso-fenfluramine. Four of these subsequently died. In the UK at least four people suffered liver damage, one of whom subsequently died (see §4.3).⁴³⁹⁻⁴⁵⁷
- Globally, thousands of people have been harmed by the use of skin– lightening creams containing mercury compounds, hydroquinone and corticosteroids. This includes hundreds of cases of mercury poisoning. In the past two years, there have been five cases in the UK (see §7.3).⁵⁹¹⁻⁶⁰⁸

• More than 220 people in Singapore and Hong Kong were harmed after using herbal remedies sold as sexual enhancement products and counterfeit erectile dysfunction drugs, which were adulterated with glibenclamide, a potent drug used to treat diabetes. Some suffered serious brain damage and 13 subsequently died (see §4.3).^{548–555}

These reports are likely to be the tip of the iceberg—many more users will suffer a similar fate, particularly as it is difficult to stop the sale and distribution of harmful products once they have been identified on the market.^{609–611} There are also hidden dangers when drugs are not properly labelled or manufacturers fail to provide guidance on how to use them safely (see §4.4). Where drugs need to be injected, poor manufacturing can lead to contaminated products that cause infections and other harm. There is also the risk that sharing injecting equipment can spread blood–borne viruses such as HIV (see §4.7). Equally, women of child–bearing age may be exposed to drugs that can harm the embryo or foetus (see §4.5), while routine screening of blood donors may fail to reveal that these drugs have been used. In both cases, if consumers have used a food, herbal or cosmetic product containing hidden active substances, they may be unaware to what they have been exposed (see §4.3). Some drugs may also cause dependence or impair the ability to drive.⁶¹²⁻⁶⁴⁹

Access, availability and regulation

The biggest source of these drugs is the illicit market, which is vast, complex and global in nature.^{277–555,650–653} During the past decade, this market has flourished as a result of low–cost manufacturing capacity in countries like China and India, the globalisation of free trade and the development of communication and transport networks, including the Internet, and cargo and postal services. While some drugs are sold or given away by friends, family and acquaintances, in many cases they are bought from the Internet and 'bricks and mortar' shops or dealers (see §3.4).

In 2010 alone, more than 8.5 million imported doses of counterfeit and unlicensed sildenafil (worth around £13 million) were seized. This included six million from freight deliveries at Heathrow Airport,ⁱ while 2.1 million doses were from orders placed online by consumers.⁴⁷⁸ Supporting these findings, a recent large Internet survey of men from the UK, Germany and Italy, found that just over 3% of around 12,000 men have used drugs such as sildenafil in the last six months without a prescription, with around half of them buying the drugs online.⁶⁵⁴ An older survey in 2003 found that 1% of 2000 people had ever bought medicines online without a prescription, often because it is the easiest way to get them and it costs less than a prescription (see §3.5).⁶⁵⁵ While this included any type of prescription only medicine, monitoring data from this period supplied by the predecessor to the MHRA found that eight of the top ten medicines marketed over the Internet in the UK

i Some of these may have been destined for other markets as the UK is used as a staging post in the illicit trade in medicines.⁶⁵¹

were also drugs that are commonly used for enhancement purposes.⁶⁵⁵ Finally, a straw poll of 423 General Practitioners in the UK found that 25% had treated patients for suspected drug reactions after using medicines bought online. While it is unknown how many of these patients had bought them from a regulated pharmacy, comments by the GPs—e.g. 'Allergic response to fake Viagra'—suggested that at least some of the cases were linked to drugs bought from the illicit market.^{656,657}

The decentralised and transnational nature of this illicit market makes it particularly difficult to control.⁶⁵⁸ This is mainly because the legal regulation of the Internet is largely based on national law, whereas manufacturers, suppliers, retailers, website hosting and payment processing servicesⁱ may all be based in different countries.⁶⁵⁹ Effective control of these entities and services is limited by differences in national laws, policies and socio–cultural values (see §3.4).^{660–662}

There are also broader issues associated with the illicit trade of enhancement drugs. The potential for huge profits has led to the involvement of organised crime.^{650–653,661} Serious problems with the security of online 'pharmacies' can compromise the privacy of consumers. As a result of this and other scams, consumers may become victims of fraud, including identity theft.^{296,663–671} In addition, the waste from the manufacture, use and disposal of these drugs can harm the environment, including contaminating drinking water supplies (see §3).^{672–677}

The benefits or harms that these drugs bring could also intensify inequalities within society.^{96–99,106,107} Access to advice on side effects, appropriate doses, quality assured products and health monitoring will only be within the reach of the wealthy through private medical consultations. This will allow them to maximise benefits while minimising the risk. By contrast, the poor will be left vulnerable to the conflicting and often misleading information on the Internet, as well as fraudsters selling untested, banned or adulterated drugs. One concern is that poorer people may expose themselves to harm after being coerced or manipulated into believing that enhancement drugs are their best option to 'fit in' or 'succeed' (see §3). With the growing interest in elite sport and the Olympics, it will also be important to examine if a 'win at all cost' mentality would encourage this form of drug use in those who try to emulate sports stars, particularly young people.

Pushing the boundaries

Enhancement drugs are forcing society to redefine health, well being and the boundaries of healthcare. They allow us to rethink how we view our bodies, how they work, how we can change them and what it means to be human. The value our society and youth–oriented culture place on 'better bodies'—in an increasingly medicalised environment—has persuaded many people that their bodies are

i Weaknesses in payment processing have been identified as a potential target to disrupt this trade.⁶⁵⁹

deficient in some way (see §3.2).^{2–4} Our physical limitations, controlled by the genetics we inherit, the effects of our environment, and the natural ageing process, are no longer considered immutable. These types of drugs seemingly offer us a way to escape our fate.^{96–99,106,107,678–682}

On a practical level, the Internet allows people to learn about drugs, as well as share experiences, advice and support, while a globalised world makes the drugs cheaper to manufacture, advertise and distribute. All of these factors make the trade particularly difficult to control, and also complicate the task of detecting harms to consumers. So far the response to this problem has been reactive—limited to enforcement activity to disrupt the trade in these drugs, and to investigations into cases of harms linked to their usage. Understanding this problem in the future, and developing policies to protect and promote public health, will require coordinated action at local, national, European and global levels (see §11).

This report is intended to raise the profile of this emerging challenge to health and to inform the development of approaches to understanding and tackling the problem. The report has been completed by the North West Public Health Observatory (PHO) as part of its 'health futures' horizon–scanning functionⁱ. There are a range of agencies and government departments that have a role in, and responsibility for protecting the public against drug harms. As the functions of the PHOs transfer to Public Health England (PHE), the evidence presented in this report will provide a basis to inform the public health workforce of this emerging threat.⁶⁸³

Key points

- This report raises the profile of an emerging threat to health. Growing numbers of people around the globe are using drugs to try to obtain a better body, empower themselves and increase their well being. The sociocultural value placed on these goals can powerfully shape our behaviour.
- Weak legal and regulatory systems in emerging economies, globalised communication and transport networks, corruption and organised crime help fuel the spread of these drugs. Increasingly, the Internet and express cargo/postal services play a central role by making it easy to learn about these drugs and buy them on demand. Such factors also make the trade particularly difficult to control.
- Many misleading and false claims are made about the 'enhancements' these drugs bring, and there is often no, or limited, scientific evidence to support them.

i Public health observatories (PHOs) were originally established in England in 2000 to provide knowledge, information and surveillance to support public health systems in improving health and reducing inequalities. In April 2013 PHOs will be absorbed into Public Health England, a new executive agency of the UK Department of Health.

- In some cases, substantial harm has already occurred, partly because some of these drugs are untested, banned and/or adulterated. Unknown to most consumers, some manufacturers add active substances to 'all natural' food, herbal and cosmetic products. In most cases these substances are not listed on the packaging/labelling. Overall, the ability to detect and prevent harms arising from usage is limited with current surveillance and reporting systems.
- This form of drug use may increase inequalities in health. The wealthy will have access to quality drugs, information and monitoring, which will allow them to maximise benefits while minimising harm. The poor meanwhile will be at the mercy of conflicting information on the Internet and fraudulent retailers.
- 'Next generation' drugs are already emerging on the illicit market. Research into advanced therapies, such as tissue–engineered products, somatic cell therapies and gene therapies, is advancing with some treatments already available. It is likely that these types of products will soon be sold on the illicit market.
- The new executive agency of the Department of Health, Public Health England, will need to work with partners at a national, European and international level to consider and co-ordinate action relating to the monitoring and surveillance, supply reduction, demand and harm reduction of this globalised drug problem.



1. Scope of the report

This report reviews the available information about the use of drugs by the general public to enhance the body (including the mind). It examines: 1. some of the historical context; 2. the reasons behind the increasing availability and use in the past few decades; 3. the general harms to public health and difficulties in detecting and preventing harms with current systems; 4. their effects on the body and the harms that they may cause; and 5. the research that is needed so that society can develop an effective and efficient response to protect and promote public health. While the focus of the report is the current situation in the United Kingdom, relevant global dimensions are also discussed.

This report has been produced by the North West Public Health Observatory on behalf of the Public Health Observatories in England. It is intended to raise the profile of this emerging challenge to health in the UK and inform the development of approaches to understanding and tackling it at a local and national level.

Box 1.1: Public Health Observatories (PHOs)

The public health observatories were originally established in England in 2000 to provide knowledge, information and surveillance to support the public health system in improving health and reducing inequalities, with each of the nine PHOs taking a lead nationally on specific topics. The North West PHO leads on drugs intelligence (as well as alcohol, violence and dental health) on behalf of the PHOs and this report is the product of ongoing monitoring and surveillance work on this issue. Public Health England (PHE) is due to be established in April 2013 as an executive agency of the Department of Health (DH) and will take on responsibility for leading on the design, delivery and maintenance of systems to protect the population against existing and future threats to health.⁶⁸³

There are a range of agencies and government departments that have a role in and responsibility for protecting the public against drug harms. The evidence presented in this report provides a basis for informing the public health workforce of this emerging threat and supporting work between public health and other stakeholders at a national level when considering and coordinating appropriate action. Here, we have reviewed the literature (including grey literature such as press releases from regulatory agencies), Internet sites (such as online communities and shops) and media reports to identify examples of drugs that are currently being used. These were then grouped according to the main reason for use, resulting in six categories:

- to enhance the structure and function of muscle (§5);
- to enhance weight loss (§6);
- to enhance the cosmetic appearance of the skin and hair (§7);
- to enhance sexual behaviour and function (§8);
- to enhance cognitive function (§9); and
- to enhance mood and social behaviours (§10).

Each of these forms a section of the report. They begin with a brief background, followed by a case study (or two) that highlights some of the issues related to the use of the drugs. These case studies were developed from sources that include academic research, online communities and media reports. They are not intended to refer to any particular person. The section then examines some of the types of drugs commonly being used, who uses them and why, and the harms that they can cause.

It is important to recognise that some of the drugs are used because they have multiple effects on the body. For example, while melanotan II is used mainly to get a cosmetic skin tan, it is also used as an aphrodisiac and as an appetite suppressant in order to help lose weight.^{587,684} Anabolic steroids are used to increase the size and strength of muscle, but also to lower body fat, and to increase aggression that is used during training.^{685–688}

The report concludes with a discussion on the research that is needed to enable an effective and efficient response to this problem. A detailed discussion of the ethical and environmental issues are outside the scope of this report. However we recognise their importance, particularly in developing an effective policy response, and refer where appropriate to existing reviews on these issues.

1.1 What do we mean by enhancement?

One common way of defining an enhancement is to view it as something that improves an attribute or ability 'beyond what is necessary to sustain or restore good health'.⁶⁸⁹ However, the line between where medical treatment ends and enhancement begins is often blurred.^{4,690} Many people would typically view the drugs discussed in this report as providing a functional enhancement to the user. That is they enhance some attribute, such as making them look younger, or ability, such as making them stronger or smarter. However, a closer look reveals that some people use the drugs for both enhancement and as a medical treatment.⁶⁹⁰ For example, while some HIV–positive individuals use anabolic steroids to build up their bodies to prevent the deterioration of their condition or fight off HIV wasting syndrome, they also use the drugs to enhance their physique and improve their physical appearance (and hence their body image satisfaction)ⁱ (§5.6).^{691–697} Similarly the untested synthetic hormone melanotan II is used to get a cosmetic skin tan as well as to protect against UV–related skin damage (§7.2).⁵⁸⁷ Some consumers may also be self–treating a problem (such as erectile dysfunction caused by performance anxiety or condom use)^{698,699} or undiagnosed disease.⁶⁵⁴

Others may use these drugs because medicine currently offers no effective treatment for their condition, and, in desperation, they turn to unproven treatments including untested drugs (such as the use of melanotan II to self-treat rosacea).^{587,684} The report takes this broad range of uses into account.

i However, this too may be related to the physical changes associated with HIV infection or medicines used to treat the disease.

Brandie undersche wirde under unde voor herdenschere aberlichten der der andere andere enderen eine der er Berter einen eine der er Berter einen eine der er Berter eine der er Berter einen ein

A and times and town we forthe damage of the states

But af Lager be to the stance for the game of the general of the setuene for affects to the form

and the party

2. The historical context

This section examines some of the historical context that is relevant to the current use of drugs by the public to obtain a better body. For practical purposes we will selectively focus on the 1880s onwards as this was a period that saw huge growth in the commercial sale of medicines, the development of potent drugs, and parallel concerns from professional groups over the lack of regulation of this market. Drawing on case studies of two drugs that were sold as weight loss products— Marmola and DNP (2,4–dinitrophenol)—we highlight some of problems faced by public health at this time. Indeed one of the main issues was that there was little, if any, regulation. You could buy these untested drugs off the shelves of many general stores and pharmacies, as well as by mail order. We also examine some of the harms that these drugs caused and the advertising techniques manufacturers and retailers used to sell them. There are remarkable similarities to the current trade in these types of drugs.

Medicines have been sold commercially for hundreds of years, and been used for millennia.¹⁹⁰⁻¹⁹² For various reasons, including the increasing regulation of opium and a reduction in stamp duty on medicines, there was a large increase in the number and types of products being sold during the late 1880s.^{108,109} One big group of these were 'patent medicines' and 'secret remedies'. A telltale sign of many of these products was that their ingredients were a closely guarded secret. This was often because the ingredients used were ineffective and cheap (yet usually sold at a relatively high price), or, in some cases, harmful. They included treatments for epilepsy, diabetes, consumption (tuberculosis), fevers and 'kidney troubles'. Some of these remedies included cures for baldness, 'male weakness products' (their modern equivalents being treatments for sexual dysfunction, erectile dysfunction, penis enlargers and premature ejaculation), 'nerve tonics' ('pep pills', anti-depressants, anxiolytics, 'smart drugs'), 'reducing remedies' (weight loss drugs) and rejuvenating 'elixirs of life'. 193-207

There was growing concern from professional groups, among others, about the sale of these products.^{108,199,200} This was partly due to the harms they could cause (usually by delaying consultation with a doctor), but also because these products encouraged people to treat themselves rather than pay to see a doctor. The British Medical Association (BMA) raised their concerns in the early 1900s largely through the British Medical Journal (BMJ) and the publication of two books—*Secret Remedies* and *More Secret Remedies*—which exposed the tricks of the trade and provided details of the actual ingredients of the drugs.^{194,195} (Figure 1) While the books were apparently popular, even with the general public (Secret Remedies sold 62,000 copies in less than two years),²⁰¹ it is not clear what impact these activities had in bringing an end to this trade. In fact the Parliamentary Select Committee set up to investigate the sale and use of these types of



Figure 1. Secret remedies What they cost and what they contain, 1909.

medicines¹⁹⁹ and remedies criticised the BMA because it accepted adverts for some of the products in the BMJ. This was a controversial relationship with advertisers that continued for many years. It even provoked criticisms from the BMA's sister organisations in the United States and Canada, which had also previously accepted such adverts. While the Select Committee had serious concerns over parts of the trade, the report was published on the same day that hostilities broke out among the Central Powers in Europe, signalling the start of First World War. The report was shelved.²⁰⁰

Similar concerns about patent medicines and secret remedies were voiced in other countries including the US.^{203–207} However, there were many vested interests. The larger pharmaceutical companies were often intimately involved in this trade, either selling

their own products or supplying the ingredients to smaller companies. The ingredients of the 'reducing remedy' Marmola, sold in the US and the UK, were sourced from such companies.²⁰⁴

The drugs were widely advertised to the public, particularly through the growing number of newspapers and magazines (Box 2.1).^{199,208,209} In turn these publications relied heavily on the advertising revenue that was generated by the products.¹⁹⁹ The drugs were available on the shelves of

general stores and chemists as well as by mail order. The advertising strategies were often similar to those used today: as well as playing on the insecurities of consumers, the effectiveness, quality and safety of the products were a cornerstone of any campaign (Figure 2). These were usually supported by testimonials from 'customers', which in some cases included the rich and famous. For products ordered through the mail, discretion was often guaranteed; some sellers even offered express delivery.^{194,195,203,204} The growth in these types of drugs was largely unrestricted as there was little regulation. Typically, so long as the products contained no scheduled 'poisons' (substances such as opium, which were regarded dangerous under the law), then there was little that the authorities could do to prevent their sale.^{108,198,199,204}



Figure 2. 'She was too fat'. Advert for Marmola which contained animal thyroid gland extract, 1933.

Box 2.1: 'Shed YEARS as well as FAT! So easy to reduce the 'Marmola' way'.

'When reducing, it is of paramount importance to use a scientific treatment which you know is really safe and sure. You will then not only lose fat to your heart's content, but feel fitter and look years younger ... 'Marmola' has been used for 25 years—millions of boxes of it ... Do Not carry that burden of excess fat when so many of the folks around you have found 'Marmola' the easiest way of all to reduce. Know once again the joy of a beautiful, slender figure and make Summer days happy days.' Advert for Marmola in the Daily Mirror, 1937.⁷⁰⁰

Between 1908 and 1940 Marmola was advertised more than 200 times in the Daily Mirror.ⁱ

Some manufacturers, particularly those selling 'reducing remedies', tried as part of their sales pitch to closely associate their products with advances being made in medicine, physiology and pharmacology. In some cases this extended to using active substances that were emerging as therapeutic agents, such as animal thyroid gland extract in Marmola and DNP and in other 'reducing remedies'. However, most of these products were relatively innocuous and, aside from any placebo and nocebo effect they may have had, they were worthless. Some contained laxatives or alcohol presumably to disguise this.^{194,195,203,204}

Despite the concerns raised, it was rare that any formal indication was given on how many people used these early types of 'enhancement drugs' in the UK.¹⁹⁹ In countries where there were greater efforts to control them, such as the US, some information was available from mailing lists of people who had previously bought these products—known as 'sucker lists'—as well as sales figures, and the number of products on the market. These give a general indication of how popular such products may have been. Overall, however, we know little about how many manufacturers and retailers made significant profits from their sale.^{203,204}

In 1915 authorities in the US destroyed one sucker list that contained the details of 500,000 people. It had been seized as part of a court action against the fraudulent promotion of a 'lost manhood' or 'male weakness' product (its modern equivalents being treatments for sexual dysfunction, erectile dysfunction, penis enlargers and premature ejaculation). It was advertised as the 'surest–acting combination for the cure of deficient manhood and vigor failure ever assembled'⁷⁰¹ that would ensure 'once more the gusto, the joyful satisfaction, the pulse and the throb of physical pleasure,

i The ukpressonline.co.uk database of the Daily Mirror archive was searched on 12 March 2012 using the term 'marmola' between 01/01/1907 and 31/12/2010 which resulted in 239 hits. Marmola appears to have been first advertised in the Daily Mirror on Wednesday 2 September 1908. The last time it appears is on Friday 15 March 1940.

the keen sense of man sensation'.⁷⁰² In the late 1920s sales of Marmola reached \$600,000 a year⁷⁰³—more than \$7.5 million in today's money. Similarly, about a year after the first clinical reports on the use of DNP,⁷⁰⁴ the Stanford Clinics in the San Francisco Bay Area of California had dispensed enough of the drug to treat an estimated 4,500 patients.⁷⁰⁵ Meanwhile, more than 20 wholesale drug companies had begun selling products containing the drug causing great concern among some doctors (Box 2.2).^{705,706} Despite the limited information it appears that there was a viable market for these kinds of products.

Box 2.2: The rapid spread of DNP in the US during the early–to–mid 1930s

^{(A} little over a year ago, our first clinical report on dinitrophenol appeared in the Journal of the American Medical Association. The interest in and enthusiasm for this product were so great that its widespread use has become a matter of some concern in public health. The total amount of the drug being used is astonishing.⁷⁰⁵

'As is usual with any drug used for cosmetic purposes, commercial interests have promptly entered the field of exploitation of dinitrophenol. There is not the slightest doubt that vast numbers of people are taking this preparation both with and without the advice of their physicians. At least two of the physicians who broadcast health information to the public through the radio and through the press have mentioned the use of this drug and have apparently failed to warn the public adequately concerning its dangers.'⁷⁰⁶

'Many of these remedies could be procured without prescription, and with no further directions than to take "one capsule three times daily after meals." '707

2.1 Marmola

As early as 1908 Marmola's advertising played on consumers' insecurities. Is 'fatness ... a social offence?'⁷⁰⁸ asked one campaign, while another noted that 'nobody loves a fat girl'.⁷⁰⁹ Testimonials were also a popular advertising practice. One advert used the silent movie star, Constance Talmadge, who reasoned that 'the demand for slender figures is so universal that movie stars must have them. Not only beauty but good health and vitality argue against excess fat'.⁷¹⁰ According to the manufacturers, Marmola could provide the answer 'without hard exercise or starvation diet ... the excess fat ... simply slip[s] away revealing the trim and slender figure underneath'Every over–fat person should try it. It's quite harmless and will take off as much as a pound of fat a day.⁷⁰⁸ While it contained seaweed and laxatives commonly found in many types of weight loss products at that time, the manufacturers also exploited scientific advances by incorporating dried animal thyroid tissue.⁷⁰⁸ This had been shown some years earlier to increase the metabolic rate,^{711–721} causing weight loss in some cases. As well as mimicking the weight loss seen with hyperthyroidism (where the thyroid gland is over active), Marmola was linked to other harms such as palpitations and anxiety.⁷²² These types of harms were also reported in women after using similar products during the late 1960s which contained animal thyroid tissue and more recently synthetic thyroid hormone.^{723–725}

2.2 Dinitrophenol

Marmola was not the only 'reducing remedy' to achieve 'fame'. In the 1930s products that contained DNP enjoyed brief success in the US as a similar type of remedy.^{704-707,726-762} In the UK and some other European countries, products containing a structurally and pharmacologically related but more potent drug, dinitro-o-cresol, were also sold.⁷⁶³⁻⁷⁷² However, the extent of their use is unknown. The marketing strategy used for DNP products was similar to Marmola: 'here, at last, is a reducing remedy that will

bring you a figure men admire and women envy without danger to your health or change in your regular mode of living'.⁷⁶¹ 'No dieting... No self-denial... No strenuous exercises... You can have the slender figure of Youth'.⁷⁴⁹ Testimonies again played a supporting role: 'we feel much better and it has shown absolutely no ill effects', 'literally burning the fat away'. 'Sounds too good to be true? Yet it is true'⁷⁶¹ (Figure 3). The drug was also hidden in some weight loss products so consumers had no idea they were taking it.760 DNP could cause weight loss, although it was not long before harms were reported (such as skin rashes, numbness and tingling in the legs and arms, loss of taste and a dangerous drop in the number of white blood cells that fight off infections). There were also at least 10 deaths, the first published just three months after the initial report of its clinical trial in humans.ⁱ In some cases this was because consumers had inadvertently overdosed on the drug because they were not satisfied with their weight loss. The drug was also found to be unpredictable: the toxic dose could be close to the therapeutic dose. Almost two years to the date from the first use of DNP, reports began to surface of cataracts linked to its use. Eventually more than 160 cases were identified.704-707,726-773,ii



Figure 3. Advert for Dilux-Redusols which contained the metabolic poison dinitrophenol, 1936.

- i 'The second death was a girl who bought the drug on her own responsibility from a druggist.' ⁷⁰⁵
- iii 'One hundred Los Angeles women were known to be blind or partly so with cataracts last week as result of taking dinitrophenol to reduce. That drug, whose weight–reducing properties were first cautiously utilized by San Francisco doctors (TIME, July 31, 1933), is illegally and secretly sold in California...'⁷⁵³

Over time the widespread advertising and sale of these types of products was prohibited as part of broader moves to tighten the regulation of medicines. Some products, such as DNP and dinitro-o-cresol,^{740,741,754,771,i} were removed more rapidly from the market than others. Despite this there have been occasional reports of DNP being used for weight loss over the years, usually by 'enterprising' doctors using it in their weight loss clinics (in Belgium during the 1960s and in the United States during the 1980s for example) or by avant-garde bodybuilders.^{760,774-777} Over the past 10 years or so the drug appears to have re–emerged.⁷⁷⁸⁻⁷⁹⁶ In part this is driven by information available on the Internet about how to use it as a 'fat burner' and for weight loss.⁷⁹⁷ It is also sold online (Box 2.3; Table 6).^{798,799}

Box 2.3: The dangers of dinitrophenol

DNP is a metabolic poison. It stimulates metabolism by stopping the powerhouses of cells, the mitochondria, from making ATP (adenosine triphosphate).⁸⁰¹⁻⁸⁰³ This substance provides the energy needed for many cellular reactions. Instead DNP causes heat to be released from the mitochondria. This toxic effect is what causes weight loss. However DNP is highly unpredictable and the therapeutic dose can be close to the toxic dose.⁸⁰⁴⁻⁸⁰⁶ These dangers are highlighted even further by the case of super– strength products sold on the illicit market, although consumers will be unaware of this.⁷⁸²

In 2003 the Food Standards Agency (FSA) undertook an investigation after information from the Finnish authorities that a bodybuilder had become seriously ill after consuming 'fatburner' capsules containing DNP. These were sold through a website believed to be based in the UK. While the site listed the strength of the capsules as 200 mg, analysis by the Finnish authorities found about 380 mg per capsule—i.e. 90% stronger than advertised—although according to the FSA report there appeared to be significant variation in the amount the capsules contained. Based on the available toxicity data for DNP taking 3-4 capsules at once could have proved fatal.⁷⁸² Perhaps surprisingly this type of dose (and higher) is reported by users on Internet discussion forums. No studies have examined the composition or strength of DNP products currently on the market although this case from almost 10 years ago demonstrates the potential for serious harm with products that are of variable strength (particularly those that are over strength).

The State of California in the United Sates made DNP a prescription only medicine on August 20 1934.
Similarly in 1936 the UK had controlled both DNP and dinitro–o–cresol as scheduled poisons requiring a doctor's prescription.^{740,741,754,771}

While there have been few studies that have looked at who and how many people use the drug, one Internet study found that 13% of 500 anabolic steroid users had used it.⁸⁰⁰ Reflecting this, the use of the drug is a common topic on some fitness and bodybuilding discussion forums. However, its use is clearly not limited to just this group. The reemergence of DNP has also seen a resurgence in poisonings.^{778–796} Since 2002 there have been at least 18 cases, including 10 deaths (three of which were from the UK).¹ In 72% of cases the reason for using the drug was to lose weight or burn fat (just less than half of these were related to bodybuilders use of the drug); 22% were suicides; and in 6% the reason was unclear. Most involved young adults aged 17–32. In 10 cases the drug was bought from the Internet (n=9) or mail order (n=1), while in the remaining eight cases the source of the drug was not identified.

2.3 The emergence of legal and regulatory systems



Figure 4. Elixir Sulfanilamide. In the late 1930s the untested diethylene glycol used in Elixir Sulfanilamide killed 122 people, including 34 children, 1937.ⁱⁱ

It took many years for effective legal and regulatory systems for medicines to be put in place. Drug disasters between the late 1930s and early 1960s caused by the sale of untested drugs—such as Elixir Sulfanilamide (an antibiotic which used the toxic excipient diethylene glycolⁱⁱ, Figure 4) in the US, Stalinon (used

to treat boils but contained a neurotoxic substance) in France, and particularly thalidomide (used to treat morning sickness in pregnancy but caused serious birth defects, Figure 5) in the UK and other European countries-were often the catalysts for reform.^{248–266,807–815} These systems allowed authorities to prevent harm by restricting what drugs could be sold and to whom. However, not surprisingly, even after this some products remained on sale, albeit often illegally. Yet the public could also access a large number of drugs from the regulated, licit, market. Many of the 5.6 million and 4.8 million prescriptions for amphetamine issued in the UK in 1959 and 1968 respectively



Figure 5. Thalidomide tablets. Based on anecdotes of its ability to reduce morning sickness, the drug was heavily promoted to pregnant women. The drug was untested and caused serious birth defects. Worldwide more than 10,000 foetuses were affected.

i Two of these deaths were apparently due to intentional overdoses.

ii The diethylene glycol used in Elixir Sulfanilamide killed 122 people, including 34 children.²⁴⁸⁻²⁵⁰ This disaster led the US to introduce tougher laws designed to try to prevent such tragedies from happening again. More than 70 years later the toxin continues to injure and kill in countries with weak legal and regulatory systems. Sometimes present in over-the-counter medicines, such as pain-relief or cough medicines, it has seriously injured hundreds of people and killed more than 600 (almost half of these victims were children).²⁶⁷⁻²⁶⁹ Most recently, 84 children in Nigeria died after they were given a 'teething formula' called 'My Pikin' that contained paracetamol dissolved in the toxin.²⁶⁹ were used as 'pep pills' and for weight loss. These appetite suppressants are the contemporary equivalents to 'nerve tonics' and 'reducing remedies' administered the secret remedy age.⁸¹⁶ Despite concerns raised at the time, it took a while for this widespread prescribing to stop, but not before much harm was done.^{816–819} Similar prescribing patterns, particularly in relation to drugs that affect appetite and mood, have been repeated on many occasions since then.^{75,820–829}

2.4 Key issues

- Drugs have been sold commercially and used to obtain a better body for many years.
- Getting hold of the drugs was easy. They could be bought 'off-the-shelf' in general stores and chemists or by mail order.
- Scientific research that led to the development of potent drugs allowed some manufacturers and other entrepreneurs to include these substances in products. At this time there were no laws to prevent untested drugs from being sold. In some cases this led to serious harms.
- There are remarkable similarities between the past and present day in the way that these drugs were advertised and sold, as well as the harms they caused.
- Products sold as 'all natural' weight loss supplements are still found with animal thyroid tissue, which is the same active substance that was used in Marmola. In the past decade DNP has re-emerged through its sale on the Internet, causing at least 18 serious poisonings, including 10 deaths.

Dmitry Kalinovsky/Shutterstock.com

3. The current context

Across the globe growing numbers of people are turning to potent drugs in the hope of getting a better body, empowering themselves, and increasing their well-being. Most of these drugs are obtained from a thriving illicit market. There has also been an explosive growth in products sold as 'all natural' food or herbal supplements aimed at the 'enhancement' market. Increasing numbers of these contain potent active substances hidden inside, including the appetite suppressants fenfluramine and sibutramine which have been banned, or sildenafil (used for erectile dysfunction) and untested analogues of these drugs²⁹⁴⁻⁴⁵⁷ (Figures 6, 7, 8). Most consumers are unaware of this and the harms they are exposing themselves to. Overall in the last decade alone these pursuits have caused substantial harm. More than 160 people have suffered liver damage (with some estimating that the figure was 800 injured) and four died after using herbal weight loss products deliberately adulterated with a potent untested drug n-nitrosofenfluramine, an analogue of the banned drug fenfluramine (§4.3).^{439–457,i} Hundreds of people have been poisoned by skin-lightening creams containing mercury ((57.3)).^{591–608} While more than 220 people have been harmed, including 13 deaths, by 'sexual enhancement' herbal products and erectile dysfunction drugs adulterated with the potent drug glibenclamide which is used to treat diabetes (§4.3).^{548–555} Analysis of the range of products currently being sold, as well as past experience of using untested and/or adulterated drugs on a wide scale, suggests that many more will suffer a similar fate.²⁴⁸⁻⁶⁶¹

However, there are also broader issues related to this drug use. Realising the huge profits and with a limited chance of getting caught and prosecuted, organised crime has become involved in the trade.650-653,661 This, along with scams from others involved in this trade, and poor security found on many online shops, will lead to consumers being the victims of fraud, or even having their personal information stolen or exposed.^{296,663-671} The waste from the manufacture, use and disposal of these drugs can



Figure 6. 'Slimming orange juice' that contained the banned appetite suppressant sibutramine. Seized by the Danish Medicines Agency.

i Fenfluramine was banned in 1997 because it was linked to serious cardiovascular harms.⁸²⁰⁻⁸²⁸ However, it remained on the market in China until 2009.⁸²⁹ This may be one of the reasons why the drug was still available on the Internet and found hidden in 'food' and 'herbal' weight loss products. lead to environmental harm, including contaminating drinking water supplies.672-677 The benefits or harms that the drugs may bring could also increase inequalities in society.^{96–99,106,107} Those who are wealthy will be able to access quality assured drugs, health information and monitoring through private medical consultations. This would allow them to maximise benefits while minimising harm. Wealthy people already have longer lives and better health. Yet in other situations (poorer) people may be pressured into using these drugs believing that they are their best option in order to 'stay in the game' or 'succeed'.





Figure 7. 'Fashion slimming milkshake' that contained the banned appetite suppressant sibutramine. Seized by the Danish Medicines Agency.

This globalised problem requires public health scrutiny. So far most of the response has been limited to enforcement activity, designed to disrupt the trade in these drugs, and to investigations into cases of harms linked to their use (Box 3.1). These are obviously critical parts to any overall response, but there also needs to be a better understanding of the causes and consequences so that effective and efficient policiesⁱ can be developed that protect public health.

Figure 8. 'MaxMan coffee' that contained sildenafil - the active substance in Viagra®. Seized by the Danish Medicines Agency.

i Which include policies designed to reduce the demand for these drugs.

Box 3.1: Just how big a problem are illegal skin lightening creams?

Over the past decade or so Trading Standards and the MHRA have made many seizures of illegal skin lightening creams containing hydroquinone, highly potent corticosteroids and mercury (§7.3). Some of the suppliers have also been prosecuted.^{277–291} Despite this, the products remain widely available in 'bricks and mortar' shops and online. They are also regularly intercepted at EU borders.ⁱ This suggests that there is still demand for these products. While there have been case reports of harms linked to these drugs from patients in UK for almost 30 years, so far there have been no studies that have looked at how many people use these potent drugs, why they use them, how they are used and the public health implications. In the past two years, five cases of mercury poisoning linked to creams bought in shops or online have been reported in the UK.^{602,606,607} These cases are likely to be the tip of a much bigger problem.

3.1 Overview

There is limited information about the spread of these types of 'enhancing' drugs. This reflects the fact that, for many, their use by the public has started relatively recently and so has escaped the attention of healthcare professionals, researchers, commissioners and policy makers. For example, sildenafil (used to treat erectile dysfunction, §8) and sibutramine (an appetite suppressant used for weight loss that is now banned, §6) have only been available as licensed medicines since the late 1990s,560,830-838 while the illicit sale of melanotan II only came to the attention of regulatory authorities in 2007 although smaller numbers of people were using it for longer periods of time undetected (§7.2).^{539,540,583,584,587,684,839} Similarly the issue of food and herbal products that contain hidden potent active substances has only come to the attention of regulatory authorities and researchers in the past 10 years or so.^{292-457,528-532} In other cases, such as the use of skin lightening drugs (7.3), they have largely been ignored (Box 3.1). There are a few drugs that are the exceptions to this rule. Some, such as anabolic steroids ($\S5$), have been subject to more detailed investigation. Their use is relatively widespread, with about 52,000 people (mainly men) aged 16–59 in England and Wales using in the past year, while around 0.3% of boys and 0.1% of girls aged 11-15 have used the drugs.^{840,841} Yet even in this case there are large gaps in our understanding, particularly on why and how people use them, and the harms they cause (Box 3.2).

i See: http://ec.europa.eu/consumers/safety/rapex/index_en.htm.

Box 3.2: Discovering that sildenafil, 'melanotan' & anabolic steroids were being used as 'enhancement' drugs

Sildenafil: A little over six months after sildenafil was licensed as a medicine in the UK, researchers found that some nightclubbers were using it as a 'recreational drug'. However, the drug was available both on private prescription and the illicit market before this. Studies then began to look at how the drug was being sold and used, although until recently these have largely been limited to small groups of users rather than general population surveys.^{654,830–838}

'Melanotan' I/II: Reports by drug workers (particularly at needle and syringe programmes), observation of online discussion forums, enforcement activity by the authorities and case reports of harms played a key role in highlighting the use of 'melanotan' –usually claimed to be melanotan II–as well as generating widespread media interest.^{539,540,583,584,587,684,839}

Anabolic steroids: Large numbers of studies have been published on anabolic steroid use since the 1960s, particularly in the US. This reflects the fact that they been used for much longer periods and have therefore come to the attention of researchers, healthcare professionals and public health agencies, as well as policy makers. It may also be due to political and societal concern over their use. In this latter case, this may stem from their use as doping agents in sport and the often cited, yet poorly defined, concerns over their links with aggression and violence. As a result a much richer set of data exists. However, even here there can be large gaps in our understanding, particularly on why and how people use them. We know little about the extensive range of drugs that users draw on both for their synergistic and additional effects to anabolic steroids, as well as those they use as treatments for harms linked to the drugs. Such limitations also extend to the changing patterns of drug use over the last 50 years or so. Despite the emergence of biosynthetic forms of growth hormone around 30 years ago (which has dramatically increased the supply of the drug on the illicit market) little is known about the spread and use of this drug, aside from in sub-groups of anabolic steroid users.842-878

Often much of what we know about the early stages of the diffusion⁸⁷⁹ of these drugs relies on drawing together limited information from a range of sources, as part of the public health surveillance system. These include: anecdotes from users (including online discussion forums) and other people with a special knowledge of the drug or those using it; enforcement action that includes seizures of drugs; media reports (such as investigative journalism); reports of users attending health services (such as users attending needle and syringe
programmes in the case of melanotan II)⁶⁸⁴; and publications such as case reports describing drug use or harms. Together these sources play a valuable role in identifying new drugs, emerging trends and harms before formal epidemiological studies can be done. Sometimes, particularly given the multinational nature of many online discussion forums, these sources also demonstrate that the drug is being used in other countries, although the level of use, type of consumer, motivations for use, context and patterns of use may differ substantially.

Initially the drug is often limited to a relatively small group of individuals that share a common, albeit often broad, characteristic. These include groups such as bodybuilders (using growth hormone), students (using 'smart drugs'), nightclubbers and men who have sex with men (using sildenafil), among many others. Within these groups are a smaller number of 'innovators' and 'early adopters' who start using the drugs and can play an important role in helping them spread to the rest of the group, other groups, and eventually, the broader population. Drug use by 'innovators' and 'early adopters' may suggest drugs and patterns of drug use that may be adopted by broader, independent groups of people over time.⁸⁷⁹ For example GHB (gamma hydroxybutyrate) which is a psychoactive drug, was first used to try to increase growth hormone secretion in bodybuilders (as a 'muscle builder' and 'fat stripper'), as well as an anti-ageing/life-extension 'treatment', before it became more widespread on the party scene as a recreational drug.⁸⁸⁰⁻⁸⁹⁷ There may also be gender and ethnic differences in the use of some drugs. Anabolic steroids are predominately used by males, while, historically at least, the use of weight loss drugs has largely been skewed towards females. Skin lightening creams are mostly used by those with dark skin types; conversely, the skin tanning drug melanotan II is used more by those with lighter skin.

3.2 Some of the causes

Many factors drive the use of enhancement drugs.^{1–107,136–151,663–671} Together they form a complex web, making it difficult to unravel the exact role they play and their importance. Some of those factors stem from changes in our sociocultural, economic, scientific, technological, legal and political environment, alongside those that play a role at an individual level (such as genetic or biological factors). In some cases there may be an evolutionary component (such as our maladaptive response to the obesogenic environment that predisposes us to obesity, $\S6$);^{898–906} or in part a response to our natural environment (such having light or dark skin colour, $\$7^i$). Some of these factors make us more open to the idea of enhancing ourselves, while others make it easier to learn about the drugs that are available to do this. In other cases, some of these factors help us form a positive opinion about enhancement drugs, and, ultimately, influence us to buy and (re)use them (Box 3.3).

i Which also has an evolutionary component.

Box 3.3: Some of the factors helping drive the use of 'enhancement' drugs

- Growing medical, scientific, popular, and political attention to the body, body dissatisfaction and enhancement. In part this is driven by the growing number of normal life events and problems that are medicalised. Sociocultural and demographic changes including gender roles, ageing populations, obesity, racism, discrimination (e.g. in the case of skin lightening, §7.3),⁴ consumerism, focus on 'personal responsibility' and increasing disposable income.⁴
- Scientific and technological innovations, including the development of new drugs that have 'dual-use' potential as medicines and for 'enhancement'; globalisation that allows new ways of learning about these drugs (such as online); easier ways to buy them (such as online).⁴

To some extent society has always placed great value on 'better bodies' and how this can improve our well being.^{1–107} These beliefs have become much more culturally dominant in the past few decades. How our bodies look and function are increasingly scrutinised by society, including our friends, family and peers. In our youth–orientated culture, bodies (or their parts) that are flabby, limp, wrinkled, weak, slow, tired, or old are seen as undesirable, abnormal or unhealthy. They may be ridiculed, stigmatised, and marginalised. Having the 'right body' allows you to fit in; it is highly prized and rewarded by society. These idealised body types are reinforced on a daily basis by the social networks we inhabit as well as by the media which regularly provides detailed 'do–it–yourself' instructions on how to achieve such a body. As a result these ideals have increasingly become linked to happiness, desirability and status (Box 3.4).

Box 3.4: Overweight, obesity & ageing: How should these problems be tackled?

This is not to say that some of these problems do not pose great challenges to society. Left unchecked the growing epidemic of overweight and obese people will cause serious health and economic harm, as will demographic shifts towards an ageing population that is linked to physical and mental functional decline. Society as a whole will have to decide which policy measures—at the individual, social or environmental level (or a mix)—should be used to tackle these problems.^{96,97,99,106,107}

In some cases they can also be amplified by over-medicalisation.²⁻⁴ The distinction between normal life events or problems and disease is increasingly blurred.4,690 Ageing, being overweight, sexual performance and dysfunction, hair loss, shyness, tiredness, and being 'too' short-which can all fundamentally change how the body looks or functions-are just some of the things that have been redefined as medical problems, and 'treated' with drugs. The pharmaceutical industry, often in the hope of selling their next 'blockbuster drug' as the 'cure', has taken the lead in this process.²⁻⁴ These types of drugs have become a multi-billion dollar industry, with companies increasingly focussed on extending these profitable markets. A cycle has evolved where new drugs are developed, requiring new diseases to be defined, or current definitions expanded to include more-and sometime almost all—of the population.^{4,79–83} These include the highly controversial estimates of more than 40% of women affected by female sexual dysfunction or that 70% of men aged 40+ suffer from erectile dysfunction. The fact that for many this is linked to a temporary life event or normal problem is replaced by a single statistic that suggests that many of us are dysfunctional and in need of treatment.4,79-83

Some of these companies also use 'disease-awareness campaigns' to raise the profile of the problem and that it can be 'easily treated' with a drug.⁴ However, policymakers, healthcare professionals, patient advocacy/ support groups, the media and the general public have also supported and promoted this process.⁴ Together, society's view of the 'normal' and 'healthy' body is being reshaped. Increasingly more aspects seem 'dysfunctional' and in need of fixing. In the process, some problems, such as female sexual dysfunction and erectile dysfunction, appear to be very common.^{4,24,27,36,62,79–83} Redefined as a medical problem and coupled to 'simple' drug treatments, a seemingly perfect solution to these problems is provided that allows them to become an accepted and normal part of everyday life (Box 3.4).^{4,24,27,36,62,79–83} It also increases the urge for more people to use these treatments that promise astonishing results: to transform our bodies, make them functional and desirable (again). 4,24,27,36,62,79-83 These messages are also mimicked and corrupted even further by the media, entrepreneurs, and other champions, including retailers on the illicit market. Given such an environment, it is little wonder that the general public have started to seek treatments out.

Box 3.4: The changing face of Viagra[®]?

A study that looked at Viagra[®] prescriptions in the US between 1998 and 2002 found that the fastest growing group of consumers were men aged 18–45, while the proportion of men with erectile dysfunction that were prescribed the drug actually decreased over the study period. This suggests that Viagra[®] may be used more for non-medical reasons. The study also found an increase in prescribing for young women.⁹⁰⁷

3.3 A globalised, networked world

It has become easier for people to learn about drugs that they can use to enhance their bodies, share these experiences, as well as provide advice and support to others.^{136–151} Just a few years ago most people learned about them through the popular media and relatively small social networks. The drugs that were available at the time were bought mainly from local dealers, mail order or 'bricks and mortar' shops. Word of mouth and face–to–face communication were particularly important in their spread. These traditional types of social networks are still important in many cases; for some they appear to be the main way that their use is spreading. In the past decade or so thousands of websites, online communities and shops have sprung up making it easier for people from across the globe to access and share information, experiences, advice and support (Box 3.5). The growth of the Internet has also made it easier to advertise, sell and buy these drugs (Figure 9).



Figure 9. 'What if a pill could make you rich and powerful?' Searches on Google for 'smart drugs' (blue line) and 'buy smart drugs' (red line) from the UK. In 2011 there was a large increase in popularity for these terms around the time that the film 'Limitless' was on general release in the UK. The film was an action thriller about a writer who takes an experimental drug allowing him to use "100%" of his mind. During this period the media also ran related stories about 'smart drugs' (such as the BBC's 'Do smart drugs make us brainier').

Traditional and online social networks are not mutually exclusive; in many cases they appear to complement each other (although the importance one takes over the other may change over time). Of course these developments parallel innovations in science and medicine which have provided a growing range of drugs

from consumers to draw on. Importantly the Internet allows cheap and easy access to drugs.⁶⁵⁵ Here prescription only medicines, whose access by the public is meant to be tightly controlled in order to protect individual and public health,^{223–247} are available alongside sought–after substances that are not available on the regulated market, such as untested and banned drugs (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Vials of the untested synthetic peptide hormone melanotan II bought from an Internet shop based in the UK. The substance is used as a tanning drug, aphrodisiac and appetite suppressant.

Box 3.5: Examples of how commonly asked questions start on Internet drug discussion forums

'I'm new to this, how do I'
'Which drugs should I use?'
'Do they work?'
'Is it safe?'
'What are the side effects?'
<i>'Where can I buy…?'</i>

'How much should I use?' 'Is it legal?' 'Why isn't it working?' 'Need advice...' 'Should I be worried?' 'How do I inject...'

Consumers also learn about the drugs through the results of scientific studies. However, the findings are often miscommunicated, misrepresented and misunderstood (Box 3.6; 3.7).⁸⁵⁻⁹⁴ They are reproduced, reinterpreted and spread around the globe by the popular media and online communities, and corrupted and manipulated by retailers on the illicit market, entrepreneurs, and others with a vested interest in the drug's success. As the information circulates it becomes more and more distorted. The limitations of the study-that it examined the effects of the drug on cells in a Petri dish, 10 or 20 rats or mice, a small number of healthy young men for a few days or hours, or even larger groups with a specific disease-are lost in translation or no longer matter. To some, the results are convincing enough to be seen as a 'breakthrough'-or certainly good enough for them to give it a try; their uncertain relevance, preliminary nature, limitations and harms often misunderstood, trivialised or ignored. In the haste to make a profit, retailers conveniently forget to mention that only a small number of untested drugs ever go on to be approved by medicine regulators which in many cases is because the harms they bring outweigh the benefits. While at the bottom of media reports there are the seemingly ever present search engine adverts (such as Google AdSense) that link through to retailers selling the untested drug. It is a retailer's dream come true.

Box 3.6: Growth hormone: the Fountain of Youth?

Can growth hormone prevent or reverse ageing? Research published in the world's leading medical journal claimed that daily treatment of older men with the drug for six months reversed the loss of muscle and build up of fat 'equivalent in magnitude to the changes incurred during 10 to 20 years of aging'. This captured the media's imagination. The results were grossly misinterpreted.^{4,908–916} Headlines such as 'Human growth hormone reverses the effects of ageing' were repeated around the world.⁹¹⁷ For some the Fountain of Youth had been discovered. A huge market for growth hormone has developed globally as an anti–ageing therapy. Many companies selling quack therapies based on growth hormone quote and link to the paper to bolster their unfounded claims.^{4,908–916}

Box 3.7: Media headlines that have misinterpreted the findings of research studies

*'Want a tan without using sunbeds? Scientists develop implant that stimulates skin pigment production.'*⁹¹⁸

'Schools will soon have to ensure all pupils have access to brain– enhancing 'smart drugs', according to officially funded experts.⁹¹⁹

'It's a no-brainer – bring on the pills that will make us smarter.'⁹²⁰

'Biotech tan from a jab could put the heat on suntan salons soon.'921

3.4 The illicit market

The biggest source of these drugs is the illicit market. It is vast and complex; global in nature.^{277–555,650–653,922–934} In some cases the drugs are bought from Internet, 'bricks and mortar' shops or dealers. In others they are sold or given away by friends, family, partners, or other acquaintances (Box 3.8). In both instances this can include prescribed medicines that are diverted to the illicit market. The size and scope of this market was simply not possible just over a decade ago. Increasing (low–cost) manufacturing capacity in countries such as China (Box 3.9) and India, the globalisation of free trade, communication and transport networks, such as the Internet and (express) cargo and postal services, have allowed more manufacturers, retailers and consumers to take part in the market.^{68,136–151} It also allows consumers to buy a range of drugs that are restricted in the UK because of the harms they can cause. These include prescription only medicines, as well as banned and untested drugs.

Box 3.8: How do people obtain drugs such as sildenafil?

One of the few large–scale surveys that have looked at how consumers obtain drugs from the illicit market found that for drugs such as sildenafil (§8) the Internet was as popular a source as friends, partners, or other acquaintances.⁶⁵⁴

Recent seizures and prosecutions by authorities in the UK do suggest that there is a huge market for at least some of these drugs. In 2010 alone more than 8.5 million doses of counterfeit and unlicensed sildenafil, worth around £13 million, were seized. This included six million from freight deliveries at Heathrow Airport. While some of these may have been destined for other markets, as the UK is used as a staging post in the illicit trade in medicines, more than 2.1 million doses were seized in incoming international mail that were from orders placed online by UK consumers.⁴⁷⁸

Box 3.9: The falling cost of growth hormone

Although there is limited information, estimates of the cost of growth hormone (§5) on the illicit market in the UK during the 1990s suggested that it ranged from $\pounds 6.58-\pounds 20$ per IU (International Unit). Recent data drawn from a small convenience sample of products available on the illicit market in south east England in 2008 found a number of different products on offer that varied between $\pounds 1-\pounds 8.33$ per IU (see also Table 5). It appears that the cost of this drug has dramatically fallen over the past decade or so making it more affordable.⁹²⁴ It is thought that much of this is from the increase in growth hormone manufactured in China. In a 1989 underground guide to steroid use from the US it was suggested that 'short term users (8 week duration) will spend up to \$150 daily dosage.⁹³¹

The Internet appears to play a key role in the trade of these drugs (whether wholesale or retail). Some of the manufacturers, suppliers and retailers are not based in the UK and are rarely subject to UK law. However, in other cases the finished products are imported in bulk and then sold through Internet sites or other outlets.465-482 Sometimes the ingredients are imported in bulk from countries such as China and the final product made in 'underground laboratories'.^{932,933} Those involved in the illicit market range from cottage industries to large-scale operations some of which involve organised crime. The decentralised and transnational nature of this market makes it particularly difficult to control and reduce supply.⁶⁵⁸ In part this is because there are few restrictions on consumers buying these drugs for their own use. It is also because the legal regulation of the Internet is largely based on national law. Manufacturers, suppliers, retailers, website hosting and payment processing servicesⁱ may all be based in different countries.⁶⁵⁹ Effective control of these entities and services are limited by differences in national laws, policies, and sociocultural values. In some of the countries where these drugs originate from, limited regulatory capacity and corruption can also limit their control.^{660,661} In short, a globalised, networked market has made it easier and cheaper to manufacture, advertise, buy, and distribute a huge range of drugs. Moreover, like all communication and transactions conducted at a distance, the lack of physical face-to-face, contact between the consumer and retailer can make deception and fraud easier and more likely when there is little risk of being caught.

i Weakness in payment processing has been identified as a potential target to disrupt this trade.659

3.5 How many people buy drugs online?

There have been few detailed studies in the UK that have looked at how many people buy drugs online. In 2003 a nationally representative survey of 2000 people aged 15+ found that 1% had bought prescription only medicines online. Respondents said that it was the easiest way for them to obtain the drug and that it cost less than a prescription.⁶⁵⁵ While this survey included any type of prescription only medicine, monitoring data from this period supplied by the predecessor to the MHRA found that eight of the top 10 medicines marketed over the Internet in the UK were also drugs that were commonly used for enhancement purposes (Box 3.10).655 A more recent survey commissioned by the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain found that 7% of 1950 adults had bought medicines online, and estimated 'over two million people across Britain now regularly purchase medicines via the web'. The respondents are likely to have included individuals with a prescription (and hence may obtain their medicines from a regulated pharmacy based in the UK), however of interest is that the most popular drugs purchased online were: fluoxetine (e.g. Prozac[®]), sildenafil (Viagra[®]), diazepam (Valium[®]), methylphenidate (Ritalin[®]), growth hormone (Serostim[®]) and modafinil (Provigil[®]).934 These are all drugs that can be used for enhancement purposes.ⁱ Unfortunately only a few details of the study are available so caution is required when interpreting these findings.

Despite the limited data it appears that considerable numbers of people are buying medicines online without prescriptions. Further research is needed to get better estimates of both the number of people buying drugs online for enhancement purposes and details of the types of drugs.

Box 3.10: Top 10 prescription only medicines marketed over the Internet in the UK in 2003. Most of these are commonly used as enhancement drugs.⁶⁵⁵

- 1. Xenical[®] (orlistat used weight loss)
- 2. Proscar[®] (finasteride used for hair loss)
- 3. Propecia[®] (finasteride used for hair loss)
- 4. Viagra[®] (sildenafil used for sexual enhancement)
- 5. Uprima[®] (apomorphine used for sexual enhancement)
- 6. Reductil[®] (sibutramine used for weight loss)
- 7. Zyban[®] (bupropion used for smoking cessation)
- 8. Relenza[®] (Zanamivir used for influenza)
- 9. Phentermine (used for weight loss)
- 10. Merida[®] (sibutramine used for weight loss)

i Some consumers may have bought these drugs to self-treat a medical condition. In some cases, such as diazepam and methylphenidate, the drugs are also used recreationally.

3.6 Online marketing

The Internet is making it easier for more people to buy these 'enhancing' drugs in more situations. 68,141-151,478,654,655 Yet few studies have looked at how people buy drugs online, including how a particular retailer is chosen.^{668–671} For some this may be based on personal recommendations from social networks. For others it may be from spam emails, online adverts or search engines. However, in the latter case how people access this information and the way it is presented is often manipulated.659,663-666 Deception and fraud are key features of much of the illicit market,²⁹⁶ although this is not to say that consumers will not always receive an order placed online. Many studies that have bought drugs online in order to study them have received at least some of them.⁶⁷¹ Online retailers use a range of strategies-known as 'spamdexing'663,935—in attempts to get their shop listed in the top results of search engines. These include 'keyword stuffing' as well as 'made-for-ads' websites that appear at first glance to simply provide information about a drug-although they focus attention on the 'benefits' and the ease of use, while ignoring the harms-but in reality are attempts to push consumers to a 'trusted' seller.935 These forms of manipulation are critical because it appears that people tend to trust and select links that are highly ranked in search engines.⁹³⁶ Some retailers also buy advertising space to ensure that the site is listed prominently on the top and bottom of search engine pages. The overall aim is to push more people to the sites selling the drugs. While the medium of manipulation may be new, such strategies to boost prominence have been used for many years. During the early 1900s the company that sold the weight loss drug Marmola planted stories in magazines in attempts to boost sales.937

The sales pitch online is often built around the drugs being of a 'high quality', 'safe' and above all 'effective' (Box 3.11). The harms are often manipulated, trivialised, or ignored. Some even advertise their products as manufactured according to international standards required by medicine regulators. Most notable in this respect are the growing number of synthetic peptide hormones such as melanotan II used for tanning and GHRP-6 used to stimulate the release of growth hormone. They quote scientific and medical literature, particularly published clinical trial data, that appears to support their claims. In the case of tanning drugs such as melanotan II or sexual enhancement drugs these are placed alongside pictures of (half)naked models that aim to reinforce the message (Box 3.12). 'Customer' testimonials are also used to praise the quality of the service and reliability of the retailer, as well as the quality, safety and effectiveness of the drug (not unlike the practices of those selling Marmola and DNP in the 1900s, \S 2). On the other hand, in order to avoid scrutiny by the authorities and circumvent medicine laws, some sites selling the drugs as 'research chemicals' and 'not for human consumption' limit such advertising activities. This is a similar ploy to that used by

retailers of so-called 'legal highs'. (In some cases such a marketing strategy may also give an air of scientific respectability for some avant-garde 'innovator' consumers.)⁸⁷⁹

Sites selling skin–lightening products (§7) often make no reference to the fact that the product contains a drug. In fact, similar to their sale in 'bricks and mortar' shops, they may be sold alongside normal skin care products and advertised simply as 'beauty creams'. Sites selling food and herbal products with potent active substances usually do not disclose these on the packaging/labelling, although in the case of some, such as muscle building supplements, they may be hinted at, yet promoted as simply 'safer'.

Box 3.11: 'Customer' testimonials from online shops selling the tanning drug

BEST TANNING PRODUCT IN THE WORLD EVER!!! EVERYONE KEEPS ASKING ME HAVE I BEEN ON HOLIDAY!!! AND IVE LOST 3 KILO'S IN UNDER TWO WEEKS.ABSOLUTELY THIS IS A CANCER FREE WAY OF GETTING A GREAT TAN!!! THANKS ... ' Nicola

'We love this product!! My wife and I have used it for 8 months and I feel so good. It has actually helped keep our marriage can you believe! We're both got a great tan, lost weight and our sex life together has never been better. Who would have thought this product could be brilliant. MASSIVE THANKS ... for saving our relationship, continuing to give good service and keeping your prices so fair.' Mike and Gill

'As a fitness coach I pay a lot of attention to my health and to having a vital and healthy appearance. Thanks to Melanotan 2 my body is nicely tanned. In my opinion, the greatest advantage of these injections is that they do not harm your skin and they do not cause premature skin aging [sic] like UV radiation does thanx.' Katie

'Last week was the first time I had bought from ... (our former name) and I will definitately [sic] be a regular customer. I have been using MelanotanII for 2 years now and have noticed that I have sometimes felt ill shortly after injecting. However when using the MelanotanII from this website I experienced no negative side effects and acheived [sic] a deep golden tan within 10 days, using a 1mg per day dose. Delivery was superfast, [sic] and the product was with me within 3 days of placing the order. Excellent product and excellent service from the staff at ... (our former name) also.' Danny Smith

Box 3.12: Other tricks of the online trade

Some sites selling melanotan II offer free 'starter kit' or discounts when you supply the retailer with 'before and after photos' for them to publish on their website. These are used to bolster the claims of the quality, safety and effectiveness of the product.

Other sites offer gift certificates, sale items, bulk discounts, customer loyalty programmes – such as points to redeem towards free products – online order checking, advice on the legal aspects of the products, a combination of different drugs at a discount, free gifts of drugs, or free shipping when a certain value is purchased.

In attempts to make the sites look legitimate and professional some use logos of pharmaceutical companies, healthcare providers, professional bodies, delivery companies and payment processing companies. In some cases fake certificates purporting to be from drug regulatory authorities or related professional bodies are used (Figure 11). Some sites also provide fake certificates of analysis of the products in attempts to deceive customers about the drug quality.

Many of these sites also 'offer' a convenient, reliable, and discreet service. They offer products delivered rapidly to your door to anyone who has access to a credit card, debit card or Internet payment account. Many offer express shipping or next–day delivery. Some also guarantee to replace the products or issue a refund if they are intercepted by customs agencies or found to be defective. Many sites also advertise customer privacy and data protection policies, although research has shown that out of 60 online

pharmacies tested most did not provide adequate protection for their customers.⁶⁶⁷ Products are delivered 'signed, sealed and private', the service is 'secure & discreet'. These features may play on consumers' embarrassment given the stigma attached to some of the uses for these drugs.⁶⁵⁴ This is reflected in the common belief that the Internet provides anonymity for such purchases. Curiously one recent study that looked at drugs such as sildenafil (for erectile dysfunction) bought from the Internet found that just over two-thirds of men were not concerned about the privacy of their personal information in such transactions.654



Figure 11. 'Fake certificate used on an Internet shop selling drugs. It purports to be from the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain and states that 'customers ... can be assured that the products are of the highest quality and are purchases from reputable sources ... We recommend using... for buying medicines on a regular basis'.

Unfortunately little is known about how consumers respond to these different types of marketing strategies.^{668–671,938} Studies will be required to determine if they help legitimise the retailer and normalise drug use and if they think that the retailers are legitimate and supplying genuine drugs (or, indeed, if they care). Despite the lack of research on this issue, large numbers of sites use many of the marketing strategies that are found on popular e–commerce sites.

3.7 Key issues

- Growing numbers of people around the globe are using drugs to try to get a better body, empower themselves, and increase their well–being. The sociocultural value placed on these goals can powerfully shape our behaviour.
- Globalised communication and transport networks help fuel the spread of these drugs. Increasingly, the Internet and express postal services play a central role by making it easy to learn about these drugs and buy them on demand. This is facilitated by weak legal and regulatory systems as well as corruption in some countries involved in the manufacture and supply of these drugs. Such factors also make it particularly difficult to control.
- In some cases the drugs are also bought from 'bricks and mortar' shops or obtained from family, friends and other acquaintances.
- Many unfounded claims are made about the 'enhancements' these drugs bring, although there is often no, or limited scientific evidence to support them.
- There is often limited information about the use of these drugs, particularly in the UK. However, evidence suggests that a large illicit market does exist.
- Although online retailers use a range of marketing techniques likely to appeal to consumers, little research has been conducted on how they respond to this.



4. The harms to public health

This section examines some of the general harms that this form of drug use may cause. For a discussion of some of the specific harms the reader is referred to the individual sections on drugs.

4.1 The safety net

All drugs whether licit or illicit have the potential to cause harm to individuals. Widespread use of the drug, as well as the frequency, severity, duration and outcome of the harm, can more broadly harm public health. In order that this can be minimised to an acceptable level, the research, testing, manufacture, distribution, labelling, sale, supply, and advertisement of medicines are strictly regulated in countries such as the UK.²²³⁻²⁴⁷ Failure in any of these aspects has caused serious harms.²⁴⁸⁻²⁷⁶ All potent medicines that are licensed are subject to expert assessment and continuous monitoring to ensure the benefits they bring to those with disease outweigh the harms that they can cause.

This framework of 'quality, safety and efficacy' also includes a system of pharmacoepidemiology (that includes further safety studies of a drug after it has been licensed) and pharmacovigilance (that includes the detection and reporting of suspected reactions). These provide essential mechanisms for detecting and minimising harms in a timely manner, particularly after a medicine has been licensed. It was the bitter experience of the harms caused by a lack of regulation—culminating with the thalidomide disaster—that were the catalysts for this protective framework.

Licensed medicines can sometimes be recalled, restrictions placed on their use, or banned (such as in the case of the appetite suppressants rimonabant and sibutramine, §6).^{556–572} Recalls may be due to a packaging error, such as a missing patient information leaflet, or because of a defect in the medicine, such as having the wrong amount of active substance or being contaminated in some way. Restrictions or bans may be due to a lack of efficacy or unexpected safety issues that cannot be identified during testing. This regulatory framework plays a critical role in protecting the individual and public health.

It is illegal to sell a medicine that is not licensed for use in the UK.^{223–230} However growing numbers of retailers ignore this or attempt to hide their true nature by advertising them as food or herbal products or 'research chemicals' and 'not for human consumption' (in the case of those retailers based in the UK) or more simply they are based outside of the UK and hence not subject to UK law.

4.2 Circumventing the safety net

Increasingly, our globalised, networked society allows this safety net to be circumvented. The ability to manufacture potent active substances and drugs in countries with weak legal and regulatory systems has increased. The Internet and global cargo/postal systems have made it easier and cheaper than ever to advertise, sell, buy, and distribute them. Together these have made the control of this market much more difficult.

Box 4.1: How does regulation in other countries affect the UK?

The World Health Organization estimates that only 20% of Member States have well–developed medicine regulatory frameworks. Of the remainder, 50% have varying levels of development and operational capacity; while 30% have no regulatory authority or only limited capacity to regulate the market. These gaps in regulation allow the manufacture and global distribution of untested, banned and adulterated drugs.^{660,661}

While analysis of a broad range of drugs sold on the illicit market have found that some are genuine, licensed medicines (whose use still requires medical supervision), growing numbers of banned, untested and/or adulterated drugs are also being sold.^{277–555} Perhaps surprisingly some of the untested and banned drugs arise from consumer demand. In most cases consumers are unaware of the harms posed from these products. Consumers have no way of checking the quality, safety and efficacy of products sold on the illicit market. They rely on stories from online communities, other social contacts and the claims made by manufacturers and retailers. This latter group are able to exploit this to their advantage through misleading and fraudulent advertising.

While it is difficult to estimate the level of harm from these drugs, some indication can be inferred from pre-clinical and clinical studies of the substances; drug disasters that happened prior to contemporary regulatory systems; harms that occur in countries where there is weak legal and regulatory systems; case reports; drug alerts from regulatory authorities; and experiences that arise in countries such as the UK as a result of new safety information that requires restrictions or bans on a particular medicine.^{248–276} However, in the case of untested medicines there is often little data to draw on.

A growing number of distributors and retailers have also started selling their own generic and branded drugs (Box 4.3) (Figure 12). There are a number of possible reasons for this: 1. it allows them to sell them as 'research chemicals' that are 'not for human consumption', (this is widely believed to fall into a grey area of medicine law); 2. it provides an opportunity to maximise profits by manufacturing cheaper products compared to selling genuine licensed medicines (which may also be more difficult to get hold of)

as well as marketing products for specific groups of people where there is no licensed equivalent (such as products containing sildenafil for women); and, critically, 3. it gives them the ability to offer products containing substances that are not available on the regulated market. In this latter case, this is because these substances are not licensed; or are sometimes in development as medicines (i.e. they may be in pre-clinical testing or pre-licensing clinical trials); or they may be substitutes to controlled drugs (§5.5)^{e.g. 532} or medicines that have other restrictions placed on their use; others were never commercialised, often because they did not work as expected or were not safe;^{e.g. 532} while in some cases, licensed products containing the active substances were banned (such as the Figure 12. ReducTrim 'recommended by doctors'. The product appetite suppressants contains the banned appetite suppressant sibutramine. It has been sibutramine and brought to our attention that some of our customers are concerned rimonabant) (Table 6)556-572 that this product has changed ... Please be assured that the only because of concerns change is the colour of the pill, and the manufacturer we deal with.

This is still a genuine Sibutramine 15mg product.'

Box 4.3: Expanding the range of drugs

Drugs used to treat erectile dysfunction are not licensed for use in women, however, recently specific brands such as 'Pink Viagra' (counterfeit Viagra[®] product claimed to contain sildenafil), 'Pulse8 for Women' and 'Pink Lady for Women Capsules' (containing tadalafil) (Table 8) have started to be sold on the illicit market.

Other manufacturers capitalise on this by claiming to provide combinations of drugs at high strength. For example some anabolic steroids are being supplied as 'pre-made stacks' (combinations of different drugs) at strengths higher that those found in legitimately licensed products.

4.3 All natural products?

over safety.

These problems run deeper. In order to capture some of the lucrative 'enhancement' market some manufacturers and retailers have deliberately added potent active substances to products sold as 'all natural', food, dietary, herbal and cosmetic products (Box 4.4, Box 4.5, Box 4.6).^{eg. 292–457} Here they exploit the common belief that 'natural' products are safer and healthier alternatives to drugs.^{588–590} These creative marketing strategies are also designed to circumvent legal restrictions on the sale of medicines.

Anabolic steroids, progestins, growth hormones, aromatase inhibitors, drugs used to treat erectile dysfunction, melanotan II, stimulants, appetite suppressants, diuretics, laxatives, and mercury compounds, just to name a few, have all been detected. Some of these are untested, others are banned. Some of the untested substances appear to be used in order to avoid detection by the authorities (such as sildenafil analogues, Box II). In other cases it is because of the novel pharmacological effects they may have (such as melanotan II, $\S7.2$). In some cases it may be due to poor manufacturing. However both the effects and the safety of these untested substances are largely unknown. Some of the active substances used have been banned because of safety concerns over their harmful effects (such as the appetite suppressants rimonabant and sibutramine). Most consumers are unaware of this adulteration. Nonetheless, in some cases (such as 'muscle builders' and 'fat burners') they intentionally buy them once they learn of rumours about their effects or true nature.

One example of this type of harm was the sale of weight loss products in Japan during the early 2000s.^{439–457} Sold as 'herbal medicines' and 'dietary supplements', these products contained the untested substance n–nitroso–fenfluramine hidden inside. It shares some similarities with fenfluramine a popular weight loss drug that was banned in 1997 because it was linked to serious cardiovascular problems.^{75,820–828} There were more than 160 cases of liver damage, four of which were fatal, linked with these products (some estimate that more than 800 people were injured). Similar cases were reported in China, Singapore, and the UK. In the latter country, four cases of serious liver damage were reported, one of which resulted in death. Despite an investigation by authorities it is still unclear why this substance was used.^{439–457,939}

More recently, more than 220 cases of severe hypoglycaemia, causing serious brain damage in some consumers and 13 fatalities, were reported in Singapore, Hong Kong and Australia linked to the use of 'herbal remedies' and adulterated drugs that were sold as sexual enhancement products and treatments for erectile dysfunction. The products often contained huge amounts of glibenclamide, a potent substance used to treat diabetes.^{548–555}

The public commonly view food and herbal supplements as safer than synthetic drugs. 'Natural' is often used as a synonym for 'good' and 'healthy'. Consumers may be more likely to use them believing that they will not cause harm—particularly when they are advertised as 'healthy' alternatives to drugs and 'free from side effects'.^{588–590} Some consumers with underlying disease, or who are prescribed medicines that requires them to avoid certain drugs/substances, may inadvertently use such products in the belief that they are 'all natural'.¹ Many individuals do not inform their doctor that they

i While most products hide the fact that they contain potent drugs, a smaller number do not, although they do obscure it from the average consumer. Some list the substance using a chemical name. It is thought this is done to generate interest and rumours about true nature of the product while avoiding regulatory scrutiny. Analysis of these types of products has found that the actual drug that is present may not match that claimed by the manufacturer.

are taking food or herbal products, which can lead to harmful interactions with prescribed drugs and treatments. Some consumers also appear less likely to report a serious harm from a 'herbal medicine' (defined as symptom(s) that were 'worrying or alarming') compared to over-the-counter medicines. In one recent study 40% of consumers stated that they would not consult their GP for a serious harm linked to the use of a herbal medicine.⁵⁹⁰ Consumers using herbal products may not associate a particular harm with its use. Importantly, as the consumer does not know that these products contain potent active substances it can delay correct medical treatment if they become ill (Box 4.6).

Box 4.4: 'Natural' & 'herbal' products in the UK

Since 2005, the UK medicines regulator has discovered more than 280 products sold as 'natural' or 'herbal' that contained varying quantities of undeclared potent active substances. Some of these contained banned or untested drugs. In some cases there was enough drug present to cause an overdose.²⁹⁶

Box 4.5: Ubertan. A 'natural blend?'

In 2011, the tanning product Ubertan was sold in the UK as 'a natural blend of melanin producing amino and fatty acids which is administered daily until the desired colour is reached ... using the easy to administer nasal spray applicator.' It was found to contain the potent untested synthetic peptide hormone melanotan II that increases the amount of the pigment melanin produced by the body.⁴⁸³



Box 4.6: 'Herbal hide & seek'

In 2010 'herbal remedies' sold in New Zealand and Singapore for enhancing sexual performance were found to contain the prescription only medicine tadalafil (used to treat erectile dysfunction) hidden in the capsule shells in a deliberate attempt to avoid detection. This is presumably because in the past authorities have typically analysed the contents of the capsules rather than the shells.^{505–507}

In the recent case in Hong Kong and Singapore where more than 220 people were seriously harmed by the use of herbal sexual enhancement products adulterated with glibenclamide only about 35% admitted use of the products. Three people were affected on two separate occasions by the adulterated products.^{548–555}

4.4 'Always read the leaflet'

Drugs sold on the illicit market may not be supplied with adequate and accurate labelling and information about how to use them safely. (In the case of banned and untested medicines this information is impossible to provide by its very nature.) In licensed medicines this essential information covers the potential harms, including interactions/interference with other drugs, foods and herbs, as well as ingredients (including excipients) that can cause allergic reactions and anaphylaxis.⁶¹²⁻⁶¹⁵ It also includes information on the effects of the drug in those with pre-existing disease and in specific populations such as older persons, children, and women of a childbearing age.616,617 People with reduced liver or kidney function may have to avoid certain drugs to prevent a harmful build-up of the active substance in the body. Test purchases of drugs (such as the appetite suppressant rimonabant, (6) by researchers, have found that some are supplied loose in plastic bags or envelopes.⁴⁶⁰ This means that essential information on using the drugs safely, including the correct dose to use, will be missing. It will also make it difficult for the consumer to actually identify what the drug is (assuming it is not already a counterfeit drug). The lack of child-resistant packaging in such cases could also lead to accidental poisoning in children.

4.5 Fertility, pregnancy & breastfeeding

Some of the drugs that are used may affect fertility (such as anabolic steroids which affect both males and females, §5).⁸⁷⁸ Others can reduce the effectiveness of oral contraceptives which could lead to unplanned pregnancy (such as modafinil which is used as a 'smart drug', §9).⁶¹⁸ Growing numbers of the drugs that are used are untested so their effects in humans are unknown. Others, such isotretinoin (Table 7), which is used to self–treat acne (sometimes as part of general skin care routines) is a potent teratogen.⁶¹⁹ Mercury from skin lightening creams (§7.3, Table 7) can also act as a toxin to the embryo or foetus.⁶²⁰ There are also concerns over the use of the anti–depressant paroxetine (§10, Table 10).^{621–623}

Drugs can harm the embryo or foetus at any time during pregnancy. However, the first trimester is the most critical period of embryonic and foetal development.⁶¹⁷ Exposure to drugs during this time may lead to serious harm. From a public health perspective this is important if women of a childbearing age use these drugs as 30–50% of pregnancies are unplanned. This is usually caused by a failure or lack of contraception. About a third of these pregnancies proceed to birth. In such cases the embryo and foetus may be exposed to the drug before the pregnancy is recognised (4–6 weeks or longer post–conception) (Box 4.7).^{624–627}

Similar concerns also extend to paternal drug use. Harmful drugs and metabolites may be transferred in the semen or other paternal-maternal contact.⁶²⁸ Some drugs may also damage the sperm resulting in harmful effects in the embryo. Others, such as testosterone gel or skin lightening creams, which are applied to the skin, may be accidentally transferred to others including women and children.^{608,629–633} Exposure can also happen by handling the drugs, such as crushed or broken tablets. The use of poor quality drugs can mean that protective mechanisms (such as special tablet coatings) may be absent causing those that handle them to be exposed (Box 4.8).⁶³⁴

Overall, such drug use, and more broadly, exposure, may not be detected by routine anti-natal screening, particularly if the woman was unaware of using drugs herself or her partner's drug use. This is particularly relevant in the case of food or herbal products that contain undeclared (hidden) active substances. Finally, in women who use these drugs during breastfeeding, the active substance or metabolite may be present in breast milk which could harm the baby.

Box 4.7: Are these types of drugs being used in pregnancy & breastfeeding?

There are no estimates of the number of women this may affect in the UK. It is unclear if routine anti–natal screening would pick up this type of drug use, particularly if the products are sold as food, herbal or cosmetics. There have been case reports of women using potent drugs for skin lightening and weight loss in the UK while pregnant. In one case the banned substance fenfluramine was hidden in a herbal weight loss product. The woman was breastfeeding at the time and was assured that the tablets were 'pure herbs' and could not harm the baby. After taking the drug for six weeks she discovered that she was also pregnant.⁶³⁵

Studies in Senegal, where use of skin lightening products (Table 7) in women is relatively common, found that some pregnant women continued to use products containing hydroquinone, corticosteroids and some of unknown ingredients during pregnancy and breastfeeding. The study also found that some started to use these drugs or increased their use during pregnancy.⁶⁰⁸ 6³⁶

Box 4.8: Finasteride, male pattern baldness & exposure in pregnant women

Finasteride (Table 7) is used to increase hair growth and prevent further hair lossⁱ (§7.4). It requires special precautions in its handling as exposure of the drug in pregnant women might lead to feminisation of a male foetus. In order to reduce the risk of exposure by women who are or who may become pregnant the tablets have a special coating. While finasteride is only licensed as 1 mg tablets for treating male pattern baldness, websites commonly promote and sell high–strength 5 mg tablets. In one recent case in the UK, a retailer promoted these high–strength tablets and suggested consumers use a pill cutter to divide the pill. This would have damaged the coating potentially allowing pregnant women to be exposed to the drug.⁶³⁴

4.6 Hazards for children

Children may be exposed to drugs through accidental transfer by those who are using them. Drugs obtained from the illicit market are not always sold in child–resistant packaging. In test purchases conducted by researchers, tablets have been supplied loose in an envelope or plastic bag.⁴⁶⁰ Medicines are one of the most common causes of accidental poisoning in young children, and unsafe storage of medicines causes serious harm.⁶³⁷ However, child–resistant packaging is the last line of defence in preventing poisoning and all medicines must be stored out of the reach and sight of a child. Similar measures should apply to injecting equipment. Such advice is not always present on drugs obtained from the illicit market.

4.7 Hazards from injecting

Drugs that are intended to be injected can cause serious harms through lack of sterility and other forms of contamination caused by poor manufacturing and distribution practices.⁶³⁸ Similarly, harms also occur from inadequate infection control, injection technique, sharing and disposal of injecting equipment and other 'sharps'. Localised infection, particularly abscesses can result from this.^{639–648} Sharing used injecting equipment leads to the spread of blood borne viruses such as HIV.⁸⁷⁸ Limited information is available on injecting techniques and related practices for using enhancement drugs, particularly for those individuals who have just started injecting.

i It is also used clinically to treat benign prostatic hyperplasia (where there is an increase in size of the prostate gland without cancer being present).

4.8 Additional hazards

Some drugs have been linked to dependence (such methylphenidate which is used as a 'smart drug') (Table 9).⁶⁴⁹ Some can affect the ability to drive and operate machines. Others may affect the ability to donate blood while using the drugs and for a period of time after treatment. This includes anabolic steroids (Table 5) and isotretinoin (Table 7). Routine screening of blood donors may not pick up such drug use, particularly if the individual is unaware of it as a result of using a food or herbal product containing undeclared active substances.

4.9 Detecting & preventing harms

Assessing the harm from this form of drug use is difficult when there is limited information on the number of people exposed to the drugs, the composition of the drugs, the regimens that are used, and number of people who experience harm.^{238–241} Monitoring systems that can detect harms, such as the UK's Yellow Card Scheme, can be used by healthcare professionals and the general public to report suspected reactions related to any drug. However, few reports related to enhancement drugs are likely to be received through this system. In part this may be due to a lack of awareness of it, a belief that only harms linked to licensed medicines can be reported, and a reluctance of individuals to report such reactions (including embarrassment) (Box 4.9).^{940–945}

Box 4.9: Reporting harms in the UK – the Yellow Card Scheme

The Yellow Card Scheme⁹⁴⁰ provides a vital system for identifying harms caused by medicines. Recent studies have suggested that there could be some value in the public reporting harms that are linked to the use of medicines. There is little reason to believe that these findings would not apply to drugs obtained from the illicit market. However, the awareness of this reporting system in general by the public is poor. It is reasonable to assume that an even smaller number are aware that reports can be made for drugs bought on the illicit market. However, research will be required to determine how this reporting system can be optimised for reporting such harms (§11).^{238–241,940–945}

While some drugs, such as the anabolic steroids, have been subject to a more systematic review of the harms,⁸⁷⁸ most of what we know is limited to case reports or extrapolation of data from clinical trials. However, the usefulness of such data may be limited as unexpected safety issues cannot be identified before the drug is used for a sufficient period of time in large populations.^{238–241} In the case of untested drugs (such as melanotan II, §7.2) there is often little or no data on the effects in humans and the harms they can cause. Assessing these relies heavily

on judgement and interpretation from other available data (such as in vitro or animal studies). Such data may have limited relevance and in some circumstances could provide false reassurances over the potential harms.^{238–241} Moreover, identifying harms caused by these drugs may be delayed as neither their use nor the illicit market are subject to routine monitoring, with much of the data on harms collected through case reports published in the academic literature. Intrinsic delays in publishing means that it can be many months before this information is widely available.

Another concern is that if a harm is identified with a drug or particular product on the illicit market then it can be difficult to stop its sale and distribution (Box 4.10).^{609–611} Tracing the products in the supply chain and at the level of the consumer can be difficult. Deliberate obstruction by the manufacturers and retailers may add to this complexity. This may be due to the fact that they are engaged in illegal activities and they may be reluctant to provide details of the supply chain etc., that incriminate either themselves or others, or because relevant details may not be available or retained. In some cases fictitious company names have been used on the product packaging (in the recent case where more than 220 people were harmed by sexual enhancement products adulterated with glibenclamide the company names were fictitious so the manufacturing source could not be determined).⁵⁵⁴ Different company names have also been used for the same product.⁶⁰⁹ There may also be a reluctance by consumers to provide information for fear of embarrassment. Overall this obstructs authorities in tracing the source of the product, points of sale, and, more broadly, makes estimating the degree of spread, including at the level of the consumer, extremely difficult.

Box 4.10: Removing products containing hidden active substances from the market can be difficult

Recently in the United States a product called Pai You Guo sold as weight loss capsules and tea was found to contain the banned substances sibutramine at more than twice the prescribed dose and phenolphthalein (a laxative) (§6). This led to a recall by authorities. A study of the effectiveness of this recall in one group of women found that none of them were aware of the recall and that 61% of those who had bought the product had done so after the recall had been announced. Some 85% of consumers reported at least one side effect (dry mouth, anxiety and insomnia were the most common).⁶¹¹ These types of products have been sold in the UK and have caused similar types of harms.^{301,302,304}

4.10 Key issues

- A globalised world allows medicine legal and regulatory systems to be circumvented. This allows almost unrestricted access to drugs that are otherwise tightly controlled in the UK. As a result untested, banned and adulterated drugs are widely available.
- Growing numbers of products sold as 'all natural', 'dietary' and 'herbal' are found with undeclared potent active substances. Such adulteration has caused serious harm.
- Drugs on the illicit market may not be supplied with adequate and accurate information about how to use them safely.
- Some of the drugs may affect fertility or reduce the effectiveness of oral contraceptives. Exposure in pregnancy may harm embryonic/ foetal development. Exposure from breastfeeding may harm infants. Children may also be accidentally exposed to, or poisoned by these drugs.
- Drugs that are injected may cause harm to the individual through damage to the injecting site and infections. Sharing injecting equipment can spread blood borne viruses.
- Some of the drugs cause dependence or affect the ability to drive and operate machines.
- The ability to detect and prevent harms is limited with current surveillance and reporting systems.



5. Drugs used to enhance the structure and function of muscle

This section examines the use of drugs to enhance the structure and function of skeletal muscle.^{688,878} Typically they are used to enhance physical performance (for example to increase strength) and for their cosmetic effects (to increase muscle size and definition). Some are also used for their related effects in other tissues (to decrease the amount of fat, §6) (Table 5). However, there are a number of broader reasons why people use such drugs which may change over time. They include attempts to get that 'six–pack look', to help perform better in sport, to 'turn back the clock', 'get bigger' and 'stronger' for their job, or to treat injury or disease. From a historical perspective the reasons for use have also changed, broadening out from bodybuilders and professional sportspersons.⁶⁸⁸

The oldest and largest group of drugs (and hence their significance reflected in this section) are the anabolic steroids which have been used since at least the late 1940s.^{688,946–952} However, the ability to manufacture biosynthetic human growth hormone in the last three decades or so, along with the more recent emergence of a number of novel untested substances, such as peptide hormones and the non–steroidal selective androgen receptor modulators (SARMs) (Table 5), have ultimately led to an increasing range of drugs that are sold on the illicit market.^{484-490,953-1011} Alongside these, products labelled and sold as 'food' 'dietary', or 'herbal' supplements, which contain substances such as anabolic steroids, anti–oestrogens, aromatase inhibitors, progestins and peptide hormones, are increasingly available in gyms, fitness equipment and nutritional supplement shops, as well as on the Internet.^{528-532,925} However little is known about their use as well as the harms they pose (Box 5.1).

5.1 Andrew, 19 years old

Andrew wants to 'bulk up' and 'get bigger and stronger'. He does strength training at the gym four times a week and plays rugby for his local club most Saturdays during the playing season. He describes himself as in very good health, thinks that he eats healthily, doesn't smoke or take recreational drugs, and drinks about 12 pints of strong lager a week, mostly over the weekend. For the past six weeks he has been using a 'dietary supplement' that he bought in a local fitness equipment shop that contains 'Superdrol' (see Box 5.1). The other day while training he got talking to Bob, an amateur powerlifter, about his lack of progress in building muscle.

Bob suggests that alongside changes to his diet and getting more sleep, anabolic steroids might help him achieve the gains he wants. Over the past six years Bob has tried 'almost every steroid there is ... orals and injectables', as well as drugs such as clenbuterol, ephedrine, growth hormone, thyroxine, GHB, and insulin. He has also tried some of the 'new drugs' such as SARMs, melanotan II, GHRP–6 and MGF.

Bob has been training at gyms since his late teens. Six years ago he noticed that he was struggling to lift the same weight as some of the younger lads in the gym and decided to look into using anabolic steroids as part of his training regimen. He stresses that he has been careful not to 'abuse' the substances that he takes, and that, like his diet, he uses them to 'enhance' his training, and not as a 'short cut'. He spends a lot of time on the Internet researching their effects before trying them. He believes that he knows how to spot 'fake gear' (counterfeit/fakes), and always 'injects properly' using 'clean needles'. Aside from having to get used to the 'jabs' (injections), and feeling 'as horny as hell' most of the time when using steroids, he also gets a few 'minor' side effects 'every now and again'. These include 'a bit of acne', 'gyno', i and 'deca dick'ii which are 'easily treated' using isotretinoin, tamoxifen, and sildenafil. Occasionally he needs to use a drug called 'human chorionic gonadotrophin' to 'kick start' his body's production of testosterone after using steroids. While Bob admits these side effects are sometimes a 'bit of a hassle' he says that 'they come with the territory' and are 'easily treated' without having to go to his general practitioner—'at least I know the drugs are working and I don't have to worry about my GP having a moan!' GPs, suggests Bob, 'don't know what they are talking about' when it comes to these drugs. Bob believes that he has experienced 'big gains' from using the drugs and 'wouldn't change things for the world'.

Andrew has heard a lot about anabolic steroids causing 'roid rage' and asks if Bob has ever experienced it. Bob reckons that 'roid rage' is a 'load of crap', suggesting that it's just an excuse for 'nutters to lose their top'—particularly those that 'abuse' steroids. He says that the drugs can increase 'positive aggression' needed for training, but in his experience if someone is 'angry off steroids' they are 'angry on steroids'.

Bob suggests that to get the gains that Andrew wants he should start on his 'tried and tested basic cycle' of 1000 mg/ml of 'Sus' 'stacked'ⁱⁱⁱ with 400 mg/ml of 'Deca' per week for 12 weeks, followed

i 'Gyno' (or 'bitch tits') is slang for gynaecomastia, the growth of the breast tissue in males. Caused by an imbalance in levels of oestrogen to testosterone, many of the drugs commonly used by this group (such as growth hormone, human chorionic gonadotrophin) have been linked to it. The use of anti–oestrogens (particularly tamoxifen, see Table 5), and, increasingly, aromatase inhibitors, which are taken to treat and prevent gynaecomastia, is relatively common in steroid users.^{688,878,951}

iii 'Deca dick' is a slang term used to describe erectile dysfunction that users attribute to using the steroid nandrolone decanoate (Table 5). While erectile dysfunction is fairly commonly reported by steroid users during 'on' and 'off' cycles there has been very limited study of this problem.^{688,878}

ⁱⁱⁱⁱ 'Sus' is slang for Sustanon 250, a drug that contains four different types of testosterone with different durations of action. Cycling is where steroids are taken for a period of time (for example 8–12 weeks) known as an 'on cycle', followed by a similar period of steroid–free training known as an 'off cycle'. This is done to prevent tolerance to the steroids, reduce the risk of side effects from prolonged use, and allow the body's hormonal systems time to resume normal function. Some individuals continue to use a lower dose 'maintenance' regimens of drugs during the 'off cycle'; a minority of individuals use the drugs on a continuous basis. Alongside cycling, users will typically take two or more different steroids at the same time in a practice known as 'stacking' which they believe will have synergistic effects. There is limited data to support this practice. The dose and regimen of the steroid(s) used in a cycle/stack may be manipulated throughout an 'on cycle' in an attempt to maximise positive effects, prevent tolerance to a particular steroid and minimise harms.^{688,878}

by 8 weeks off the drugs. He introduces him to the gym manager, Dave, who can sell him everything he needs to get started. This includes the injecting equipment and any drugs that he might need to treat common side effects.ⁱ This costs Andrew about $\mathcal{L}40$ per week (Figure 14). Bob shows him how to inject the first few times.



Figure 14. Anabolic steroids from the illicit market.

Since then Andrew has also been doing some of his own research on the Internet and joined a few discussion forums. He has bought a copy of the latest edition of a reference book specifically written for anabolic steroid users that includes 'detailed drug profiles', 'cycles', 'stacks' and how to spot counterfeit and fake drugs. The discussions and book mirror some of what Bob has already told him about the drugs, and his own early experiences.

Box 5.1: Comment on Andrew

Andrew may not be aware of this but he has been using an anabolic steroid for the past six weeks. Analysis of 'food supplements' containing 'Superdrol' found it to contain the anabolic methasterone. This was first synthesised in the late 1950s but was never commercialised. The reason for this is unclear. Data from studies in rodents found it to be a potent anabolic drug.947 Information on the effects and harms of this drug is not available, however, 10 cases of liver injury linked with the use of Superdrol have been reported in the medical literature.^{1011–1016} While Bob believes that he knows how to spot a counterfeit or fake, the reality is that apart from really obvious visible defects, the only way to tell is through detailed analysis of the product. This relates not only to what active substance is present and its strength but also whether there are any contaminants. In the case of injectable drugs this is particularly important given that they need to be sterile.

i Users will often take a combination of ancillary drugs. These include other performance–enhancing drugs (such as clenbuterol, growth hormone, and insulin) and drugs to combat steroid–induced side effects (such as tamoxifen and human chorionic gonadotrophin). Some may in addition use recreational drugs which may also function as performance–enhancing agents (such as cocaine, amphetamine).^{688,878,951,952}

5.2 Sarah, 38 years old

Sarah wants to 'tone up and get trim', 'get some of that energy back that she had when she was in her early 20s' and 'get rid of those fine lines, creases and wrinkles' that have started to appear on her face. She trains at the gym three times a week and goes jogging at least twice. She describes herself as in 'good health', thinks that she eats healthily, doesn't smoke, drink alcohol or take drugs. Although she has never been overweight, Sarah often feels 'fat' and wants to get 'a flatter, toned, tummy and firmer arms, legs, and bum'.

Recently she read an article in a popular fitness magazine–'Forget plastic surgery, should we go for growth hormone?–that tells the story of Beth, a 46 year old business executive, who has been injecting 'low doses' of growth hormone over the past six years and has found that it has 'totally changed her life'. Beth mentions that she first got interested in growth hormone when she read an article about a study published in a leading medical journal which reported that over a period of six months the drug had 'reversed the effects of ageing by 10 to 20 years' in men in their 60s and 70s. Now Beth feels like she is back in her early-twenties. She is 'toned and trim' and her skin is 'smoother', with 'no wrinkles'. She feels less tired and is 'much better' at remembering things–all 'without any side effects'. Sarah decides to have a look on the Internet for some more information about the drug.

Sarah comes across a discussion forum where a group of women around her age are using the drug. Some of them keep an online 'log' (or diary) of their experiences, that include 'before—and—after' photos, and where other members can also comment on their progress. Sarah found that while many of the women were a bit worried about injecting the first time, they soon got used to it, helped by a video of how to inject posted to YouTube by a registered nurse. In fact the only side effect that most of them reported was a bit of pain at the injection site just after taking the drug.

One of the members, Joan, mentions a recent news report highlighting a clinical trial where young children who don't produce any growth hormone were given 'inhalers' of the drug, because it helped them stick to the regimens prescribed by their doctors. They all agree that when growth hormone is available in an inhaler they will switch to using this. They also believe a lot more people who are put off by injecting might be tempted to use the drug. 'Imagine being able to carry it around in your bag.'

Joan, who had been using growth hormone for the past two years, says that about six months ago she switched to a drug called 'CJC-1295' which 'stimulates' natural growth hormone secretion. She admits that the drug 'is still experimental' however, the shop she bought it from claimed that you only had to inject 'twice a week', compared to 'every day' with growth hormone. She also mentions that the shop said that they got the drug from a 'leading' supplier in the EU that manufacturers it according to 'pharmaceutical standards'. Sarah decides to take the plunge and orders two vials of 'CJC-1295' for $\pounds 86$ that contains enough for a two–week course of treatment. The vials also come with a vial of bacteriostatic water to reconstitute the drug, two sterile wipes, and one needle and syringe (Box 5.2).

Box 5.2: Comment on Sarah

CJC-1295 is an untested drug. Its effects in humans are largely unknown, although studies with small numbers of people have found that it can stimulate the secretion of growth hormone.¹⁰⁰³⁻¹⁰⁰⁷ As far as we know it is no longer being developed as a medicine. There is no evidence to support the claims made on online shops about its effects:

'Increases muscle mass (and physical strength if combined with moderate exercise). Reduces wrinkling of the skin and some other effects of skin ageing. Re–grows internal organs that have atrophied with age. It promotes lipolysis, which results in the reduction of adipose tissue (body fat). Strengthen the immune system.'

CJC-1295 is only available on the illicit market.⁴⁸⁵ This means that consumers do not know what they are using and if it is sterile. Moreover, for each injection Sarah will need new sterile injecting equipment, otherwise she could develop an infection or damage the injection site (§4.7).

5.3 The emergence of anabolic steroids

Rumours of the use of anabolic steroids for 'muscle–building' effects date back to the late 1940s when it was suggested that some bodybuilders in the United States used 'various' forms of 'testosterone'. Most accounts suggest that by the early 1950s the drugs started to be used in weightlifting, after which their use became widespread in many other types of sport.⁶⁸⁸ Use diffused beyond these small groups so that by the 1970s, data from the United States suggested that some collegiate and high–school athletes had also begun to experiment with the drugs. However the extent of this is unclear,¹ and a clearer picture is only available from the late 1980s onwards. Here a study found that 6% of male high school students in their final yearⁱⁱ had used the drugs at least once, with two thirds starting to use the drugs at age 16 or younger. Interestingly, just over 20% reported that they got the drugs primarily from either a doctor, pharmacist or veterinarian, however this was a time when the drugs were not classed as controlled substances.¹⁰¹⁷

i This is partly because it is unclear if a distinction was made between anabolic steroids and corticosteroids. Both are commonly abbreviated in the general population as 'steroids', and have been subject to mix–ups.

ii 12th Grade students. The ages ranged from <17 to 20, with 98.5% aged 18 or under.

The United States, with its emphasis on competitive sport at collegiate and even high school–level, may represent a rather unique social environment that facilitates anabolic steroid use compared to other countries. That said, school–based surveys in other countries have shown that between 0.4% and 5.8% of male adolescents have used the drugs at least once, with a much smaller number of females using the drugs. A small number of studies in both the United States and European Union have found a similar level of use in young females. It is unclear as to the accuracy and indeed the implications of these data. It has been suggested that a failure to discriminate between corticosteroids and anabolic steroids in the questionnaire (due to the common term 'steriods') may be the most reasonable explanation for these findings.¹⁰¹⁸

In the UK, up until 1992, reports about the use of anabolic steroids were largely anecdotal or informal and limited in scope.^{842–863} However, concerns were noted during the mid 1960s that the use of these drugs was an accepted practice in weightlifting and bodybuilding, including at an amateur level. During the 1980s reports also began to appear about their use in 'health and fitness clubs'. These were supplemented by a small informal survey in a gym in the West of Scotland along with a series of investigative reports in The Times newspaper that highlighted a 'thriving' illicit market in 'buying and selling of anabolic steroids ... in British gymnasiums and health and fitness centres'.⁶⁸⁸

In September 1987, the Government requested that the Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs (ACMD) examine the issue. In March the following year it concluded that there was insufficient evidence that the use of the drugs constituted a social problem— a key criteria which needs to be satisfied under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 before a substance can be brought under its control. Over the next few years the issue continued to be raised within Government, Parliament and the popular media, alongside further reports (both informal and formal) within the scientific literature.⁶⁸⁸

In October 1992, the Government asked the ACMD to re–examine the issue. This work coincided with the Department of Health commissioning the largest ever prevalence study undertaken in gyms in the United Kingdom, which found that 6% of men and 1.4% of women reported current use of anabolic steroids.⁸⁶⁴ These data, along with evidence from a number of sources, led the ACMD in February 1993 to conclude that steroid use was now 'having or appeared capable of having harmful effects sufficient to constitute a social problem'. Subsequently, legislation was introduced in 1996 by the Government to control the use of steroids (along with clenbuterol, growth hormone and chorionic gonadotrophin which are often used as ancillary drugs) under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971.⁶⁸⁸

5.4 The emergence of growth hormone

Up until the mid-1980s all human growth hormone (hGH) available on the market was obtained from cadavers.⁹²⁴ This severely limited the amount of the hormone for medical use (limited to children with growth hormone deficiency, GHD) and research.ⁱ The development, and subsequent refinement of technology that allowed the hormone to be produced synthetically, radically changed the use and diffusion of hGH, opening it up to both licit and illicit markets. The new technology offered a mechanism for the large-scale production of growth hormone, which helped make important discoveries in basic and applied science, and the expansion of research outside of the treatment of young people with GHD. This included research into the role of the hormone in adults-such as its effects on body composition, particularly in ageing (Box 3.6)—and its potential for treating a range of conditions, including those with adult GHD.924 The potential for biosynthetic growth hormone to increase height, coupled with its wider availability, was highlighted both by academics and in the popular media which raised concerns that some parents may use the hormone on their healthy children to increase their final height.924

Anecdotal reports suggest that growth hormone has been available in gyms for more than 25 years. However, it was not until 1992 that a more formal indication of this became available as part of a broader study examining anabolic steroid use in the UK. This Department of Health study examined use of the hormone in a group of 110 anabolic steroid users from nine locations in England, Scotland, and Wales. They found that three individuals had used growth hormone in the previous six months, which the authors understood to be essentially confined to those few who can afford it (ie. [sic] [drug] dealers and high standard bodybuilders)'. Since this report only a few other studies from the United Kingdom have looked at the use of the hormone. The most recent study recruited participants from 'hardcore' gyms in South Wales and found that out of 96 current anabolic steroid users, 24% were also currently using growth hormone. However, this does not reflect the level of use in the wider gym population. This is because these studies either recruited individuals already known to be using anabolic steroids or sampled people from 'hardcore' gymsⁱⁱ where performance-enhancing drugs were more commonly used.⁹²⁴

In recent years the manufacture of biosynthetic growth hormone in China has made it cheaper and easier to buy. Facilitated by sale over the Internet, such manufacture is believed to have played a key role in the greater diffusion of this drug. Although there is limited information,

i Moreover, it was discovered that some growth hormone products were contaminated with the causative agent for Creutzfeldt–Jakob disease (CJD) causing the fatal neurodegenerative disease in some patients.

ii These are characterised by having predominantly heavy weight training equipment, competitive bodybuilders and relatively few female members.



Figure 15. Growth hormone from the illicit market, seized by Merseyside Police.

estimates of the cost of growth hormone on the illicit market in the UK during the 1990s suggested costs of $\pounds 6.58$ to $\pounds 20$ per IU (International Unit). Recent data drawn from a small convenience sample of products available on the illicit market in South East England in 2008 found a number of different products on offer that varied between $\pounds 1$ and $\pounds 8.33$ per IU (Box 3.9)⁹²⁴ (Figure 15).

The use of growth hormone as an 'anti–aging therapy' or 'well– being' drug appears to be gaining popularity, particularly in the United States.^{913–916} However, no studies from the United Kingdom have examined these reasons for use.

5.5 Emerging drugs

In the past few years a range of new but untested drugs have emerged on the illicit market. These are based on advances made by scientific research and in drug development. These include stimulants sold as food supplements,^{134,1019} non–steroidal selective androgen receptor modulators (SARMs), CJC-1295, Mechano Growth Factor, GHRP–6, Examorelin (Hexarelin®), Long–R.3–IGF–1, and PEGylated Mechano Growth Factor (Table 5).Little is known about how many people use these drugs, although discussion on online communities suggest that growing numbers are trying the drugs. In part this is likely to reflect their increasing availability through Internet shops. In some cases it may reflect the fact that they are not controlled drugs and hence easier to supply as 'research chemicals' for retailers, as well as being legal for consumers to possess (many of the commonly used anabolic steroids as well as growth hormone are controlled drugs in the UK, Table 5).^{484–490,528–532,925}

5.6 Who uses and why?

In order to get a picture of who uses these types of drugs, it is useful to categorise individuals based on their main reason for use.⁶⁸⁸ These should be viewed as a rule of thumb and users may fall into one or more categories. The main reason for use may also vary from person to person within any particular group, and within persons over time. With this in mind there appears to be four broad categories:

- 1. sports competitors (including elite bodybuilders) who use predominately to enhance their sporting performance;
- 2. occupational users, such as those in the security industry (e.g. door supervisors and security guards), prison officers and police officers whose major reason for use is to increase both muscle size, strength

and aggression to protect and intimidate others, there are also those in the entertainment industry, such as dancers and actors, who use to enhance their physical appearance as required by their occupation;

- 3. those who use predominately as treatments for disease, anti-ageing, short height; and
- 4. those who use predominately for cosmetic reasons to enhance their body image satisfaction.

Information on this form of drug use is limited. Overall, most of the surveys suggest that the majority of users are male (particularly in relation to anabolic steroid use),⁸⁶⁴⁻⁸⁷⁸ however few studies have examined the use of growth hormone and new drugs.⁹²⁴ Surveys in the general population often only look at basic measures of self–reported use, particularly in relation to 'anabolic steroids' (although surveys in some countries use terms such as 'doping', 'muscle–building hormones' or include examples of the substances). About 0.2% people (mainly men) aged 16–59 in England and Wales, equivalent to 52,000 people, used anabolic steroids in the past year.⁸⁴⁰ Around 0.3% of boys and 0.1% of girls aged 11–15 had used the drugs.⁸⁴¹ Interestingly data from needle and syringe programmes in the North West of England have found that between 1991 and 2001 there was a sixfold increase in the number of new clients using anabolic steroids. This is a trend that appears to be continuing.^{875,878}

More detailed studies of user groups have also focussed on those using anabolic steroids, particularly those self--identifying as 'bodybuilders' and 'strength trainers'.^{864-875,878} Among other things, this research has explored why and how these drugs are used, as well as some of the harms. In the latter case these measures are largely restricted to subjective effects which limit the conclusions that can be drawn. While questions on the use of growth hormone has been increasingly included in such studies, this has usually been limited to a subgroup of those using anabolic steroids.⁹²⁴ Information on the use of the newer drugs is largely limited to observations of Internet discussion forums.

5.7 The illicit market

There are some data to suggest an increasing number of 'off–label' (where a medicine is used outside the terms of its licence) prescriptions for anabolic steroids (largely testosterone) and growth hormone, particularly in the United States.^{1020,2021} It is unclear how these prescribing practices affect this form of drug use, although it is possible that it makes the use of these drugs more normal and acceptable. While these practices allow access to quality assured products it is thought many individuals purchase the drugs they need from the illicit market.^{925,959–983} In part this is because of national medicines policies that limit access to these drugs, but also because this market is the sole source of some of the drugs that are in high demand by users. This includes some anabolic steroids that are

no longer licensed (see 'methandienone', Table 5) or are only marketed as veterinary medicinal products,⁹²⁵ as well as the newer untested drugs such as the SARMs (Table 5). While there is undoubtedly some diversion of licensed medicinal products to the illicit market, the range of products available appears to be mostly due to growing manufacturing capacities in countries such as China and India where regulatory capacity is weak (Box 4.1). An increasingly interconnected world also facilitates the transnational distribution, marketing and sale of such products. Here the Internet appears to be playing a key role as a 'hub' in the diffusion of these types of drugs.⁹²⁵ This is thought to have led to underground laboratories in the United Kingdom that typically import the ingredients in bulk and produce the final drug product themselves.

Over the past decade or so there has been a trend of selling untested anabolic steroids, anti–oestrogens, aromatase inhibitors and progestins as food supplements (often labelled as 'dietary supplements'). More recently some peptide hormones and stimulants have also been detected in these products (Table 5).^{484–490,528–532,925} They have been marketed in this way in order to circumvent the medicine laws. Here enterprising chemists have searched the medicinal chemistry literature for substances that were originally synthesised as part of pharmaceutical research programmes but were not commercialised (and in the case of the anabolic steroids or growth hormone analogues because such drugs may not be subject to controlled drug frameworks) or are currently being tested as medicines. Little is known about the effects and harms of many of the active substances in these 'supplements' or products sold as 'research chemicals'.

5.8 Patterns of use

Many individuals use a range of drugs in high doses.^{864–875,878} This usage is based on the availability of the drugs, the user's personal goals and as a result of self–experimentation (informed by the user's social networks, genre literature and websites). Some individuals use a more limited range of drugs. Research from the United Kingdom suggests that the majority of users inject anabolic steroids.⁸⁷⁸ Importantly, many of the new drugs are also injected (e.g. CJC-1295). The natural history of use of these drugs is not well understood.

5.9 Do these drugs work?

Doses of testosterone leading to supraphysiological levels in the blood significantly increase muscle mass and strength in healthy young men.^{1022–1026} While it is reasonable to assume that similar effects are seen with other anabolic steroids as they are structurally related to testosterone, few have been subjected to the same rigorous study.^{946–948,1027–1029} Alongside the empirically validated effects, many users also cite psychotropic effects such as an enhancement of mood and confidence, increased aggression and motivation for training, as well as ancillary ergogenic effects (such as a reduced recovery time between training), as additional and synergistic
reasons for use of these drugs. Data are limited on such reported effects, however we know that anabolic steroids can have powerful placebo/ expectancy effects (i.e. when a person expects a given effect from a drug and this either unconsciously affects the outcome or causes them to report the effect they expect).^{1030,1031} Moreover, the effects of training, among other things, may confound such reported psychotropic effects. Currently, there are little data available on the effects of growth hormone and many of the newer drugs.

5.10 What do we know about the harms?

Case reports and other studies have linked the use of these types of drugs, particularly the anabolic steroids, with harms. Direct harms include adverse reactions from pharmacotoxicological actions of the drugs, and, more broadly, those caused by adulteration.⁸⁷⁸ One particular concern is the quality of the active substance (identity, strength and purity) and the presence of contaminant (including sterility) given that many drugs are injected. There are also indirect hazards from injecting (§4.7). These include inadequate infection control, injection technique and sharing of injecting equipment that can cause local and systemic infections. However these issues remain poorly studied. Part of the problem is that most of the drugs are obtained from the illicit market. Because the composition cannot be assured and the impact of this is not routinely quantified and assessed, then it is difficult to know if it is the effects of the drug that are being examined or some other factor.⁹²⁵

5.11 Acne

Acne is a common finding in questionnaire–based studies of anabolic steroid users, although the measures used have not been validated. There have been some case reports that documented severe forms such as acne conglobata or acne fulminans.⁸⁷⁸

5.12 Gynaecomastia

Gynaecomastia is a common finding in questionnaire–based studies. It is the growth of the breast tissue in males caused by an imbalance in the levels of oestrogen to testosterone. Many of the drugs commonly used by this group, such as growth hormone, human chorionic gonadotrophin and spironolactone (a diuretic), have also been linked with gynaecomastia.⁸⁷⁸

5.13 Liver

Many of the oral anabolic steroids have been linked with liver damage. Importantly, cases over the past few years have reported a link between the use of 'food' and 'dietary' supplements thought to contain anabolic steroids and liver damage, although the composition of the products were not analysed. There have been a small number of case reports of benign liver tumours, peliosis hepatis (blood–filled sacs in the liver) and liver cancer in individuals who have used anabolic steroids.⁸⁷⁸

5.14 Cardiovascular

Anabolic steroids have also been linked with a range of harms on the cardiovascular system although these remain poorly studied, with much of the data from studies being equivocal. While there are a number of case reports of cardiovascular harms it is unclear just how common these are. Differences in the study design, research participants and the drugs that are used could account for these different findings. The most consistent finding is a change in lipid metabolism, with a decrease of HDL cholesterol and an increase in LDL cholesterol which could increase the risk of cardiovascular disease, although this is not inevitable and depends on the specific drugs used, doses taken and the duration of use.⁸⁷⁸

5.15 Genitourinary

Many anabolic steroids when used at sufficient dose can suppress the body's production of testosterone and sperm. In some cases this can cause temporary infertility. While it is common for users to report increased libido during an 'on' cycle (and to a lesser extent decreased libido during an 'off' cycle), these effects have not been sufficiently researched. Some users also self–report erectile dysfunction during both 'on' cycles and 'off' cycles. Again these reports require further research. There has been a case report of prostatic cancer in an individual who was a long–term steroid user and a small number of case reports of renal cancers in individuals who reported use of anabolic steroids. The significance of these cases is unknown.⁸⁷⁸

5.16 Effects on behaviour and mood

While data from case studies and observational studies have linked anabolic steroid use with a range of effects on behaviour and mood (such as hypomania, mania, aggression, violence, depression, and, after ceasing use, suicide) these effects are poorly researched.¹⁰³² However, these drugs are psychoactive, and it is important to note that a range of medicines that act on the central nervous system have also been associated with such effects.^{1033,1034} More research is required into both the effects of these drugs on mood and behaviour and the public health implications of this. Self–reported data from observational studies suggest that anabolic steroids may be linked to psychological dependence. It is unclear if anabolic steroids have the potential to cause physical dependence.⁸⁷⁸

5.17 Growth hormone and emerging drugs

The harms from growth hormone use are likely to include those that mimic the symptoms of acromegaly (a disease where the body produces too much growth hormone) as a result of exposure to prolonged high doses of growth hormone. Limited research has been conducted on this. In relation to the newer drugs there is insufficient data to determine the harms to health. For those drugs that are injected there are indirect harms related to injecting practices, including damage to the injecting site, local and systemic infections.⁹²⁴

5.18 Specific concerns for young people

The use of these types of drugs could potentially disrupt the normal pattern of growth and behavioural maturation (for example the use of anabolic steroids could lead to virilization).⁸⁷⁸

5.19 Specific concerns for females

The use of anabolic steroids in females can lead to virilization which includes: hirsutism, deepening of the voice, problems with the menstrual cycle and fertility, clitoral enlargement, atrophy of breast tissue, and changes in libido. The impact of these effects can be pronounced, and, in some cases, permanent. Anabolic steroids and the other drugs discussed in this section can have harmful effects on the embryo and foetus. This is important both for women of childbearing age as well as men trying to father a child. Moreover, the active substances or metabolites may be present in breast milk which may harm the baby.⁸⁷⁸

	þ									
Name	How it works	Route of administration	Evidence of use	Legal status	Price on illicit market	Price in British National Formulary	Self-directed dose	Sale on illicit market confirmed by analysis	Harms from self- directed use	Adulterated drugs detected
Anabolic steroids										
Testosterone Enantate	Analogue of testosterone	Injectable	Surveys of gym users. Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums	Prescription only medicine; controlled drug	'Scimex - 10ml / 250 mg per 1ml' for £55 = £0.02 per mg	Testosterone enantate 250 mg/ml, net price 1-ml amp for £13.33 = £0.05 per mg	1000 mg per week	5	>	>
Nandrolone Decanoate	Analogue of testosterone	Injectable	Surveys of gym users. Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums	Prescription only medicine; controlled drug	'Scimex - 10ml Vial / 300 mg per ml' for £49 = £0.016 per mg	Deca- Durabolin® 50 mg/ml, net price 1-ml ampule for £3.17 = £0.06 per mg	400 mg per week	>	5	>
Methandienone (Dianabol)	Analogue of testosterone	Oral	Surveys of gym users. Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums	Prescription only medicine; controlled drug [†]	'Danabol 10 mg' 60 tablets for £20.95 = £0.35 per tablet	NA	160 mg per week	>	5	>
Testosterone Cipionate	Analogue of testosterone	Injectable	Surveys of gym users. Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums	Prescription only medicine; controlled drug [†]	'Scimex - 10ml Vial / 250 mg per ml' for £55 = £0.02 per mg	N/A	600 mg per week	>	>	>

Table 5. Examples of drugs used to enhance the structure and function of muscle.

n Harms Adulterated larket from drugs detected med self- lysis directed		>	However, none of these products are licensed medicines	However, none of these products are licensed medicines	However, none of these products are licensed medicines	X Unknown.
Sale on Illicit market confirmed by analysis		>	>	>	>	>
Self-directed dose		6–7 IU per week	0.5 mg 1-2 times per week	0.1 mg 1-3 times per day	0.1 mg 1-3 times per day	0.2 mg per
Price in British National Formulary		Saizen® 3.33- mg (10 IU) vial for £73.20 = £7.32 per IU	Ψ/N	Ψ/N	Ψ/N	N/A
Price on illicit market		Jintropin 100 IU' vial for £309.97 = £3.10 per IU	2 mg vial for £22 = £11 per mg	5 mg vial for £18 = £3.60 per mg	5 mg vial for £11.50 = £2.30 per mg	2 mg vial for £21.50 = £10.75
Legal status		Prescription only medicine; controlled drug	Untested	Untested	Not licensed in the UK [‡]	Untested
Evidence of use	cretion	Surveys of gym users. Enforcement/ Seizures	Internet forums	Internet forums	Internet forums	Internet forums
Route of administration	stimulate its se	Injectable	Injectable	Injectable	Oral/Injectable	Injectable
How it works	id substances that	Synthetic growth hormone	Stimulates secretion of growth hormone	Stimulates secretion of growth hormone	Stimulates secretion of growth hormone	Stimulates secretion of
Name	Growth hormone and substances that stimulate its secretion	Growth hormone (Somatropin, rhGH)	CJC-1295	GHRP.6	GHRP-2 (Pralmorelin Dihydrochloride)	Examorelin (Hexarelin®)

Name	How it works	Route of administration	Evidence of use	Legal status	Price on illicit market	Price in British National Formulary	Self-directed dose	Sale on illicit market confirmed by analysis	Harms from self- directed use	Adulterated drugs detected
IGF-1 and analogues	s									
rhIGF-1 (Mecasermin)	Synthetic IGF-1	Injectable	Surveys of gym users. Internet forums	Prescription only medicine	N/A, sites purporting to offer IGF-1 sell Long-R3-IGF-1	Increlex® 10 mg/ ml, 4 ml vial for £605 = £15.13 per mg	0.05-0.1 mg per day	×	×	Unknown
Long-R ³ .IGF-1	Analogue of IGF-1, enhances potency	Injectable	Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums	Untested	1 mg vial for £61	NA	0.05-0.1 mg per day	>	×	>
Mechano Growth Factor (IGF-1Ec)	Analogue of IGF-I	Injectable	Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums	Untested	2 mg vial for £18.61 = £9.30 per mg	N/A	0.4-0.8 mg post exercise	\$	×	Unknown. However, none of these products are licensed medicines
PEGylated Mechano Growth Factor (PEG MGF)	Analogue of IGF-I, produced by underground labs	Injectable	forums	Untested	2 mg vial for £37,90 = £18,95 per mg	A/A	0.4-0.8 mg post exercise	×	×	Unknown. However, none of these products are licensed medicines

Name	How it works	Route of administration	Evidence of use	Legal status	Price on illicit market	Price in British National Formulary	Self-directed dose	Sale on illicit market confirmed by analysis	Harms from self- directed use	Adulterated drugs detected
Others										
Aromatase inhibitors (Various: e.g. Anastrozole, Letrozole, Formestane)	Stops oestrogen being produced. Stimulates testosterone production	Oral	Surveys of gym users. Enforcement/ Seizures.	Prescription only medicine (some untested)	'Arimidex, Scimex' (Anastrozole) 30 × 1 mg tablets for £49 = £1.63 each	Arimidex® (Anastrozole) £2.50 per 1 mg tablet	Anastrozole: 0.25-1 mg per day	>	>	No studies
Anti-oestrogens (Various: e.g. Tamoxifen)	Blocks the action of oestrogen. Stimulates testosterone production	Oral	Surveys of gym users. Enforcement/ Seizures.	Prescription only medicine (for some)	'Nolvadex, Scimex' 50 \times 20 mg tablets for E35 = £1.43 each	Tamoxifen citrate £0.09 per 20 mg tablet	Tamoxifen: 20 mg per day	>	>	No studies
Human Chorionic Gonadotrophin (HCG)	Stimulates testosterone production. Promoted as a weight loss drug	Injectable	Surveys of gym users. Enforcement/ Seizures.	Prescription only medicine; controlled drug	Human Chorionic Gonadotropin' 5000-unit ampule for £30 = £0.006 per unit	Pregnyl [®] 5000- unit ampule for £3.15 = £0.0006 per unit	500 units per day (post cycle)	>	>	No studies. HCG may be substituted for rhGH due to their similar appearance
Selective Androgen Receptor Modulators (Various: Andarine (S-4), Ostarine)	Synthetic non-steroidal androgens.	Oral	forums	Untested	"30 ml 100mg/ ml (SARMS S-4)' for £94.97 = £0.03 per mg	N/A	Anadrine (S-4) 20-75 mg per day	>	×	>
Prices on the illicit market provide an indication only. Many sites offer considerable discounts when drugs are bought in bulk. Self-directed dose used by consumers provides an indication only.	et provide an indica	ttion only. Many sit	es offer consider	able discounts	when drugs are bor	ight in bulk. Self-dir	ected dose used	by consumers pr	rovides an in	dication only.

5 <u>S</u> Prices on the illicit market provide an indication only. Many sites ofter considerable discounts when drugs are bought in buik. Seir-directed thedicine/drug that is discontinued or no longer actively marketed, although it may be marketed in other countries. ‡Licensed in Japan.



6. Drugs used to enhance weight loss

This section examines the use of drugs to enhance weight loss. While concerns about body weight have been around for many years, they have become much more culturally dominant in the past few decades (Figure 16).^{43–49,i} In part this is because of concerns over the growing number of people who are overweight or obese, as well as broader prevailing sociocultural preferences for thin women and lean, muscular men (§3.2).^{47,49}

Overall this has led to a multi–billon pound diet and weight loss industry. It is estimated that 95% of women have dieted at some stage in the lives, with 40% dieting at any one time.⁴⁵ One survey in 2004 found that 15% of adults in the UK were seriously trying to lose weight.^{1035,1036} Lifestyle changes such as cutting out fatty foods, eating less, or exercising, are common methods that are used to achieve weight loss.^{1037,1038} Recent years have also seen a large increase in the number of



Figure 16. 'Slimex capsules'. The product claims to contain the banned appetite suppressant sibutramine. Seized by Merseyside Police.

'weight loss' food and herbal products aimed at this market. However, there is little evidence to support their use or effects. This is because either they have not been shown to work or because of the harms that they can cause (e.g. ephedrine and harms on the cardiovascular system).^{1039–1042} There have also been various unlicensed drug treatments promoted by entrepreneurs, including doctors. These include the hCG 'diet'ii (where human chorionic gonadotropin, a hormone produced during pregnancy, is injected into the body)^{1043,1044} and pills containing a mixture of stimulants, laxatives, sedatives and diuretics.¹⁰⁴⁵⁻¹⁰⁴⁹ A parallel illicit market has also developed selling a range of potent weight loss drugs (Table 6). This has been joined by a growing number of food and herbal weight loss products that contain undeclared banned or untested active substances. Since December 2007 the US authorities have detected the banned appetite suppressant sibutramine (among other drugs) in more than 100 different products. While in 2011 medicine regulators in Europe found more than 40 with the substance. These included milkshakes, teas, coffees and fruit juices (Figure 6, 7, 8). e.g. 294-338

i Smoking, as well as use of amphetamines and coffee, are just some of the substances that have been used to lose weight. Some of the other drugs discussed in this report are used for these types of effects. Anabolic steroids, growth hormone and clenbuterol are used as 'fat strippers', while melanotan II is used as an appetite suppressant.

ii Also known as the 'Simeons therapy'.

6.1 Emma, 44 years old

Emma wants to lose weight. She has a BMI of 25, and while not clinically overweight she feels 'fat'. She has tried dieting, exercising, and various herbal products that she saw advertised on the Internet. Despite this she is not happy with the amount of weight she has lost. While discussing this on a popular Internet forum, one of the members, Sue, mentions that she has been using 'Herbal Xenicol', advertised as a 'safe herbal' product. Sue mentions that she has had some palpitations and insomnia while using it, although she admits to doubling the dose 'every now and again'. The results have been 'so fabulous' she has put up with these side effects and plans to start using it again soon. She mentions that she bought it for $\pounds 25$ through a major online retailer. Emma decides to place an order for one month's supply (Box 6.1).

Box 6.1: Comment on Emma

Recently the MHRA warned consumers over the use of 'Herbal Xenicol' (which is named to sound like the licensed weight loss medicine 'Xenical[®]') after one patient was hospitalised and several others suffered from a range of side effects such as palpitations, severe gastritis and abdominal pain, as well as insomnia after taking the product. Analysis found it to contain more than twice the prescribed dose of the banned drug sibutramine.^{294,295} These types of products have led to similar harms in a number of countries (Box 4.10).

6.2 Who uses and why?

Despite the current concern over the number of overweight and obese individuals, there is little research on the self-directed use of drugs in the United Kingdom in order to lose weight. As noted a survey from 2004 found that 15% of adults in the UK are seriously trying to lose weight,^{1035,1036} while a survey of a 1000 internet users (aged 16+) in 2007 Suggested that 7% would 'take diet pills/appetite suppressants' or 'look for a herbal remedy' if they were trying to lose weight. Those who considered themselves 'quite a bit overweight' were twice as likely to suggest that they would take diet pills/appetite suppressants.¹⁰⁵⁰ A survey at a Welsh university in 2009 found that out of 505 students, around 1% had used prescription stimulants not prescribed to them to lose weight, similarly around 1% had used other types of prescription drugs not prescribed to them to lose weight.⁹²⁹ Almost 5% of the 111 staff members who responded had also used prescription stimulants not prescribed to them to lose weight (the drugs used were not specified). While it is unclear if these findings reflected the wider population they did indicate that there was considerable interest in such products. More formal surveys from the United States have found that just over 15% of adults had ever used a weight loss supplement with almost 9% having used in the last year.

They also found that the highest use was among young women. In a similar survey that looked at the use of prescription only medicines, just over 2% of almost 16,500 individuals reported using these types of drugs. Over 50% obtained them from a healthcare professional (just over 10% from a doctor at a 'diet clinic'⁷⁵), almost 16% got the drugs from family, friends or 'other', while about 19% did not know or refused to reveal the source.¹⁰⁵¹⁻¹⁰⁵³ Both these studies were done before widespread use of the Internet. Overall information on the number of people using food or herbal weight loss supplements is important given the growing number of products that contain undeclared active substances.

6.3 What do we know about the harms?

With the exception of Orlistat (Table 6), all other licensed drugs used to treat obesity (fenfluramine, sibutramine and rimonabant) have been banned in recent years because of serious harms linked to their use. For fenfluramine and sibutramine this is mostly due to serious cardiovascular harms; while rimonabant was linked to serious psychiatric harms (including depression, aggression, anxiety, and suicide).^{556–572,820–829} These and other untested drugs continue to be sold widely on the illicit market (Box 6.2).

Box 6.2: Adverts for rimonabant on the Internet

'Why Rimonabant Acomoplia is called a Miracle Drug? Do you know, Rimonabant acomplia helps not only to lose weight as well as to reduce waist size and stop alcoholism also at some extent. Many of Teenagers (especially girls) are afraid to quit smoking as it might increase weight, but Rimonabant acomplia helps you to keep your weight in track for quick weight loss. Buy Rimonabant acomplia and start reducing weight and stop smoking now.'

'Rimonabant Acomplia was said to be well tolerated in early tests. The only relatively common side effects were mild GI side effects and dizziness, and these were said to be transient.'

The drug was banned in 2008 by medicine regulators over links with serious psychiatric harms (3.6).^{556–558}

Of great concern is the problem of 'food' and 'herbal' weight loss products that contain undeclared active substances, their untested analogues, laxatives, diuretics and anti–depressants (§4). Some also contain a combination of these substances that could cause harmful interactions. Overall these types drugs and products have already been linked to serious harms.^{eg. 497,520,i}

i Now that sibutramine and rimonabant have been banned, leaving only Orlistat as a licensed treatment for obesity, and economic constraints on the NHS limit the number of surgical treatments for obesity, one urgent research question is whether increasing numbers of patients will seek out these drugs and/or food and herbal products from the illicit market.

Adulterated drugs detected	>	>
Harms from self-directed use	>	Unknown
Sale on illicit market confirmed by analysis	>	>
Self- directed dose	15 mg per day	20 mg per day
Price in British National Formulary	Reductil [®] 28 × 10 mg tablets for 225.00 = £1.12 each Price is from September 2008, before it was banned Reductil [®] 28 × 15 mg tablets for £25.00 = £1.12 each Price is from September 2008, before it was banned	Acomplia® 28 × 20 mg tablets for £44.00 = £1.57 each Price is from September 2008, before it was banned
Price on illicit market	'Sibotrim 15 mg' 30 tablets for £30 = £1 each 90 tablets for £65 = £0.72 each 'Merida 15 mg' 28 tablets for £119.99 = £4.28 each 112 tablets for £349.99 = £3.13 each	'Generic Acomplia 20 mg' 30 tablets for £101.17 = £3.37 each 90 tablets for £185.06 = £2.06 each 'Acomplia 20mg pills' 30 tablets for 120 tablets for £33.33 = £0.69 each
Legal status	Banned [†]	Banned [†]
Evidence of use Legal	Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums. Media reports	Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums. Media reports
	Qrai	Oal
Name How it works Route of administrat	Suppresses appetite*	Suppresses appetite [*]
Name	Sibutramine	Rimonabant

Table 6. Examples of drugs used to enhance weight loss.

Adulterated drugs detected	>	\$	Unknown	Unknown
Harms from self-directed use	Unknown	>	>	\$
Sale on illicit market confirmed by analysis	×	>	>	>
Self- directed dose	1 capsule three times a day	24-100 mg per day	20–200 µg per day	25-300 49 per day
Price in British National Formulary	Xenical® 84 × 120 mg capsules for £31.63 = £0.38 each	Ephedrine Ephedrine hydrochloride 28 \times 15 mg tablets for £8.15 = £0.29 each Ephedrine hydrochloride 28 \times 30 mg tablets for £12.43 = £0.44 each	Liothyronine sodium 28 \times 20 μ g tablets for £26.15 = £0.93 each	Levothyroxine sodium 28 × 25 µg tablets for c2.08 = c0.07 each Levothyroxine sodium 28 × 100 µg tablets for c0.99 = c0.04 each
Price on illicit market	'Xenical' $84 \times 120 \text{ mg}$ capsules for £86.50 = £1.02 each	'Kaizen Ephedrine HCL 8 mg' 50 tablets for £11.48 = £0.23 each	·Cytomel T3 25 μg' 30 tablets for £22 =£0.73 each	'Generic Synthroid 25 $\mu g'$ 30 tablets for £9.03 = £0.30 each 'Generic Synthroid 100 $\mu g'$ 100 tablets for £36.70 = £0.37 each
Legal status	Prescription only medicine (Xenical®), Pharmacy medicine (Alli®)	Prescription only medicine. Not licensed for weight loss	Prescription only medicine. Not licensed for weight loss	Prescription only medicine. Not licensed for weight loss
Evidence of use	Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums. Media reports	Internet forums	Surveys of anabolic steroid users. Internet forums	Surveys of anabolic steroid users. Internet forums
Route of administration	Oral	Qrai	Oral	Qral
How it works	Reduces absorption of dietary fat	Increases metabolic rate	Increases metabolic rate	Increases metabolic rate
Name	Orlistat	Ephedrine	Liothyronine sodium (T3, 'thyroid hormone')	Levothyroxine sodium (T4, 'thyroid hormone')

Adulterated drugs detected	Unknown	>
Harms from self-directed use	>	>
Sale on illicit market confirmed by analysis	`	>
Self- directed dose	100 µg per day	100- 800+ day day
Price in British National Formulary	A A	₹Z
Price on illicit market	'Clenbuterol SOPHARMA' 50 × 20 mg tablets for £13 = £0.26 each 'Clenbuterol NIHFI' 30 × 20 mg tablets for £26 = £0.86 each	"Dinitrophenol" 100 × 100 mg capsules for £93.35 = £0.93 per capsule "Dinitrophenol" 11 × 200 mg capsules for £43.51 = £3.95 per capsule
Legal status	Not licensed in the UK. ¹¹ drug	Untested
Evidence of use	Surveys of anabolic steroid users. Enforcement/ Seizures Internet forums suggest use. Media reports	Case reports of harms. Internet forums
Route of administration	Oral	Oral
How it works	Increases metabolic rate. Also used as anabolic drug	Increases metabolic rate
Name	Clenbuterol	Dinitrophenol (DNP)



7. Drugs used to enhance the appearance of the skin and hair

This section examines some of the drugs used to enhance the appearance of the skin and hair (Table 7). Typically they are used to 'look younger', 'feel fresher', 'more beautiful', 'normal', and 'healthy' (§3.2). Some are used to get a 'skin tan'; others as 'skin lighteners'. Some are used to 'smooth' and 'soften' lines and wrinkles on the face, 'restore' sunken cheeks, or to give 'full plump lips'.ⁱ Others are to stimulate the growth of the hair or prevent its loss. There is little information about the use of these types of drugs in the United Kingdom. Most of what we know comes from seizures and legal action against suppliers, case reports of side effects, media reports, and observations of online communities.

7.1 Pete, 26 years old

Pete wants to get a skin tan before his wedding in Barbados in 10 weeks time. Although he has used sunbeds, he has become concerned after reading a news report about the damage this can cause his skin including increasing his risk of getting skin cancer. The report also mentioned a drug called 'melanotan' that is being developed as a medicine to treat certain skin diseases. Pete googles 'melanotan' and finds an online community where people discuss their experiences of using the drug, including where they buy it from, how they use it and its effects.

After reading some of the discussions he learns that there are actually two different types of 'melanotan': melanotan I and melanotan II. Both cause the skin to get darker, although some of the people on the site mention that they also use melanotan II as an aphrodisiac and appetite suppressant. Many of the posts on the site link to scientific papers detailing the results of clinical trials of the drug which look very impressive to Pete. He decides to try the drug and asks other members of the site where they buy the drug. A number of them respond with web links to shops where they have bought the drug in the past. When Pete tries to access the sites all but one no longer work. The one that does only accepts bank transfers as payment which Pete is reluctant to do.

He searches Google for 'buy melanotan' and selects the first shop that is listed. He recalls that many people from the online community use melanotan II because it is difficult to get hold of melanotan I.

i This section also discusses the use of dermal fillers despite the fact that they are regulated as medical devices in the UK. The use of these products is subject to many of the same concerns as the drugs discussed in this report. In part this is because they are injected. Serious harms from their use have been reported. Moreover, unlike prescription–only medicines, there are few restrictions on their supply and administration.²³¹

He orders two 10 mg vials of melanotan II which he thinks should give him enough for two months' use. Because he wants to get started straight away he pays for special delivery. It arrives next day in a padded envelope. Inside are



Figure 17. Melanotan II kit ordered from a UK website. The vial was supplied unlabelled and without instructions.

two unlabelled vials of a white fluffy powder, some sterile water, two insulin syringes (with needles) and two alcohol skin wipes (Box 7.1). He discovers that there is no information about how to prepare and use the drugs (Figure 17). However, after a quick look online he finds some instructions. As Pete has never injected before he also searches YouTube for a video of how to do this. He finds one posted by someone who has been using the drug for the past three years.

Box 7.1: Comment on Pete

While analysis of vials of melanotan II have shown it to contain the drug these studies have not looked at the overall quality, e.g. whether it contains any chemical or biological contaminants.⁵⁴⁷ Moreover, just because the vials that have been analysed contain the drug there is no guarantee that other products on the illicit market contain the drug. Injectable drugs also need to be sterile to prevent infection. Two syringes and needles are only sufficient for reconstituting the drug and administering the first dose. After that a new needle and syringe will be required to prevent both damage to the site being injected as well as infections (§4.7).

7.2 Drugs used to darken skin colour

In the last few years products on the illicit market that claim to contain melanotan II (Table 7), and to a lesser extent melanotan I, have been sold and used to get a 'skin tan'.^{573–587,684,1054–1081} Known in the media as 'tan jabs' they work by mimicking the action of the natural hormone, α -melanocyte stimulating hormone, which triggers the production of the pigment melanin in the skin, causing it to get darker. Melanotan I (also known as afamelanotide) is being developed as a medicine to treat some skin conditions that are aggravated by exposure to sunlight.¹ As far as we are aware melanotan II is no longer being tested as a medicine because of its side effects. However, it is used in animals to study the regulation of pigmentation, appetite, inflammation, as well as sexual function and behaviour. Little is known about the long–term effects and harms of these drugs.

Melanotan I (also known as afamelanotide) is being developed as a medicine to treat some skin conditions that are aggravated by exposure to sunlight.

The first formal indication that these drugs were being used was in August 2007 when authorities in the United States took action against an online shop selling melanotan II.^{539,540} This was followed by warnings in 2008 from regulators in the United Kingdom and other EU Member States, as well as an editorial that highlighted use in the UK, drawing on observations that some people were using drug services to get needles and syringes to inject the drugs.⁶⁸⁴ However, it is not known how many people currently use these drugs. What information is available comes mostly from Internet sites, including online communities and shops selling the drugs. Limited information is also available on seizures: between 2005 and 2010 the majority of samples suspected to contain peptide drugs seized by the Norwegian police and border agency were found to contain either synthetic human growth hormone or melanotan II. While the Internet has played a key role in the diffusion of melanotan II, it has also been sold, and in some cases administered, in tanning and beauty salons, hairdressers, and gyms.684

One of the largest online melanotan II communities has more than 9,000 registered members. Since January 2009 there have been more than 3,000 new registrations.⁶⁸⁴ Although not all of these will be using the drugs, it does provide some indication of the interest in them. The site was apparently set up in June 1999 with discussion forums added in January 2004. Discussions on this site suggest that people have been using melanotan II since at least 2004 and melanotan I since 2006.^{583,587,1054} It also appears that most people use the drugs to get a cosmetic 'skin tan'. A smaller number use them as treatments for diseases such as rosacea and fibromyalgia after apparently becoming disillusioned with existing medical treatments.⁶⁸⁴ Some also use melanotan II as an aphrodisiac (it can cause erections and appears to stimulate sexual desire) and as an appetite suppressant ($\S6$, \$8). Much of this type of use appears to be based on online discussions of small, preliminary, clinical trails of the drug. The drug's effect on weight loss has only been studied in animals.⁵⁸² Other Internet sites provide discussion forums for specific user groups, including bodybuilders and people with diseases such as rosacea and fibromyalgia.

The most commonly used drug appears to be melanotan II, although in recent months increasing numbers of Internet shops have started to sell products labelled as melanotan I (although the actual drug that is present is unknown). These are both injected, however some shops sell nasal sprays containing the drug. More recently, in an attempt to dupe consumers and circumvent the medicine laws, a nasal spray containing melanotan II was sold in the United Kingdom as 'a natural blend of melanin producing amino and fatty acids' (Box 4.5).⁴⁸³

The amount of the drug that is used is often determined through self– experimentation. Information on websites selling the drugs and social networks indicates usage typically includes a 'loading phase' where the drug is administered daily until the desired 'tan' is achieved, followed by a



Figure 18. 'Colouring you beautiful'. Melanotan II 'tanning kit'. Sold by a UK website, it contains the untested synthetic peptide hormone melanotan II, along with bacteriostatic water to reconstitute the drug and a leaflet on how to use it.

'maintenance phase' of one to three doses per week in order to maintain the tan. Some sites recommend using a tanning bed to achieve a 'quicker' or 'more even' tan (Figure 18). Much of this information appears to be based on the interpretation of early clinical trials of the drugs.

A number of discussions on the major online community describe harms linked to the use of these drugs.^{587,1055} The most commonly noted appear to be short–lived nausea, facial flushing, fatigue and vomiting. These are similar to the effects reported in clinical trials of the drugs.^{576–579,1060} Case reports describing harms have also been published (such as abnormal pigmentation and growths linked to the drugs, although in none of these cases were the products analysed to determine the

active substance that was present).^{1072–1081} However, overall, it is difficult to draw any firm conclusions from these. The long–term harms posed by the unregulated use of these drugs are unknown.

7.3 Drugs used to lighten the skin

Skin lightening drugs have a long history of use.¹⁸¹ Products containing mercury compounds have been used for many years with case reports of harms dating back to at least the 1920s.^{1082–1084} While the first formal reports of self-directed use of hydroquinone and corticosteroids date from late 1970s and 1980s, respectively, their use pre-date these studies.¹⁰⁸⁵⁻¹⁰⁹⁴ Alongside lightening the colour of the skin some are also used to self-treat acne, blemishes or freckles. They are usually sold as cosmetic products in 'bricks and mortar' shops as well as on the Internet.^{277-291,607} They largely work by blocking the production of the pigment melanin in the skin, and can cause patchy discolouration.^{1082–1096} Despite seizures of products and prosecution of suppliers (Box 3.1 & 7.2),²⁷⁷⁻²⁹¹ and case reports of side effects for almost 30 years in the United Kingdom, it is not known how many people use the drugs, why they use them, how they are used, and the public health implications. While their use is mostly limited to those with darker skin types such as the Asian and Black communities, other groups may also use them.

Box 7.2: Skin lightening

'Stilman's freckle cream ... for a clear spotless face' seized by UK authorities was found to contain 3.1% mercury by weight.¹⁰⁹⁷ Interestingly at the time of writing this report a product using the same name and similar packaging was being sold on amazon.co.uk through a third–party vendor.¹⁰⁹⁸

'The London Borough of Southwark has been one of the most proactive enforcement authorities in the UK regarding illegal skin lighteners. Working with the MHRA over the last six years 23 defendants have been prosecuted with total fines, [sic] confiscations and costs in excess of £336,000.'²⁸⁸

The toxic effects of mercury–containing cosmetics have been noted for many years. These include damage to the skin (such as rashes), as well as to the kidneys and nervous system. Worldwide hundreds of people have been poisoned by these types of creams, including five cases in the UK in the past two years.^{591–608,1099–1128} Drugs containing hydroquinone can also cause a range of side effects in the skin, including irritation and a bluish–black discolouration called ochronosis.¹⁰⁹⁶ Corticosteroids can cause thinning of the skin, suppress the immune system, and in severe cases cause high blood pressure, diabetes, Cushing's syndrome and adrenal insufficiency.^{1095,1096,1129} Of great concern is the use of these drugs during pregnancy and breastfeeding⁶⁰⁸ which in some countries is common (§4.5).^{636,i}

7.4 Drugs used to increase the growth of hair

It is not known how many people use these drugs in the United Kingdom. One drug that is commonly found in seizures by the MHRA, as well as sold online, is finasteride (Table 7) which is used to treat male pattern baldness (Box 4.8). It blocks the production of a more potent form of testosterone, dihydrotestosterone, which is linked to hair loss.¹¹³⁸ The drug cannot be prescribed through the National Health Service for hair loss (although a private prescription may be obtained from a GP).^{1139,1140} While finasteride is only licensed in the UK for male pattern baldness as a 1 mg tablet, sites on the Internet commonly promote and sell 5 mg for this purpose (Box 4.8).⁶³⁴ More recently, a prostaglandin analogue, bimatoprost, used to treat glaucoma is being used for 'eyelash rejuvenation' as one of its side effects is the growth of the eyelashes. It is not licensed for this indication, although may be prescribed 'off-label'. However, it is illegal to promote a prescription only medicine to the public and the MHRA has recently warned companies in the UK for illegally promoting its use for cosmetic purposes.^{1141,1142}

i See references 1130–1137 for further studies that have researched the burdens on health from the use of these drugs around the world.

7.5 Drugs to change the shape/contours of the skin

It is not known how many people in the United Kingdom use drugs such as botulinum toxin or dermal fillers to change the shape/ contours of the skin. However, since January 2010 there have been more than 200 cases where the MHRA has warned companies (such as beauty salons, rejuvenation clinics and dental practices) which have illegally advertised botulinum toxin products to the public.^{1143–1161} This, along with media reports and interest, suggests that there may be considerable interest in using these types of products.

7.5.1 Botulinum toxin products

Botulinum toxin products are used to treat wrinkles and lines on the face. Injected into muscle botulinum toxin products block the signals from the nerves to the muscle, so that it can no longer contract; the muscle relaxes, and the wrinkles relax and soften. The effects last about



*Figure 19. 'Botulinum toxin products sold on the illicit market*⁵³⁴

three to four months.¹¹⁶² Tests of botulinum toxin products obtained from the illicit market have found many did not have the potencies that were stated on the labelling. Some were found to contain no toxin, others were under–potent, while others had potencies greater than that

listed on the labelling. This included two products from separate studies which both had a measured potency of more than 350% of that stated on the label. In at least one case no information was provided on recommended dosages. Over-potent products pose a serious hazard and have led to severe, life-threatening harms through poisoning (Figure 19).⁵³³⁻⁵³⁷

Some of these products also contained gelatine although the source and type were unidentified. As this is not a recognised component of licensed botulinum toxin products, the harms this poses are unknown, although allergic reactions to gelatine have been reported. It is also possible that some of the products contain excipients of human origin. Use of unregulated sources from animal products used in these drugs could pose a risk of transmission of spongiform encephalopathies (such as 'mad cow disease'). While those from human sources could pose a risk of transmission of blood borne viruses and other infections.⁵³⁴

7.5.2 Dermal fillers

Dermal fillers are injectable products made from a range of synthetic, animal and human products. They can contain absorbable and non-absorbable substances.¹¹⁶³⁻¹¹⁶⁶ Most of them work by bulking out the skin. They are used to reduce the appearance of wrinkles or folds, and smooth the skin, but can also be used to 'plump out' the lips. The effects of some of the commonly used products last for around six to 12 months. Concerns have been raised after untrained people have administered these products as improper injecting technique can cause damage and infections (§4.7).ⁱ While there has been little study of the composition and safety of products on the illicit market, untested and adulterated products have been sold. In some cases these have caused serious harm. Similar to botulinum toxin products found on the illicit market, the use of unregulated sources for products derived from animals or humans in dermal fillers also poses a risk of serious infections. Other harms include chronic inflammation, allergic responses, as well as distortion and migration of the filler.^{1163–1166}

i In 2010 the president of the British Association of Aesthetic Plastic Surgeons suggested that members of the Association 'have seen an alarming number of patients with clinically significant harm from injection of fillers into the wrong site', although the figures have not been published.¹¹⁶⁷ For a discussion of the regulation of medical devices in the United Kingdom, see references 231 and 1168–1172.

-										
How it works	s it	Route of administration	Evidence of use	Legal status	Price on illicit market	Price in British National Formulary	Self-directed dose	Sale on illicit market confirmed by analysis	Harms from self- directed use	Adulterated Drugs detected
C	Drugs to lighten skin colour									
	Blocks the production of melanin in the skin	Topical	Case reports. Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums. Media reports	Untested. Banned in cosmetics	POP Popular Facial Cream 4 g £2.77 (1% mercury, approximately 3% mercury compound)	N/A	Applied as required	>	>	>
	Blocks the production of melanin in the skin	Topical	Case reports. Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums. Media reports	Untested. Banned in cosmetics	Carolight Cream Jar 300 ml £9.00 Hydroquinone (max, 2%) [‡] Skin Light Cream 500 g £12.00 [#]	N/A	Applied as required	\$	\$	>
	Blocks the production of melanin in the skin	Topical	Case reports. Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums. Media reports	Prescription only medicine. Not licensed for skin lightening	Clear white cream (Clobetasol propionate 0.05% cream) 100 g for £4.50 = £0.05 per g Dermotyly (Clobetasol propionate 0.05% cream) 30 g for £5.00 = £0.16 per g	Clobetasol propionate 0.05% cream 30 g for £2.69 = £0.09 per g	Applied as required	\$	>	>

Table 7. Examples of drugs used to enhance the appearance of the skin and hair.

Adulterated Drugs detected		No studies. However, none of these products are licensed medicines		>	>
Harms from self- directed use		>		Unknown. Adverse reactions reported from therapeutic use	Unknown. Adverse reactions reported from therapeutic use
Sale on illicit market confirmed by analysis		>		Unknown	Unknown
Self-directed dose		1mg per 100 kg of bodyweight per day 4 sprays of nasal spray (1 mg)		1 drop	day day
Price in British National Formulary		A/N		Lumigan® 3 ml (300 μg/mL) for £10.30 = £3.43 per 1 ml	Propecia* 28 × 1 mg tablets for £26.99 = £0.96 each
Price on illicit market		10 mg vial for injection for £21 = £2.10 per mg 20 mg nasal spray for £50 = £2.50 per mg		Bimatoprost' 3 ml eyedrops (300 µg/ mL) for £16.66- £33.29 = £5.55-£11 per 1 ml	Finasteride' 30 × 1 mg tablets for £19 = £1.57 each 'Finasteride' 30 × 5 mg tablets for £24 = £0.80 each
Legal status		Untested		Prescription only medicine	Prescription only medicine. Only 1 mg tablets are licensed for treating hair loss
Evidence of use		Case reports. Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums. Media reports		Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums	Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums
Route of administration		Injectable/ Nasal	owth of hair	Topical eyedrops	Oral
How it works	skin colour	Increases the production of melanin in the skin ^{+†}	crease the gr	Increases the growth of the eyelashes	Increases the growth of scalp hair
Name	Drugs to darken skin colour	Melanotan II (MTII)	Drugs used to increase the growth of hair	Bimatoprost (prostaglandin analogue)	Finasteride

			use		market	British National Formulary	dose	illicit market confirmed by analysis	from self- directed use	Drugs detected
Drugs to change the shape/contours of the	shape/con	ntours of the skin	Ë							
Botulinum toxin Caus products music relaxing that in win relaxing and softe	es sle esults ing ning	Injectable	Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums. Media reports	Prescription only medicine. Not licensed for cosmetic use	'Botox' 100-unit vial for £207-268 = £2.07-2.68 per unit	Botox [®] 100-unit vial for £138.20 = £1.38 per unit	N/A. Uhit doses are not interchangeable between products.	>	>	\$
Dermal fillers Bul the red	Bulks out the skin, reducing wrinkles	Injectable	Internet forums. Media reports	Medical device	E55+ (depending on product)	N/A	N/A	Visual inspection only	>	>
Others										
Isotretinoin Re- sec Us; trea	Reduces sebum secretion. Used to treat acne	Oral	Internet forums	Prescription only medicine. Special restrictions placed on prescribing as it is a teratogen is a teratogen	'lsotretinoin' 30 \times 10 mg capsules for £24-£47 = £0.80-£1.56 each 'lsotretinoin' 30 \times 20 mg capsules for £30-£54 = £1.00-£1.80 each	Roaccutane [®] $30 \times 10 \text{ mg}$ capsules for c14.54 = c0.48 each Roaccutane [®] $30 \times 20 \text{ mg}$ capsules for c20.02 = c0.66 each	day day	Unknown	Unknown (Adverse reactions reported from therapeutic use)	\$

*Acts on the central nervous system. †Also used as an aphrodisiac and to suppress appetite. ‡EU recalled product of 120ml contained 4.67% of hydroquinone. #EU recalled product contained 4.3% of hydroquinone.



8. Drugs used to enhance sexual *function and behaviour*

This section examines some of the drugs being used to enhance sexual function and behaviour. They include drugs to enhance (normal) erectile function as well as approdisiacs that increase sexual arousal and desire (Table 8). Little is known about the use of these types of drugs in the United Kingdom.

8.1 Overview

Up until 1998 the only available treatments for erectile dysfunction were penis pumps, prosthetic implants and surgery. The only approved medicines were penile suppositories or had to be injected into the penis. These treatments were not widely accepted by men or their partners.^{1173–1178} The situation changed in March 1998 when sildenafil (marketed by Pfizer under the trade name Viagra[®]) was approved in the United States to much media fanfare on both sides of the Atlantic. The drug was the first effective oral therapy for treating erectile dysfunction.^{1179–1192} It rapidly became a social and cultural phenomenon^{27,62,830-832,1189} (in the decade after the launch of the drug, the word 'Viagra' has appeared in the Daily Mirror on average once a weekⁱ), with its use extending beyond medical treatment by an increasing number of men (Box 8.1). The drug was licensed in the European Union, including the UK, seven months later. Even before this there were media reports of its sale on the illicit market, including its recreational use in nightclubs, where Coke and 'poke' [Viagra] apparently made 'a great combination'.¹¹⁸⁸ Some private clinics providing the drug on private prescriptions noted that they were 'overwhelmed' by the response to the drug. Subsequently, two further drugs tadalafil and vardenafil have been approved that work in a similar way to sildenafil. Together these drugs are known as phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors (PDE5i). Tadalafil has earned the nickname of 'the weekend pill' or 'le weekender' because its effects can last up to 36 hours compared to four to eight hours for sildenafil and vardenafil.¹¹⁹³ These drugs do not act as aphrodisiacs and require sexual stimulation to work.

i The ukpressonline.co.uk database of the Daily Mirror archive was searched on 26 February 2012 using the term 'viagra' between 1 January 1998 and 1 January 2008 which resulted in 575 hits. The first was from 29 April 1998, entitled 'Men's sex pill 'miracle', while the last was from 10 December 2007 'Inside Strictly'.

Box 8.1: Is Viagra[®] used as an enhancement drug?

A study that looked at Viagra[®] prescriptions in the US between 1998 and 2002 found that the fastest growing group of consumers were men aged 18–45, while the proportion of men with erectile dysfunction prescribed the drug decreased over the study period. This suggests that Viagra[®] may be used more for non-medical reasons. The study also found an increase in prescribing for young women.⁹⁰⁷

In the past few years a number of untested drugs, such as melanotan II and bremelanotide, with suggested effects on sexual behaviour and function, have been sold on the illicit market. These have been sold for injection and as nasal sprays. There is limited data on the effects of these drugs in humans. There is some evidence to suggest they cause spontaneous erections as well as increase sexual desire and arousal.^{573–587,1194–1211}

8.2 Steven, 22 years old

Steven is a third-year student at university. Over the past six months he has been using 'Viagra' occasionally to enhance his sexual performance. He finds it particularly useful after a drinking session when, combined with using condoms, he has had trouble getting and keeping an erection. However, he knows very little about the drug. Most of what he knows comes from discussion forums on dance music websites. Here other users claim that the drug is 'really safe'.



Figure 20. 'Kamagra' purported to contain sildenafil which is the active substance in Viagra. Seized by Merseyside Police.

His friends are aware that he uses the drug, and of the glowing reviews that he gives it. He occasionally sells it to them as well. Recently he came across a site selling 'Kamagra' (Figure 20) which is far cheaper. He did some research on the drug and found that it is a generic product made in India. The site selling the drug offers significant discounts when it is bought in bulk. Four tablets cost $\pounds 6.50$ each, but if he buys 200 they work out at $\pounds 0.74$ each. Steven suggests to his friends that they all chip in and buy 200 tablets to share (Box 8.2).

Box 8.2: Comment on Steve

Because Steven is buying the drugs from the illicit market he has no way of knowing what they actually contain. Many studies have shown that these types of drugs are commonly adulterated. In some cases this has led to severe, life—threatening illness and death.^{548–555}

8.3 Who uses & why?

Despite limited study, there appears to be great interest in the use of these types of drugs. Shortly after sildenafil was licensed in the UK, surveys found that it was used recreationally by men who have sex with men and by nightclubbers (including women) (Box 8.3 & 8.4).^{830–832,836–838} These drugs appear to be more popular as time goes on.^{837,838} Recently a large Internet survey of men from the United Kingdom, Germany and Italy found that just over 3% of around 12,000 men had used the drugs in the last six months without a prescription (the average number of tablets purchased was 13). Just over 50% had obtained the drugs from Internet sites, similarly just over 50% had obtained them from friends, partners or other acquaintances (multiple answers were possible). Two of the most common reasons why they obtained the drug without a prescription was because they were too embarrassed to speak with a doctor or thought that buying them online would be the cheapest way to get hold of them (see Table 8 for prices; see also 3.4). Unfortunately it is not clear from this study why these men were using the drugs (was it purely 'enhancement' reasons or as self-medication to treat erectile dysfunction?). The survey estimated that this could mean more than six million men in the EU got these drugs from the illicit market, however it is not known if the respondents were representative of the general population.⁶⁵⁴ Nonetheless, recent seizures and prosecutions by authorities in the UK do suggest that there is a huge market for these drugs (Box 3.8). Tellingly, these types of drugs are the most counterfeited group of medicines seized by customs agencies in the EU.500-504

The reasons why people use these drugs have not been studied in detail. However, surveys in other countries found that they were used because of curiosity, peer pressure, to increase sexual confidence, erection quality, prevent premature ejaculation, increase pleasure and for better sexual performance. Some of these reasons may have included reversing temporary erectile dysfunction caused by condom use, prescribed drugs, alcohol or other recreational drugs.^{1212–1226} It is likely that many of these reasons apply to people using them in the UK. There has been little research on the benefit in healthy individuals.^{699,1227} Aside from anecdotal reports on Internet discussion sites, media reports and medical case reports, there is no information on how many people use drugs such as melanotan II and bremelanotide nor their reasons for using the drugs. However, it appears that the main reason for use of melanotan II is to get a 'skin tan' (§7.2).

Box 8.3: 'Viagra' use in men who have sex with men in London

Just over six months after sildenafil was licensed in the UK a survey in London gyms of 677 men found that almost 15% had used the drug. Most of these had used it more than once, with many using it in combination with other drugs. Some 83% used the drug 'recreationally'.⁸³⁶

Box 8.4: 'Viagra' use in readers of Mixmag

An annual survey of the drug habits of readers of the Dance music magazine Mixmag found that between 1999 and 2003 there was a year–on–year increase in the number of participants who reported ever using 'Viagra' (sildenafil), as well as those who had used in the previous month. In 1999 just over 3% and 1% of males and females, respectively, had ever used the drug, while in 2003 it was almost 17% and 13%. Use in the last month in 1999 was around 1% and 0.2% in males and females, respectively, while in 2003 it was around 6% and 2%. Despite limitations in the design of the survey, it appeared that 'Viagra' was becoming more popular in this group.^{837,838}

8.4 What do we know about the harms?

Sildenafil, tadalafil and vardenafil have well–established safety profiles when prescribed within their approved indications. However, there are specific cautions and contraindications.^{1128,1129} They are contraindicated in HIV positive individuals being treated with the anti–retrovirals saquinavir and ritonavir. This may be of importance given the high prevalence of erectile dysfunction reported by HIV– positive individuals and the relatively high usage of these drugs by men who have sex with men.



Figure 21. 'Penegra' purported to contain sildenafil which is the active substance in Viagra. Seized by Merseyside Police.

These drugs are also contraindicated with volatile nitrates/nitrites, such as poppers, which are used recreationally as well as nitrates used as a medical treatment.¹²³⁰ Studies have shown that these drugs are used together for recreational reasons. This can cause serious harms. One of the greatest risks is from the use of adulterated and untested drugs bought from the illicit market (Figure 21, 22).⁴⁵⁹ Importantly, this market appears to be an important source of the drugs in the UK.⁶⁵⁴ More recently there has been a large growth in the number of food and herbal supplements sold as sexual enhancement products. Many of these have been found to contain untested analogues of sildenafil, tadalafil and vardenafil.^{390,392} These are not declared on the packaging/labelling. In 2009 adulterated 'herbal supplements' as well as counterfeit tadalafil, sold in Singapore and Hong Kong, caused serious harm in more than 220 people, 13 of whom subsequently died (§4.3).^{548–555}



Figure 22. 'Viagra' seized by Merseyside Police

The harms posed by drugs such as melanotan II and bremelanotide are unknown because of their limited testing in humans. Because these products are injected, consumers could be at risk from harms including infections caused by unsterile drugs and from poor injecting practices (§4.7).

Exar	Table 8. Examples of drugs used	s used to enha	to enhance sexual function and behaviour.	ction and be	haviour.					
Overview	iew	Route of administration	Evidence of use	Legal status	Price on illicit market	Price in British National Formulary	Self- directed dose	Sale on illicit market confirmed by analysis	Harms from self- directed use	Adulterated drugs detected
ase typ	Phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors (PDE5i)	prs (PDE5i)								
Incre flow caus	Increases blood flow to the penis causing erection	Qrai	Surveys. Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums. Media reports	Prescription only medicine	'Generic Viagra' $10 \times 100 \text{ mg}$ tablets for £13.31 = £1.33 each each	Viagra [®] 4×100 mg tablets for £23.50 $=$ £5.88 each	1 tablet 60 minutes before sexual activity	>	>	>
flow caus	Increases blood flow to the penis causing erection	Qral	Surveys. Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums. Media reports	Prescription only medicine	'Generic Cialls' $10 \times 20 \text{ mg}$ tablets for £42.41 = £4.24 each	Cialis® 4 × 20 mg tablets for £26.99 = £6.74 each	1 tablet 30 minutes before sexual activity	>	>	>
flow caus	Increases blood flow to the penis causing erection	Qal	Surveys. Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums. Media reports	Prescription only medicine	"Levitra' 10 × 20 mg tables for £41.33 = £4.13 each "Levitra' 120 × 20 mg tables for £339.01 = £2.82 each	Levitra® 4 × 20 mg tablets for £23.48 = £5.87 each	1 tablet 25- 60 minutes before sexual activity	>	>	>

106 Human Enhancement Drugs The Emerging Challenges to Public Health

Name	Overview	Route of administration	Evidence of use	Legal status	Price on illicit market	Price in British National Formulary	Self- directed dose	Sale on illicit market confirmed by analysis	Harms from self- directed use	Adulterated drugs detected
Analogues of $lpha$ -MSH	HSM-									
Melanotan II	Causes spontaneous erections and acts as an approdisiac. Main reason for use appears to be for cosmetic 'skin tan'. Also used as an appetite suppressant	Injection Nasal	Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums. Media reports	Untested	10 mg vial for injection for £21 = £2.10 per mg 20 mg nasal spray for £50 = £2.50 per mg	A N	1 mg per 100 kg of bodyweight per day 4 sprays of nasal spray (1 mg)	\$	 Instant Instant	No studies
Bremelanotide (PT-141)	Causes spontaneous erections and acts as an aphrodisiac*	Injection Nasal	Internet forums. Media reports	Untested	10 mg vial for injection for £21 = £2.10 per mg 20 mg nasal spray for £50 = £2.50 per mg	A N	0.5-2 mg injected 2-3 hours before sexual activity 4 sprays of nasal spray (1 mg)	×	×	No studies
Others										
Yohimbe/ Yohimbine hydrochloride	Increases blood flow to the penis causing erection. It is also used for weight loss or to 'burn' fat	Oral	Surveys. Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums	Prescription only medicine	'Yohimbine - 5mg 100 capsules' for £26.99 = £0.27 each	ΑŅ	2.5-60 mg	>	>	No studies
Prices on the illicit market provide *Acts on central nervous system.	market provide an in wous system.	ndication only. Many II	Prices on the illicit market provide an indication only. Many Internet sites offer considerable discounts when drugs are bought in bulk. Self-directed dose used by consumers provides an indication only. Acts on central nervous system.	siderable discoun	its when drugs are b	ought in bulk. S	elf-directed dos	e used by consur	ners provides a	n indication only.

Lightspring/Shutterstock.com
9. Drugs used to enhance cognitive function

This section examines the use of drugs to enhance cognitive function. Often called 'smart' or 'study' drugs these substances are used to enhance a range of functions including memory, concentration, perception, comprehension and alertness (Table 9). In the words of those using them, they 'increase mental energy', help with 'word finding' and 'hard thinking', 'help study', 'concentrate' or 'write a term paper', and they offset the effects of 'jet–lag'.¹²³¹

9.1 Overview

People have tried to enhance their cognitive functions using drugs for many years.^{96,97,106,107,169} Caffeine, often in the form of coffee, energy drinks or pills, are often cited as a typical example. A broad range of herbal and food supplements are also used, most of which have little evidence to support their effectiveness in healthy people.¹²³² The use of amphetamine as medicine in the United States from the 1930s onwards spread rapidly into the healthy population when university students started to use it as a 'study aid', particularly when 'burning the candle at both ends'.⁸¹⁹ Today it appears that stimulant medications for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)^{218,219} as well as the wakefulness– promoting agent modafinil are becoming the 'smart' or 'study' drugs of choice (Table 9). However, little is known about the use of these types of drugs in the United Kingdom.

Box 9.1: Quotes from media interviews with UK students using 'smart' drugs

'I read an article in the student press on them,' says [Student A], a thirdyear arts student at Sheffield Hallam University. 'It was criticising them, but I thought they sounded great.' [Student B], similarly, found out about smart drugs through the media. 'I read an article in Nature on them,' he says. 'They seemed a pretty good idea.'

'Once I've taken a pill I can stay up all night without stopping. It just works so well,' says [Student C]. 'I need it.''

-Newspaper interviews with UK students using 'smart drugs'

9.2 Julie, 20 years old

Julie is a second-year student at university. Her end-of-year exams are two months away. The pressures of student life—keeping on top of coursework alongside a hectic social life—have left her little time for revision. She is chatting with friends about her worries of failing her exams when Samantha, who is studying philosophy, suggests that she try 'modafinil'. She learnt about the drug during a lecture on 'cognitive

enhancement'. The lecturer had mentioned that it was widely regarded as a safe drug by most researchers and had been used in 'numerous' studies 'with really good effects'. 'Some of the professors I know use it on a fairly regular basis,' he had quipped. After the rest of her friends have left, Samantha admits to Julie that she has been using the drug 'on and off' for the past six months. 'Why not? It's safe and it works really well'. She buys the drug from an Internet shop based in the UK which is popular with other students. She found the site by googling 'buy modafinil'. She follows the shop on her Twitter feed to keep up to date with when the drug is in stock and any special offers that the site runs. Samantha says that she initially started with 100 mg per day, gradually increasing the dose to 400 mg. She wonders how she ever managed without it. Based on her experiences, she suggests that Julie try 200 mg per day for the next week and sells her seven days' supply for f_{20} . 'After that if you like it then start using 400 mg'. One week later Julie is delighted as she has sailed through her revision timetable. They agree that in order to get a discount they will pool their money and buy a year's supply when Samantha next places an order (Box 9.2).

Box 9.2: Comment on Julie

While modafinil is commonly regarded as a 'safe' drug by those promoting its use as a cognitive enhancer, a recent review of its safety by the European Medicine Agency led to its restricted use as a medicine after links with serious skin reactions and psychiatric harms.⁶¹⁸ Moreover, there is currently little evidence to suggest that modafinil has any 'real world' benefits as a 'smart' drug.¹²³³

9.3 Who uses and why?

In the past few years concern has been raised in the United Kingdom over the use of 'study' or 'smart' drugs. These include stimulants such as methylphenidate (Ritalin®) and the 'wakefulness promoting agent' modafinil (Provigil[®]). Aside from straw polls (Box 9.3)—which may provide snapshots of use but are not representative of the wider population—only one survey, conducted at a Welsh university in 2009, has examined the use of these drugs in the United Kingdom. It found that out of 505 students, around 1% had used prescription stimulants not prescribed to them to stay awake, while just over 0.5% had used them to study (the drugs that they used were not specified).⁹²⁹ These findings, along with media reports, appeared to indicate that the drugs were being used by some individuals and that there might have been broader interest in using them (although this remains to be confirmed by formal research). There are seemingly 'natural' user groups for these kinds of drugs, as indicated by the focus of the media (and of researchers in other countries) on university students, and, more recently, on school children (although it is difficult

to see who could not benefit from them). However, while some of these drugs have shown some positive effects in highly controlled trials and laboratory test situations, their 'real world' benefits are largely based on personal anecdotes.^{219,1233} It is also possible that while some improve performance in certain tasks, they may reduce performance in others; in some cases they may even lead to overconfidence in performance. Similarly, while some drugs may increase short–term memory, they may impair episodic memory.^{219,1233} However, it appears that some people are not waiting for the verdict on whether these drugs bring real benefits to their everyday life, nor if they are safe (Box 9.4).^{219,1231,1233–1235}

Box 9.3: Straw polls. Do people use 'smart drugs'?

'A Varsity survey, completed by 1,000 students [out of 5,000], had revealed that one in 10 Cambridge students had taken drugs such as Modafinil, Ritalin and Adderall. Meanwhile one-third of respondents admitted that, given the opportunity, they would take concentrationenhancing medication.'¹²³⁵

'Look who's doping'

'Nature ran its own informal survey. Some 1,400 people from 60 countries responded ... One in five respondents said they had used drugs... to stimulate their focus, concentration or memory... The most popular reason for taking the drugs was to improve concentration. Improving focus for a specific task (admittedly difficult to distinguish from concentration) ranked a close second and counteracting jet lag ranked fourth behind 'other' ...'

Our question on frequency of use... revealed an even split between those who took them daily, weekly, monthly, or no more than once a year. Roughly half reported unpleasant side effects, and some discontinued use because of them... one-third of the drugs were purchased over the Internet. The rest were obtained from pharmacies or on prescription. In the few respondents from Britain that answered this question (n=14), all but one reported the Internet as their source.¹²³¹

Box 9.4: Selling 'smart' drugs – marketing material used on Internet shops selling modafinil

'Modafinil is being subscribed [sic] by many physicians to millions of people for 'off-label' or 'lifestyle' uses, including: Fatigue experienced by people who need to be awake and alert for extended amounts of times such as soldiers, truckers or students cramming for finals.'

'FOX NEWS confirms study shows DOCTORS perform better surgery when using Modafinil' — Tweet from an Internet shop selling modafinil in the UK.

Wake up to increased alertness and concentration with Modafinil... Time to improve your memory – SAFELY

In countries such as the United States there is little doubt that the fallout from over-medicalisation-such as soaring diagnosis of childhood and adult ADHD where the principal therapy is potent stimulants such as methylphenidate or amphetamine-based drugs-is fuelling use of 'smart' drugs. The informal and formal trade particularly between university students and school children leads to widespread diversion of these drugs.^{218,219} It is unclear if a similar situation is emerging in the United Kingdom. There are rising rates of ADHD diagnoses and some indication from grey literature reports and the media that diversion is occurring.⁹²³ While these observations need to be confirmed, diversion is likely to be an important source of these drugs as the stimulant drugs such as methylphenidate are controlled drugs both in the UK and internationally. This may limit their sale, particularly on the Internet. It is also unclear to what degree diverted drugs in the UK are used as study drugs or recreationally, although, in common with other countries, there is likely to be some overlap.^{218,219}

9.4 What do we know about the harms?

There have been few studies of the long–term effects of these types of drugs when used as 'smart' drugs.²¹⁹ Much of what we know is based on their use as medicines. Amphetamines, for example, have well established physical and psychiatric harms including the potential to cause dependence.⁸¹⁹ Similar concerns apply to methylphenidate (§4.8).⁶⁴⁹ As the drug is not licensed for use in adults, we know little about the safety of the drug with this age group. In some cases, such as atomoxetine (sold online as 'Ritalin equivalent' or 'generic Ritalin'), there is a link with increased risk of suicidal thoughts, psychosis and mania.^{1236,1237} Modafinil is commonly regarded as a 'safe' drug by those promoting its use as a cognitive enhancer. However, a recent review of its safety by the European Medicine Agency led to its restricted use after links with serious skin reactions and psychiatric harms were reported (§4.5).⁶¹⁸ Monitoring of the use of 'smart' drugs will be required to better understand the harms from their non–medical use.

	Harms from Adulterated self-directed drugs use detected	Unknown. Unknown Adverse reactions reported from therapeutic use	Unknown. Unknown Adverse reactions reported from therapeutic use and recreational use
	Sale on Harm black market self-d confirmed use by analysis	Unknown. Adverse reactions reported fro therapeutic use	Unknown. Adverse reactions reported fro therapeutic use and recreational use
	Self- directed I dose	200-400 mg per day	10-20 mg per day
	Price in British National Formulary	Provigil® 200 mg 30 tablets for £105.21 = £3.51 each	Ritalin® 10 mg 30 tablets for £5.57 = £0.19 each
	Price on black market**	Modalert 200 mg' 10 tablets for £24.99 = £2.49 each 'Modalert 200 mg' 30 tablets for £26.82 = £0.89 each	'Ritalin (Generic) 10 mg' 90 tablets for £123.74 = £1.37 each 'Ritalin Novartis 10 mg' 90 tablets for £149.34 = £1.66 each
unction.	Legal status	Prescription only medicine	Prescription only medicine. Controlled drug
Table 9. Examples of drugs used to enhance cognitive function.	Evidence of use	Internet forums. Media reports	Internet forums. Media reports
used to enh	Route of administration	Oral	Oral
nples of drugs	How it works	Promotes wakefulness*	Stimulant*
Table 9. Exan	Name	Modafinil	Methylphenidate hydrochloride

Name	How it works	Route of administration	Evidence of use	Legal status	Price on black market**	Price in British National Formulary	Self- directed dose	Sale on black market confirmed by analysis	Harms from self-directed use	Adulterated drugs detected
Atomoxetine hydrochloride	Blocks uptake of the neurotransmitter noradrenaline *	Oral	Unknown. Internet shops selling it as 'Ritalin equivalent' or 'generic Ritalin' or 'generic Ritalin'	Prescription only medicine	'Axepta 10 mg' 10 'tablets' for £3.20 = £0.32 each 'Strattera 25 mg' 60 'pills' for £46.32 = £0.77 each	Strattera® 10 mg 7 capsules for £15.62 = £2.23 each Strattera® 25 mg 7 capsules for £15.62 = £2.23 each	Unknown	×	Unknown. Adverse reactions treported from use use	Unknown
Adderall® (mixture of amphetamine salts)	Stimulant*	Oral	Unknown. Surveys in the United States report diversion to illicit market for recreational and for enhancement reasons.	Not licensed in the UK. [†] Controlled drug	'Adderall 30 mg' 60 tablets for £107.46 = £1.79 each	₹ <u>N</u>	30-60 mg	`	Unknown. Adverse reactions reported from therapeutic use and recreational use	Unknown
Prices on the illicit m *Acts on the central n	larket provides an ir. nervous system. ⁺ Lico	ndication only. Ma ensed in the Unite	Prices on the illicit market provides an indication only. Many sites offer considerable discounts when drugs are bought in bulk. Self-directed dose used by consumers provides an indication only. Acts on the central nervous system. "Licensed in the United States and Canada."	able discounts wh	ıen drugs are boug	ht in bulk. Self-di.	rected dose L	sed by consume	ers provides an inc	ication only.



10. Drugs used to enhance mood and social behaviours

This section examines the use of drugs to enhance mood and social behaviours. Such attempts are not new. Drugs such as alcohol, cannabis, tranquillisers, MDMA and 'legal highs' have all been used for these types of effects. The effects and harms linked to these drugs have been reviewed extensively elsewhere.^{121,122} With the availability of a range of drugs, such as the Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors (SSRI), which include fluoxetine and paroxetine, people are finding new ways to enhance their 'mood', increase 'happiness', blunt feelings of disappointment, relieve anxiety, be 'more able to cope', and be 'better than well' (Table 10).^{96,107} However, little is known about the non–prescription use of these types of drugs in the United Kingdom.

10.1 Steve, 56 Years Old

Steve is a graphic designer. Because of the recession, there have been job losses at his company. A key part of the business is pitching to clients, which is something that he has always tried to shy away from. However, his line manager has told him that as part of the restructuring he will have to give more presentations in the future. This worries Steve as even in small meetings with colleagues he tends to get quite nervous. When he has presented to larger audiences in the past he has ended up shaking, sweating and feeling like his heart was going to burst out of his chest. This has bothered him so much that he become unable to get his words out. It has shattered his confidence. Recently he read a magazine article about 'extreme shyness'. The article explained that doctors now thought that quite a large number of people suffered from a 'crippling' form of shyness called 'social anxiety disorder'. It then discussed the treatment options that were available to people who suffered from the condition. 'That's me,' Steve thinks. He goes to see his GP who suggests that he initially has some counselling to help deal with his anxiety. Steve is not convinced by this, in part because the article mentioned that there were 'good drug treatments' for the problem, but also because he doesn't want to discuss these problems with a stranger, 'face-to-face'. He does some research on the Internet and finds an online community where people with the problem discuss the drug treatments they use. He prints out a list of the drugs to take to his GP. However, she believes that he should try counselling first. Despondent, he decides to try the drug paroxetine which many people online say work well for them. He googles 'buy paroxetine' and finds a large number of sites selling the drug. The first site does not need a prescription to buy the drug. He decides to buy thirty 20 mg tablets to try over the next month.

Box 10.1: Comments on Steve

As Steve bought the drug from the illicit market he had no way of knowing if he was actually taking paroxetine. However, adverse reactions are reported with the drug. These commonly involve neurological, psychiatric and gastrointestinal problems. The drug can also cause erectile dysfunction and problems with ejaculation. Withdrawal from the drug can be severe. As Steve did not have this drug prescribed to him he might not have been aware of these effects. Nor may he have volunteered this information if he became ill and needed medical treatment (Box 4.6)¹²³⁸.

10.2 Who uses & why?

Around the world the over-medicalisation of mood and social behaviours has led to increasing numbers of people being treated with drugs such as SSRIs.^{4,1239} It is has been suggested that growing numbers of these have no discernible disease.¹²³⁹ As with other drugs, such as sildenafil, over-medicalisation is likely to encourage more people to seek out these types of drugs. However, currently there is little information on people who are using these drugs to enhance themselves rather than being prescribed them as part of medical treatment. Moreover, there is little known about the effects of these drugs in 'healthy' individuals. Aside from media reports, a survey in 2010 found that out of just over 2,000 adults, 4% had shared drugs such as anti-depressants with other people.⁹²⁸ While a study in 2009 at a Welsh university found that out of 505 students just over 15% had used prescription medicines not prescribed to them to help sleep, almost 9% to relieve anxiety, while just over 1.5% had used them to relieve depression. Meanwhile out of 111 staff, just over 12% had used them to help sleep, around 5% to relieve anxiety, while just under 1% had used them to relieve depression. Few of the drugs (around 4% in total for both students and staff) were bought from the Internet. Most were obtained from friends, housemates or other acquaintances.⁹²⁹

It is likely that this group of drugs has the potential for wide appeal to the general population.^{96,106,107} While there is little evidence regarding the current extent of their use or of any dominant characteristics of their users, the potential market for the next generation of drugs to 'enhance' mood and social behaviour is likely to be considerable. It will further blur our current definitions and limited understanding of recreational drug users and enhancement drug users.

10.3 What do we know about the harms?

The harms posed by these types of drugs have been reviewed extensively elsewhere.^{121,122} They include a range of physical and psychiatric effects including a risk of dependence (§4.8). Some are also linked to an increased risk of suicide. However, there have been few studies examining the effect in 'healthy' people. Much of what we know stems from their use as medicines to treat problems such as depression, social anxiety disorder, panic disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder and anxiety. Monitoring of the use of these types of drugs will be required to better understand the harms from their non-medical use.

Name	How it works	Route of administration	Evidence of use	Legal status	Price on black market**	Price in British National Formulary	Self- directed dose	Sale on black market confirmed by analysis	Harms from self-directed use	Adulterated drugs detected
Selective Serot	Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors	hibitors								
Paroxetine	Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor*	Oral	Internet forums. Media reports	Prescription only medicine	'Generic Paxil (Paroxetine) 20 mg' 30 'pills' for £33.07 = £1.10	Paroxetine 20 mg 30 tablets for £2.25 = £0.08 each	20-60 mg per day	>	Unknown. Adverse reactions reported from therapeutic use	Unknown
Sertraline	Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor*	Oral	Internet forums. Media reports	Prescription only medicine	'Zoloft 50 mg (Low Dosage)' 60 tablets for £47.99 = £0.80	Sertraline 50 mg 28 tablets for £1.71 = £0.06 each	50-200 mg per day	>	Unknown. Adverse reactions reported from therapeutic use	Unknown
Fluoxetine	Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor*	Orai	Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums. Media reports	Prescription only medicine	'Generic Prozac $60 \text{ mg}'$ 30 tablets for $\pounds 49.14 = \pounds 1.64$ each	Fluoxetine 20 mg 30 capsules for £1.42 = £0.05 each	20-60 mg	>	Unknown. Adverse reactions reported from therapeutic use	>
Anxiolytics										
Diazepam	Reduces anxiety*	Oral	Enforcement/ Seizures. Internet forums. Media reports	Prescription only medicine	'Generic Valium' 10 mg 30 tablets for £84.22 = £2.80 each	Diazepam 10 mg 28 tablets for £0.03 each	15–30 mg per day	>	>	>
Prices on the illicit r	market provide an ir	Prices on the illicit market provide an indication only. Many Internet sites offer considerable discounts when drugs are bought in bulk. Self-directed dose used by consumers provides an indication only.	itemet sites offer con	siderable discounts	when drugs are bou	ught in bulk. Self-	directed dose u	nsed by consum	ers provides an ir	idication only.

*Acts on central nervous system.

Table 10. Examples of drugs used to enhance mood and social behaviours.



11. Discussion

11.1 Overview

Across the globe, growing numbers of people are using a broad range of drugs to try to get a better body, empower themselves and increase their well being. Most of these drugs are obtained from the illicit market. Consumers risk serious harms from the potent effects that these drugs have, and, in the case of injectable drugs, from the way that they are administered (§4). This is magnified by the growing number of untested, banned or adulterated drugs as well as food, herbal or cosmetic products that contain active substances hidden inside them.²⁹²⁻⁴⁵⁷ Little is often known about the risks untested active substance or drugs can have. However in some cases, such as n-nitroso-fenfluramine (§4.3), we know that they can cause serious harms, 439-457 while hidden active substances mean that consumers and healthcare professionals treating them will not be aware of their use. In the case of banned substances, we know that they pose unacceptable risks to health.⁵⁵⁶⁻⁵⁷² Some of the drugs and products that are adulterated, have caused serious injury and deaths (§4.3).548-555

These drugs can also harm our environment and increase inequalities in health (§3.1).^{96–99,106,107,672–677} There is limited scientific evidence to support many of the claims made about the 'real world' benefits of these drugs in healthy people. Yet this vacuum has been filled with personal anecdotes, wishful thinking, hype and scams. Most consumers are unaware of the risks they face.

This phenomenon requires close public health scrutiny. Currently, there are large gaps in our understanding of this problem and our ability to respond to it. So far the response has largely been reactive, focussing on disrupting the supply of drugs and investigating outbreaks of harms linked to their use. Yet their availability is widespread and reports of harms continue to grow.

In part people are turning to these drugs because of the huge pressure they often face to improve themselves, to fit in, get a better body, to increase their well being and be 'better than well' (§3.2).^{1–107} Growing (low–cost) manufacturing capacity in countries such as China and India, the globalisation of free trade and communication and transport networks, such as the Internet and express postal services, play a critical role in their spread by making it easy to learn about them and buy on demand.^{136–151,668–671} The global nature of this market makes it particularly difficult to control and reduce supply.⁶⁵⁸ In part this is because existing legal and regulatory systems are largely based on national law and are inadequate in a globalised, networked world (§3.3). Weak legal and regulatory systems in some countries involved in the trade of these drugs, as well as corruption and the involvement of organised crime, exacerbate the problem.^{650–653,660–662} Adding to this complexity are the minimal restrictions on importing and possessing these drugs for personal use.ⁱ

New drugs and related technologies continue to emerge all the time. Those involved in the illicit trade are quick to seize upon these innovations and sell them to their customers. This is reflected in the growing numbers of untested drugs that are sold (see for example 'selective androgen receptor modulators', §5.5, Table 5), as well as in the formulations that make them easier to use (such as tablets rather than injections) and consequently more acceptable to greater numbers of people.ⁱⁱ Recent examples include food supplements containing a potent growth hormone releaser,⁴⁸⁴ and the synthetic tanning hormone, melanotan II, in nasal sprays.⁴⁸³ Prior to these 'innovations' both had to be injected. In some cases these have even been disguised as 'all natural' products so that consumers will not be aware that they are even taking a drug (Box 4.5). Those involved in the illicit market will go to almost any length in order to boost their sales.

11.2 Next steps

From April 2013 Public Health England (PHE) will be responsible for leading on the design, delivery and maintenance of systems to protect the population against existing and future threats to health.⁶⁸³ PHE will be working alongside other agencies and government departments which have a key role in preventing drug harms, such as the MHRA and the Home Office. Clarity of roles and responsibilities will be critical to ensure effective co–ordinated action to tackle this drug issue.

Three key areas for action are discussed below.

11.2.1 Understanding the nature and extent of the problem

Research is required to better understand this group of drugs. We need to know how many people are using the drugs, and what drives this behaviour ($\S3.2$). Specific gaps in research are highlighted in Box 11.1.

Healthcare professionals including doctors, nurses and pharmacists need to be aware of this form of drug use and should be provided with guidance on how to deal with the issues raised in this report. This will include measures that will allow healthcare professionals to engage with

i Restrictions usually apply to most controlled drugs or small number of specific substances. In the latter case an order can be made under the Medicines Act 1968 that makes it illegal to import the substance. Usually such an approach has been used for herbal substances linked to serious harms (such as Kava Kava and Aristolochia which have both been used in weight–loss products).^{1240,1241}

ii This is one of the lessons learnt from the availability of oral therapies, such as sildenafil, for erectile dysfunction (§8.1). Prior to 1998 the drugs that were used for this condition were either penile suppositories or had to be injected into the penis.¹¹⁷²⁻¹¹⁷⁸ These were not widely acceptable as medical therapies. Not surprisingly they did not diffuse widely either as enhancement drugs. After sildenafil was licensed, growing numbers of men and women around the world have used these drugs to enhance their sexual performance (§8.2).^{830-838,907,1212-1225}

patients to identify, treat, and report harms caused by these drugs. Much of this responsibility is likely to fall on primary care services, such as General Practices. Inevitably some will also fall on secondary care services (such as emergency and urgent care). More broadly we will need to find ways of engaging with other stakeholders including consumers, parents, teachers, and social workers to inform them of the issues and what they can do to minimise harm (Box 11.1).

11.2.2 Supply reduction

There are few restrictions on consumers buying these drugs (and importing them) for their own use.^{223,224} Most are obtained from online shops, 'bricks and mortar' shops or dealers, as well as sold or given away by friends, family, partners, or other acquaintances. Enforcement action in the UK against retailers, or measures that aim to reduce the number of drugs that are diverted from prescriptions, may help reduce the overall supply. Yet these will only apply to the illicit market that is based in the UK. Increased manufacturing capacity in emerging economies, globalised free trade, communication and transport networks, such as the Internet and postal services, and demand from consumers, have allowed a global market to thrive. Its regulation is often beyond the UK's legal jurisdiction.⁶⁵⁸

Careful consideration will need to be given on whether bilateral, multilateral and international agreements, though difficult to accomplish, may be required to help stem the tide of these drugs. However, countries with inadequate legal and regulatory systems will always remain the weakest link.^{660,661} These systems must be strengthened and corruption tackled if there is to be any useful progress. In this respect there are obvious overlaps with the broader illicit trade in medicines. However, significant barriers must be overcome at the international level, including the lack of consensus on how best to tackle this trade in general.ⁱ Failure to tackle this issue will also have a knock–on effect on policies designed to achieve the rational use of medicines across the globe. The irrational use of medicines places huge economic and health burdens on countries.^{1242,1243}

Consideration will also need to be given as to whether the current legal and regulatory system for medicines and medical devices in the UK (harmonised under EU law) can respond effectively to this problem. Whether a product is legally classed as medicine, and therefore its manufacture, advertising and supply can be regulated, is decided on a case–by–case basis.²²³ This administrative process is slow to respond to the growing numbers of drugs being sold and the creative strategies employed by retailers, such as selling drugs as 'research chemicals', 'not for human consumption' or as 'food' or 'herbal' supplements. In this

i This is all the more difficult with the emergence of new technologies that differ in their legal classification from country to country. For example dermal fillers are regulated as medicines in the United States while in the EU as medical devices.

respect there are similarities with the way in which new psychoactive substances (so called 'legal highs') are marketed in order to circumvent regulation under the medicine, food and consumer protection laws.^{123,127,128,131} Interestingly, while many of these new psychoactives are used recreationally, some are also used for enhancement purposes as 'designer fat burners' in order to lose weight.^{134,1019}

11.2.3 Demand & harm reduction

How do we deal with the pressures to be 'normal' or 'perfect'? How is this done while ensuring that the scientific communities and pharmaceutical/biotechnology companies continue to innovate and develop new medicines which are required by society, yet may also find 'dual uses' as enhancement drugs? How can the misinformation which stems from research studies, the media and online discussions be prevented? How can fraudulent claims made by retailers on the illicit market be counteracted?

What are the responsibilities of pharmaceutical/biotechnology companies to ensure that medicines are marketed and advertised appropriately? Inappropriate practices have, directly and indirectly, driven demand for some of these drugs both inside and outside of healthcare systems. Practices such as the illegal advertising of botulinum toxin products by private treatment centres, beauty salons and dentists are also likely to exacerbate the demand for these types of drugs (§7.5).^{1144–1161} More generally we also need to know the impact of indirect advertising (e.g. 'look younger, feel fresher, rejuvenate...'). While these issues may be a particular problem in countries that allow direct-to-consumer marketing of medicines (such as the United States and New Zealand), the Internet is reducing barriers to this direct to consumer marketing for consumers in other countries. Research on this type of advertising suggests that 'more advertising leads to more requests for advertised medicines, and more prescriptions'.¹²⁴⁴ Advertising also appears to increase the early use of new drugs.¹²⁴⁴ What is not clear yet is if such advertising may affect self-directed drug use.⁹²⁶

How can the harms caused by these drugs be identified and reduced? What role can existing surveillance/monitoring systems and other data sources play? Pharmacovigilance systems,ⁱ as well as related early warning systems, could all play essential roles. Similarly, data from the National Poisons Information Service and Hospital Episode Statistics could also provide useful data. Consideration will need to be given as to how these systems can be optimised for this purpose, including how to overcome barriers to reporting by consumers and healthcare professionals. More broadly, a specific early warning system

i Such as the Yellow Card Scheme in the UK, EudraVigilance at the EU–level and Vigibase at the international level.

for this form of drug use may be required allowing new drugs, harms,ⁱ and trends to be identified by drawing together data from existing systems and other sources such as treatment centres, forensic and toxicology labs, law enforcement, literature reports, key informants, consumers and media sources (Box 11.1).

New ways of effectively communicating with consumers and the general public will need to be found in order to spread prevention and harm reduction messages as well as alerts on recalls and other harms once they have been identified (Box 4.10). Consideration should be given to the role of new media, including social networking sites, for the delivery of these messages.

11.3 Where do we draw the red line?

These drugs are forcing us to redefine health, well-being and the boundaries of healthcare. To rethink how we view our bodies, how they work, how we can change them and what it means to be human. People have always strived to enhance themselves. It is part of what makes us human.⁹⁶⁻¹⁰⁷ However, despite the harms that have been highlighted in this report, it is possible that enhancement through drugs could benefit humanity. The key issue is how society can harness these benefits while minimising the harms. Ultimately, it is for society, informed by evidence, among other things, to decide if this form of drug use should be allowed. Such a debate would also have to include discussions on how we regulate drug use, and how we reduce the harms. These are not easy questions to answer, particularly since the use of drugs in healthy people to enhance themselves is a new science. Our existing legal and regulatory frameworks governing medicines and related technologies are not designed to address these kinds of 'enhancement' questions nor regulate their supply to the public. In this respect, consideration will also need to be given to how the different stakeholders view the risk posed by these substancescurrently, in the case of medicines used to treat disease, regulators, healthcare professionals and the public often view the risks very differently.¹²⁴⁵⁻¹²⁴⁷ Moreover, if there is a shift in the role of medicines from their primary roles as curative and palliative agents to one that is about providing an 'optimal', 'enhanced' life then there will be massive cost implications, some of which may fall on government or thirdparty insurers.678

While today much of the science does not match the hype, new technologies will continue to emerge that could provide significant benefits as well as serious harms. Demand for such technologies are likely to be high. It is also going to become easier for people to buy and use them. Already 'next generation' drugs and advanced therapies,

i Importantly in this respect pharmaceutical companies could play an essential role in making relevant data available to regulators and other public health agencies on the effects and harms of old, new and failed products that have emerged on the illicit market.

such as tissue–engineered products, somatic cell therapies and gene therapies are being tested and in some cases used. The claims made about these, particularly from illicit retailers, are likely to be even more misleading than those made about the drugs that are currently being used (such as CJC-1295 which stimulates the release of growth hormone (§5.2) and rimonabant which acts as an appetite suppressant) (§6). Huge profits will be made through these scams, while many consumers are likely to be seriously harmed.

Discussions will also be needed on how the inequalities caused by this drug use can be prevented. Will the poor be particularly affected? What about those who choose not to use these drugs? Will we end up with a two-tier society of 'non-enhanced' and 'enhanced'? Will this be the cause of (greater) discrimination? What do we do about this?

More urgently, what should clinicians and other prescribers do if faced with requests for these types of drugs tomorrow? Should they give in and prescribe them if the alternative is that people would turn to the illicit market with its banned, untested and adulterated products, lack of unbiased information and medical monitoring? It is worth noting that the current rationing of drug treatments for erectile dysfunction (such as sildenafil) on the NHS could possibly lead to consumers buying them from the illicit market.^{678-682,1248,1249}

Both the interest in human enhancement and the use of drugs to achieve this are likely to continue to increase in the future. Currently there is limited research on this emerging issue. However, the market for such drugs and the harms reported from their use continue to grow. Society has many difficult questions to answer in this respect, including whether such drug use should be allowed, or even facilitated. Ultimately, the challenge to public health will be how to ensure that any benefits are equitable while the harms from such drug usage can be effectively and efficiently minimised in order to protect and promote health.

Box 11.1: Gaps in research

Research is required to:

- help us better understand this broad user group, including how many people are using these drugs; who is using; the motivations for use; the patterns of use; how people learn about the drugs; and where they buy them from
- examine the causes of this phenomenon, including the role of sociocultural and demographic changes (such as over-medicalisation, globalisation, and the media)
- identify the consequences of this form of drug use, including the harms to users, the impact on the environment and inequalities, but also the potential benefits
- allow the development of prevention programmes and harm reduction measures
- measure the impact and effectiveness of legislation, and more broadly, regulatory systems (as well as gaps therein) in both the UK and internationally
- assess how a drugs early–warning systems can reduce harm. This includes how drugs can be rapidly identified, trends in use tracked over time, as well as timely information exchange between regulators, policy makers and other stakeholders. Such systems can also be used to identify harms and disseminate them through rapid alerts. This will include studies that:
 - examine the structure of the illicit market and how it functions, including systematic test purchases of products along with detailed forensic analysis in order to develop profiles of the harms they pose; as well as monitoring of prescriptions and diversion of drugs to the illicit market
 - examine a system for identifying, reporting and monitoring harms caused by the use of these drugs. This will include how best to link the work of pathologists, toxicologists and analytical laboratories
 - identify drugs and related technologies in the early stages of development which may also be in demand for enhancement purposes



Glossary

Acne conglobata

A severe form of acne characterised by abscesses and irregular scars.

Acne fulminans

A rare but severe form of cystic acne associated with sudden onset and fever.

Acromegaly

A chronic disease where the body produces an excess of growth hormone.

Adderall®

Brand name of amphetamine salts-based stimulant used to treat attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD).

Adenosine triphosphate (ATP)

A substance that is produced in the body that provides energy needed for cellular reactions.

Adrenal insufficiency

A condition where the adrenal glands do not produce enough of the hormone cortisol (and in some cases aldosterone). Also known as Addison's Disease.

Adulterated

Incorporates a range of defects in a drug (medicine) that may make its use harmful. It includes drugs that contain too much or too little active substance, the wrong active substance, contaminants or impurities (e.g. biological and chemical), or inactive or dangerous ingredients.

Amphetamine

A powerful stimulant of the peripheral and central nervous system.

Anabolic steroids

Synthetic substances related to the male sex hormones (androgens), capable of producing a range of effects including growth of skeletal muscle and the differentiation, growth and maintenance of the sexual characteristics in males.

Analogue

A compound that has similar structure to that of another one. While they share structural similarities their effects on the body may be very different.

Anaphylaxis

A potentially life-threatening allergic reaction that can affect multiple systems of the body.

Androgen

A natural or synthetic hormone that stimulates/ controls the development and maintenance of male characteristics.

Anti-depressant

A drug used to treat depression.

Anti-oestrogen

A substance that blocks the effect of the hormone oestrogen in the body (such as tamoxifen). It is used in the treatment of breast cancer but also self-administered by anabolic steroid users to prevent or minimise the development of breast tissue (gynaecomastia).

Anti-retroviral

A drug used to treat infection by retroviruses, such as HIV.

Anxiolytic

A drug used to treat anxiety (such as the benzodiazepines e.g. diazepam).

Aphrodisiac

A substance or food that stimulates sexual desire and/or behaviour.

Aromatase inhibitor

A substance that blocks the production of oestrogen in the body (such as anastrozole). It is used in the treatment of breast cancer but also self administered by anabolic steroid users to prevent or minimise the development of breast tissue (gynaecomastia).

Atomoxetine

A selective noradrenaline uptake inhibitor used in the treatment of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD).

Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)

A condition in which an individual may, amongst other symptoms, find it difficult to pay attention, have overactive behaviour, be impulsive or have all of these symptoms together.

Banned drugs

A drug that was licensed for use in the United Kingdom but has since been banned. Usually, this is because of safety concerns over the harmful effects of the active substance(s) it contains. It is illegal to manufacture, advertise or supply a banned drug in the United Kingdom.

Benign prostatic hyperplasia

An increase in the size of the prostate gland without cancer being present.

Bimatoprost

A prostaglandin analogue used to treat glaucoma. It is also used for 'eyelash rejuvenation' because one of its side effects is the growth of the eyelashes.

Biosynthetic

A product derived from processes conducted in the cells of a living organism.

Botulinum toxin product

A product containing botulinum toxin that is used to treat wrinkles and lines on the face. After it is injected into the muscle, it blocks the signals from the nerves so that the muscle can no longer contract. The muscle relaxes and so the wrinkles soften.

Bremelanotide (formerly known as PT-141)

A metabolite of melanotan II which is reported to cause spontaneous erections and act as an aphrodisiac.

Cannabis

Psychoactive preparations of the marijuana (hemp) plant, Cannabis sativa.

CJC-1295

A drug that stimulates the secretion of growth hormone in the body. It is not being developed as a medicine and its effects in humans are largely unknown.

Clenbuterol

A drug prescribed as a decongestant and bronchodilator. It is not licensed for use in the United Kingdom. It is also used by bodybuilders, among others, as an anabolic agent and weight loss drug.

Clinical trials

A type of research study that compares one treatment or drug with another.

Cocaine

A drug derived from coca leaves, which is used medically as a topical anaesthetic and illicitly for its euphoric and stimulant effects.

Corticosteroids

Synthetic version of the hormone cortisol, used in the treatment of inflammation.

Cortisol

A hormone produced within the adrenal glands and released in response to stress.

Cushing's syndrome

Hormone disorder caused by high levels of cortisol. This can be caused by taking a corticosteroid drug (such as in some skin lightening products).

Cycling

Practice where steroids are taken by users for a period of time (e.g. eight to 12 weeks), known as an 'on cycle', followed by a period of abstinence, known as an 'off cycle'.

Dermal fillers

Classed as medical devices, dermal fillers are made from a range of synthetic, animal and human products, and injected to bulk out the skin in order to reduce the appearance of wrinkles or to 'plump out' the lips.

Designer drug

A synthetic drug produced outside of the formal pharmaceutical industry and sold often with the purpose of circumventing detection and/or legal control by authorities.

Diazepam

A drug in the class of benzodiazepines, used in the treatment of anxiety.

Diethylene glycol

A toxic substance used as an excipient that has been found in inadequately tested and adulterated drugs.

Dihydrotestosterone

A potent androgen made in the body from testosterone. It is linked to male pattern baldness.

Dinitro-o-cresol

A drug structurally and pharmacologically related to DNP, but thought to be more potent.

Diuretics

Drugs used to increase the excretion of urine.

Dinitrophenol (DNP)

An untested drug sold on the illicit market for weight loss. It stimulates metabolism by stopping the powerhouses of cells, the mitochondria, from making ATP (adenosine triphosphate). This substance provides the energy needed for many cellular reactions. Instead DNP causes heat to be released from the mitochondria. This toxic effect is what causes weight loss.

Drug

Any substance or combination of substances that may be used with a view to exerting a pharmacological, immunological or metabolic action. For the purposes of this report, the term 'drug' and 'medicine' are used interchangeably.

Ecstasy

Common term for 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine, (MDMA), a synthetic amphetamine analogue used illicitly for its mood-enhancing and mild hallucinogenic properties.

Elixir Sulfanilamide

An antibiotic medicine sold briefly in the late 1930s that used the untested excipient diethylene glycol which is toxic.

Ephedrine

A drug used to treat hypotension (low blood pressure) in anaesthesia, a decongestant and a treatment to widen the airways. Bodybuilders, among many others, also use it as a stimulant, appetite suppressant and concentration aid.

Erectile dysfunction

Persistent inability to achieve or maintain an erection for satisfactory sexual intercourse.

Ergogenic

Enhance physical performance or recovery.

Excipient

A pharmacologically inactive substance that is used in formulating a medicine.

Fenfluramine

An appetite suppressant that was banned in 1997 because of its link to serious cardiovascular harms.

Fibromyalgia

A rheumatic condition typified by muscular or musculoskeletal pain with stiffness and localised tenderness.

Finasteride

A substance that inhibits the enzyme in the body that converts testosterone to dihydrotestosterone (DHT). It is used to treat benign prostatic hyperplasia and male pattern baldness.

Fluoxetine

A selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) used to treat, among other conditions, depression. It is commonly known by the general public by the brand name Prozac®.

General Practitioner

A physician who is trained to provide primary health care within the community.

Gene therapy

Emerging treatments that use DNA to treat or prevent disease.

Genitourinary

Related to the system of reproductive organs and the urinary system.

GHB (gamma hydroxybutyrate)

A naturally occurring compound that was originally synthesised for use as an anaesthetic. It is used recreationally for its sedative and anaesthetic effects and used by others in an attempt to promote the release of growth hormone to enhance the structure and function of muscle.

GHRP-6

A substance used to stimulate the release of growth hormone in the body.

Glibenclamide

A substance found in some medicines that are used to treat diabetes.

Gynaecomastia

The growth of the glandular breast tissue in males thought to be caused by hormone imbalance between oestrogen and testosterone. It is a common side effect in those who use anabolic steroids.

Herbal Xenicol

Advertised as a safe herbal product and named to sound like the licensed weight-loss medicine Xenical®. Products labelled as 'Herbal Xenicol' have been found to contain the banned appetite suppressant sibutramine.

Heroin

A drug derived from morphine. Heroin is one of the most widely used illicit opioids because of its potency, availability, solubility in water and the speed with which it crosses the blood-brain barrier.

Hexarelin®

Brand name of examorelin, a synthetic peptide capable of stimulating growth hormone release in the body.

High-density lipoprotein (HDL)

Also known as 'good cholesterol', HDL carries cholesterol away from the cells and back to the liver, where it is either broken down or passed out of the body as a waste product.

Human chorionic gonadotrophin (hCG)

A hormone produced by the body during pregnancy. It is also sold as a weight loss product and used by anabolic steroid users to stimulate testosterone production in the body.

Human growth hormone (hGH)

A peptide hormone involved in the regulation of a diverse number of physiological processes including growth and fat metabolism. A biosynthetic version is known as recombinant human growth hormone (rhGH).

Hydroquinone

A topical bleaching agent used in treatment of melasma (a common skin condition of adults in which light to dark brown or greyish pigmentation develops, mainly on the face), but also self administered without a prescription as a skin lightening agent.

Hyperthyroidism

Condition where the thyroid gland is overactive. It can increase the rate of metabolism and cause a rapid heart beat.

Hypomania

A milder form of mania, often including symptoms of over-active, excited behaviour and irritability.

Illicit market

A market that functions outside the formal economy regulated by the State.

Insulin

A hormone produced by the pancreas and essential to the control of blood sugar and the metabolism of fat and carbohydrates.

Isotretinoin

An anti-inflammatory agent derived from vitamin A that is used to treat acne by decreasing the skin's production of the oily substance sebum.

Kamagra

Brand name for a range of medicines that contain sildenafil that is used in the treatment of erectile dysfunction. These medicines are not licensed in the United Kingdom.

Khat

The leaves and tender stems of the plant Catha edulis that are chewed or brewed as a drink to produce a stimulant effect.

Laxative

A substance that stimulates bowel movements.

Low-density lipoprotein (LDL)

Commonly known as 'bad cholesterol', LDL carries cholesterol from the liver to the cells. If there is too much cholesterol for the cells to use, it can build up in the artery walls, leading to disease of the arteries.

Licensed medicine/drug

A medicine that has been approved for marketing in the United Kingdom.

Licit market

Lawful, legitimate provision of goods within the formal economy regulated by the State.

Lignocaine

A local anaesthetic.

Lipid metabolism

The processes by which the body synthesises, utilises or breaks down lipids.

Marmola

A weight loss product sold from the mid-1910s until the early 1940s. It contained dried animal thyroid tissue as its active substance.

Mechano Growth Factor (MGF)

An untested analogue of insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I), used by bodybuilders, among others, to promote muscle repair and growth.

Melanotan I (afamelanotide)

A synthetic peptide that increases the levels of the pigment melanin in the body resulting in skin tanning.

Melanotan II

A synthetic peptide that increase the levels of the pigment melanin in the body resulting in skin tanning. It is also used as an appetite suppressant and aphrodisiac. It is an untested drug.

Metabolism

The chemical processes by which the body synthesises, utilises or breaks down substances.

Metabolites

Chemicals formed as part of the natural biochemical process of degrading and eliminating chemical compounds.

Methandienone/methandrostenolone

A commonly used oral anabolic steroid.

Methasterone

Anabolic steroid first synthesised in the late 1950s but never commercialised. Chemical analysis has identified it in 'dietary supplements' sold as 'Superdrol'.

Methylphenidate

A central nervous system stimulant used in the treatment of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in children.

Mitochondria

The site for the production of high-energy compounds, such as ATP, in the cell.

Modafinil

A wakefulness promoting agent used in the treatment of narcolepsy. It is also used as a cognitive enhancer ('smart' drug).

Nandrolone decanoate

A commonly used anabolic steroid, administered by injection.

Nitroso-prodenafil

A designer drug containing both a sildenafil-type substance and a vasodilator.

N-nitroso-fenfluramine

An analogue of the banned appetite suppressant fenfluramine.

Nocebo

A harmful effect on health produced by psychological factors following the administration of an inert or active substance.

North West Public Health Observatory

A specialist team of analysts and researchers, providing high quality health intelligence to support policy makers and practitioners in improving the health of the population and reducing inequalities.

Obesogenic

Capable of causing obesity.

Orlistat

Licensed treatment for obesity. It works by stopping the body absorbing dietary fat.

Paroxetine

A selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) used to treat, among other conditions, depression. It is commonly known by the general public by the brand name Seroxat[®].

Patent medicines

A range of medicines often of questionable quality and effects, particularly associated with the 18th to early 20th century.

PEGylated Mechano Growth Factor (PEG-MGF)

A modified form of Mechano Growth Factor with prolonged action. It is untested.

Peliosis hepatis

A rare condition where blood-filled sacs occur in the liver.

Pep pills

Pill that contains a stimulant, such as amphetamine.

Petri dish

A shallow dish used for the culture of microorganisms such as bacteria.

Pharmacoepidemiology

The study of the use and the effects of drugs in the population.

Pharmacotoxicological studies

Investigation and assessment of the toxic effects of drugs.

Pharmacovigilance

System that includes the detection and reporting of suspected adverse reactions to drugs.

Phenolphthalein

A form of laxative.

Phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitor (PDE5i)

A group of drugs containing either sildenafil, tadalafil or vardenafil that are used to treat erectile dysfunction by increasing blood flow to the penis causing erection.

Placebo

A beneficial effect on health produced by psychological factors following the administration of an inert or active substance.

Progestin

Hormone found in oral contraceptives.

Prostaglandin

A fatty acid compound with hormone-like effects.

Provigil®

See modafanil.

Prozac[®]

See fluoxetine.

Psychoactive drug

A substance that when ingested affects mental processes, e.g. cognition or mood.

Psychotropic effect

An alteration in a person's perception, emotion, or behaviour.

Recreational drug

Psychoactive drug used to create or enhance pleasure or leisure activities.

Rimonabant

Banned appetite suppressant used for weight loss.

Ritalin®

See methylphenidate.

Ritonavir

An antiretroviral drug used in the treatment of HIV infection.

Roid rage

Term used to describe aggressive or violent behaviour in anabolic steroid users.

Rosacea

A condition where the blood vessels in the face can enlarge, giving a flushed appearance to the nose and cheeks.

Saquinavir

An antiretroviral drug used in the treatment of HIV infection.

Selective Androgen Receptor Modulator (SARM)

Synthetic non-steroidal androgens.

Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor (SSRI)

A class of antidepressant drugs including fluoxetine.

Serostim[®]

See human growth hormone.

Sibutramine

Banned appetite suppressant used for weight loss.

Sildenafil

A substance found in some medicines that are used to treat erectile dysfunction, for example Viagra[®]. It is a Phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitor.

Smart drug

Common term to describe drugs used to enhance cognitive function.

Somatic cell therapy

Treatment involving the insertion of a gene into a non-reproductive cell in a patient causing the production of a naturally occurring protein/substance that was either missing before or did not function properly. Can also be used to over-produce the protein/substance.

Spironolactone

A diuretic, used to increase the excretion of urine.

Spongiform encephalopathy

A group of progressive conditions that affect the brain and nervous system, such as Creutzfeldt–Jakob disease and 'mad cow disease' (bovine spongiform encephalopathy, BSE).

Stacking

Practice where steroid users will typically take two or more different steroids at the same time.

Stalinon

A drug from the 1950s used to treat boils but was found to contain a neurotoxic substance.

Stimulant

Any substance that activates, enhances, or increases neural activity.

Superdrol

See methasterone.

Supraphysiological levels

Amounts greater than normally found in the body.

Sustanon 250®

A common anabolic steroid administered by injection, containing four different types of testosterone with different durations of action.

Synthetic drugs

A drug made by chemical synthesis.

Synthetic peptide hormone

Manufactured hormones such as melanotan I and melanotan II.

Systemic

Relating to or affecting the entire body.

Tadalafil

A substance found in some medicines that are used to treat erectile dysfunction, for example Cialis[®]. It is a Phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitor.

Tamoxifen

An anti-oestrogen used in the treatment of breast cancer but also self administered by anabolic steroid users to prevent or minimise the development of breast tissue.

Teratogen

An agent or factor that causes malformation of an embryo or foetus.

Testosterone

A hormone that stimulates development of male secondary sexual characteristics, produced mainly in the testes.

Thalidomide

Drug used to treat morning sickness in pregnancy but was not sufficiently tested and caused serious birth defects.

Therapeutic dose

Amount of drug required to provide the correct effect.

Thyroxine

Hormone produced by the thyroid gland, involved in regulating metabolism.

Tissue-engineered products

Products derived from living cells or tissues, which may be used for the regeneration, repair or replacement of tissue.

Toxicological actions

Poisonous effect of a substance.

Tranquillisers

A drug used to reduce tension and anxiety and promote relaxation.

Unlicensed drugs

A drug that has not been licensed for marketing in the United Kingdom.

Valium®

Brand name of diazepam, a benzodiazepine used in the treatment of anxiety.

Vardenafil

A substance found in some medicines that are used to treat erectile dysfunction, for example Levitra[®]. It is a Phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitor.

Vasodilator

A drug which widens the blood vessels resulting in a decrease in blood pressure.

Viagra®

See sildenafil.

Virilization

The development of male physical characteristics (such as muscle bulk, body hair and a deep voice) in a female, or precociously in a boy, typically as the result of excess androgens.

References

- Hilton M. Consumerism in Twentieth–Century Britain: the search for a historical movement. Cambridge University Press, 2003.
- 2. Illich I. Limits to medicine: medical nemesis, the expropriation of health. Marion Boyars Publishers, 2000.
- Conrad P Deviance and medicalization: from badness to sickness. Temple University Press, 1992.
- Conrad P. The medicalization of society: on the transformation of human conditions into treatable disorders. Johns Hopkins University Press, 2007.
- Herzberg D. Happy pills in America: from Miltown to Prozac. Johns Hopkins University Press, 2010.
- Leland J. A pill for impotence? Newsweek. 1997;130:62–7.
 Stipp D, Whitaker R. The selling of impotence. Fortune.
- 1998;137:114–24. 8. Weber J. Barrett A. Mandel M. Laderman J. The new
- Weber J, Barrett A, Mandel M, Laderman J. The new era of lifestyle drugs. BusinessWeek. May 11 1998:40–7.
- 9. Barrett A. The formula at Pfizer: don't run with the crowd. BusinessWeek. 11 May 1998:96–7.
- Coy P. Is this prescription necessary? BusinessWeek. 11 May 1998:98–8.
- Gilbert D, Walley T, New B. Lifestyle medicines. BMJ. 2000;321:1341.
- Shakespeare J, Neve E, Hodder K. Is norethisterone a lifestyle drug? Results of database analysis. BMJ. 2000;320:291.
- Bryant G, Scott I, Worrall A. Is norethisterone a lifestyle drug? Health is not merely the absence of disease. BMJ. 2000;320:1605.
- 14. Hamilton W. Is norethisterone a lifestyle drug? The term lifestyle is not as clear as it may seem. BMJ. 2000;320:1605.
- Lloyd D. Is norethisterone a lifestyle drug? It's not a lifestyle drug in North Harrow. BMJ. 2000;320:1605.
- 16. Arnst C. Danger: read the label. BusinessWeek. May 11 1998:100
- Heath I. Combating disease mongering: daunting but nonetheless essential. PLoS Med. 2006;3:e146.
- Phillips CB. Medicine goes to school: teachers as sickness brokers for ADHD. PLoS Med. 2006;3:e182.
- Walsh P, Elsabbagh M, Bolton P, Singh I. In search of biomarkers for autism: scientific, social and ethical challenges. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2011;12:603–12.
- Applbaum K. Pharmaceutical marketing and the invention of the medical consumer. PLoS Med. 2006;3:e189.
- Woloshin S, Schwartz LM. Giving legs to restless legs: a case study of how the media helps make people sick. PLoS Med. 2006;3:e170.
- Moynihan R, Henry D. The fight against disease mongering: generating knowledge for action. PLoS Med. 2006;3:e191.
- Maggini M, Vanacore N, Raschetti R. Cholinesterase inhibitors: drugs looking for a disease? PLoS Med. 2006;3:e140.
- Tiefer L. Female sexual dysfunction: a case study of disease mongering and activist resistance. PLoS Med. 2006;3:e178.
- Mintzes B. Disease mongering in drug promotion: do governments have a regulatory role? PLoS Med. 2006;3:e198.
- Healy D. The latest mania: selling bipolar disorder. PLoS Med. 2006;3:e185.
- Lexchin J. Bigger and better: how Pfizer redefined erectile dysfunction. PLoS Med. 2006;3:e132.
- Almasi EA, Stafford RS, Kravitz RL, Mansfield PR. What are the public health effects of direct-to-consumer drug advertising? PLoS Med. 2006;3:e145.
- Tiefer L. In pursuit of the perfect penis: the medicalization of male sexuality. Am Behav Sci. 1986;29:579–99.
- Tiefer L. Review: Harry, put down that needle and let's talk! J Sex Res. 1994;31:82–4.
- Tiefer L. Sexology and the pharmaceutical industry: the threat of co-optation. J Sex Res. 2000;37:273–83.
- No author listed. Impotence. NIH Consens Statement. 1992;10:1–31.
- Tiefer L. The medicalization of impotence: normalizing phallocentrism. Gend Soc. 1994;8:363–77.
- Norris P, Herxheimer A, Lexchin J, Mansfield P. Drug promotion. What we know, what we have yet to learn. Reviews of materials in the WHO/HAI database on drug promotion. World Health Organization, 2005.
- Potts A, Gavey N, Grace VM, Vares T. The downside of Viagra: women's experiences and concerns. Sociol Health Illn. 2003;25:697–719.

- Rosenfeld D, Faircloth C, eds. Medicalized masculinities. Temple University Press, 2006.
- 37. Watkins ES. The medicalisation of male menopause in America. Soc Hist Med. 2007;20:369–88.
- Watkins ES. Medicine, masculinity, and the disappearance of male menopause in the 1950s. Soc Hist Med. 2008;21:329–44.
- House of Commons Official Report (Hansard), 10 November 2004:cols 243–67.
- House of Commons Health Committee. The influence of the pharmaceutical industry. Fourth report of the session 2004–2005. Volume I. Report, together with formal minutes. Stationery Office Limited, 2005.
- House of Commons Health Committee. The influence of the pharmaceutical industry. Fourth report of the session 2004–2005. Volume II. Formal minutes, oral and written evidence. Stationery Office Limited, 2005.
- Department of Health. Government response to the Health Committee's report on the influence of the pharmaceutical industry, Cm 6655. Stationery Office Limited, 2005.
- Miah A, Rich E. The medicalization cyberspace. Routledge, 2008.
- Braziel JE, LeBesco K, eds. Bodies out of bounds: fatness and transgression. University of California Press, 2001.
- Grogan S. Body image: understanding body dissatisfaction in men, women and children. Routledge, 2007.
- 46. Gilman SL. Fat: a cultural history of obesity. Polity, 2008.
- Monaghan LF. Men and the war on obesity: a sociological study. Routledge, 2008.
- Throsby K. The war on obesity as a moral project: weight loss drugs, obesity surgery and negotiating failure. Sci Cult. 2009;18:201–16.
- Cash TF, Smolak L, eds. Body image. a handbook of science, practice, and prevention. Guilford Press, 2011.
- Gilbody S, Wilson P, Watt I. Benefits and harms of direct to consumer advertising: a systematic review. Qual Saf Health Care. 2005;14:246–50.
- Mintzes B. For and against: Direct to consumer advertising is medicalising normal human experience: For. BMJ. 2002;324:908–9.
- Bonaccorso SN, Sturchio JL. For and against: Direct to consumer advertising is medicalising normal human experience: Against. BMJ. 2002;324:910–11.
- 53. Kent A. Should patient groups accept money from drug companies? Yes. BMJ. 2007;334:934.
- Mintzes B. Should patient groups accept money from drug companies? No. BMJ. 2007;334:935.
- Vitry A, Mintzes B, Lexchin J. Direct-to-consumer advertising policy in Australia: realism in whose interests? Intern Med J. 2007;37:665–6; author reply 666–7.
- Mintzes B. Direct to consumer advertising of prescription drugs. BMJ. 2008;337:a985.
- Jureidini J, Mintzes B, Raven M. Does direct-to-consumer advertising of antidepressants lead to a net social benefit? Pharmacoeconomics. 2008;26:557–66; discussion 567–8.
- Mintzes B, Morgan S, Wright JM. Twelve years' experience with direct-to-consumer advertising of prescription drugs in Canada: a cautionary tale. PLoS One. 2009;4:e5699.
- Wong-Rieger D. Should Canada allow direct-to-consumer advertising of prescription drugs? Yes. Can Fam Physician. 2009;55:130, 132, 134 passim.
- Mintzes B. Should Canada allow direct-to-consumer advertising of prescription drugs? No. Can Fam Physician. 2009;55:131, 133, 135 passim.
- 61. **Howell JV.** The world of the market place. BMJ. 2007;335:683–4.
- Loe M. The rise of Viagra: how the little blue pill changed sex in America. New York University Press, 2006.
- 63. Gill R. Gender and the Media. Polity, 2007.
- Puhl R, Brownell KD. Bias, discrimination, and obesity. Obes Res. 2001;9:788–805.
- 65. Puhl RM, Heuer CA. The stigma of obesity: a review and update. Obesity. 2009;17:941–64.
- 66. **Butler RN.** Age–ism: another form of bigotry. Gerontologist. 1969;9:243–6.
- 67. **Nelson TD, ed.** Ageism: stereotyping and prejudice against older persons. MIT Press, 2004.
- Glover–Thomas N, Fanning J. Medicalisation: the role of epharmacies in iatrogenic harm. Med Law Rev. 2010;18:28–55.
- 69. Trethowan WH. Pills for personal problems. BMJ. 1975;3:749-51.

- 70. Silverman M, Lee PR. Pills, profits and politics. University of California Press, 1976.
- 71. Silverman MM. The drugging of the Americas. University of California Press, 1976.
- Brewin R, Hughes R. The tranquilizing of America: pill popping and the American way of life. Harcourt, 1979. 72.
- 73. Melrose D. Bitter pills: medicines and the Third World poor. Oxfam, 1982
- 74. Diller LH. Running on Ritalin: a physician reflects on children, society, and performance in a pill. Bantam, 1999.
- Avorn J. Powerful medicines. The benefits, risks, and costs of 75. prescription drugs. Knopf, 2004:71-84.
- DeGrandpre R. The cult of pharmacology: how America 76. became the world's most troubled drug culture. Duke University Press, 2006.
- Tone A, Watkins E, eds. Medicating modern America: 77. prescription drugs in history. University Press, 2007.
- Greene JA. Prescribing by numbers: drugs and the definition of disease. Johns Hopkins University Press, 2008. 78
- 79 Moynihan R. The making of a disease: female sexual dysfunction. BMJ. 2003;326:45-7.
- Moynihan R, Cassels A. Selling sickness: how the world's 80. biggest pharmaceutical companies are turning us all into patients. Nation Books, 2005.
- Moynihan R. Major changes are proposed for definitions of female sexual dysfunction. BMJ. 2010;340:c830. 81.
- Moynihan R. Merging of marketing and medical science: female sexual dysfunction. BMJ. 2010;341:c5050. 82
- Moynihan R, Mintzes B. Sex, lies, and pharmaceuticals: how drug companies plan to profit from female sexual dysfunction. 83 Greystone Books, 2010.
- **Gould DB.** Moving politics: emotion and ACT UP's fight against AIDS. University of Chicago Press, 2009. 84.
- 85 Phillips DP, Kanter EJ, Bednarczyk B, Tastad PL Importance of the lay press in the transmission of medical knowledge to the scientific community. N Engl J Med. 1991:325:1180-3.
- 86. de Semir V, Ribas C, Revuelta G. Press releases of science journal articles and subsequent newspaper stories on the , same topic. JAMA. 1998;280:294–5.
- Woloshin S, Schwartz LM. Press releases: translating 87. research into news. JAMA. 2002;287:2856-8.
- Stryker JE. Reporting medical information: effects of press 88. releases and newsworthiness on medical journal articles' visibility in the news media. Prev Med. 2002;35:519-30.
- Woloshin S, Schwartz LM. Media reporting on research 89. presented at scientific meetings: more caution needed. Med J Aust. 2006;184:576-80.
- 90 Kuriya B, Schneid EC, Bell CM. Quality of pharmaceutical industry press releases based on original research. PLoS One. 2008;3:e2828
- Hochman M, Hochman S, Bor D, McCormick D. News media coverage of medication research: reporting 91. pharmaceutical company funding and use of generic medication names. JAMA. 2008;300:1544-50
- Woloshin S, Schwartz LM, Casella SL, Kennedy AT, 92 Larson RJ. Press releases by academic medical centers: not so academic? Ann Intern Med. 2009;150:613-8.
- Partridge BJ, Bell SK, Lucke JC, Yeates S, Hall WD, 93. Smart drugs "as common as coffee": media hype about neuroenhancement. Ross JS, editor. PLoS One. 2011;6:e28416.
- Gonon F, Bezard E, Boraud T. Misrepresentation of 94. neuroscience data might give rise to misleading conclusions in the media: the case of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. PLoS One. 2011;6:e14618.
- Rodwin MA. Conflicts of interest and the future of medicine: the 95. United States, France, and Japan. Oxford University Press, 2011.
- President's Council on Bioethics. Beyond therapy. 96 Biotechnology and the pursuit of happiness. President's Council on Bioethics, 2003.
- 97. British Medical Association. Boosting your brainpower: ethical aspects of cognitive enhancements. British Medical Association, 2007.
- Levy N. Neuroethics: challenges for the 21st Century. Cambridge University Press, 2007. 98.
- 99 Academy of Medical Sciences. Brain science, addiction and drugs. Academy of Medical Science, 2008.
- Rose S. Drugging unruly children is a method of social 100. control. Nature. 2008;451:521.
- 101. Harris J, Quigley M. Humans have always tried to improve their condition. Nature. 2008;451:521
- Pierce R, Illes J. Policy must recognize drug impact on different sectors. Nature. 2008;451:521. 102.

- 103. Bostrom N. Drugs can be used to treat more than disease. Nature. 2008;451:520.
- 104 Eaton C. Low dose of alertness drug counters 'family fatigue'. Nature. 2008;451:520-1.
- 105 Farah MJ. Rationality is a better basis for ethics than repugnance. Nature. 2008;451:521.
- Savulescu J, Bostram N, eds. Human enhancement. Oxford 106. University Press, 2009
- Savulescu J, ter Meulen R, Kahane G, eds. Enhancing 107. human capacities. Wiley–Blackwell, 2011. Berridge V, Edwards G. Oplan and the people: oplate use in
- 108. Nineteenth-Century England. Allen Lane, 1981.
- Berridge V. Opium and the people: opiate use and drug 109. control policy in Nineteenth and early Twentieth Century England. Free Association Books, 1999.
- 110. McAllister WB. Drug diplomacy in the Twentieth Century. Routledge, 1999.
- Courtwright DT. Forces of habit. Drugs and the making of the 111. modern world. Harvard University Press, 2002.
- 112 Gootenberg P. Andean cocaine: the making of a global drug. University of North Carolina Press, 2009.
- 113. Freudenmann RW, Öxler F, Bernschneider-Reif S. The origin of MDMA (ecstasy) revisited: the true story reconstructed from the original documents. Addiction. 2006;101:1241-5.
- 114. Benzenhöfer U, Passie T. Rediscovering MDMA (ecstasy): the role of the American chemist Alexander T. Shulgin. Addiction. 2010;105:1355-61.
- 115 Editor JH. Ecstasy: the complete guide. Park Street Press, 2001.
- Cole JC, Sumnall HR, Wagstaff GF. What is a dose of 116. ecstasy? J Psychopharmacol. 2002;16:189-90.
- Cole JC, Bailey M, Sumnall HR, Wagstaff GF, King LA. The content of ecstasy tablets: implications for the study of their long-term effects. Addiction. 2002;97:1531-6.
- Babor TF, Caulkins JP, Edwards G, Fischer B, Foxcroft DR, Humphreys K, et al. Drug policy and the public good. Oxford University Press, 2010.
- King L. Forensic chemistry of substance misuse: a guide to 119. drug control. Royal Society of Chemistry, 2009.
- 120 Fortson R. Misuse of drugs and drug trafficking offences. Sweet & Maxwell, 2012.
- Jones L, Bates G, Bellis M, Beynon C, Duffy P, Evans-121. Brown M, et al. A summary of the health harms of drugs. Department of Health, 2011
- Jones L, Bates G, Bellis M, Beynon C, Duffy P, Evans-122 Brown M, et al. A summary of the health harms of drugs. Technical document. Department of Health, 2011
- 123. Hughes B, Gallegos A, Sedefov R. Responding to new psychoactive substances. Publications Office of the European Union. 2011.
- Council of the European Union. Council Decision 2005/387/ JHA. Off J Eur Union. 2005;48:32–7. 124.
- European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. Early–warning system on new psychoactive substances. 125. Operating guidelines. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2007.
- European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. Risk assessment of new psychoactive substances. Operating 126. guidelines. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2010.
- Evans-Brown M, Bellis MA, McVeigh J. Should "legal highs" be regulated as medicinal products? BMJ. 2011;342:d1101. 127.
- Sumnall HR, Evans-Brown M, McVeigh J. Social, 128. policy, and public health perspectives on new psychoactive substances. Drug Test Anal. 2011;3:515-23.
- Hill SL, Thomas SHL. Clinical toxicology of newer 129. recreational drugs. Clin Toxicol. 2011;49:705-19.
- 130. Carroll FI, Lewin AH, Mascarella SW, Seltzman HH, Reddy PA. Designer drugs: a medicinal chemistry perspective. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2012;1248:18–38.
- Fortson R. The Medicines Act 1968 and "legal highs". Misuse of drugs and drug trafficking offences. Sweet & Maxwell, 131 2012:971-98.
- Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs. Consideration 132 of the novel psychoactive substances ("legal highs"). Home Office, 2011
- **European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction.** Online sales of new psychoactive substances/"legal highs": summary of results from the 2011 multilingual snapshots. 133. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, 2011.
- European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, Europol. EMCDDA–Europol 2010 annual report 134 on the implementation of Council Decision 2005/387/JHA. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, 2011. [See page 11 for use of 2–(Diphenylmethyl)pyrrolidine (desoxy–D2PM) in bodybuilding products in the UK.]

- Morris H. Interview with a Ketamine chemist. Accessed 26 February 2012. http://www.vice.com/read/interview-withketamine-chemist-704-v18n2.
- 136. Jones A. Dictionary of globalization. Polity Press, 2006.
- Lash S, Lury C. Global culture industry: the mediation of things. Polity, 2007.
- Held D, McGrew AG. Globalization/anti–globalization: beyond the great divide. Polity Press, 2007.
- 139. Urry J. Global complexity. Polity, 2003.
- 140. Urry J. Mobilities. Polity, 2007.
- 141. Abbate J. Inventing the Internet. MIT Press, 2000.
- 142. Benkler Y. The wealth of networks: how social production transforms markets and freedom. Yale University Press, 2007.
- 143. Hassan R. The information society. Polity, 2008.
- 144. Halavais A. Search engine society. Polity, 2008.
- 145. Burgess J, Green J. YouTube. Polity, 2009.
- 146. Baym N. Personal connections in the digital age. Polity, 2010.
- 147. Boase J, Horrigan JB, Wellman B, Rainie L. The strength of Internet ties. Pew Internet & American Life Project, 2006.
- 148. **Dutton WH, Helsper EJ.** The Internet in Britain: 2007. University of Oxford, 2007.
- Dutton WH, Helsper EJ, Gerber MM. The Internet in Britain: 2009. University of Oxford, 2009.
- Hogan B, Dutton WH, Li N. A global shift in the social relationships of networked individuals: meeting and dating online comes of age. University of Oxford, 2011.
- Dutton WH, Blank G. Next generation users: the internet in Britain. Oxford Internet Survey 2011. University of Oxford, 2011.
- Porter R. Flesh in the age of reason. Penguin Books, 2005.
 Porter R. Health for sale: quackery in England 1660–1850. Manchester University Press, 1989.
- Porter R. Quacks. Fakers and charlatans in English medicine. History Press, 2001.
- McLaren A. Impotence: a cultural history. University of Chicago Press, 2007.
- 156. **Hau M**. The cult of health and beauty in Germany: a social history, 1890–1930. University of Chicago Press, 2003.
- Kasson JF. Houdini, Tarzan, and the perfect man: the white male body and the challenge of modernity in America. Hill and Wang, 2001.
- Addison H. Hollywood and the rise of physical culture. Routledge, 2003.
- Carden-Coyne A. Reconstructing the body: classicism, modernism, and the First World War. Oxford University Press, 2009.
- Zweiniger–Bargielowska I. Managing the body: beauty, health, and fitness in Britain 1880–1939. Oxford University Press, 2010.
- Albert MR, Ostheimer KG. The evolution of current medical and popular attitudes toward ultraviolet light exposure: part 1. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2002;47:930–7.
- Albert MR, Ostheimer KG. The evolution of current medical and popular attitudes toward ultraviolet light exposure: part 2. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2003;48:909–18.
- Albert MR, Ostheimer KG. The evolution of current medical and popular attitudes toward ultraviolet light exposure: part 3. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2003;49:1096–106.
- Martin JM, Ghaferi JM, Cummins DL, Mamelak AJ, Schmults CD, Parikh M, et al. Changes in skin tanning attitudes. Fashion articles and advertisements in the early 20th century. Am J Public Health. 2009;99:2140–6.
- Gilman SL. Making the body beautiful. Princeton University Press, 2001.
- Haiken E. Venus envy: a history of cosmetic surgery. Johns Hopkins University Press, 1999.
- Kevles D. In the name of eugenics: genetics and the uses of human heredity. Harvard University Press, 1998.
- Bashford A, Levine P, eds. The Oxford handbook of the history of eugenics. Oxford University Press, 2010.
- Krikorian AD. Kat and its use: an historical perspective. J Ethnopharmacol. 1984;12:115–78.
- Varisco DM. On the meaning of chewing the significance of qāt (catha edulis) in the Yemen Arab Republic. Int J Middle East Stud. 1986;18:1–13.
- 171. Newerla GJ. The history of the discovery and isolation of the male hormone. N Eng J Med. 1943;228:39–7.
- 172. Newerla GJ. The history of the discovery and isolation of the female sex hormones. N Eng J Med. 1944;230:595–604.
- Brown–Séquard CE. Des effets produits chez l'homme par des injections sous–cutanees d'une liquide rétiré des testicules frais de cobaye et de chien. C R Hebd Seances Mem Soc Biol. 1889;1:415–9.

- Brown–Séquard CE. The effects produced on man by subcutaneous injections of a liquid obtained from the testicles of animals. Lancet. 1889;134:105–7.
- Brown–Séquard CE. On a new therapeutic method consisting in the use of organic liquids extracted from glands and other organs. BMJ. 1893;1:1145–7.
- Brown–Séquard CE. On a new therapeutic method consisting in the use of organic liquids extracted from glands and other organs. BMJ. 1893;1:1212–4.
- 177. Hirshbein LD. The glandular solution: sex, masculinity, and aging in the 1920s. J Hist Sex. 2000;9:277–304.
- 178. Watkins ES. On the pill: a social history of oral contraceptives, 1950–1970. Johns Hopkins University Press, 2001.
- Marks LV. Sexual chemistry: a history of the contraceptive pill. Yale University Press, 2001.
- Watkins ES. The estrogen elixir: a history of hormone replacement therapy in America. Johns Hopkins University Press, 2010.
- Scarpa A, Guerci A. Depigmenting procedures and drugs employed by melanoderm populations. J Ethnopharmacol. 1987;19:17–66.
- Capitanio M, Cappelletti E, Filippini R. Traditional antileukodermic herbal remedies in the mediterranean area. J Ethnopharmacol. 1989;27:193–211.
- Bivins R. Alternative medicine? A history. Oxford University Press, 2008.
- 184. Varisco, DM. The exlir of life of the Devil's cud? The debate over qat (Catha edulis) in Yemeni culture. In Coomber R, South N, eds. Drug use and cultural context 'beyond the West': tradition, change and post–colonialism. Free Association Books, 2004:108.
- Anderson D, Beckerleg S, Hailu D, Klein A. The khat controversy: stimulating the debate on drugs. Berg Publishers, 2007.
- Gratwicke B, Mills J, Dutton A, Gabriel G, Long B, Seidensticker J, et al. Attitudes toward consumption and conservation of tigers in China. PLoS One. 2008;3:e2544.
- Paracelsus. Four treatises of Theophrastus Von Hohenheim called Paracelsus. Johns Hopkins University Press, 1996.
- Norton S. A brief history of potable gold. Mol Interv. 2008;8:120–3.
- Charlier P, Poupon J, Huynh–Charlier I. Fatal alchemy. BMJ. 2009;339:b5311.
- Whyte SR, van der Geest S, Hardon A. Social lives of medicines. Cambridge University Press, 2003.
- Curth LH. From physick to pharmacology: five hundred years of British drug retailing. Ashgate Publishing Limited, 2006.
- Wallis P. Exotic drugs and English medicine: England's drug trade, c. 1550–c. 1800. Soc Hist Med. 2012;25:20–46.
- McLaren A. Impotence: a cultural history. University of Chicago Press, 2007:126–48.
- British Medical Association. Secret remedies. What they cost and what they contain. British Medical Association, 1909.
- British Medical Association. More secret remedies. What they cost and what they contain. British Medical Association, 1912.
- Holloway SW. Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain 1841–1991: a political and social history. Pharmaceutical Press, 1991.
- 197. Dixon WE. Proprietary, patent, and secret remedies. Proc R Soc Med. 1910;3:82–90.
- 198. No authors listed. Discussion on proprietary and secret remedies. Proc R Soc Med. 1910;3:91–100
- 199. Select Committee on Patent Medicines. Report from the Select Committee on Patent Medicines, together with the proceedings of the committee, minutes of evidence, and appendices. His Majesty's Stationery Office, 1914.
- Bartrip PWJ. Mirror of medicine: the BMJ 1840–1990. Clarendon Press, 1990.
- 201. Bartrip P. Secret remedies, medical ethics, and the finances of the British Medical Journal. In: Baker RB, Porter D, Porter R, eds. The Codification of medical morality: historical and philosophical studies of the formalization of Western medical morality in the Eighteenth and Nineteenth Centuries. Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1995:199.
- Church RA, Tansey EM. Burroughs, Wellcome & Co.: knowledge, trust, profit and the transformation of the British pharmaceutical industry, 1880–1940. Crucible Books, 2007:181–2.
- Young JH. The toadstool millionaires. A social history of patent medicines in America before federal regulation. Princeton University Press, 1961.
- Young JH. The medical messiahs: a social history of health quackery in Twentieth–Century America. Princeton University Press, 1992.

- Liebenau PJ. Medical science and medical industry: the formation of the American pharmaceutical industry. Johns Hopkins University Press, 1987.
- Dykstra DL. The medical profession and patent and proprietary medicines during the Nineteenth Century. Bull Hist Med. 1955;29:401–19.
- Rodwin MA. Conflicts of interest and the future of medicine: the United States, France, and Japan. Oxford University Press, 2011:75–98.
- Williams K. Get me a murder a day! A history of media and communication in Britain. Bloomsbury Academic, 2010:47–64.
 Curran J. Seaton J. Power without responsibility: press.
- Curran J, Seaton J. Power without responsibility: press, broadcasting and the internet in Britain. Routledge, 2009:23–36.
- No author listed. Patent medicines containing poison: Regina v. Davenport. BMJ. 1892;1:1102.
- Benedetti F, Carlino E, Pollo A. How placebos change the patient's brain. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2010;36:339–54.
- Finniss DG, Kaptchuk TJ, Miller F, Benedetti F. Biological, clinical, and ethical advances of placebo effects. Lancet. 2010;375:686–95.
- Benedetti F. Placebo effects: understanding the mechanisms in health and disease. Oxford University Press, 2008.
- Enck P, Benedetti F, Schedlowski M. New insights into the placebo and nocebo responses. Neuron. 2008;59:195–206.
- Mondaini N, Gontero P, Giubilei G, Lombardi G, Cai T, Gavazzi A, et al. Finasteride 5 mg and sexual side effects: how many of these are related to a nocebo phenomenon? J Sex Med. 2007;4:1708–12.
- Stephens M: Introduction. In: Talbot J, Waller P, eds. Stephens' detection of new adverse drug reactions. John Wiley & Sons, 2004:63–9.
- Csizmadi I, Collet J–P, Boivin J–F. Bias and confounding in pharmacoepidemiology. In: Strom BL, ed. Pharmacoepidemiology. John Wiley & Sons, 2005:791–809.
- Wilens TE, Adler LA, Adams J, Sgambati S, Rotrosen J, Sawtelle R, Utzinger L, Fusillo S. Misuse and diversion of stimulants prescribed for ADHD: a systematic review of the literature. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2008;47:21–31.
- Smith ME, Farah MJ. Are prescription stimulants "smart pills?" The epidemiology and cognitive neuroscience of prescription stimulant use by normal healthy individuals. Psychol Bull. 2011;137:717-41.
- Lord S, Downs G, Furtaw P, Chaudhuri A, Silverstein A, Gammaitoni A, et al. Nonmedical use of prescription opioids and stimulants among student pharmacists. J Am Pharm Assoc. 2009;49:519–28.
- Tuttle JP, Scheurich NE, Ranseen J. Prevalence of ADHD diagnosis and nonmedical prescription stimulant use in medical students. Acad Psychiatry. 2010;34:220–3.
- McNiel AD, Muzzin KB, DeWald JP, McCann AL, Schneiderman ED, Scofield J, et al. The nonmedical use of prescription stimulants among dental and dental hygiene students. J Dent Educ. 2011;75:365–76.
- 223. Feldschreiber P, ed. The law and regulation of medicines. Oxford University Press, 2008.
- 224. Medicines Act 1968. c. 67.
- Medicines for Human Use (Marketing Authorisations Etc) Regulations 1994. SI 1994/3144. The Stationery Office, 1994.
- 226. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Overview of medicines legislation and guidance: glossary of legislation. Accessed on 16 February 2012. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howweregulate/ Medicines/Overviewofmedicineslegislationandguidance/ Glossaryoflegislation/index.htm.
- 227. European Parliament, Council of the European Union. Directive 2001/83/EC. Off J Eur Communities. 2001;44:67–128.
- 228. European Parliament, Council of the European Union. Directive 2004/27/EC. Off J Eur Communities. 2004;47:34–57.
- European Commission. EU Legislation Eudralex. Accessed on 16 February 2012. http://ec.europa.eu/health/documents/ eudralex/index_en.htm.
- No author listed. The licensing of medicines in the UK. Drug Ther Bull. 2009;47:45–8.
- 231. No author listed. How medical devices are regulated in the UK. Drug Ther Bull. 2010;48:82–4.
- 232. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Best practice guidance on labelling and packaging of medicines. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Authority, 2003.
- Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. A guide to defective medicinal products. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Authority, 2004.

- Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. The Blue Guide. Advertising and promotion of medicines in the UK. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Authority, 2005.
- Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. A guide to what is a medicinal product. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Authority, 2007.
- Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Rules and guidance for pharmaceutical manufacturers and distributors 2007. Pharmaceutical Press, 2007.
- Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Good pharmacovigilance practice guide. Pharmaceutical Press, 2008.
- 238. Griffin JP, ed. The textbook of pharmaceutical medicine. BMJ Books, 2009.
- Talbot J, Waller P, eds. Stephens' detection of new adverse drug reactions. John Wiley & Sons, 2004.
- Strom BL, ed. Pharmacoepidemiology. John Wiley & Sons, 2005.
 Mann R, Andrews E, eds. Pharmacovigilance. John Wiley & Sons, 2007.
- International Conference on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use. Accessed 7 March 2012. http://www.ich.org.
- 243. Figueras A, Pedrós C, Valsecia M, et al. Therapeutic ineffectiveness. Heads or tails? Drug Saf. 2002;25:485–7.
- Görög S. Chemical and analytical characterization of related organic impurities in drugs. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2003;377:852–62.
- 245. Görög S. Drug safety, drug quality, drug analysis. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 2008;48:247–53.
- Basak AK, Raw AS, Yu LX, eds. Pharmaceutical impurities: analytical, toxicological and regulatory perspectives. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2007;59:1–72.
- Barnes HJ, Ragnarsson G, Alván G. Quality and safety considerations for recombinant biological medicines: a regulatory perspective. Int J Risk Saf Med. 2009;21:13–22.
- Geiling EMK, Cannon PR. Pathologic effects of elixir of sulfanilamide (diethylene glycol poisoning). A clinical and experimental correlation: final report. JAMA. 1938;111:919–26.
- 249. **Carpenter D, Sin G.** Policy tragedy and the emergence of regulation: the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic act of 1938. Stud Am Polit Dev. 2007;21:149–80.
- Carpenter D. Reputation and power: organizational image and pharmaceutical regulation at the FDA. Princeton University Press, 2010.
- 251. No author listed. Tin as a poison. BMJ. 1954;2:693.
- Aldridge WN, Cremer JE. The biochemistry of organo-tin compounds. Diethyltin dichloride and triethyltin sulphate. Biochem J. 1955;61:406–18.
- Barnes JM, Stoner HB. Toxic properties of some dialkyl and trialkyl tin salts. Br J Ind Med. 1958;15:15–22.
- 254. No author listed. 'Stalinon': a therapeutic disaster. BMJ. 1958;1:515.
- Lenz W. Diskussionsbemerkung zu dem vortrag von RA Pfeiffer and K Kosenow: zur frage der exogenen entstehung schwere extremitatenmissbildungen. Tagung Rheinischwestfal Kinderarztevere Dusseldorf. 1961;19:11.
- 256. McBride WG. Thalidomide and congenital abnormalities. Lancet. 1961;278:1358.
- Lenz W, Pfeiffer RA, Kosenow W, Hayman DJ. Thalidomide and congenital abnormalities. Lancet. 1962;279:45–6.
- Burley DM. Thalidomide and congenital abnormalities. Lancet. 1962;279:271.
- 259. Lenz W. Thalidomide and congenital abnormalities. Lancet. 1962;279:271–2.
- Knapp K, Lenz W, Nowack E. Multiple congenital abnormalities. Lancet. 1962;280:725.
- McBride WG, Lenz W, Bignami G, Bovet D, Bovet–Nitti F, Rosnati V, et al. Drugs and congenital abnormalities. Lancet. 1962;280:1332–4.
- Kelsey FO. Thalidomide update: regulatory aspects Teratology. 1988;38:221–6.
- 263. Tansey EM, Reynolds LA, eds. The Committee on Safety of Drugs. In Tansey EM, Catterall PP, Christie DA, Willhoft SV, Reynolds LA, eds. Wellcome witnesses to Twentieth Century medicine. Wellcome Trust, 1997:103–32. (See also: Feldschreiber P, ed. The law and regulation of medicines. Oxford University Press, 2008:131.)
- Shah RR. Thalidomide, drug safety and early drug regulation in the UK. Adverse Drug React Tox Rev. 2001;20:199–255.
- Daemmrich AA. Pharmacopolitics: drug regulation in the United States and Germany. University of North Carolina Press, 2004.
- Kim JH, Scialli AR. Thalidomide: the tragedy of birth defects and the effective treatment of disease. Toxicol Sci. 2011;122:1–6.

- Schier JG, Rubin CS, Miller D, Barr D, McGeehin MA. Medication-associated diethylene glycol mass poisoning: a review and discussion on the origin of contamination. J Public Health Policy. 2009;30:127–43.
- Peng XM, Huang MX, Gu L, Lin BL, Chen GH. Characteristics of patients with liver disease intravenously exposed to diethylene glycol in China 2006. Clin Toxicol. 2009;47:124–31.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Fatal poisoning among young children from diethylene glycol-contaminated acetaminophen – Nigeria, 2008–2009. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2009;58:1345–7.
- Pirmohamed M, James S, Meakin S, Green C, Scott AK, Walley TJ, et al. Adverse drug reactions as cause of admission to hospital: prospective analysis of 18 820 patients. BMJ. 2004;329:15–9.
- 271. Tanne JH. Four deaths and 350 adverse events lead to US recall of heparin. BMJ. 2008;336:412–3.
- European Medicines Agency. European Medicines Agency recommends measures to manage contamination of heparincontaining medicines. 5 June 2008. http://www.ema.europa. eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Press_release/2009/11/ WC500015166.pdf.
- European Medicines Agency. Questions and answers on heparins. 5 June 2008. http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/ document_library/Medicine_QA/2009/11/WC500015169.pdf.
- 274. Mitka M. Contaminated heparin seized by FDA. JAMA. 2008;300:2597.
- Kishimoto TK, Viswanathan K, Ganguly T, Elankumaran S, Smith S, Pelzer K, et al. Contaminated heparin associated with adverse clinical events and activation of the contact system. N Eng J Med. 2008;358:2457–67.
- Covernment Accountability Office. Food and Drug Administration: response to heparin contamination helped protect public health; controls that were needed for working with external entities were recently added. Government Accountability Office, 2010.
- National Audit Office. Safety, quality, efficacy: regulating medicines in the UK. The Stationery Office, 2003:19.
- Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Regina v Mr Patrick Donkor (Kumasi Market Peckham). Mail. 2004;142:7.
- Islington Council. Trader pleads guilty to selling dodgy cosmetics. 17 February 2005. http://www.islington.gov.uk/ Council/CouncilNews/PressOffice/2005/02/926.asp.
- Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Various illicit drugs seized in London raids. 14 December 2005. http://www.nhnra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/Pressreleases/ CON2022725.
- Lambeth Council. Three fined for selling skin lightening creams in Brixton. 29 November 2006. http://www.lambeth. gov.uk/PressReleases/PressReleaseArchive/2006/291106Ski nCreams.htm.
- Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Two men fined for illegally selling and supplying unlicensed steroid creams masked as skin lightening products. 9 February 2007. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/CON2030259.
- Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Steroids found in OSAS (intensive body lotion with aloe vera). 12 December 2007. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/ Pressreleases/CON2033358.
- Lambeth Council. Huge haul for Lambeth Trading Standards. 30 April 2007. http://www.lambeth.gov.uk/PressReleases/Press ReleaseArchive/2007/300407TradingStandards.htm.
- 285. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. South London man sentenced for illegally selling unlicensed medicines as skin bleaching creams. I March 2009. http:// www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON041255.
- Southwark Council. Penalties for selling illegal skin lighteners costs company more than £7,000. 12 July 2010. http://www. southwark.gov.uk/news/article/369/penalties_for_selling_ illegal_skin_lighteners_costs_company_more_than_7_000.
- Southwark Council. Prosecutions for offences relating to the sale of illegal skin lightening products (2002– July 2010).
 July 2010. http://www.southwark.gov.uk/downloads/ download/72/illegal_skin_lighteners.
- Southwark Council. Alfabetical [sic] list of illegal cosmetics and illegally supplied medicinal products found in Southwark. 19 July 2010. http://www.southwark.gov.uk/downloads/ download/72/illegal_skin_lighteners.
- 289. Central England Trading Standards Authorities. Trading Standards in the Midlands investigate dangerous imported cosmetics. 28 July 2010. http://www.centsa.org.uk/news_ download.php?news_item_id=175.
- Redbridge Council. Consumers warned about purchasing skin lightening products. 17 December 2010. http://www. redbridge.gov.uk/cms/news_and_events/latest_news/2010/ december_2010/consumers_warned_about_purchas.aspx.

- Peterborough City Council. Woman fined £1,000 for selling dangerous skin lightening creams. 1 August 2011. http://www. peterborough.gov.uk/news/latest_news/2011/august/woman_ fined_£1,000_for_selling.aspx.
- 292. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Final determinations made in accordance with regulation 3A of the Medicines for Human Use (Marketing Authorisations etc.) Regulations 1994 as amended. Volume 1 (March 2000–December 2003). Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. 2004.
- 293. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency, Final determinations made in accordance with Regulation 3A of the Medicines for Human Use (Marketing Authorisations etc.) Regulations 1994 as amended. Volume 2 (January 2004–December 2007). Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. 2008.
- 294. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. People warned over adulterated herbal weight loss pill. 2 February 2011. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/ Pressreleases/CON108628.
- 295. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Update: People warned over adulterated herbal weight loss pill – test results reveal twice the prescribed dose of banned pharmaceutical ingredient. 11 February 2011. http://www.mhra. gov.uk/NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON108745.
- 296. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Risks of buying herbal remedies online. 7 July 2011. http://www. mhra.gov.uk/Safetyinformation/Generalsafetyinformationandadvice/ Herbalmedicines/Staysafeusingnaturalremedies/ Risksofbuyingherbalremediesonline/index.htm.
- 297. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Jail time for the sale of prohibited herbal medicines. 2 September 2011. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/ Pressreleases/CON128938.
- 298. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Herbal slimming products found to contain potentially dangerous undeclared pharmaceuticals. 15 August 2011. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Safetyinformation/ Generalsafetyinformationandadvice/Herbalmedicines/ Herbalsafetyupdates/Allherbalsafetyupdates/CON126050.
- 299. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Poor practice in the unlicensed herbal sector – MHRA warns the public to be vigilant. 4 March 2008. http://www.mhra.gov. uk/NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON014134.
- Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Serious health risk posed by Traditional Chinese Medicine 'Herbal Viagra'. 7 April 2009. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/ NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON043905.
- 301. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Herbal product alert: Payouji (or Paiyouji) tea and Pai You Guo (Slim Capsules). 6 October 2010. http://www. mhra.gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/Herbalmedicines/ HerbalSafetyNews/Currentsafetyissues/CON094159.
- 302. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Warning over unlicensed herbal Payouji tea and Pai You Guo Slim Capsules. 20 October 2010. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/ NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON096957.
- 303. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Herbal slimming products found to contain potentially dangerous undeclared pharmaceuticals. 11 August 2011. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Safetyinformation/ Generalsafetyinformationandadvice/Herbalmedicines/ Herbalsafetyupdates/Allherbalsafetyupdates/CON126050.
- 304. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Paiyouji Plus – Fast Acting Slimming Tea found to contain potentially dangerous undeclared pharmaceuticals. 29 February 2012. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Safetyinformation/ Generalsafetyinformationandadvice/Herbalmedicines/ Herbalsafetyupdates/Allherbalsafetyupdates/CON143806.
- 305. Danish Medicines Agency. Still more types of illegal medicine sold in creative packages online. 8 November 2011. http:// laegemiddelstyrelsen.dk/en/topics/retail-and-online-sale/ medicines-on-the-internet/news-about-medicines-on-theinternet/still-more-types-of-illegal-medicine-sol-ges-online.
- Danish Medicines Agency. Dangerous medicine concealed in weight-loss products. 12 January 2012. http://www.lmst. dk/en/service-menu/product-information/news-on-productinformation/dangerous-medicine-concealed-in-weight-l-sproducts.
- 307. Danish Medicines Agency. Illegal sibutramine–containing products. 12 January 2012. http://www.lmst.dk/en/servicemenu/product-information/news-on-product-information/ dangerous-medicine-concealed-in-weight-l-s-products/illegalsibutramine-containing-products.aspx.
- Food and Drug Administration. Import Alert 66–41. 30 September 2009. http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/cms_ia/ importalert_190.html.

- Food and Drug Administration. Tainted supplements. Accessed 17 January 2012. http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/ scripts/sda/sdNavigation.cfm?sd=tainted_supplements_ cder&displayAll=true.
- Food and Drug Administration. Warning letters 10–SJN– WL–04. Healthy Body Forero 3/15/10. 15 March 2010. http:// www.fda.gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/ ucm206059.htm
- Food and Drug Administration. Warning letter NYK 2010–27. 23 August 2010. http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/ EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/ucm225432.htm.
- Food and Drug Administration. FDA: Potentially harmful stimulant found in Slimming Beauty capsules. 8 October 2010. http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/ PressAnnouncements/ucm228801.htm.
- Food and Drug Administration. Warning letter. Novacare, LLC 12–28–10. 28 December 2010. http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/ EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/ucm239580.htm.
- Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: 'Celerite Slimming Capsules' contains undeclared drug ingredient. 12 January 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafety/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm239884.htm.
- 315. Godi International, Corp. Godi International, Corp. issues a voluntary nationwide and international recall of all weight loss formulas and variation of formulas of Reduce Weight Fruta Planta/Reduce Weight Dietary Supplement. 31 January 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Safety/Recalls/ucm241835.htm.
- 316. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: 'Slim Forte Slimming Capsule' and 'Slim Forte Double Power Slimming Capsules' contain undeclared drug ingredient. 8 July 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ResourcesForYou/Consumers/ BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/MedicationHealthFraud/ ucm262278.htm.
- 317. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: 'Slim Forte Slimming Capsules,' 'Slim Forte Slimming Coffee,' and 'Botanical Slimming Soft Gel' contain undeclared drug ingredient. 8 July 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm262254.htm.
- Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Advanced Slim 5" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm276007.htm.
- Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Fruit Plant Lossing [sic] Fat Capsule" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm276133.htm.
- 320. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Ja Dera 100% Natural Weight Loss Supplement" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm276048.htm.
- Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Slender Slim 11" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ResourcesForYou/Consumers/ BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/MedicationHealthFraud/ ucm275969.htm.
- 322. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Botanical Slimming" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafety/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm276113.htm.
- 323. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Lishou" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ResourcesForYou/Consumers/ BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/MedicationHealthFraud/ ucm276058.htm.
- Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Sheng Yuan Fang" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ResourcesForYou/Consumers/ BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/MedicationHealthFraud/ ucm276086.htm.
- 325. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Tengda" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ResourcesForYou/Consumers/ BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/MedicationHealthFraud/ ucm276091.htm.
- 326. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "DaiDaiHuaJiaoNang" contains undeclared dug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm276126.htm.

- 327. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Health Slimming Coffee" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm276141.htm.
- 328. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Magic Slim Weight Reduction Capsule" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm276068.htm.
- 329. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Lose Weight Coffee" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm276151.htm
- Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Pai You Guo Slim Tea" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm276157.htm.
- 331. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "A–Slim 100% Natural Slimming Capsule" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm276040.htm.
- 332. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Magic Slim Tea" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ResourcesForYou/Consumers/ BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/MedicationHealthFraud/ ucm276063.htm.
- 333. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Acai Berry Soft Gel ABC" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm276098.htm.
- Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "P57 Hoodia" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ResourcesForYou/Consumers/ BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/MedicationHealthFraud/ ucm276074.htm.
- 335. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Leisure 18 Slimming Coffee" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm276053.htm.
- 336. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "Dream Body Slimming Capsule" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm276044.htm.
- 337. Food and Drug Administration. Public notification: "PhentraBurn Slimming Capsules" contains undeclared drug ingredient. 18 October 2011. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/ MedicationHealthFraud/ucm276081.htm.
- Food and Drug Administration. Healthy People Co. dietary supplements: recall – undeclared drug ingredient. 6 February 2012. http://www.fda.gov/Safety/MedWatch/SafetyInformation/ SafetyAlertsforHumanMedicalProducts/ucm290518.htm.
- Food and Drug Administration. RegenArouse: recall

 undeclared drug ingredient. 2 February 2012. http:// www.fda.gov/Safety/MedWatch/SafetyInformation/ SafetyAlertsforHumanMedicalProducts/ucm291577.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Lida Daidaihua Slimming capsules. 19 August 2007. http://www.tga.gov.au/ safety/alerts-medicine-lida-071019.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Chuan Xiong Cha Tiao Wan pills. 17 April 2009. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alertsmedicine-chuan-xiong-090417.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Slimming Factor weight loss capsules. 23 Decmeber 2010. http://www.tga.gov.au/ safety/alerts-medicine-slimming-factor-101223.htm.
- 343. Therapeutic Goods Administration. Botanical Slimming Soft Gel capsules, also known as Meizitang. 10 March 2010. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alerts-medicine-botanicalslimming-100310.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. 1 Body Beautiful. 26 June 2010. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alerts-medicine-1bodybeautiful-100726.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Pure Fat Three Days Reduce Weight capsules. 28 June 2011. http://www.tga.gov. au/safety/alerts-medicine-pure-fat-110628.htm
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. St Nirvana herbal slimming capsules. 10 June 2011. http://www.tga.gov.au/ safety/alerts-medicine-st-nirvana-110610.htm.

- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Slimina weightloss capsules. 18 August 2011. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alertsmedicine-slimina-110818.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. S-shape slim capsules. 3 November 2011. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alertsmedicine-s-shape-111103.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Reduce Weight Fruta Planta capsules. 4 November 2011. http://www.tga.gov.au/ safety/alerts-medicine-fruta-planta-111104.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Viagra (sildenafil): counterfeit 100mg tablets. 21 June 2010. http://www.tga.gov. au/safety/alerts-medicine-viagra-100621.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. So Hard for Men tablets, Shaguar tablets and Pulse8 For Women capsules. 27 October 2010. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alerts-medicinesohard-101027.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Saturo capsules. 11 February 2011. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alerts-medicinesaturo-110215.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Satibo capsules. 17 March 2011. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alerts-medicinesatibo-110317.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Fu Yuan Chun capsules. 18 March 2011. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alertsmedicine-fu-yuan-chun-110318.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. "SuperPowerful Man" tablets. 18 March 2011. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alertsmedicine-superpowerful-man-110318.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Natural Vigra VIAGRA tablets. 29 April 2011. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alertsmedicine-natural-vigra-110429.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Pink Lady for Women. 10 June 2011. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alerts-medicinepink-lady-110610.htm
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. OxyELITE Pro capsules (often promoted as Oxy Elite Pro capsules). 8 July 2011. http:// www.tga.gov.au/safety/alerts-medicine-oxyelite-110708.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Sexcellence sachets. 15 August 2011. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alerts-medicinesexcellence-110815.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Black Ant capsules. 20 September 2011. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alerts-medicineblack-ant-110920.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. Ying Da Wang tablets. 4 November 2011. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alerts-medicineying-da-wang-111104.htm.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration. AdvanceMen capsules. 20 January 2012. http://www.tga.gov.au/safety/alerts-medicineadvancemen-120120.htm.
- Health Canada. Health Canada advises consumers not to use Super Fat Burning and LiDa Daidaihua Silmming Capsules for weight loss. 5 April 2006. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ahc-asc/ media/advisories-avis/_2006/2006_15-eng.php.
- Health Canada. Health Canada advises consumers not to use MIAOZI Slimming Capsules due to potential health risks. 14 March 2007. http://www.ho-sc.gc.ca/ahc-asc/media/ advisories-avis/_2007/2007_25-eng.php.
- Health Canada. Recall of Metaboslim capsules due to potential health risks. 17 August 2007. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ ahc-asc/media/advisories-avis/_2007/2007_105-eng.php.
- Health Canada. Health Canada is warning Canadians not to use Slim Magic Herbal weight loss products. 4 June 2009. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ahc-asc/media/advisoriesavis/_2009/2009_88-eng.php.
- Health Canada. Health Canada is warning consumers not to use Nutural Slim weight loss product. 24 June 2009. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ahc-asc/media/advisoriesavis/_2009/2009_100-eng.php.
- Health Canada. Health Canada warns canadians not to use "The Slimming Coffee" or "Lose Weight Coffee," or any unauthorized product promoted for weight-loss. 14 January 2010. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ahc-asc/media/advisoriesavis/ 2010/2010 06-eng.php.
- Health Canada. Unauthorized health product, "Herbal Diet Natural" may pose serious health risks. 25 March 2010. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ahc-asc/media/advisoriesavis/_2010/2010_48-eng.php.
- Health Canada. Unauthorized health product, "Slim-30" may pose serious health risks. 28 April 2010. http://www.hc-sc. gc.ca/ahc-asc/media/advisories-avis/_2010/2010_59-eng.php.
- Health Canada. "Fat Burner No. 1" ("Qian Mei Yin Zi"): unauthorized Chinese herbal weight loss product may pose serious health risks. 6 December 2010. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ ahc-asc/media/advisories-avis/_2010/2010_214-eng.php.

- Health Canada. 'Durazest' and 'Once More': certain lots of two male sex enhancement products recalled as they may pose serious health risks. 10 December 2010. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ ahc-asc/media/advisories-avis/_2010/2010_221-eng.php
- Department of Health. Slimming product with undeclared drug ingredients. 30 April 2010. http://www.dh.gov.hk/english/ press/2010/100430-2.html.
- Department of Health. Department of Health : Press Release. 31 May 2010. http://www.dh.gov.hk/english/ press/2010/100531-2.html.
- Department of Health. Woman arrested for selling slimming products with undeclared drug ingredients. 1 June 2010. http:// www.dh.gov.hk/english/press/2010/100601-3.html.
- Department of Health. Woman arrested for allegedly selling slimming product with undeclared drug ingredients. 8 June 2010. http://www.dh.gov.hk/english/press/2010/100608-4.html.
- Department of Health. Public urged not to consume unlabelled slimming products from the Internet. 18 October 2010. http://www.dh.gov.hk/english/press/2010/101018-2.html.
- Department of Health. Public urged not to buy slimming products with undeclared western drug ingredients.
 27 October 2010. http://www.dh.gov.hk/english/ press/2010/101027-2.html
- Department of Health. Two persons arrested for allegedly selling slimming products with banned drug ingredients.
 8 December 2010. http://www.dh.gov.hk/english/ press/2010/101208-3.html.
- Department of Health. Arrest for selling product with banned drug ingredient. 29 December 2010. http://www.dh.gov.hk/ english/press/2010/101229.html.
- Department of Health. Woman arrested for selling slimming product with banned drug ingredients. 29 April 2011. http:// www.dh.gov.hk/english/press/2011/110429.html.
- Department of Health. Two persons arrested for allegedly selling slimming products with banned drug ingredients. 6 May 2011. http://www.dh.gov.hk/english/press/2011/110506.html.
- Department of Health. Woman arrested for selling of slimming products with banned drugs. 16 May 2011. http:// www.dh.gov.hk/english/press/2011/110516-2.html.
- Department of Health. Warning on slimming products with banned drug ingredients. 1 June 2011. http://www.dh.gov.hk/ english/press/2011/110601.html.
- Department of Health. Public urged not to buy or consume unknown slimming products from Internet. 17 August 2011. http://www.dh.gov.hk/english/press/2011/110817.html.
- Department of Health. Warning on slimming product with banned drug ingredients. 19 August 2011. http://www.dh.gov. hk/english/press/2011/110819.html.
- Department of Health. Warning on slimming products with banned and undeclared drug ingredients. 9 November 2011. http://www.dh.gov.hk/english/press/2011/111109-3.html.
- Department of Health. Warning on slimming product with banned drug ingredients. 15 November 2011. http://www. dh.gov.hk/english/press/2011/111115-2.html.
- 389. Blok-Tip L, Vogelpoel H, Vredenbregt MJ, Barends DM, de Kaste D. Counterfeits and imitations of Viagra® and Cialis® tablets: trends and risks to public health. National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, 2005.
- 390. Venhuis BJ, Barends DM, Zwaagstra ME, de Kaste D. Recent developments in counterfeits and imitations of Viagra, Cialis and Levitra. A 2005–2006 update. National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, 2007.
- 391. Venhuis BJ, Zwaagstra ME, van den Berg JDJ, Wagenaar HWG, van Riel AJHP, Barends DM, et al. Trends in drug substances detected in illegal weight-loss medicines and dietary supplements. A 2002–2007 survey and health risk analysis. National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, 2009.
- 392. Venhuis BJ, Zwaagstra ME, van de Berg JDJ, van Riel AJHP, Wagenaar HWG, van Grootheest K, et al. Illicit erectile dysfunction products in the Netherlands. A decade of trends and a 2007–2010 product update. National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, 2011.
- National Institute of Food and Drug Safety Evaluation. Instrumental analysis data of illegal compounds in food. National Institute of Food and Drug Safety Evaluation, 2010.
- Mikami E, Ohno T, Matsumoto H. Simultaneous identification/determination system for phentolamine and sildenafil as adulterants in soft drinks advertising roborant nutrition. Forensic Sci Int. 2002;130:140–6.
- Shin M–H, Hong M–K, Kim W–S, Lee Y–J, Jeoung Y–C. Identification of a new analogue of sildenafil added illegally to a functional food marketed for penile erectile dysfunction. Food Addit Contam. 2003;20:793–6.

- Sabucedo AJ, Gutierrez MA, Mueller KC, Bellissima BL, Hsu Y–L, Rose S, et al. Sex, lies, and Niagra [sic]. JAMA. 2004;291:560–2.
- Shin C, Hong M, Kim D, Lim Y. Structure determination of a sildenafil analogue contained in commercial herb drinks. Magn Reson Chem. 2004;42:1060–2.
- Blok-Tip L, Zomer B, Bakker F, Hartog KD, Hamzink M, Hove ten J, et al. Structure elucidation of sildenafil analogues in herbal products. Food Addit Contam. 2004;21:737–48.
- Gratz SR, Flurer CL, Wolnik KA. Analysis of undeclared synthetic phosphodiesterase–5 inhibitors in dietary supplements and herbal matrices by LC–ESI–MS and LC–UV. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2004;36:525–33.
- 400. Zhu X, Xiao S, Chen B, Zhang F, Yao S, Wan Z, et al. Simultaneous determination of sildenafil, vardenafil and tadalafil as forbidden components in natural dietary supplements for male sexual potency by high-performance liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A. 2005;1066:89–95.
- Fleshner N, Harvey M, Adomat H, Wood C, Eberding A, Hersey K, et al. Evidence for contamination of herbal erectile dysfunction products with phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors. J Urol. 2005;174:636–41.
- Zou P, Hou P, Low M–Y, Koh H–L. Structural elucidation of a tadalafil analogue found as an adulterant of a herbal product. Food Addit Contam. 2006;23:446–51.
- Oh SS-Y, Zou P, Low M-Y, Koh H-L. Detection of sildenafil analogues in herbal products for erectile dysfunction. J Toxicol Environ Health Part A. 2006;69:1951–8.
- Lai K-C, Liu Y-C, Tseng M-C, Lin J-H. Isolation and identification of a sildenafil analogue illegally added in dietary supplements. J Food Drug Anal. 2006;14:19–23.
- Kenyon SL, Button J, Perella P, McKeown DA, Holt DW. An herbal remedy for impotence: more than was bargained for. J Clin Pharmacol. 2006;46:1379–81.
- Zou P, Hou P, Oh SS–Y, Low M–Y, Koh H–L. Electrospray tandem mass spectrometric investigations of tadalafil and its analogue. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom. 2006;20:3488–90.
- Bogusz MJ, Hassan H, Al-Enazi E, Ibrahim Z, Al-Tufall M. Application of LC-ESI-MS-MS for detection of synthetic adulterants in herbal remedies. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2006;41:554-64.
- 408. Zou P, Oh SS-Y, Hou P, Low M-Y, Koh H–L. Simultaneous determination of synthetic phosphodiesterase–5 inhibitors found in a dietary supplement and pre-mixed bulk powders for dietary supplements using high–performance liquid chromatography with diode array detection and liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A. 2006;1104:113–22.
- 409. Hou P, Zou P, Low M–Y, Chan E, Koh H–L. Structural identification of a new acetildenafil analogue from pre–mixed bulk powder intended as a dietary supplement. Food Addit Contam. 2006;23:870–5.
- 410. Gratz SR, Gamble BM, Flurer RA. Accurate mass measurement using Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry for structure elucidation of designer drug analogs of tadalafil, vardenafil and sildenafil in herbal and pharmaceutical matrices. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom. 2006;20:2317–27.
- 411. Reepmeyer JC, Woodruff JT. Use of liquid chromatographymass spectrometry and a hydrolytic technique for the detection and structure elucidation of a novel synthetic vardenafil designer drug added illegally to a 'natural' herbal dietary supplement. J Chromatogr A. 2006;1125:67–75.
- Kenyon SL, Button J, Perella P, McKeown DA, Holt DW. An herbal remedy for impotence: more than was bargained for. J Clin Pharmacol. 2006;46:1379–81.
- Reepmeyer JC, Woodruff JT, d'Avignon DA. Structure elucidation of a novel analogue of sildenafil detected as an adulterant in an herbal dietary supplement. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2007;43:1615–21.
- Park HJ, Jeong HK, Chang MI, Im MH, Jeong JY, Choi DM, et al. Structure determination of new analogues of vardenafil and sildenafil in dietary supplements. Food Addit Contam. 2007;24:122–9.
- 415. Zou P, Oh SS-Y, Kiang K-H, Low M-Y, Koh H-L. Liquid chromatography ion trap/time-of-flight mass spectrometric study on the fragmentation of an acetildenafil analogue. Eur J Mass Spectrom. 2007;13:233–8.
- 416. Reepmeyer JC, Woodruff JT. Use of liquid chromatographymass spectrometry and a chemical cleavage reaction for the structure elucidation of a new sildenafil analogue detected as an adulterant in an herbal dietary supplement. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2007;44:887–93.

- Hasegawa T, Saijo M, Ishii T, Nagata T, Haishima Y, Kawahara N, et al. Structural elucidation of a tadalafii analogue found in a dietary supplement. Shokuhin Eiseigaku Zasshi. 2008;49:311–5.
- Lam Y–H, Poon WT, Lai C–K, Chan AY–W, Mak TW–L. Identification of a novel vardenafil analogue in herbal product. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2008;46:804–7.
- Lin M-C, Liu Y-C, Lin Y-L, Lin J-H. Isolation and identification of a novel sildenafil analogue adulterated in dietary supplements. J Food Drug Anal. 2008;16:15–20.
- 420. Choi DM, Park S, Yoon TH, Jeong HK, Pyo JS, Park J, et al. Determination of analogs of sildenafil and vardenafil in foods by column liquid chromatography with a photodiode array detector, mass spectrometry, and nuclear magnetic resonance spectrometry. J AOAC Int. 2008;91:580–8.
- 421. Zou P, Hou P, Oh SS-Y, Ge X, Bloodworth B–C, Low M–Y, et al. Identification of benzamidenafil, a new class of phosphodiesterase–5 inhibitor, as an adulterant in a dietary supplement. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2008;47:255–9.
- 422. Zou P, Hou P, Oh SS-Y, Chong YM, Bloodworth B–C, Low M–Y, et al. Isolation and identification of thiohomosildenafil and thiosildenafil in health supplements. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2008;47:279–84.
- Venhuis BJ, Blok-Tip L, de Kaste D. Designer drugs in herbal aphrodisiacs. Forensic Sci Int. 2008;177:e25–7.
- Venhuis BJ, Zomer G, de Kaste D. Structure elucidation of a novel synthetic thiono analogue of sildenafil detected in an alleged herbal aphrodisiac. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2008;46:814–17.
- 425. Uchiyama N, Saisho K, Kikura-Hanajiri R, Haishima Y, Goda Y. Determination of a new type of phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitor, thioquinapiperifii, in a dietary supplement promoted for sexual enhancement. Chem Pharm Bull. 2008;56:1331–4.
- 426. Kumasaka K, Kawahara N, Doi K, Kojima T, Goda Y. Determination of (R)-xanthoanthrafil, a phosphodiesterase–5 inhibitor, in a dietary supplement promoted for sexual enhancement. Chem Pharm Bull. 2008;56:227–30.
- 427. Gryniewicz CM, Reepmeyer JC, Kauffman JF, Buhse LF. Detection of undeclared erectile dysfunction drugs and analogues in dietary supplements by ion mobility spectrometry. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2009;49:601–6.
- 428. Li L, Low MY, Aliwarga F, Teo J, Ge XW, Zeng Y, et al. Isolation and identification of hydroxythiohomosildenafil in herbal dietary supplements sold as sexual performance enhancement products. Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess. 2009;26:145–51.
- 429. Reepmeyer JC. Direct intramolecular gas-phase transfer reactions during fragmentation of sildenafil and thiosildenafil analogs in electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom. 2009;23:927–36.
- Gratz SR, Zeller M, Mincey DW, Flurer CL. Structural characterization of sulfoaildenafil, an analog of sildenafil. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2009;50:228–31.
- Hasegawa T, Takahashi K, Saijo M, Ishii T, Nagata T, Kurihara M, et al. Isolation and structural elucidation of cyclopentynafil and N-octylnortadalafil found in a dietary supplement. Chem Pharm Bull. 2009;57:185–9.
- Hosogai N, Hamada K, Tomita M, Nagashima A, Takahashi T, Sekizawa T, et al. FR226807: a potent and selective phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitor. Eur J Pharmacol. 2001;428:295–302.
- Lai K, Liu Y, Liao Y, Lin Y, Tsai L, Lin J–H, et al. Isolation and identification of three thio–sildenafil analogues in dietary supplements. J Food Drug Anal. 2010;18:269–78.
- 434. Göker H, Coşkun M, Alp M. Isolation and identification of a new acetildenafil analogue used to adulterate a dietary supplement: dimethylacetildenafil. Turk J Chem. 2010;34:157–64.
- 435. Savaliya AA, Shah RP, Prasad B, Singh S. Screening of Indian aphrodisiac ayurvedic/herbal healthcare products for adulteration with sidenafil, tadalafil and/or vardenafil using LC/ PDA and extracted ion LC–MS/TOF. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2010;52:406–9.
- 436. Lee H–M, Kim CS, Jang YM, Kwon SW, Lee B–J. Separation and structural elucidation of a novel analogue of vardenafil included as an adulterant in a dietary supplement by liquid chromatography–electrospray ionization mass spectrometry, infrared spectroscopy and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2011;54:491–6.
- Wollein U, Eisenreich W, Schramek N. Identification of novel sildenafil–analogues in an adulterated herbal food supplement. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2011;56:705–12.
- Venhuis BJ, Zomer G, Hamzink M, Meiring HD, Aubin Y, de Kaste D. The identification of a nitrosated prodrug of the PDE-5 inhibitor aildenafil in a dietary supplement: a Viagra with a pop. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2011;54:735–41.

- Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. [About the detection of n-nitroso-fenfluramine.] 22 July 2002. http://www. mhlw.go.jp/houdou/2002/07/h0722-3.html.
- Takeuchi Cullen L. Asia's killer diet pills. 5 August 2002. http:// www.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,333902,00.html.
- 441. Mochida S. [Acute hepatitis induced by Chinese dietary supplements for weight loss]. Kanzo. 2003;44:89–91.
- 442. Hanawa N, Nagayama R, Takamori Y, Kurihara H, Takayanagi M, Tachizawa H, et al. [A case of acute liver injury caused by a Chinese diet medicine, 'Chasogenpi'.] Kanzo. 2003;44:109–12.
- Kumashiro R, Hino T, Koga Y, Hisamochi A, Arimatsu H, Kuwahara R, et al. [A diet pills-induced acute hepatitis.] Kanzo. 2003;44:113–6.
- Koga H, Taguchi J, Ishii K, Inoue K, Satou K, Sanefuji T, et al. [A survival case of fluminant hepatic failure caused by Chinese diet medicine (Sennomotokounou).] Kanzo. 2003;44:117–22.
- 445. Kanda T, Yokosuka O, Okada O, Suzuki Y, Saisho H. Severe hepatotoxicity associated with Chinese diet product 'Onshidou-Genbi-Kounou'. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2003;18:354–5.
- Kanda T, Yokosuka O, Tada M, Kurihara T, Yoshida S, Suzuki Y, et al. n-nitroso-fenfluramine hepatotoxicity resembling chronic hepatitis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2003;18:999–1000.
- 447. Nakadai A, Inagaki H, Minami M, Takahashi H, Namme R, Ohsawa M, et al. [Determination of the optical purity of n-nitrosofenfluramine found in the chinese slimming diet.] Yakugaku Zasshi. 2003;123:805–9.
- Adachi M, Saito H, Kobayashi H, Horie Y, Kato S, Yoshioka M, et al. Hepatic injury in 12 patients taking the herbal weight loss aids Chaso or Onshido. Ann Intern Med. 2003;139:488-92.
- 449. Kawata K, Takehira Y, Kobayashi Y, Kitagawa M, Yamada M, Hanajima K, et al. Three cases of liver injury caused by Sennomotokounou, a Chinese dietary supplement for weight loss. Intern Med. 2003;42:1188–92.
- 450. Kawaguchi T, Harada M, Arimatsu H, Nagata S, Koga Y, Kuwahara R, et al. Severe hepatotoxicity associated with a nnitrosofenfluramine-containing weight-loss supplement: report of three cases. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2004;19:349–50.
- Lau G, Lau G, Lo DST, Lo DST, Yao YJ, Yao YJ, et al. A fatal case of hepatic failure possibly induced by nitrosofenfluramine: a case report. Med Sci Law. 2004;44:252–63.
- 452. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Fenfluramine and nitrosofenfluramine – Shubaojianfeijiaolang /Qian Er/ Ma zin dol/ Chaso/Onshido. 28 April 2004. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Safetyinformation/ Generalsafetyinformationandadvice/Herbalsmedicines/ Herbalsafetyupdates/Allherbalsafetyupdates/CON1004345.
- Wu M, Wang J, Wang S, Lu J, Zhang Y, Liu X, et al. Identifying n–nitrosofenfluramine in a nutrition supplement. J Chromatogr Sci. 2005;43:7–10.
- Lai V, Smith A, Thorburn D, Raman VS. Severe hepatic injury and adulterated Chinese medicines. BMJ. 2006;332:304–5.
- 455. Satoh K, Nonaka R, Tada Y, Fukumori N, Ogata A, Yamada A, et al. Effects of n-nitrosofenfluramine, a component of Chinese dietary supplement for weight loss, on CD-1 mice. Arch Toxicol. 2006;80:605–13.
- Nakagawa Y, Tayama S, Ogata A, Suzuki T, Ishii H. ATPgenerating glycolytic substrates prevent n-nitrosofenfluramineinduced cytotoxicity in isolated rat hepatocytes. Chem Biol Interact. 2006;164:93–101.
- Kaddoumi A, Wada M, Nakashima K. Pharmacokinetic properties of n-nitrosofenfluramine after its administration to rats. Biomed Chromatogr. 2011;25:579–87.
- 458. Sacré P-Y, Deconinck E, Saerens L, de Beer T, Courselle P, Vancauwenberghe R, et al. Detection of counterfeit Viagra® by Raman microspectroscopy imaging and multivariate analysis. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2011;56:454–61.
- Jackson G, Arver S, Banks I, Stecher VJ. Counterfeit phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors pose significant safety risks. Int J Clin Pract. 2010;64:497–504.
- 460. Venhuis BJ, Vredenbregt MV, Kaun N, Maurin JK, Fijałek Z, de Kaste D. The identification of rimonabant polymorphs, sibutramine and analogues of both in counterfeit Acomplia bought on the internet. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2011;54:21–6.
- 461. Vredenbregt MJ, Blok-Tip L, Hoogerbrugge R, Barends DM, de Kaste D. Screening suspected counterfeit Viagra and imitations of Viagra with near-infrared spectroscopy. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2006;40:840–9.
- 462. de Veij M, Deneckere A, Vandenabeele P, de Kaste D, Moens L. Detection of counterfeit Viagra with Raman spectroscopy. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2008;46:303–9.

- 463. Trefi S, Routaboul C, Hamieh S, Gilard V, Malet–Martino M, Martino R. Analysis of illegally manufactured formulations of tadalafil (Cialis) by 1H NMR, 2D DOSY 1H NMR and Raman spectroscopy. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2008;47:103–13.
- 464. Venhuis BJ, Zomer G, Vredenbregt MJ, de Kaste D. The identification of (-)-trans-tadalafil, tadalafil, and sildenafil in counterfeit Cialis and the optical purity of tadalafil stereoisomers. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2010;51:722–7.
- 465. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. UK medicines investigators take part in international operation to tackle illegal Internet medicines. 13 November 2008. http:// www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON030988.
- 466. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Man sentenced over £6m unlicensed and counterfeit medicines case. 8 June 2009. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/ NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON049156.
- 467. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. UK's largest counterfeit drug operation concluded. 10 June 2009. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/Pressreleases/ CON051848.
- 468. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. £35,000 of unlicensed medicine found in car boot. 17 September 2009. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/ Pressreleases/CON057306.
- 469. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Man sentenced for sale and supply of controlled and counterfeit drugs. 4 November 2009. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/ NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON062601.
- 470. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Brothers sentenced for the illegal sale and supply of lifestyle drugs. 11 February 2010. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/ Pressreleases/CON071154.
- 471. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Suspended sentence for the illegal sale and supply of sex drugs. 7 September 2010. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/ NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON093794.
- 472. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Nine month prison sentence for medicines offences, money laundering and conspiracy. 3 December 2010. http://www. mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON102802.
- 473. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Retired pharmacist receives nine month prison sentence for illegal advertisement of prescription only medicines online. 2 December 2010. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/ Pressreleases/CON102789.
- 474. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. International operation combats the illegal online supply of counterfeit medicines. 14 October 2010. http://www.mhra.gov. uk/NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON096696.
- 475. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. 51 weeks suspended sentence for the illegal importation and sale of erectile dysfunction drugs. 23 December 2010. http:// www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON103044.
- 476. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. 12 month suspended sentence for internet sales of unlicensed, prescription only and controlled drugs. 9 February 2011. http:// www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON108707.
- 477. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Counterfeit drugs gang jailed: trio planned to produce fake impotence tablets worth £1.6 million. 25 February 2011. http:// www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/CON108888.
- 478. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Eight and a half million doses of fake and unlicensed Viagra seized. 25 February 2011. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/ NewsCentre/CON108892.
- 479. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Three men arrested for international supply of counterfeit medicine. 10 March 2011. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/ NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON111604.
- Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Man fined £10,000 for illegal sale of lifestyle drugs. 27 May 2011. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/Pressreleases/ CON117598.
- 481. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Two men sentenced for involvement in counterfeit medicine plot. 6 July 2011. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/ Pressreleases/CON123137.
- 482. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Essex man given 18 month immediate custodial sentence for sale of ilegal lifestyle drugs. 11 Jul 2011. http://www.mhra.gov. uk/NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON123167.
- 483. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Fake tan nasal spray "potentially dangerous" regulator warns. 1 August 2011. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/ Pressreleases/CON125944.
- Thomas A, Kohler M, Mester J, Geyer H, Schänzer W, Petrou M, et al. Identification of the growth-hormonereleasing peptide-2 (GHRP-2) in a nutritional supplement. Drug Test Anal. 2010;2:144–8.
- Henninge J, Pepaj M, Hullstein I, Hemmersbach P. Identification of CJC-1295, a growth-hormone-releasing peptide, in an unknown pharmaceutical preparation. Drug Test Anal. 2010;2:647–50.
- 486. Thomas A, Schänzer W, Delahaut P, Thevis M. Immunoaffinity purification of peptide hormones prior to liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry in doping controls. Methods. 2011. doi:10.1016/j.ymeth.2011.08.009.
- 487. Thevis M, Geyer H, Matthias M, Schänzer W. Detection of the arylpropionamide-derived selective androgen receptor modulator (SARM) S-4 (Andarine) in a black-market product. Drug Test Anal. 2009;1:387–92.
- Kohler M, Thomas A, Walpurgis K, Terlouw K, Schänzer W, Thevis M. Detection of His-tagged Long-R³-IGF-I in a black market product. Growth Horm IGF Res. 2010;20:386–90.
- 489. Kohler M, Thomas A, Geyer H, Petrou M, Schänzer W, Thevis M. Confiscated black market products and nutritional supplements with non–approved ingredients analyzed in the Cologne Doping Control Laboratory 2009. Drug Test Anal. 2010;2:533–7.
- 490. Esposito S, Deventer K, Eenoo PV. Characterization and identification of a C-terminal amidated mechano growth factor (MGF) analogue in black market products. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom. 2012;26:686–92.
- 491. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Warning over internet sales of counterfeit weight loss medication. 25 January 2010. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/ NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON068520.
- No author listed. Counterfeit phentermine tablets (actually containing fenfluramine) in Mission, Kansas. Microgram Bull. 2009;42:56.
- No author listed. Phentermine mimic tablets (actually containing sibutramine and fenfluramine) seized in Florida. Microgram Bull. 2009;42:79.
- United States Attorney's Office. Miami prescription drug wholesaler convicted. 10 August 2009. http://www.usdoj.gov/ usao/fls/PressReleases/090810-01.html.
- FDA warns consumers about counterfeit Alli. 18 January 2010. http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/ PressAnnouncements/ucm197857.htm.
- 496. United States Attorney's Office. Chinese national pleads guilty to trafficking counterfeit pharmaceutical weight-loss drug, 28 January 2011. http://www.justice.gov/usao/co/press_ releases/2011/January2011/1_28_11.html.
- 497. Tang MHY, Chen SPL, Ng SW, Chan AYW, Mak TWL. Case series on a diversity of illicit weight-reducing agents: from the well known to the unexpected. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2011;71:250–3.
- Poon WT, Lam YH, Lai CK, Chan AYW, Mak TWL. Analogues of erectile dysfunction drugs: an under-recognised threat. Hong Kong Med J. 2007;13:359–63.
- Dean J, Klep R, Aquilina JW. Counterfeit dapoxetine sold on the Internet contains undisclosed sildenafil. Int J Clin Pract. 2010;64:1319–22.
- European Commission. 2005 customs seizures of counterfeit goods – frequently asked questions. 10 November 2006. http://europa.eu/rapid/pressReleasesAction do?reference = MEMO/06/421.
- European Commission. 2006 customs seizures of counterfeit goods – frequently asked questions. 31 May 2007. http://europa.eu/rapid/pressReleasesAction. do?reference=MEMO/07/214.
- European Commission. 2007 customs seizures of counterfeit goods – frequently asked questions. 19 May 2008. http://europa.eu/rapid/pressReleasesAction. do?reference=MEMO/08/310.
- European Commission. 2009 customs detentions of goods suspected of infringing intellectual property right (IPR) – frequently asked questions. 22 July 2010. http://europa.eu/ rapid/pressReleasesAction.do?reference=MEMO/10/353.
- Detention of counterfeit and pirated goods at EU borders in 2010 – frequently asked questions. 14 July 2011. http://europa.eu/rapid/pressReleasesAction. do?reference=MEMO/11/506&to.
- 505. Health Sciences Authority. HSA warns against consuming XP Tongkat Ali Supreme capsules found to contain undeclared potent substance. 8 May 2009. http://www.hsa.gov.sg/publish/ etc/medialib/hsa_library/corporate/pr20072009.Par.16125.File. tmp/HSAPressRelease-HSAWarnsAgainstConsumingXPTongk atAliSupremeCapsulesFoundToContainUndeclaredPotentSubs tance-08May09.pdf

- 506. Medsafe. Medsafe recalls for four products with undeclared prescription medicines. 13 August 2010. http://www. medsafe.govt.nz/hot/media/2010/adulterated%20erectile%20 dysfunction%20products.asp.
- Venhuis BJ, Tan J, Vredenbregt MJ, Ge X, Low M–Y, de Kaste D. Capsule shells adulterated with tadalafil. Forensic Sci Int. 2012;214:e20–2.
- Jung J, Hermanns–Clausen M, Weinmann W. Anorectic sibutramine detected in a Chinese herbal drug for weight loss. Forensic Sci Int. 2006;161:221–2.
- Vidal C, Quandte S. Identification of a sibutramine–metabolite in patient urine after intake of a 'pure herbal' Chinese slimming product. Ther Drug Monit. 2006;28:690–2.
- Bogusz MJ, Hassan H, Al-Enazi E, Ibrahim Z, Al-Tufail M. Application of LC–ESI–MS–MS for detection of synthetic adulterants in herbal remedies. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2006;41:554–64.
- Yuen YP, Lai CK, Poon WT, Ng SW, Chan AYW, Mak TWL. Adulteration of over-the-counter slimming products with pharmaceutical analogue—an emerging threat. Hong Kong Med J. 2007;13:216–20.
- Wiergowski M, Galer-Tatarowicz K, Nowak-Banasik L, Rutkowska J, Kuculyma G, Waldman W, et al. [Hazard for human health and life by unintentional use of synthetic sibutramine, which was sold as Chinese herbal product "meizitanc".] Przegl Lek. 2007;64:268–72.
- Hoggan AM, Shelby MK, Crouch DJ, Borges CR, Slawson MH. Detection of bumetanide in an over-the-counter dietary supplement. J Anal Toxicol. 2007;31:601–4.
- Kim SH, Lee J, Yoon T, Choi J, Choi D, Kim D, et al. Simultaneous determination of anti–diabetes/anti-obesity drugs by LC/PDA, and targeted analysis of sibutramine analog in dietary supplements by LC/MS/MS. Biomed Chromatogr. 2009;23:1259–65.
- Müller D, Weinmann W, Hermanns–Clausen M. Chinese slimming capsules containing sibutramine sold over the internet: a case series. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2009;106:218–22.
- Stypułkowska K, Błażewicz A, Maurin J, Sarna K, Fijałek Z. X–ray powder diffractometry and liquid chromatography studies of sibutramine and its analogues content in herbal dietary supplements. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2011;56:969–75.
- 517. Roh SH, Kang YP, Park S, Huh Y, Lee J, Park JH, et al. Determination of tadalafil and N-desmethylsibutramine in health and dietary supplements using ultra-performance liquid chromatography (UPLC) coupled with quadrupole-time-offlight mass spectrometry (Q-TOF MS). Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess. 2011;28:1475–82.
- Rebiere H, Guinot P, Civade C, Bonnet P-A, Nicolas A. Detection of hazardous weight–loss substances in adulterated slimming formulations using ultra–high–pressure liquid chromatography with diode–array detection. Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess. 2012;29:161–71.
- Phattanawasin P, Sotanaphun U, Sukwattanasinit T, Akkarawaranthorn J, Kitchaiya S. Quantitative determination of sibutramine in adulterated herbal slimming formulations by TLC-image analysis method. Forensic Sci Int. 2012. doi: 10.1016/j.forsciint.2011.12.004.
- Chen SPL, Tang MHY, Ng SW, Poon WT, Chan AYW, Mak TWL. Psychosis associated with usage of herbal slimming products adulterated with sibutramine: a case series. Clin Toxicol. 2010;48:832–8.
- 521. Vaysse J, Balayssac S, Gilard V, Desoubdzanne D, Malet-Martino M, Martino R. Analysis of adulterated herbal medicines and dietary supplements marketed for weight loss by DOSY 1H--NMR. Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess. 2010;27:903–16.
- 522. Lu YL, Zhou NL, Liao SY, Su N, He DX, Tian QQ, et al. Detection of adulteration of anti-hypertension dietary supplements and traditional Chinese medicines with synthetic drugs using LC/NS. Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess. 2010;27:893–902.
- 523. de Carvalho LM, Martini M, Moreira APL, de Lima APS, Correia D, Falcão T, et al. Presence of synthetic pharmaceuticals as adulterants in slimming phytotherapeutic formulations and their analytical determination. Forensic Sci Int. 2011;204:6–12.
- Bogusz MJ, Hassan H, Al-Enazi E, Ibrahim Z, Al-Tufail M. Application of LC–ESI–MS–MS for detection of synthetic adulterants in herbal remedies. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2006;41:554–64.
- 525. Wang J, Chen B, Yao S. Analysis of six synthetic adulterants in herbal weight-reducing dietary supplements by LC electrospray ionization–MS. Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess. 2008;25:822–30.

- Chen Y, Zhao L, Lu F, Yu Y, Chai Y, Wu Y. Determination of synthetic drugs used to adulterate botanical dietary supplements using QTRAP LC–MS/MS. Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess. 2009;26:595–603.
- 527. de Orsi D, Pellegrini M, Marchei E, Nebuloni P, Gallinella B, Scaravelli G, et al. High performance liquid chromatography-diode array and electrospray-mass spectrometry analysis of vardenafil, sildenafil, tadalafil, testosterone and local anesthetics in cosmetic creams sold on the Internet web sites. J Pharm BioMed Anal. 2009;50:362–9.
- Delbeke FT, Eenoo PV, Thuyne WV, Desmet N. Prohormones and sport. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2002;83:245–51.
- Thuyne WV, Eenoo PV, Mikulcíková P, Deventer K, Delbeke FT. Detection of androst-4-ene-3,6,17-trione (6-OXO) and its metabolites in urine by gas chromatographymass spectrometry in relation to doping analysis. Biomed Chromatogr. 2005;19:689–95.
- Geyer H, Parr MK, Koehler K, Mareck U, Schänzer W, Thevis M. Nutritional supplements cross-contaminated and faked with doping substances. J Mass Spectrom. 2008;43:892–902.
- Parr MK, Gütschow M, Daniels J, Opfermann G, Thevis M, Schänzer W. Identification of steroid isoxazole isomers marketed as designer supplement. Steroids. 2009;74:322–8.
- 532. Kazlauskas R. Designer steroids. Handb Exp Pharmacol. 2010;195:155–85.
- Hunt T, Clarke K. Potency of the botulinum toxin product CNBTX-A significantly exceeds labeled units in standard potency test. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2008;58:517–8.
- Pickett A, Mewies M. Serious issues relating to the clinical use of unlicensed botulinum toxin products. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2009;61:149–50.
- Souayah N, Karim H, Kamin SS, McArdle J, Marcus S. Severe botulism after focal injection of botulinum toxin. Neurology. 2006;67:1855–6.
- Chertow DS, Tan ET, Maslanka SE, Schulte J, Bresnitz EA, Weisman RS, et al. Botulism in 4 adults following cosmetic injections with an unlicensed, highly concentrated botulinum preparation. JAMA. 2006;296:2476–9.
- Office of Criminal Investigations. The enforcement story. Fiscal year 2008. Food and Drug Administration, 2009:6–2.
- Pickett A. Serious issues relating to counterfeit dermal fillers available from Internet sources. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2011;65:642–3.
- Food and Drug Administration. Warning Letter No. 2007–NOL–15. 30 August 2007. http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/ EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/2007/ucm076490.htm.
- 540. Food and Drug Administration. FDA issues warning letter to Melanocorp, Inc. for illegal sale of melanotan II. September 5 2007. http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/ PressAnnouncements/2007/ucm108978.htm.
- Food and Drug Administration. Warning Letter. CIN-09-39658-07. 6 January 2009. http://www.fda.gov/ICECI/ EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/ucm152426.htm.
- Lægemiddel styrelsen. Advarsel mod produktet Melanotan. 8 August 2008. http://www.laegemiddelstyrelsen.dk/1024/ visLSArtikel.asp?artikelID=13867.
- Statens legemiddelverk. Legemiddelverket advarer mot bruk av Melanotan. 13 December 2007. http://www. legemiddelverket.no/templates/InterPage___65111.aspx.
- Statens legemiddelverk. Melanotan farlig og ulovlig brunfarge. 23 January 2009. http://www.legemiddelverket.no/ templates/InterPage____80433.aspx.
- 545. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency, Commission on Human Medicines. Melanotan: an unlicensed medicine, the risks of which are unknown. Drug Saf Update. 2008;2(5):8.
- 546. Irish Medicines Board. Melanotan powder for injection. 27 February 2009. http://www.imb.ie/EN/Safety--Quality/Advisory-Warning--Recall-Notices/Human-Medicines/Melanotan-Powderfor-Injection-.aspx
- Breindahl T, Stensballe A. Melanotan II illegal livsstilsmedicin solbrændthed og øget potens. Dansk Kemi. 2010;91:14–7.
- Lim CCT, Gan R, Chan CL, Tan AWK, Khoo JJC, Chia S-Y, et al. Severe hypoglycemia associated with an illegal sexual enhancement product adulterated with glibenclamide: MR imaging findings. Radiology. 2009;250:193–201.
- 549. Dalan R, Leow MKS, George J, Chian KY, Tan A, Han HW, et al. Neuroglycopenia and adrenergic responses to hypoglycaemia: insights from a local epidemic of serendipitous massive overdose of glibenclamide. Diabet Med. 2009;26:105–9.

- Kao SL, Chan CL, Tan B, Lim CCT, Dalan R, Gardner D, et al. An unusual outbreak of hypoglycemia. N Eng J Med. 2009;360:734–6.
- Kao SL, Chan CL, Tan B, Lim CCT, Dalan R, Gardner D, et al. An unusual outbreak of hypoglycemia–a correction. N Eng J Med. 2009;360:2482–3.
- Poon WT, Lam YH, Lee HHC, Ching CK, Chan WT, Chan SS, et al. Outbreak of hypoglycaemia: sexual enhancement products containing oral hypoglycaemic agent. Hong Kong Med J. 2009;15:196–200.
- 553. Low M-Y, Zeng Y, Li L, Ge X-W, Lee R, Bloodworth B-C, et al. Safety and quality assessment of 175 illegal sexual enhancement products seized in red-light districts in Singapore. Drug Saf. 2009;32:1141–6.
- Chan TYK. Outbreaks of severe hypoglycaemia due to illegal sexual enhancement products containing undeclared glibenclamide. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2009;18:1250–1.
- Chaubey SK, Sangla KS, Suthaharan EN, Tan YM. Severe hypoglycaemia associated with ingesting counterfeit medication. Med J Aust. 2010;192:736–7.
- 556. European Medicines Agency. The European Medicines Agency recommends suspension of the marketing authorisation of Acomplia. 23 October 2008. http://www. emea.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Press_ release/2009/11/WC500014774,pdf
- 557. European Medicines Agency. Questions and answers on the recommendation to suspend the marketing authorisation of Acomplia (rimonabant). European Medicines Agency, 2008.
- European Medicines Agency. Public statement on Acomplia (rimonabant) withdrawal of the marketing authorisation in the European Union. European Medicines Agency, 2009.
- 559. European Commission. Summary of Community decisions on marketing authorizations in respect of medicinal products from 1 January 2009 to 31 January 2009 (Published pursuant to Article 13 or Article 38 of Regulation (EC) No 726/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council). Off J Eur Union. 2009;52:4–11.
- European Medicines Agency. Questions and answers on the suspension of medicines containing sibutramine. Outcome of a procedure under Article 107 of Directive 2001/83/EC. European Medicines Agency, 2010.
- European Medicines Agency. Sibutramine. Article 107 procedure. Annex II. Scientific conclusions and grounds for the suspension of the marketing authorisations. European Medicines Agency, 2010.
- European Medicines Agency. Sibutramine. Article 107 procedure. Annex III. Conditions for lifting the suspension. European Medicines Agency, 2010.
- 563. European Commission. Summary of European Union decisions on marketing authorisations in respect of medicinal products from 1 July 2010 to 31 August 2010 (Decisions taken pursuant to Article 34 of Directive 2001/83/EC or Article 38 of Directive 2001/82/EC). Off J Eur Union. 2010;53:17–254.
- James WPT, Caterson ID, Coutinho W, Finer N, van Gaal LF, Maggioni AP, et al. Effect of sibutramine on cardiovascular outcomes in overweight and obese subjects. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:905–17.
- Curfman GD, Morrissey S, Drazen JM. Sibutramine another flawed diet pill. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:972–4.
- Sayburn A. Withdrawal of sibutramine leaves European doctors with just one obesity drug. BMJ. 2010;340:c477.
- 567. Williams G. Withdrawal of sibutramine in Europe. BMJ. 2010;340:c824.
- Finer N, Executive Steering Committee of the Sibutramine Cardiovascular Outcome Trial. Withdrawal of sibutramine. Editorial is judgment in advance of the facts. BMJ. 2010;340:c1346.
- Abbott. Abbott to suspend marketing of obesity medicine sibutramine in European Union countries. 21 January 2010. http://www.prnewswire.co.uk/cgi/news/release?id=276973.
- Padwal R, Li SK, Lau DCW. Long-term pharmacotherapy for obesity and overweight. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2004;(3):CD004094.
- Curioni C, André C. Rimonabant for overweight or obesity. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2006;(4):CD006162.
- Siebenhofer A, Horvath K, Jeitler K, Berghold A, Stich AK, Matyas E, et al. Long-term effects of weight-reducing drugs in hypertensive patients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009;(3):CD007654.
- Hadley ME, Hruby VJ, Blanchard J, Dorr RT, Levine N, Dawson BV, et al. Discovery and development of novel melanogenic drugs. Melanotan–I and –II. Pharm Biotechnol. 1998;11:575–95.

- King SH, Mayorov AV, Balse–Srinivasan P, Hruby VJ, Vanderah TW, Wessells H. Melanocortin receptors, melanotropic peptides and penile erection. Curr Top Med Chem. 2007;7:1098–106.
- Al-Obeidi F, Hadley ME, Pettitt BM, Hruby VJ. Design of a new class of superpotent cyclic –melanotropins based on quenched dynamic simulations. J Am Chem Soc. 1989. 111:3413–6.
- Dorr RT, Lines R, Levine N, Brooks C, Xiang L, Hruby VJ, Hadley ME. Evaluation of melanotan–II, a superpotent cyclic melanotropic peptide in a pilot phase–I clinical study. Life Sci. 1996;58:1777–84.
- Wessells H, Fuciarelli K, Hansen J, Hadley ME, Hruby VJ, Dorr R, Levine N. Synthetic melanotropic peptide initiates erections in men with psychogenic erectile dysfunction: double-blind, placebo controlled crossover study. J Urol. 1998:160:389–93.
- Wessells H, Gralnek D, Dorr R, Hruby VJ, Hadley ME, Levine N. Effect of an alpha-melanocyte stimulating hormone analog on penile erection and sexual desire in men with organic erectile dysfunction. Urology. 2000;56:641–6.
- Wessells H, Levine N, Hadley ME, Dorr R, Hruby V. Melanocortin receptor agonists, penile erection, and sexual motivation: human studies with Melanotan II. Int J Impot Res. 2000;12(Suppl 4):574–9.
- 580. McCarthy W. Thin! Tan! Hotter Than Hell! Wired. 1 June 2002. http://www.wired.com/wired/archive/10.06/melanotan.html.
- Robinson D. Hot for the Barbie drug. Time. 18 August 2002. http://www.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,338626,00.html.
- 582. Raposinho PD, White RB, Aubert ML. The melanocortin agonist Melanotan–II reduces the orexigenic and adipogenic effects of neuropeptide Y (NPY) but does not affect the NPY– driven suppressive effects on the gonadotropic and somatotropic axes in the male rat. J Neuroendocrinol. 2003;15:173–81.
- derek010103. My Melanotan II experience. 27 February 2004. http://melanotan.org/cgi-bin/yabb/YaBB. pl?num=1077907612/0.
- 584. cullen. Here we go. 21 March 2004. http://melanotan.org/ cgi-bin/yabb/YaBB.pl?num=1079908197.
- Hadley ME. Discovery that a melanocortin regulates sexual functions in male and female humans. Peptides. 2005;26:1687–9.
- Hadley ME, Dorr RT. Melanocortin peptide therapeutics: historical milestones, clinical studies and commercialization. Peptides. 2006;27:921–30.
- No author listed. Melanotan II. Accessed 26 January 2012. http://melanotan.org/cgi-bin/yabb/YaBB. pl?catselect=melanotan2.
- Lynch N, Berry D. Differences in perceived risks and benefits of herbal, over-the-counter conventional, and prescribed conventional, medicines, and the implications of this for the safe and effective use of herbal products. Complement Ther Med. 2007;15:84–91.
- Ipsos MORI. Public perceptions of herbal medicine. General public qualitative & quantitative research. Ipsos MORI, 2008.
- 590. Barnes J, Mills SY, Abbot NC, Willoughby M, Ernst E. Different standards for reporting ADRs to herbal remedies and conventional OTC medicines: face-to-face interviews with 515 users of herbal remedies. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1998;45:496–500.
- Palmer RB, Godwin DA, McKinney PE. Transdermal kinetics of a mercurous chloride beauty cream: an in vitro human skin analysis. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol. 2000;38:701–7.
- McRill C, Boyer LV, Flood TJ, Ortega L. Mercury toxicity due to use of a cosmetic cream. J Occup Environ Med. 2000;42:4–7.
- Weldon MM, Smolinski MS, Maroufi A, Hasty BW, Gilliss DL, Boulanger LL, et al. Mercury poisoning associated with a Mexican beauty cream. West J Med. 2000;173:15–8.
- Harada M, Nakachi S, Tasaka K, Sakashita S, Muta K, Yanagida K, et al. Wide use of skin–lightening soap may cause mercury poisoning in Kenya. Sci Total Environ. 2001;269:183–7.
- Chan MM, Cheung RC, Chan IH, Lam CW. An unusual case of mercury intoxication. Br J Dermatol. 2001;144:192–4.
- Tlacuilo-Parra A, Guevara-Gutierrez E, Luna-Encinas JA. Percutaneous mercury poisoning with a beauty cream in Mexico. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2001;45:966–7.
- 597. Soo YO-Y, Chow K-M, Lam CW-K, Lai FM-M, Szeto C-C, Chan MH-M, et al. A whitened face woman with nephrotic syndrome. Am J Kidney Dis. 2003;41:250–3.
- Sin KW, Tsang HF. Large–scale mercury exposure due to a cream cosmetic: community–wide case series. Hong Kong Med J. 2003;9:329–34.

- 599. Tang HL, Chu KH, Mak YF, Lee W, Cheuk A, Yim KF, et al. Minimal change disease following exposure to mercury– containing skin lightening cream. Hong Kong Med J. 2006;12:316–8.
- Ozkaya E, Mirzoyeva L, Otkur B. Mercury-induced systemic allergic dermatitis caused by "white precipitate" in a skin lightening cream. Contact Derm. 2009;60:61–3.
- Li S–J, Zhang S–H, Chen H–P, Zeng C–H, Zheng C–X, Li L–S, et al. Mercury-induced membranous nephropathy: clinical and pathological features. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2010;5:439–44.
- Health Protection Agency. Dear Doctor. Mercury exposure from illegal skin lightening creams. Health Protection Agency, 2010.
- Washam C. Beastly beauty products: exposure to inorganic mercury in skin–lightening creams. Environ Health Perspect. 2011;119:A80.
- 604. McKelvey W, Jeffery N, Clark N, Kass D, Parsons PJ. Population-based inorganic mercury biomonitoring and the identification of skin care products as a source of exposure in New York City. Environ Health Perspect. 2011;119:203–9.
- Peregrino CP, Moreno MV, Miranda SV, Rubio AD, Leal LO. Mercury levels in locally manufactured mexican skin–lightening creams. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2011;8:2516–23.
- Choudhury K, Morris J, Harrison H, O'Moore E. Use of skin lightening creams. Dangers from mercury. BMJ. 2011;342:d1327.
- Chakera A, Lasserson D, Beck LH, Roberts ISD, Winearls CG. Membranous nephropathy after use of UK-manufactured skin creams containing mercury. QJM. 2011;104:893–6.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Mercury exposure among household users and nonusers of skin– lightening creams produced in Mexico – California and Virginia, 2010. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2012;61:33–6.
- 609. Galil K, Miller LA, Yakrus MA, Wallace RJ, Mosley DG, England B, Huitt G, McNeil MM, Perkins BA. Abscesses due to Mycobacterium abscessus linked to injection of unapproved alternative medication. Emerging Infect Dis 1999;5:681–7.
- 610. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. 4 month trial concludes of Operation Singapore – the most serious known breach of counterfeit medicine in the regulated supply chain. 8 April 2011. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/ NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON114481.
- 611. Cohen PA, Benner C, McCormick D. Use of a pharmaceutically adulterated dietary supplement, Pai You Guo, among Brazilian-born women in the United States. J Gen Intern Med. 2011;27:51–6.
- 612. European Commission. Volume 3B. Guidelines medicinal products for human use safety, environment and information excipients in the label and package leaflet of medicinal products for human use. European Commission, 2003.
- 613. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Labels, patient information leaflets and packaging of medicines: Legislation and guidelines. 18 August 2011. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/ Labelspatientinformationleafletsandpackaging/ Legislationandguidelines/index.htm.
- 614. No author listed. What are excipients doing in medicinal products? Drug Ther Bull. 2009;47:81–4.
- Ong GSY, Somerville CP, Jones TW, Walsh JP. Anaphylaxis triggered by benzyl benzoate in a preparation of depot testosterone undecanoate. Case Report Med. 2012;2012:384054.
- Martin U, Coleman JJ. Drugs and the elderly. In Mann R, Andrews E, eds. Pharmacovigilance. John Wiley & Sons, 2009:515–532.
- Chambers CD, Andrews EB. Drug safety in pregnancy. In Mann R, Andrews E, eds. Pharmacovigilance. John Wiley & Sons, 2009:455–66.
- 618. Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use. Assessment report for modafinil containing medicinal products. European Medicines Agency, 2011.
- 619. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Isotretinoin for severe acne. 9 March 2011. http://www.mhra. gov.uk/Safetyinformation/Generalsafetyinformationandadvice/ Product-specificinformationandadvice/Productspecificinformationandadvice-G-L/Isotretinoinforsevereacne/ index.htm.
- 620. No author listed. Mercury compounds. toxnet.nlm.nih.gov. Accessed 13 December 2011. http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov.
- Healy D, Mangin D, Mintzes B. Risky business. Hastings Cent Rep. 2010;40:7.
- Mangin D, Healy D, Mintzes B. Paroxetine is associated with malformation during pregnancy. BMJ. 2011;343:d5060.

- Mintzes B, Jureidini J. Should paroxetine be used to treat depression during pregnancy? Am J Psychiatry. 2008;165:1487; author reply 1487–8.
- Bury L, Ngo TD. 'The condom broke!' Why do women in the UK have unintended pregnancies? Marie Stopes International, 2009.
- Lakha F, Glasier A. Unintended pregnancy and use of emergency contraception among a large cohort of women attending for antenatal care or abortion in Scotland. Lancet. 2006;368:1782–7.
- 626. **Henshaw SK.** Unintended pregnancy in the United States. Fam Plann Perspect. 1998;30:24–9, 46.
- Kost K, Landry DJ, Darroch JE. Predicting maternal behaviors during pregnancy: does intention status matter? Fam Plann Perspect. 1998;30:79–88.
- 628. Alghabban A. Dictionary of pharmacovigilance. Pharmaceutical Press, 2004:342.
- de Ronde W. Hyperandrogenism after transfer of topical testosterone gel: case report and review of published and unpublished studies. Hum Reprod. 2009;24:425–8.
- 630. **Voelker R.** Children's exposure to testosterone gel spurs FDA to order boxed label warning. JAMA. 2009;301:2428.
- 631. McCourt C, Hoey S. An unusual case of localised hypertrichosis. Ulster Med J. 2010;79:100.
- Mason A, McNeill E, Wallace AM, Connell JM, Donaldson MDC. Sexual precocity in a 4 year old boy. BMJ. 2010;340:c2319.
- Cavender RK, Fairall M. Precocious puberty secondary to topical testosterone transfer: a case report. J Sex Med. 2011;8:622–6.
- 634. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaints: promotion of Proscar (finasteride 5mg) for use in hair loss on consumer websites. 16 September 2011. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howveregulate/Medicines/ Advertisingofmedicines/Advertisinginvestigations/CON123165.
- Corns C, Metcalfe K. Risks associated with herbal slimming remedies. J R Soc Promot Health. 2002;122:213–9.
- 636. Mahé A, Perret JL, Ly F, Fall F, Rault JP, et al. The cosmetic use of skin–lightening products during pregnancy in Dakar, Senegal: a common and potentially hazardous practice. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2007;101:183–7.
- Wiseman HM, Guest K, Murray VS, Volans GN. Accidental poisoning in childhood: a multicentre survey. 1. General epidemiology. Hum Toxicol. 1987;6:293–301.
- Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Rules and guidance for pharmaceutical manufacturers and distributors 2007. Pharmaceutical Press, 2007:67.
- 639. Bergman RT. Contaminated drug supply. Phys Sportsmed. 1993;21:8.
- Maropis C, Yesalis CE. Intramuscular abscess. Another anabolic steroid danger. Phys Sportsmed. 1994;22:105–7.
- Rich JD, Dickinson B, Flanigan TP, Valone SE. Abscess related to anabolic–androgenic steroid injection. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1999;31:207–9.
- Rich JD, Feller A, Pugatch D, Mylonakis E. The infectious complications of anabolic–androgenic steroid injection. Int J Sports Med. 1999;20:563–6.
- Herr A, Rehmert G, Kunde K, Gust R, Gries A. 30–jähriger bodybuilder mit septischem schock und ARDS bei abusus anabol– androgener steroide. Anaesthesist. 2002;51:557–63.
- Gautschi OP, Zellweger R. Images in clinical medicine. Methicillin–resistant Staphylococcus aureus abscess after intramuscular steroid injection. N Eng J Med. 2006;355:713.
- 645. Marquis CP, Maffulli N. Anabolic steroid related abscess—A risk worth taking? Injury Extra. 2006;37:451–4.
- Kienbacher G, Maurer-Ertl W, Glehr M, Feierl G, Leithner A. Steroid–doping im bodybuilding – ursache fur eine tumorsimulierende expansion. Sportverletz Sportschaden; 2007;21:195–8.
- 647. Larance B, Degenhardt L, Copeland J, Dillon P. Injecting risk behaviour and related harm among men who use performance– and image–enhancing drugs. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2008;27:679–86.
- Farkash U, Shabshin N, Perry MP. Rhabdomyolysis of the deltoid muscle in a bodybuilder using anabolic–androgenic steroids: a case report. J Athl Train. 2009;44:98–100.
- 649. Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use. Methylphenidate – Article 31 referral – annex I, II, III, IV. European Medicines Agency, 2007.
- 650. Harper J, Gellie B. Counterfeit medicines survey report. Council of Europe Publishing, 2006.
- European Alliance for Access to Safe Medicines. The counterfeiting superhighway. European Alliance for Access to Safe Medicines, 2008:12.

- 652. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. The globalization of crime. A transnational organized crime threat assessment. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, 2010.
- 653. **Siva N.** Tackling the booming trade in counterfeit drugs. Lancet. 2010;376:1725–6.
- Schnetzler G, Banks I, Kirby M, Zou KH, Symonds T. Characteristics, behaviors, and attitudes of men bypassing the healthcare system when obtaining phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors. J Sex Med. 2010;7:1237–46.
- National Audit Office. Safety, quality, efficacy: regulating medicines in the UK. The Stationery Office, 2003:26.
- Moberly T. One in four GPs report online drug concerns. 16 April 2009. http://www.gponline.com/News/article/898287/ One-four-GPs-report-online-drug-concerns.
- 657. Moberly T. Personal communication to Michael Evans–Brown on 9 January 2012.
- Feick J, Werle R. Regulation of cyberspace. Baldwin R, Cave M, Lodge M, eds. The Oxford handbook of regulation. Oxford University Press, 2010:523–47.
- Levchenko K, Pitsillidis A, Chachra N, Enright B. Click trajectories: end-to-end analysis of the spam value chain. Proc IEEE Symp Secur Priv, 2011. http://cseweb.ucsd. edu/~savage/papers/Oakland11.pdf.
- World Health Organization. WHO medicines strategy 2004– 2007. Countries at the core. World Health Organization, 2004.
- World Health Organization. What encourages counterfeiting of medicines? Accessed on 16 February 2012. http://www.who. int/medicines/services/counterfeit/faqs/15/en/index.html.
- Rose-Ackerman S. International handbook on the economics of corruption. Edward Elgar Publishing, 2007.
- Gyöngyi Z, Garcia–Molina H. Web spam taxonomy. First International Workshop on Adversarial Information Retrieval on the Web (AIRWeb 2005). Chiba: 2005. http://airweb.cse.lehigh. edu/2005/gyongyi.pdf.
- Leontiadis N, Moore T, Christin N. Measuring and analyzing search-redirection attacks in the illicit online prescription drug trade. 20th USENIX Security Symposium (USENIX Security'11). San Francisco: 2011. http://www.andrew.cmu.edu/user/ nicolasc/publications/LMC–USENIXSec11.pdf.
- 665. Ntoulas A, Najork M, Manasse M, Fetterly D. Detecting spam web pages through content analysis. Proceedings of the 15th international conference on World Wide Web. WWW 2006. Edinburgh: 2006 http://citeseer.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/ summary?doi=10.1.1.70.897.
- 666. Wang Y–M, Ma M, Niu Y, Chen H. Spam double-funnel: connecting web spammers with advertisers. Proceedings of the 16th international conference on World Wide Web. WWW 2007. Banff: 2007. http://citeseer.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/ summary?doi=10.1.1.78.810.
- 667. Kuzma J. Web vulnerability study of online pharmacy sites. Inform Health Soc Care. 2011;36:20–34.
- Levaggi R, Orizio G, Domenighini S, Bressanelli M, Schulz PJ, Zani C, et al. Marketing and pricing strategies of online pharmacies. Health Policy. 2009;92:187–96.
- Orizio G, Schulz P, Domenighini S, Caimi L, Rosati C, Rubinelli S, et al. Cyberdrugs: a cross–sectional study of online pharmacies characteristics. Eur J Public Health. 2009;19:375–7.
- 670. Orizio G, Rubinelli S, Schulz PJ, Domenighini S, Bressanelli M, Caimi L, et al. "Save 30% if you buy today." Online pharmacies and the enhancement of peripheral thinking in consumers. Pharmaccepidemiol Drug Saf. 2010;19:970–6.
- Orizio G, Merla A, Schulz PJ, Gelatti U. Quality of online pharmacies and websites selling prescription drugs: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res. 2011;13:e74.
- 672. Daughton CG. Cradle-to-cradle stewardship of drugs for minimizing their environmental disposition while promoting human health. I. Rationale for and avenues toward a green pharmacy. Environ Health Perspect. 2003;111:757–74.
- 673. Daughton CG. Cradle-to-cradle stewardship of drugs for minimizing their environmental disposition while promoting human health. II. Drug disposal, waste reduction, and future directions. Environ Health Perspect. 2003;111:775–85.
- Bound JP, Voulvoulis N. Household disposal of pharmaceuticals as a pathway for aquatic contamination in the United Kingdom. Environ Health Perspect. 2005;113:1705–11.
- Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use. Guideline on the environmental risk assessment of medicinal products for human use. European Medicines Agency, 2006.
 Daughton CG, Buhoy IS. The afterlife of drugs and the role
- Daughton CG, Ruhoy IS. The afterlife of drugs and the role of pharmEcovigilance. Drug Saf. 2008;31:1069–82.
 Glassmever ST, Hinchey EK, Boehme SE, Daughton CG.
- 677. Glassmeyer ST, Hinchey EK, Boehme SE, Daughton CG, Ruhoy IS, Conerly O, et al. Disposal practices for unwanted residential medications in the United States. Environ Int. 2009;35:566–72.

- Newdick C. Who should we treat? rights, rationing, and resources in the NHS. Oxford University Press, 2005.
- 679. Department of Health. The use of viagra (sildenafil) in the treatment of impotence (erectile dysfunction): Advice from the Standing Medical Advisory Committee (SMAC), November 1998. 1 November 1998. http://www. dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/ PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_4120751.
- Department of Health. HSC 1999/115. Treatment of impotence. Department of Health, 1999.
- Department of Health. HSC 1999/148. Treatment for impotence. Department of Health, 1999.
- Department of Health. HSC 1999/177. Treatment for impotence. Patients with severe distress. Department of Health, 1999.
- Department of Health. Public Health England's operating model. Department of Health, 2011.
- Evans-Brown M, Dawson RT, Chandler M, McVeigh J. Use of melanotan I and II in the general population. BMJ. 2009;338:b566.
- 685. Duchaine D. The Underground Steroid Handbook II. (Incorporating material from the original Underground Steroid Handbook, Ultimate Muscle Mass, and the USH Updates #1–10.). Venice, California, United States of America: HLR Technical Books.
- Llewellyn W. William Llewellyn's anabolics. Molecular Nutrition, 2010.
- 687. Monaghan L. Bodybuilding, drugs and risk. Routledge, 2001.
- Evans–Brown M, McVeigh J. Anabolic steroid use in the general population of the United Kingdom. In: Meller V, Dimeo P, McNamee M, eds. Elite sport, doping, and public health. University of Southern Denmark Press, 2009:75–97.
- Juengst ET. What does enhancement mean? In: Parens E, eds. Enhancing human traits: ethical and social implications. Georgetown University Press, 2000:29.
- Savulescu J, Sandberg A, Kahane G. Well-being and enhancement. In: Savulescu J, ter Meulen R, Kahane G, eds. Enhancing human capacities. Wiley–Blackwell, 2011:3–18.
- Vazquez E. Don't just sit there. Posit Aware. 1996;7:23–5.
 No author listed. Testosterone replacement, weight lifting help wasting. AIDS Alert. 1996;11(suppl):1–2.
- help wasting. AIDS Alert. 1996;11(suppl):1–2.
 693. Kingston T. DHEA: threat to access? AIDS Treat News. 1996;242:6–8.
- Vergel N. Building your body to survive: the use of anabolic steroids for HIV therapy. Posit Aware. 1998;9:37–41.
- 695. Vazquez E. Comparing Oxandrin and Anadrol–50. Posit Aware. 1998;9:49–51.
- Mooney M, Vergel N. Built to survive: HIV wellness guide. Hohm Press; 2004.
- Hoberman J. Testosterone dreams: rejuvenation, aphrodisia, doping. University of California Press, 2006:280–1.
- 698. Bechara A, Casabé A, De Bonis W, Helien A, Bertolino MV. Recreational use of phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors by healthy young men. J Sex Med. 2010;7:3736–42.
- 699. Sanders SA, Milhausen RR, Crosby RA, Graham CA, Yarber WL. Do phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors protect against condom-associated erection loss and condom slippage? J Sex Med. 2009;6:1451–6.
- 700. No author listed. Shed years as well as fat! So easy to reduce the Marmola way. The Daily Mirror. 8 June 1937:6.
- Young JH. The medical messiahs: a social history of health quackery in Twentieth–Century America. Princeton University Press, 1992:76
- Young JH. The medical messiahs: a social history of health quackery in Twentieth–Century America. Princeton University Press, 1992:78
- Young JH. The medical messiahs: a social history of health quackery in Twentieth–Century America. Princeton University Press, 1992:123.
- Cutting WC, Mehrtens HG, Tainter ML. Actions and uses of dinitrophenol. Promising metabolic applications. JAMA. 1933;101:193–5.
- Tainter ML, Cutting WC, Stockton AB. Use of dinitrophenol in nutritional disorders: A critical survey of clinical results. Am J Public Health. 1934;20:1045–53.
- No author listed. Dinitrophenol poisoning. JAMA. 1934;102:1156.
- Horner WD. A study of dinitrophenol and its relation to cataract formation. Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc. 1941;39:405–37.
- No author listed. The composition of certain secret remedies: XIX.—obesity cures (II). BMJ. 1908;2:1566–9.
- No author listed. Bureau of investigation. Marmola. JAMA. 1937;108:658.

- Addison H. Hollywood and the rise of physical culture. Routledge, 2003:19.
- Murray GR. Note on the treatment of myxcedema by hypodermic injections of an extract of the thyroid gland of a sheep. BMJ. 1891;2:796–7.
- 712. Putnam JJ. Cases of myxoedema and acromegalia treated with benefit by sheep's thyroids: recent observations respecting the pathology of the cachexias following disease of the thyroid; clinical relationships of Grave's disease and acromegalia. Am J Med Sci. 1893;106:125–48
- Hutchinson R. Preliminary note on the active ingredient in the thyroid. BMJ. 1896;1:722–3.
- 714. Hutchinson R. On the active constituent of the thyroid gland. BMJ. 1897;1:194–7.
- Maclennan W. On the treatment of obesity and myxoedema by a new preparation of thyroid ('thyroglandin'). BMJ. 1898;2:79–80.
- 716. **Murray GR.** The life–history of the first case of myxoedema treated by thyroid extract. BMJ. 1920;1:359–60.
- 717. Pitt-Rivers R, VanderLaan WP. The therapy of thyroid disease. In Parnham MJ & Bruinvels J, eds. Discoveries in pharmacology, volume 2: haemodynamics, hormones and inflammation. Elsevier Science Publications, 1984:391–427.
- Doyle L. Myxoedema: some early reports and contributions by British authors, 1873–1898. J R Soc Med. 1991;84:103–6.
- 719. Slater S. The discovery of thyroid replacement therapy. Part 1: In the beginning. J R Soc Med. 2011;104:15–8.
- Slater S. The discovery of thyroid replacement therapy. Part 2: the critical 19th century. J R Soc Med. 2011;104:59–63.
- 721. Slater S. The discovery of thyroid replacement therapy. Part 3: A complete transformation. J R Soc Med. 2011;104:100–6.
- Young JH. The medical messiahs: a social history of health quackery in Twentieth–Century America. Princeton University Press, 1992:210–6
- Ono F, Miyoshi K. Clinical observations on thyreoidismus medicamentosus due to weight reducing pills in Japan. Endocrinol Jpn. 1971;18:321–5.
- Goday A, Recasens A, Méndez M, Yetano V, Guirado P. [latrogenic hyperthyroidism. Report of an outbreak.] Med Clin (Barc). 1995;105:658–60.
- Bhasin S, Wallace W, Lawrence JB, Lesch M. Sudden death associated with thyroid hormone abuse. Am J Med. 1981;71:887–90.
- 726. Cutting WC, Tainter ML. Actions of dinitrophenol. Proc Soc Exper Biol Med. 1932;29:1268–9.
- No author listed. Education: sluggard's prod. Time. 31 July 1933. http://www.time.com/time/magazine/ article/0,9171,753860,00.html.
- Tainter ML, Stockton AB, Cutting WC. Use of dinitrophenol in obesity and related conditions. A progress report. JAMA. 1933;101:1472–5.
- Cutting, WC, Tainter, ML. Metabolic actions of dinitrophenol. With the use of balanced and unbalanced diets. JAMA. 1933;101:2099–102.
- 730. Haft HH. Toxicity of dinitrophenol. JAMA. 1933;101:1171-2.
- Geiger JC. A death from alpha–dinitrophenol poisoning. JAMA. 1933;101:1333.
- No author listed. Dinitrophenol and accelerated tissue metabolism. JAMA. 1933;101:2122–3.
- Dameshek W, Gargill SL. Report of two cases of agranulocytosis following the use of dinitrophenol. N Eng J Med. 1934;211:440.
- Masserman JH, Goldsmith H. Dinitrophenol. Its therapeutic and toxic actions in certain types of psychobiologic underactivity. JAMA. 1934;102:523–5.
- Poole FE, Haining RB. Sudden death from dinitrophenol poisoning. Report of a case with autopsy. JAMA. 1934;102:1141–7.
- Tainter ML, Wood DA. A case of fatal dinitrophenol poisoning. JAMA. 1934;102:1147–9.
- 737. Lattimore JL. Dinitrophenol poisoning. J Kans Med Soc. 1934;35:388.
- Davidson EN, Shapiro M. Neutropenia following dinitrophenol, with improvement after pentnucleotide and leukocyte cream. JAMA. 1934;103:480–2.
- Silver S. A new danger in dinitrophenol therapy: agranulocytosis with fatal outcome. JAMA. 1934;103:1058.
- No author listed. Sale of dinitrophenol restricted. JAMA. 1934;103:924.
- 741. No author listed. Sale or dispensing of dinitrophenol restricted. Cal West Med. 1935;42:68.
- 742. Leutsker RJ. An instance of circulatory collapse attributed to dinitrophenol. U S Nav Med Bull. 1935;33:394.

- Nadler JE. Peripheral neuritis caused by prolonged use of dinitrophenol. JAMA. 1935;105:12–3.
- Boardman WW. Rapidly developing cataract after dinitrophenol. JAMA. 1935;105:108.
- Horner WD, Jones RB, Boardman WW. Cataracts following the use of dinitrophenol. Preliminary report of three cases. JAMA. 1935;105:108–10.
- 746. No author listed. Current comment. Dinitrophenol and cataract. JAMA. 1935;105:124.
- 747. Malmberg C. Diet and die. Hillman–Curl, 1935:117–38.
- Imerman SW, Imerman CP. Dinitrophenol poisoning with thrombocytopenia, granulopenia, anemia and purpura complicated by lung abscess. JAMA. 1936;106:1085–8.
- No author listed. Dilex-Redusols. A dinitrophenol nostrum declared fraudulent and debarred from the United States mails. JAMA. 1936;106:1587.
- Hitch JM, Schwartz WF. Late toxic results, including dermatitis exfoliativa, from 'Slim' (dinitrophenol). JAMA. 1936;106:2130–2.
- Purvine R. Fatal poisoning from sodium dinitrophenol. JAMA. 1936;107:2046.
- Goldman A, Haber M. Acute complete granulopenia with death due to dinitrophenol poisoning. JAMA. 1936;107:2115–7.
- No author listed. Again, dinitrophenol. 29 June 1936. http:// www.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,770212,00.html.
 McDavitt TV. Legislation of interest to physicians considered
- by state legislatures in 1939. JAMA. 1940;114:875–98.
 755. Pfingst A. Cataract attributable to the use of dinitrophenol.
- South Med J. 1940;33:1164–6.
- 756. Horner WD. A study of dinitrophenol and its relation to cataract formation. Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc. 1941;39:405–37.
- 757. Horner WD. Dinitrophenol and its relation to formation of cataract. Arch Ophthal. 1942;27:1097–121.
- Dinitrophenol: blindness attributed to use of drug. JAMA. 1942;119:903–4.
- Dinitrophenol: blindness attributed to use of drug. JAMA. 1943;121:975–6.
- Hecht A, Janssen WF. Diet drug danger déjà vu. FDA Consum. 1987;2:22–27.
- Colman E. Dinitrophenol and obesity: an early twentiethcentury regulatory dilemma. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol. 2007;48:115–7.
- 762. Swann JP. Reducing with Dinitrophenol: self-medication and the challenge of regulating a dangerous pharmaceutical before the US Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. Quirke V, Slinn J, eds. Perspectives on Twentieth–Century pharmaceuticals. Peter Lang, 2010:285–302.
- Dodds EC, Pope WJ. Dinitro-o-cresol as a stimulator of metabolism. Lancet. 1933;222:352–3.
- Dodds EC, Robertson JD. The clinical applications of dinitro–o–cresol. Lancet. 1933;222:1137–9.
- No author listed. Stimulators of metabolism. Lancet. 1933;222:1218.
- Dodds EC, Robertson JD. The clinical applications of dinitro–o–cresol. Lancet. 1933;222:1197–8.
- No author listed. New preparations. Dekrysil. BMJ. 1934;1:108.
- No author listed. Cabaret girl dies while slimming. Daily Mirror. 27 February 1934:2, 4.
- No author listed. Cabaret girl killed by slimming. Daily Mirror. 19 March 1934:15.
- 770. No author listed. Medicine and the law. Death after slimming treatment. Lancet. 1934;223:489.
- No author listed. The new Poisons Rules. Their effect upon the position of the medical practitioner. BMJ. 1936;1:897–9.
- 772. No author listed. Slimming drugs and cataract with notes of a case. BMJ. 1937;1:1203–4.
- Delahunt CS, Kiss NP. Dinitrophenol-induced cataracts. Lancet. 1965;286:299.
- No author listed. Women who took "slim cure" went blind. Daily Mirror. 16 November 1963:10.
- Kurt TL, Anderson R, Petty C, Bost R, Reed G, Holland J. Dinitrophenol in weight loss: the poison center and public health safety. Vet Hum Toxicol. 1986;28(6):574–5.
- 776. Duchaine D. Underground steroid handbook II: incorporating material from the original Underground Steroid Handbook, Ultimate muscle mass, and the USH updates #1–10. HLR Technical Books; 1989.37.
- Dan Duchaine The Steroid Guru interview with MESO–Rx. December 1997. http://www.mesomorphosis.com/articles/ duchaine/dan-duchaine-the-steroid-guru.htm.
- Paal S, Steinar M. Dinitrofenol risikabel doping. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2002;122:1363–4.

- Kumar S, Barker K, Seger D. Dinitrophenol-induced hyperthermia resolving with dantrolene administration. Clin Toxicol. 2002;40:689.
- Pace SA, Pace A. Dinitrophenol oral ingestion resulting in death. Clin Toxicol. 2002;40:683–4.
- Food and Drug Administration. Defendant pleads guilty in Internet drug case. 2003. http://www.tda. gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/EnforcementStory/ EnforcementStoryArchive/ucm103554.htm.
- Committee on Toxicity of Chemicals in Food, Consumer Products and the Environment. 2,4–Dinitrophenol: consultation with COT chairman. 3 July 2003. http://cot.food. gov.uk/pdfs/Tox-2003-34.PDF.
- Mustonen H, Kuosa R, Hoppu K. Severe poisoning by a fatburning dietary substance. Clin Toxicol. 2004;42:546–7.
- McFee RB, Caraccio TR, McGuigan MA, Reynolds SA, Bellanger P. Dying to be thin: a dinitrophenol related fatality. Vet Hum Toxicol. 2004;46:251–4.
- Hsiao AL, Santucci KA, Seo-Mayer P, Mariappan MR, Hodsdon ME, Banasiak KJ, et al. Pediatric fatality following ingestion of dinitrophenol: postmortem identification of a 'dietary supplement.' Clin Toxicol. 2005;43:281–5.
- Temple K, White S, Hedge M. Survival of 2,4–dinitrophenol induced hyperthermia. Clin Toxicol. 2005;43:459–60.
- Barker K, Seger D, Kumar S. Comment on 'Pediatric fatality following ingestion of dinitrophenol: postmortem identification of a 'dietary supplement'. Clin Toxicol. 2006;44:351.
- Miranda EJ, McIntyre IM, Parker DR, Gary RD, Logan BK. Two deaths attributed to the use of 2,4–dinitrophenol. J Anal Toxicol. 2006;30:219–22.
- Politi L, Vignali C, Polettini A. LC–MS–MS analysis of 2,4– dinitrophenol and its phase I and II metabolites in a case of fatal poisoning. J Anal Toxicol. 2007;31:55–61.
- Müller D, Weller JP, Breitmeier D, Neurath H, Desel H. Two lethal poisonings with fat burner containing 2,4–dinitrophenol in Germany. Clin Toxicol. 2007;45:358.
- Davies MD, Thompson JP, Cooper JA. Slimming tablet enquiries recorded by National Poisons Information Service (Cardiff). Clin Toxicol. 2009;47:505–6.
- 792. Tewari A, Ali A, O'Donnell A, Butt MS. Weight loss and 2,4-dinitrophenol poisoning. Br J Anaesth. 2009;102:566–7. [Aside from the title the report does not explicitly mention that the drug used was DNP]
- Smits G. Successful treatment of a dinitrophenol overdose. Clin Toxicol. 2010;48:255–6.
- Siegmueller C, Narasimhaiah R. 'Fatal 2,4–dinitrophenol poisoning... coming to a hospital near you.' Emerg Med J. 2010;27:639–40.
- Bartlett J, Brunner M, Gough K. Deliberate poisoning with dinitrophenol (DNP): an unlicensed weight loss pill. Emerg Med J. 2010;27:159–60.
- van Veenendaal A, Baten A, Pickkers P. Surviving a life– threatening 2,4–DNP intoxication: 'almost dying to be thin'. Neth J Med. 2011;69:154.
- Bachs D. DNP (2,4–Dinitrophenol). Getting leaner through chemistry. No date listed. http://www.mesomorphosis.com/ articles/bach/dnp.htm
- 798. 'dinitrophenol weight loss'. http://goo.gl/aTcnr.
- 799. 'buy dinitrophenol'. http://goo.gl/ilof7.
- Parkinson B, Evans NA. Anabolic androgenic steroids: a survey of 500 users. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2006;38:644–51.
- Loomis WF, Lipmann F. Reversible inhibition of the coupling between phosphorylation and oxidation. J Biol Chem. 1948;173:807–8.
- Parascandola J. Dinitrophenol and bioenergetics: an historical perspective. Mol Cell Biochem. 1974;5:69–77.
- Harper JA, Dickinson K, Brand MD. Mitochondrial uncoupling as a target for drug development for the treatment of obesity. Obes Rev. 2001;2:255–65.
- 804. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Toxicological profile for dinitrocresols. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 1995.
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Addendum to the toxicological profile for dinitrocresols. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2009.
- No author listed. 2,4-dinitrophenol. toxnet.nlm.nih.gov. Accessed 13 December 2011. http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cgibin/sis/search/r?dbs+hsdb:@term+@rn+@rel+51-28-5.
- Talalay P, ed. Drugs in our society. Johns Hopkins Press, 1964.
 Blake JB, ed. Safeguarding the public. Johns Hopkins University Press, 1970.
- Griffin JP. History of drug regulation in the UK. In Griffin JP, ed. The textbook of pharmaceutical medicine. BMJ Books, 2009:413–43.

- Finney DJ. An international drug safeguard plan. J Chronic Dis. 1964;17:565–81.
- Finney DJ. The design and logic of a monitor of drug use. J Chronic Dis. 1965;18:77–98.
- Bunlop DM. Legislation on medicines. BMJ. 1970;3:760–2.
- Dunlop DM. The assessment of the safety of drugs and the role of government in their control. J Clin Pharmacol. 1967;7:184–92.
- Marks HM. The progress of experiment: science and therapeutic reform in the United States, 1900–1990. Cambridge University Press, 2000.
- Abraham J. Science, politics and the pharmaceutical industry: controversy and bias in drug regulation. Routledge, 1995.
- 816. **Dunlop DM.** The use and abuse of psychotropic drugs. General aspects. Proc R Soc Med. 1970;63:1279–82.
- Working Party on Amphetamine Preparations. Report of the Working Party on amphetamine preparations. British Medical Association, 1968.
- 818. Wayne E. Amphetamines outmoded. BMJ. 1970;4:801.
- Rasmussen N. On speed: the many lives of amphetamine. New York University Press, 2009.
- Abenhaim L, Moride Y, Brenot F, Rich S, Benichou J, Kurz X, et al. Appetite-suppressant drugs and the risk of primary pulmonary hypertension. International Primary Pulmonary Hypertension Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1996;335:609–16.
- Connolly HM, Crary JL, McGoon MD, Hensrud DD, Edwards BS, Edwards WD, et al. Valvular heart disease associated with fenfluramine–phentermine. N Eng J Med. 1997;337(9):581–8.
- 822. Khan MA, Herzog CA, St Peter JV, Hartley GG, Madlon-Kay R, Dick CD, et al. The prevalence of cardiac valvular insufficiency assessed by transthoracic echocardiography in obese patients treated with appetite–suppressant drugs. N Engl J Med. 1998;339:713–8.
- 823. Weissman NJ, Tighe JF, Gottdiener JS, Gwynne JT. An assessment of heart-valve abnormalities in obese patients taking dexfenfluramine, sustained-release dexfenfluramine, or placebo. Sustained-Release Dexfenfluramine Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1998;339:725–32.
- Jick H, Vasilakis C, Weinrauch LA, Meier CR, Jick SS, Derby LE. A population-based study of appetite-suppressant drugs and the risk of cardiac-valve regurgitation. N Engl J Med. 1998;339:719–24.
- Cannistra LB, Cannistra AJ. Regression of multivalvular regurgitation after the cessation of fenfluramine and phentermine treatment. N Engl J Med. 1998;339:771.
- Le Ven F, Tribouilloy C, Habib G, Gueffet J–P, Maréchaux S, Eicher J–C, et al. Valvular heart disease associated with benfluorex therapy: results from the French multicentre registry. Eur J Echocardiogr. 2011;12:265–71.
- 827. Benkimoun P. French doctors question why drug stayed on the market for so long. BMJ. 2011;341:1240.
- 828. **Prescrire.** Benfluorex: how many deaths? Prescrire Int. 2011;20:45.
- 829. State Food and Drug Administration. SFDA requires stopping the production, selling, and use of fenfluramine hydrochloride raw materials and preparations. 12 January 2009. http://eng.sfda.gov.cn/WS03/CL0757/62178.html.
- 830. Aldridge J, Measham F. Sildenafil (Viagra) is used as a recreational drug in England. BMJ. 1999;318:669.
- Measham F, Aldridge J, Parker H. Dancing on drugs: risk, health and hedonism in the British club scene. Free Association Books, 2000:96–97,115,137.
- No author listed. Viagra's licence and the internet. Lancet. 1998;352:751.
- Henney JE, Shuren JE. Direct sale of sildenafil (Viagra) to consumers over the Internet. N Eng J Med. 2000;342:740, 742.
- 834. **deKieffer DE.** Direct sale of sildenafil (Viagra) to consumers over the Internet. N Eng J Med. 2000;342:742.
- Armstrong K, Schwartz JS, Asch DA. Direct sale of sildenafil (Viagra) to consumers over the Internet. N Eng J Med. 1999;341:1389–92.
- Sherr L, Bolding G, Maguire M, Elford J. Viagra use and sexual risk behaviour among gay men in London. AIDS. 2000;14:2051–3.
- Winstock AR, Griffiths P, Stewart D. Drugs and the dance music scene: a survey of current drug use patterns among a sample of dance music enthusiasts in the UK. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2001;64:9–17.
- McCambridge J, Mitcheson L, Hunt N, Winstock A. The rise of Viagra among British illicit drug users: 5–year survey data. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2006;25:111–3.

- 839. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. "Tan jab" is an unlicensed medicine and may not be safe – warms medicines regulator. 17 November 2008. http://www. mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/Pressreleases/CON031009.
- Smith K, Flatley J, eds. Drug misuse declared: findings from the 2010/11 British crime survey. England and Wales. Home Office, 2011:27.
- Bridges S, Gill V, Omole T, Sutton R, Wright V. Smoking, drinking and drug use among young people in England in 2010. Health and Social Care Information Centre, 2011.
- 842. Pearson DE. Body building on drugs. BMJ. 1967;4:353.
- 843. MacQueen IJ. Body building on drugs. BMJ. 1967;4:743-4.
- 844. Garner ST, Miles NA. Abuse of anabolic steroids. BMJ. 1985;291:741.
- Goodbody J. Drugs in sport: Sports Ministers to act against traffic in steroids. The Times. 1 October 1986:39.
- McKillop G. Drug abuse in body builders in the West of Scotland. Scott Med J. 1987;32:39–41.
- 847. Goodbody J, Davis I. Drugs charge alerts Sports Council. The Times. 1 May 1987:24.
- Goodbody J. Three are accused of selling steroids. The Times. 28 August 1987:3.
- Goodbody J, Morgan A. Steroids kill bodybuilder: Doctors warn of dangers. The Times. 27 August 1987:1.
- Goodbody J. Government moves to curb the abuse of anabolic steroids. The Times. 12 September 1987:44.
- Foster H, Goodbody J. Illegal drug supplier deals by mail order: steroids are big business says man who sells to body builders. The Times. 21 November 1987:3.
- 852. **Gill K.** I turned to steroids admits champion woman body builder. The Times. 23 November 1987:3.
- Goodbody J, Foster H. Sportsmen injecting animal steroids. The Times. 23 December 1987:1,16.
- Goodbody J. Steroid suppliers may face 5-year jail terms. The Times. 16 November 1988:1.
- Cowdry Q, Goodbody J. Steroid abuse to be outlawed by Government. The Times. 29 December 1989:3.
- Williamson D. Edinburgh's lesser known drug problem. Edinburgh Med. 1991;65:6–7.
- Williamson D. Anabolic steroid use outside competition. Br J Psychiatry. 1991;159:161.
- Perry HM, Littlepage BN. Misusing anabolic drugs. BMJ. 1992;305:1241–2.
- Goodbody J. Bodybuilding drugs change husbands into raging bulls; Quest for perfect physique backfires. The Times. 7 December 1992:7.
- Perry HM, Wright D, Littlepage BN. Dying to be big: a review of anabolic steroid use. Br J Sports Med. 1992;26:259–61.
- 861. Williamson D. Misuse of anabolic drugs. BMJ. 1993;306:61.
- Williamson D. Anabolic steroid use among students at a British college of technology. Br J Sports Med. 1993;27:200–1
- Pates R, Temple D. The use of anabolic steroids in Wales: A report by the Welsh Committee on Drug Misuse. Welsh Office, 1992.
- 864. Korkia P, Stimson G. Anabolic steroid use in Great Britain: An exploratory investigation. Final report to the Department of Health for England, Scotland and Wales. The Centre for Research on Drugs and Health Behaviour, 1993.
- Goodbody J. "50,000 Britons" risk damage by taking anabolic steroids. The Times. 25 May 1993:5.
- Westwood N. Pilot project drugs in sport. Final report. Clwyd Drugs Service, 1994.
- Lenehan P, Bellis MA, McVeigh J. A study of anabolic steroid use in the North West of England. J Perform Enhanc Drugs. 1996;1:57–70.
- Pates R, Barry C. Steroid use in Cardiff: A problem for whom? J Perform Enhanc Drugs. 1996;1:92–7.
- 869. Burton C. Anabolic steroid use among the gym population in Clwyd. Pharm J. 1996;256:557–9.
- 870. Crampin AC, Lamagni TL, Hope VD, Newham JA, Lewis KM, Parry JV, et al. The risk of infection with HIV and hepatitis B in individuals who inject steroids in England and Wales. Epidemiol Infect. 1998;121:381–6.
- Bolding G, Sherr L, Maguire M, Elford J. HIV risk behaviours among gay men who use anabolic steroids. Addiction. 1999;94:1829–35.
- Grace FM, Baker JS, Davies B. Anabolic androgenic steroid use in recreational gym users: a regional sample of the Mid– Glamorgan area. J Subst Use. 2001;6:189–95.
- Bolding G, Sherr L, Elford J. Use of anabolic steroids and associated health risks among gay men attending London gyms. Addiction. 2002;97:195–203.

- Baker JS, Graham MR, Davies B. Steroid and prescription medicine abuse in the health and fitness community: A regional study. Eur J Intern Med. 2006;17:479–84.
- McVeigh J, Beynon CM, Bellis MA. New challenges for agency based syringe exchange schemes: analysis of 11 years of data (1991–2001) in Merseyside and Cheshire, United Kingdom. Int J Drug Pol. 2003;14:399–405.
- Boos CJ, Wheble GAC, Campbell MJ, Tabner KC, Woods DR. Self-administration of exercise and dietary supplements in deployed British military personnel during Operation TELIC 13. J R Army Med Corps. 2010;156:32–6.
- Boos CJ, Simms P, Morris FR, Fertout M. The use of exercise and dietary supplements among British soldiers in Afghanistan. J R Army Med Corps. 2011;157:229–32.
- Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs. Consideration of the anabolic steroids. Home Office, 2010.
- Rogers EM. Diffusion of innovations. Free Press, 2003..
 Assael S. Steroid nation. ESPN Books, 2007:67–9, 72–4,
- 94–7, 140–5, 153–4.
 881. Takahashi Y, Kipnis DM, Daughaday WH. Growth hormone secretion during sleep. J Clin Invest. 1968;47:2079–90.
- Oyama T, Takiguchi M. Effects of gamma–hydroxybutyrate and surgery on plasma human growth hormone and insulin levels. Agressologie. 1970;11:289–98.
- Oyama T, Takiguchi M, Kudo T, Takazawa T, Kudo M. [Effects of gamma-hydroxybutyrate on plasma levels of human growth hormone and insulin.] Masui. 1970;19:645–52.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Multistate outbreak of poisonings associated with illicit use of gamma hydroxy butyrate. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1990;39:861–3.
- Dyer JE. γ–Hydroxybutyrate: a health–food product producing coma and seizurelike activity. Am J Emerg Med. 1991;9:321–4.
- Luby S, Jones J, Zalewski A. GHB use in South Carolina. Am J Public Health. 1992;82:128.
- Chin MY, Kreutzer RA, Dyer JE. Acute poisoning from gamma– hydroxybutyrate in California. West J Med. 1992;156:380–4.
- Philen RM, Ortiz DI, Auerbach SB, Falk H. Survey of advertising for nutritional supplements in health and bodybuilding magazines. JAMA. 1992;268:1008–11.
- Krawczeniuk A. The occurrence of gamma–hydroxybutyric acid (GHB) in a steroid seizure. Microgram. 1993;26:160–6.
- Steele MT, Watson WA. Acute poisoning from gamma hydroxybutyrate (GHB). Mo Med. 1995;92:354–7.
- Myrenfors P. [Ten cases of poisoning with gamma hydroxybutyrate. An endogenous substance used by body builders.] Lakartidningen. 1996;93:1973–4.
- Chin MY, Kreutzer RA, Dyer JE. Acute poisoning from gamma–hydroxybutyrate in California. West J Med. 1992;156:380–4.
- 893. Medicine Control Agency. Enforcement. Mail. 2000;118(March/April):6–7.
- Medicine Control Agency. Enforcement. Mail. 2001;128(November/December):5.
- Medicine Control Agency. Enforcement. Mail. 2003; (January/ February)135:6.
- Klatz R, Kahn C. Grow young with HGH. HarperCollins, 1998.
 Gonzalez A, Nutt DJ. Gamma hydroxy butyrate abuse and
- dependency. J Psychopharmacol (Oxford). 2005;19:195–204. 898. **Power ML, Schulkin J.** The evolution of obesity. Johns
- Hopkins University Press, 2009. 899. Stearns SC, Koella JC. Evolution in health and disease.
- Stearns SC, Koella JC. Evolution in nealth and disease. Oxford University Press, 2008.
- Adan RAH, Vanderschuren LJMJ, Ja Fleur SE. Anti-obesity drugs and neural circuits of feeding. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2008;29:208–217.
- Lang T, Barling D, Caraher M. Food policy: integrating health, environment and society. Oxford University Press, 2009.
- Robertson A, Brunner E, Sheiham A. Food is a political issue. In Marmot MG, Wilkinson RG, eds. Social determinants of health. Oxford University Press, 2005:172–95.
- 903. Hu F, ed. Obesity epidemiology. Oxford University Press, 2008
 904. Crawford D, Jeffery RW, Ball K, Brug J. Obesity
- epidemiology: from aetiology to public health. Oxford University Press, 2010. 905 Offer A. Body weight and self-control in the United Sta
- Offer A. Body weight and self-control in the United States and Britain since the 1950s. Soc Hist Med. 2001;14:79–106.
 Stuil M. Explaining trends in body weight: Offer's rational and
- Stuij M. Explaining trends in body weight: Offer's rational and myopic choice vs Elias' theory of civilizing processes. Soc Hist Med. 2011;24:796–812.
- Delate T, Simmons VA, Motheral BR. Patterns of use of sildenafil among commercially insured adults in the United States: 1998–2002. Int J Impot Res. 2004;16:313–8.

- Rudman D, Feller AG, Nagraj HS, Gergans GA, Lalitha PY, Goldberg AF, et al. Effects of human growth hormone in men over 60 years old. N Eng J Med. 1990;323:1–6.
- 909. Vance ML. Growth hormone for the elderly? N Eng J Med. 1990;323:52–4.
- 910. Vance ML. Can growth hormone prevent aging? N Eng J Med. 2003;348:779–80.
- 911. **Drazen JM.** Inappropriate advertising of dietary supplements. N Eng J Med. 2003;348:777–8.
- 912. **Taylor H.** Inappropriate advertising of dietary supplements. N Eng J Med. 2003;348:2255–6; author reply 2255–6.
- Perls TT. Anti–aging quackery: human growth hormone and tricks of the trade—more dangerous than ever. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2004;59:682–91.
- Perls TT, Reisman NR, Olshansky SJ. Provision or distribution of growth hormone for "antiaging": clinical and legal issues. JAMA. 2005;294:2086–90.
- Olshansky SJ, Perls TT. New developments in the illegal provision of growth hormone for "anti–aging" and bodybuilding. JAMA. 2008;299:2792–4.
- Perls TT. Growth hormone and anabolic steroids: athletes are the tip of the iceberg. Drug Test Anal. 2009;1:419–25.
- Angier, N. Human growth hormone reverses effects of aging. 5 July 1990. http://www.nytimes.com/1990/07/05/ us/human-growth-hormone-reverses-effects-of-aging. html?pagewanted=all&src=pm.
- No author listed. Want a tan without using sunbeds? Scientists develop implant that stimulates skin pigment production. 29 August 2011. http://www.dailymail.co.uk/ sciencetech/article-2031032/Skin-implant-gives-month-tandeveloped-scientists.html.
- 919. Clark L. Schoolchildren could be given "smart drugs" in a bid to boost brainpower. 19 September 2008. http://www.dailymail. co.uk/news/article-1058391/Schoolchildren-given-smart-drugsbid-boost-brainpower.html.
- Marrin M. It's a no-brainer bring on the pills that will make us smarter. The Times. 4 January 2010. http://www.timesonline. co.uk/to/comment/columnists/minette_marrin/article6973986.ece.
- Irving R. Biotech tan from a jab could put the heat on suntan salons soon. 16 April 2005. http://business.timesonline. co.uk/tol/business/article381615.ece?print=yes&randn um=1243326761351.
- Cohen J, Collins RD, Darkes J, Gwartney D. A league of their own: demographics, motivations and patterns of use of 1,955 male adult non-medical anabolic steroid users in the United States. J Int Soc Sports Nutr. 2007. doi:10.1186/1550-2783-4-12.
- Sumnall DH, Woolfall K, Cole J, Mackridge A, McVeigh J. NICE guidance on ADHD. Diversion and abuse of methylphenidate in light of new guidance. BMJ. 2008;337:a2287.
- Evans-Brown M, McVeigh J. Injecting human growth hormone as a performance-enhancing drug—perspectives from the United Kingdom. J Subst Use. 2009;14:273–88.
- 925. Evans-Brown MJ, Kimergård A, McVeigh J. Elephant in the room? The methodological implications for public health research of performance-enhancing drugs derived from the illicit market. Drug Test Anal. 2009;1:323-6.
- 926. Sherr RJ, Johnson RJ, Kelder S, Meshack AF, Jefferson T. Beliefs and social norms about sildenafil citrate (Viagra) misuse and perceived consequences among Houstonian teenage males. Am J Men's Health. 2007;1:208–12.
- Franke AG, Bonertz C, Christmann M, Huss M, Fellgiebel A, Hildt E, et al. Non-medical use of prescription stimulants and illicit use of stimulants for cognitive enhancement in pupils and students in Germany. Pharmacopsychiatry. 2011;44:60–6.
- Campbell D. Millions "lending" prescription drugs, research reveals. 30 May 2010. http://www.guardian.co.uk/uk/2010/ may/30/millions-lend-prescription-drugs-survey.
- Holloway K, Bennett T. Prescription drug misuse among university staff and students: A survey of motives, nature and extent. Drugs Educ Prev Policy. 2012;19:137–44.
- NHS Security Management Service. NHS Security Management Service (NHS SMS) security of prescription forms guidance. NHS Business Services Authority, 2008:5.
- 931. Duchaine D. The Underground Steroid Handbook II. (Incorporating material from the original Underground Steroid Handbook, Ultimate Muscle Mass, and the USH Updates #1–10.). Venice, California, United States of America: HLR Technical Books. 1989:74.
- 932. Court of Appeal (Criminal Division). [R. v Wayne John Yanko], 13 June 1995.
- Court of Appeal (Criminal Division). [Alan Valentine v The Queen], 10 November 2006.
- Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain. Millions risk health buying drugs online. 10 January 2008. http://www. prnewswire.co.uk/cgi/news/release?id=216448.

- 935. No author listed. Spamdexing. Accessed 17 February 2012. http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Spamdexing.
- Pan B, Hembrooke H, Joachims T, Lorigo L, Gay G, Granka L. In google we trust: users' decisions on rank, position, and relevance. J Comput–Mediated Commun. 2007;12:801–23.
- Marmola. An obesity "cure" of the "prescription fake" variety. JAMA. 1909;53:1306–7.
- Sharp B. How brands grow: what marketers don't know. Oxford University Press, 2010.
- Beckett AH, Brookes LG. The absolute configuration of (+)-1-(3-trifluoromethylphenyl)-2-ethylamino propane [(+)fenfluramine]. Tetrahedron. 1968;24:1283–7.
- 940. No author listed. Yellow Card Scheme. Accessed 30 January 2012. http://yellowcard.mhra.gov.uk.
- Davis S, King B, Raine JM. Spontaneous reporting UK. In Mann R, Andrews E, eds. Pharmacovigilance. John Wiley & Sons, 2009:199–215.
- Krska J, Anderson C, Murphy E, Avery AJ. How patient reporters identify adverse drug reactions: a qualitative study of reporting via the UK Yellow Card Scheme. Drug Saf. 2011;34:429–36.
- 943. Avery A, Anderson C, Bond C, Fortnum H, Gifford A, Hannaford P, et al. Evaluation of patient reporting of adverse drug reactions to the UK 'Yellow Card Scheme': literature review, descriptive and qualitative analyses, and questionnaire surveys. Health Technol Assess. 2011;15:1–234.
- McLernon DJ, Bond CM, Lee AJ, Watson MC, Hannaford PC, Fortnum H, et al. Patient views and experiences of making adverse drug reaction reports to the Yellow Card Scheme in the UK. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2011;20:523–31.
- Krska J, Jones L, McKinney J, Wilson C. Medicine safety: experiences and perceptions of the general public in Liverpool. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2011;20:1098–1103.
- Krüskemper HL. Anabolic steroids. Academic Press, 1968.
 Vida JA. Androgens and anabolic agents. Chemistry and
- pharmacology. Academic Press, 1969.
- Kochakian CD. Anabolic–androgenic steroids. Springer– Verlag, 1977.
- Wright JE. Anabolic steroids and sports. Sports Science Consultants, 1978.
- 950. Wright JE. Anabolic steroids and sports. Sports Science Consultants, 1982.
- Spano F, Ryan WG. Tamoxifen for gynecomastia induced by anabolic steroids? N Engl J Med. 1984;311:861–2.
- Rich JD, Dickinson BP, Merriman NA, Thule PM. Insulin use by bodybuilders. JAMA. 1998;279:1613.
- Goeddel DV, Heyneker HL, Hozumi T, Arentzen R, Itakura K, Yansura DG, et al. Direct expression in Escherichia coli of a DNA sequence coding for human growth hormone. Nature. 1979;281:544–8.
- 954. Milner RD. Growth hormone 1985. BMJ. 1985;291:1593-4.
- Genentech. FDA approves Genentech's drug to treat children's growth disorder. 18 October 1985. http://www.gene.com/gene/ news/press-releases/display.do?method=detail&id=4235.
- Flodh H. Present situation worldwide regarding the use and clinical experience of Somatonorm (somatrem). Acta Paediatr Scand Suppl. 1987;331:1–4.
- Flodh H. Human growth hormone produced with recombinant DNA technology: development and production. Acta Paediatr Scand Suppl. 1986;325:1–9.
- Fryklund L. Production of authentic recombinant somatropin. Acta Paediatr Scand Suppl. 1987;331:5–8.
- 959. Walters MJ, Ayers RJ, Brown DJ. Analysis of illegally distributed anabolic steroid products by liquid chromatography with identity confirmation by mass spectrometry or infrared spectrophotometry. J Assoc Off Anal Chem. 1990;73:904–26.
- Johnson TD, Bowden JP. Anabolic steroids in "cross-tops." Microgram. 1990;XXII:237–42.
- Bergman RT. Contaminated drug supply. Phys Sportsmed. 1993;21:8.
- Pope HG, Katz DL. Psychiatric and medical effects of anabolic-androgenic steroid use. A controlled study of 160 athletes. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1994;51:375–82.
- Perry H. Counterfeit fake anabolic steroids and hazards of their use. Relay. 1995;1:9–12.
- 964. van der Kuy PHM, Stegeman A, jr BJL, Hooymans PM. Falsification of Thai dianabol. Pharm World Sci. 1997;19:208–9.
- Musshoff F, Daldrup T, Ritsch M. Black market in anabolic steroids—analysis of illegally distributed products. J Forensic Sci. 1997;42:1119–25.
- No author listed. Stanazolol tablets, ketamine, and nandralone in Newark, California. Microgram Bull. 2003;XXXVI:250.

- Geer LC, A HP. Letrozole (Femara®). Microgram J. 2003;1:190–5.
- 968. **No author listed.** Mis–labelled steroid ampule in Lewisville, Texas. Microgram Bull. 2004;XXXVII:93–4.
- 969. Wisniewski ES, Hays PA. Dehydrochlormethyltestosterone: an analytical profile. Microgram J; 2006;4:54–65.
- Drug Enforcement Administration. Methandrostenolone "blotter paper" in Santa Clara, California. Microgram Bull. 2006;XXXIX:6
- No author listed. "Turanabol" (dehydrochlormethyltestosterone) in Winchester, Virginia. Microgram Bull. 2006;XXXIX:87.
- 972. No author listed. Counterfeit letrozole and unusual testosterone in Rochester, New York. Microgram Bull. 2006;XXXIX:146–7.
- Drug Enforcement Administration. DEA announces largest steroid enforcement action in U.S. history. 24 September 2007. http://www.justice.gov/dea/pubs/pressrel/pr092407.html.
- No author listed. Vials of freeze-dried human growth hormone (hGH) in East Meadow, New York. Microgram Bull. 2008;41:30.
- No author listed. Aromatherapy oil (actually containing a steroid cocktail) in Hummelstown, Pennsylvania. Microgram Bull. 2008;41:38.
- No author listed. Aromatherapy oil package (actually containing testosterone cypionate) in Sacramento, California. Microgram Bull. 2008;41:52.
- No author listed. Methandrostenolone mimic tablets (actually containing 17 –methyldromostanolone) in Erie, Pennsylvania. Microgram Bull. 2008;41:82.
- Klein B. Boldenone vials and hydrocodone and stanozolol tablets at the El Paso Airport, Texas. Microgram Bull. 2008;41:104.
- No author listed. Large seizure of steroids in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. Microgram Bull. 2008;41:88–9.
- No author listed. Oxandrolone "papers" at the Dallas/Fort Worth Airport. Microgram Bull. 2009;42:57.
- 981. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Rotherham bodybuilders sentenced for selling steroids. 7 October 2009. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/NewsCentre/ Pressreleases/CON059809.
- Thevis M, Schrader Y, Thomas A, Sigmund G, Geyer H, Schänzer W. Analysis of confiscated black market drugs using chromatographic and mass spectrometric approaches. J Anal Toxicol. 2008;32:232–40.
- Graham MR, Ryan P, Baker JS, Davies B, Thomas N–E, Cooper S–M, et al. Counterfeiting in performance– and image–enhancing drugs. Drug Test Anal. 2009;1:135–42.
- Dalton JT, Mukherjee A, Zhu Z, Kirkovsky L, Miller DD. Discovery of nonsteroidal androgens. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1998;244:1–4.
- 985. Marhefka CA, Moore BM, Bishop TC, Kirkovsky L, Mukherjee A, Dalton JT, et al. Homology modeling using multiple molecular dynamics simulations and docking studies of the human androgen receptor ligand binding domain bound to testosterone and nonsteroidal ligands. J Med Chem. 2001;44:1729–40.
- He Y, Yin D, Perera M, Kirkovsky L, Stourman N, Li W, et al. Novel nonsteroidal ligands with high binding affinity and potent functional activity for the androgen receptor. Eur J Med Chem. 2002;37:619–34.
- 987. Yin D, Gao W, Kearbey JD, Xu H, Chung K, He Y, et al. Pharmacodynamics of selective androgen receptor modulators. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2003;304:1334–40.
- Yin D, He Y, Perera MA, Hong SS, Marhefka C, Stourman N, et al. Key structural features of nonsteroidal ligands for binding and activation of the androgen receptor. Mol Pharmacol. 2003;63:211–23.
- 989. Yin D, Xu H, He Y, Kirkovsky LI, Miller DD, Dalton JT. Pharmacology, pharmacokinetics, and metabolism of acetothiolutamide, a novel nonsteroidal agonist for the androgen receptor. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2003;304:1323–33.
- Bohl CE, Chang C, Mohler ML, Chen J, Miller DD, Swaan PW, et al. A ligand-based approach to identify quantitative structure-activity relationships for the androgen receptor. J Med Chem. 2004;47:3765–76.
- 991. Gao W, Kearbey JD, Nair VA, Chung K, Parlow AF, Miller DD, et al. Comparison of the pharmacological effects of a novel selective androgen receptor modulator, the 5alpha-reductase inhibitor finasteride, and the antiandrogen hydroxyflutamide in intact rats: new approach for benign prostate hyperplasia. Endocrinology. 2004;145:5420–8.
- 992. Nair VA, Mustafa SM, Mohler ML, Yang J, Kirkovsky LI, Dalton JT, et al. Synthesis of irreversibly binding bicalutamide analogs for imaging studies. Tetrahedron Letters. 2005;46:4821–3.

- 993. Gao W, Reiser PJ, Coss CC, Phelps MA, Kearbey JD, Miller DD, et al. Selective androgen receptor modulator treatment improves muscle strength and body composition and prevents bone loss in orchidectomized rats. Endocrinology. 2005;146:4887–97.
- Gao W, Kim J, Dalton JT. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of nonsteroidal androgen receptor ligands. Pharm Res. 2006;23:1641–58.
- 995. Bhasin S, Calof OM, Storer TW, Lee ML, Mazer NA, Jasuja R, et al. Drug insight: Testosterone and selective androgen receptor modulators as anabolic therapies for chronic illness and aging. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab. 2006;2:146–59.
- Gao W, Dalton JT. Ockham's razor and selective androgen receptor modulators (SARMs): are we overlooking the role of 5alpha-reductase? Mol Interv. 2007;7:10–3.
- Gao W, Dalton JT. Expanding the therapeutic use of androgens via selective androgen receptor modulators (SARMs). Drug Discov Today. 2007;12:241–8.
- 998. Narayanan R, Coss CC, Yepuru M, Kearbey JD, Miller DD, Dalton JT. Steroidal androgens and nonsteroidal, tissue-selective androgen receptor modulator, S-22, regulate androgen receptor function through distinct genomic and nongenomic signaling pathways. Molecular Endocrinology. Endocrine Soc. 2008;22:2448.
- Bhasin S, Jasuja R. Selective androgen receptor modulators as function promoting therapies. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2009;12:232–40.
- 1000. Mohler ML, Bohl CE, Jones A, Coss CC, Narayanan R, He Y, et al. Nonsteroidal selective androgen receptor modulators (SARMs): dissociating the anabolic and androgenic activities of the androgen receptor for therapeutic benefit. J Med Chem. 2009;52:3597–617.
- 1001. Jones A, Hwang D-J, Narayanan R, Miller DD, Dalton JT. Effects of a novel selective androgen receptor modulator on dexamethasone-induced and hypogonadism-induced muscle atrophy. Endocrinology. 2010;151:3706–19.
- 1002. Dalton JT, Barnette KG, Bohl CE, Hancock ML, Rodriguez D, Dodson ST, et al. The selective androgen receptor modulator GTx-024 (enobosarm) improves lean body mass and physical function in healthy elderly men and postmenopausal women: results of a double-blind, placebocontrolled phase II trial. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle. 2011;2:153–61.
- 1003. Jetté L, Léger R, Thibaudeau K, Benquet C, Robitaille M, Pellerin I, et al. Human growth hormone-releasing factor (hGRF)1–29–albumin bioconjugates activate the GRF receptor on the anterior pituitary in rats: identification of CJC-1295 as a long–lasting GRF analog. Endocrinology. 2005;146:3052–8.
- 1004. Ionescu M, Frohman LA. Pulsatile secretion of growth hormone (GH) persists during continuous stimulation by CJC-1295, a long-acting GH-releasing hormone analog. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006;91:4792–7.
- 1005. Teichman SL, Neale A, Lawrence B, Gagnon C, Castaigne J–P, Frohman LA. Prolonged stimulation of growth hormone (GH) and insulin–like growth factor I secretion by CJC-1295, a long–acting analog of GH–releasing hormone, in healthy adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006;91:799–805.
- 1006. Alba M, Fintini D, Sagazio A, Lawrence B, Castaigne J–P, Frohman LA, et al. Once-daily administration of CJC-1295, a long-acting growth hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH) analog, normalizes growth in the GHRH knockout mouse. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2006;291:E1290–4.
- 1007. Sackmann–Sala L, Ding J, Frohman LA, Kopchick JJ. Activation of the GH/IGF–1 axis by CJC-1295, a long–acting GHRH analog, results in serum protein profile changes in normal adult subjects. Growth Horm IGF Res. 2009;19:471–7.
- 1008. Yang S, Alnaqeeb M, Simpson H, Goldspink G. Cloning and characterization of an IGF-1 isoform expressed in skeletal muscle subjected to stretch. J Muscle Res Cell Motil. 1996;17:487-95.
- 1009. McKoy G, Ashley W, Mander J, Yang SY, Williams N, Russell B, et al. Expression of insulin growth factor-1 splice variants and structural genes in rabbit skeletal muscle induced by stretch and stimulation. J Physiol. 1999;516:583–92.
- 1010. Dluzniewska J, Sarnowska A, Beresewicz M, Johnson I, Srai SKS, Ramesh B, et al. A strong neuroprotective effect of the autonomous C-terminal peptide of IGF-1 Ec (MGF) in brain ischemia. FASEB J. 2005;19:1896–8.
- 1011. Jasiurkowski B, Raj J, Wisinger D, Carlson R, Zou L, Nadir A. Cholestatic jaundice and IgA nephropathy induced by OTC muscle building agent superdrol. Am J Gastroenterol. 2006;101:2659–62.
- 1012. Kafrouni MI, Anders RA, Verma S. Hepatotoxicity associated with dietary supplements containing anabolic steroids. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2007;5:809–12.

- 1013. Shah NL, Zacharias I, Khettry U, Afdhal N, Gordon FD. Methasteron–associated cholestatic liver injury: clinicopathologic findings in 5 cases. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008;6:255–8.
- 1014. Singh V, Rudraraju M, Carey EJ, Byrne TJ, Vargas HE, Williams JE, et al. Severe hepatotoxicity caused by a methasteron-containing performance-enhancing supplement. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2009;43:287.
- 1015. Nasr J, Ahmad J. Severe cholestasis and renal failure associated with the use of the designer steroid Superdrol (methasteron): a case report and literature review. Dig Dis Sci. 2009;54:1144–6.
- 1016. Krishnan PV, Feng Z–Z, Gordon SC. Prolonged intrahepatic cholestasis and renal failure secondary to anabolic androgenic steroid–enriched dietary supplements. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2009;43:672–5.
- 1017. Buckley WE, Yesalis CE, Friedl KE, Anderson WA, Streit AL, Wright JE. Estimated prevalence of anabolic steroid use among male high school seniors. JAMA. 1988;260:3441–5.
- 1018. Handelsman DJ. Androgen misuse and abuse. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;25:377–89.
- 1019. Bailey DJ, O'Hagan D, Tavasli M. A short synthesis of (S)–2– (diphenylmethyl)pyrrolidine, a chiral solvating agent for NMR analysis. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry. 2003;8:149–53.
- 1020. Handelsman DJ. An old emperor finds new clothing: rejuvenation in our time. Asian J Androl. 2011;13:125–9.
- Handelsman DJ. Commentary: androgens and "anabolic steroids": the one-headed Janus. Endocrinology. 2011;152:1752–4.
- 1022. Bhasin S, Storer TW, Berman N, Callegari C, Clevenger B, Phillips J, et al. The effects of supraphysiologic doses of testosterone on muscle size and strength in normal men. N Eng J Med. 1996;335:1–7.
- 1023. Bhasin S, Woodhouse L, Casaburi R, Singh AB, Bhasin D, Berman N, et al. Testosterone dose-response relationships in healthy young men. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2001;281:E1172–81.
- 1024. Sinha–Hikim I, Artaza J, Woodhouse LJ, Gonzalez– Cadavid N, Singh AB, Lee MI, et al. Testosterone-induced increase in muscle size in healthy young men is associated with muscle fiber hypertrophy. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2002;283:E154–64.
- 1025. Sinha–Hikim I, Roth SM, Lee MI, Bhasin S. Testosteroneinduced muscle hypertrophy is associated with an increase in satellite cell number in healthy, young men. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2003;285:E197–205.
- 1026. Nieschlag E, Behre HM, eds. Testosterone: action, deficiency, substitution. Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- 1027. Kicman AT. Pharmacology of anabolic steroids. Br J Pharmacol. 2008;154:502–21.
- 1028. Handelsman DJ. Clinical review: The rationale for banning human chorionic gonadotropin and estrogen blockers in sport. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006;91:1646–53.
- 1029. Handelsman DJ. Indirect androgen doping by oestrogen blockade in sports. Br J Pharmacol. 2008;154:598–605.
- Ariel G, Saville W. Anabolic steroids: The physiological effects of placebos. Med Sci Sports. 1972;4:124–6.
- 1031. Björkqvist K, Nygren T, Björklund A, Björkqvist S. Testosterone intake and aggressiveness: Real effect or anticipation? Aggressive Behav. 1994;20:17–26.
- 1032. Nasjonalt Kunnskapssenter for Helsetjenesten. Androgene–anabole steroider (AAS) og vold. Nasjonalt Kunnskapssenter for Helsetjenesten, 2004.
- 1033. Moore TJ, Glenmullen J, Furberg CD. Prescription drugs associated with reports of violence towards others. PLoS One. 2010;5:e15337.
- 1034. Rouve N, Bagheri H, Telmon N, Pathak A, Franchitto N, et al. Prescribed drugs and violence: a case/noncase study in the French PharmacoVigilance Database. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2011;67:1189–98.
- 1035. McMurray C. The fit-fat struggle in US, Canada, Britain. 20 January 2004. http://www.gallup.com/poll/10342/fitfat-struggleus-canada-britain.aspx.
- 1036. Truby H, Bonham M. What makes a weight loss programme successful? BMJ. 2011;343:d6629.
- 1037. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Obesity. Guidance on the prevention, identification, assessment and management of overweight and obesity in adults and children. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2006.
- 1038. Department of Health. Start active, stay active. Department of Health, 2011.
- 1039. Shekelle PG, Hardy ML, Morton SC, Maglione M, Mojica WA, Suttorp MJ, et al. Efficacy and safety of ephedra and ephedrine for weight loss and athletic performance: a meta-analysis. JAMA. 2003;289:1537–45.

- Pittler MH, Ernst E. Dietary supplements for body-weight reduction: a systematic review. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004;79:529–36.
- Pittler MH, Ernst E. Complementary therapies for reducing body weight: a systematic review. Int J Obes. 2005;29:1030–8.
- 1042. Onakpoya IJ, Wider B, Pittler MH, Ernst E. Food supplements for body weight reduction: a systematic review of systematic reviews. Obesity. 2010;19:239–44.
- 1043. Sheldon T. Dutch doctors face fine for prescribing pregnancy hormone as dieting aid. BMJ. 2011;342:d1805.
- 1044. Lijesen GK, Theeuwen I, Assendelft WJ, Van Der Wal G. The effect of human chorionic gonadotropin (HCG) in the treatment of obesity by means of the Simeons therapy: a criteria–based meta–analysis. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1995;40:237–43.
- 1045. Food and Drug Administration. FDA warns consumers about Brazilian diet pills found to contain active drug ingredients. 13 January 2006. http://www.fda.gov/newsevents/ newsroom/pressannouncements/2006/ucm108578.htm.
- 1046. Nappo SA, Tabach R, Noto AR, Galduróz JCF, Carlini EA. Use of anorectic amphetamine–like drugs by Brazilian women. Eat Behav. 2002;3:153–65.
- 1047. Nappo SA, de Oliveira EM, Morosini S. Inappropriate prescribing of compounded antiobesity formulas in Brazil. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 1998;7:207–12.
- 1048. Cohen PA. Imported fenproporex-based diet pills from Brazil: a report of two cases. J Gen Intern Med. 2009;24:430–3.
- 1049. Cohen PA, McCormick D, Casey C, Dawson GF, Hacker KA. Imported compounded diet pill use among Brazilian women immigrants in the United States. J Immigr Minor Health. 2009;11:229–36.
- Mintel. Dieting UK February 2008. Accessed 17 January 2012. http://academic.mintel.com/sinatra/oxygen_academic// display/&id=227666.
- Blanck HM, Khan LK, Serdula MK. Use of nonprescription weight loss products: results from a multistate survey. JAMA. 2001;286:930–935.
- 1052. Blanck HM, Khan LK, Serdula MK. Prescription weight loss pill use among Americans: patterns of pill use and lessons learned from the fen-phen market withdrawal. Prev Med. 2004;39:1243–8.
- 1053. Blanck HM, Serdula MK, Gillespie C, Galuska DA, Sharpe PA, Conway JM, et al. Use of nonprescription dietary supplements for weight loss is common among Americans. J Am Diet Assoc. 2007;107:441–7.
- 1054. Euromen. Start my melanotan-1 trial. 28 March 2006. http:// melanotan.org/cgi-bin/yabb/YaBB.pl?num=1143582754.
- 1055. No author listed. Melanotan-1. Accessed 26 January 2012. http://melanotan.org/cgi-bin/yabb/YaBB. pl?catselect=melanotan1.
- 1056. Sawyer TK, Sanfilippo PJ, Hruby VJ, Engel MH, Heward CB, Burnett JB, et al. 4-Norleucine, 7-D-phenylalanine-αmelanocyte-stimulating hormone: A highly potent amelanotropin with ultralong biological activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1980;77:5754-8.
- 1057. Hadley ME, Anderson B, Heward CB, Sawyer TK, Hruby VJ. Calcium-dependent prolonged effects on melanophores of [4– norleucine, 7–D-phenylalanine]–alpha–melanotropin. Science. 1981;213:1025–7.
- 1058. Hruby VJ, Wilkes BC, Hadley ME, al-Obeidi F, Sawyer TK, Staples DJ, et al. α-Melanotropin: the minimal active sequence in the frog skin bioassay. J Med Chem. 1987;30:2126–30.
- Ugwu SO, Blanchard J, Dorr RT, Levine N, Brooks C, Hadley ME, et al. Skin pigmentation and pharmacokinetics of melanotan–I in humans. Biopharm Drug Dispos. 1997;18:259–69.
- 1060. Dorr RT, Ertl G, Levine N, Brooks Č, Bangert JL, Powell MB, et al. Effects of a superpotent melanotropic peptide in combination with solar UV radiation on tanning of the skin in human volunteers. Arch Dermatol. 2004;140:827–35.
- Fitzgerald LM, Fryer JL, Dwyer T, Humphrey SM. Effect of MELANOTAN®, [Nle4, d-Phe7]–α–MSH, on melanin synthesis in humans with MC1R variant alleles. Peptides. 2006;27:388–94.
- 1062. Barnetson RS, Ooi TKT, Zhuang L, Halliday GM, Reid CM, Walker PC, et al. [Nle4-d-Phe7]–α-melanocyte-stimulating hormone significantly increased pigmentation and decreased UV damage in fair-skinned Caucasian volunteers. J Invest Dermatol. 2006;126:1869–78.
- 1063. Harms J, Lautenschlager S, Minder CE, Minder EI. An α-melanocyte-stimulating hormone analogue in erythropoietic protoporphyria. N Eng J Med. 2009;360(3):306–7.
- 1064. Haylett AK, Nie Z, Brownrigg M, Taylor R, Rhodes LE. Systemic photoprotection in solar urticaria with α-melanocytestimulating hormone analogue [NIe4–d–Phe7]–α–MSH. Br J Dermatol. 2011;164:407–14.

- 1065. Sawyer TK, Sanfilippo PJ, Hruby VJ, Engel MH, Heward CB, Burnett JB, Hadley ME. 4–Norleucine, 7–D– phenylalanine–α–melanocyte–stimulating hormone: a highly potent α–melanotropin with ultralong biological activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1980;77:5754–8.
- 1066. Levine N, Sheftel SN, Eytan T, Dorr RT, Hadley ME, Weinrach JC, Ertl GA, Toth K, McGee DL, Hruby VJ. Induction of skin tanning by subcutaneous administration of a potent synthetic melanotropin. JAMA. 1991;266:2730–6.
- 1067. Ugwu SO, Blanchard J, Dorr RT, Levine N, Brooks C, Hadley ME, Aickin M, Hruby VJ. Skin pigmentation and pharmacokinetics of melanotan–I in humans. Biopharm Drug Dispos. 1997;18:259–69.
- 1068. Dorr RT, Dvorakova K, Brooks C, Lines R, Levine N, Schram K, Miketova P, Hruby V, Alberts DS. Increased eumelanin expression and tanning is induced by a superpotent melanotropin [NIe4–D–Phe7]–α–MSH in humans. Photochem Photobiol. 2000;72:526–32.
- 1069. Dorr RT, Ertl G, Levine N, Brooks C, Bangert JL, Powell MB, Humphrey S, Alberts DS. Effects of a superpotent melanotropic peptide in combination with solar UV radiation on tanning of the skin in human volunteers. Arch Dermatol. 2004;140:827–35.
- 1070. Tomlison H. Australian tanning treatment seeks London backers. 31 March 2005. http://www.guardian.co.uk/ business/2005/mar/31/5.
- 1071. Barnetson RS, Ooi TK, Zhuang L, Halliday GM, Reid CM, Walker PC, Humphrey SM, Kleinig MJ. [Nle4–D–Phe7]–α– melanocyte–stimulating hormone significantly increased pigmentation and decreased UV damage in fair–skinned Caucasian volunteers. J Invest Dermatol. 2006;126:1869–78.
- 1072. Langan EA, Ramlogan D, Jamieson LA, Rhodes LE. Change in moles linked to use of unlicensed 'sun tan jab'. BMJ. 2009;338:b277.
- 1073. Ellis RA, Kirkham N, Seukeran D. Malignant melanoma in a user of melanotan I. 26 February 2009. http://www.bmji. com/rapid-response/2011/11/02/malignant-melanoma-usermelanotan-i.
- 1074. Cousen P, Colver G, Helbling I. Eruptive melanocytic naevi following melanotan injection. Br J Dermatol. 2009;161:707–8.
- Cardones AR, Grichnik JM. α–Melanocyte–stimulating hormone–induced eruptive nevi. Arch Dermatol. 2009;145:441–4.
 Thestrup–Pedersen K, Søndergaard K. Melanotan
- inducerer lentigines og nævi. Ugeskr Laeg. 2011;173:975.
 1077. Paurobally D, Jason F, Dezfoulian B, Nikkels AF. Melanotan–
- associated melanoma. Br J Dermatol. 2011;164:1403–5. 1078. Thestrup–Pedersen K, Søndergaard K. Melatonin used
- for tanning induces and augments lentigines and naevi. Acta Derm Venerol. 2010;90:643–4.
- 1079. Rhodes L, Langan E. Melanotropic peptides: what exactly is meant by "melanotan?" Acta Derm Venerol. 2011;91:377–8.
- 1080. Bartenwerffer von W, Siebenhaar G, Hunzelmann N. Pseudoleucoderma after injections of afamelanotide in a patient with atopic dermatitis. Acta Derm Venerol. 2011;91:578–9.
- Ferrándiz–Pulido C, Fernández–Figueras MT, Quer A, Ferrándiz C. An eruptive pigmented lesion after melanotan injection. Clin Exp Dermatol. 2011;36:801–2.
- 1082. Goeckerman WH. A peculiar discoloration of the skin. Probably resulting from mercurial compounds (calomel) in proprietary face creams. JAMA. 1922;79:605–7.
- 1083. Goeckerman WH. A peculiar discoloration of the skin. Supplementary report. JAMA. 1925;84:506–7.
- 1084. Hollander L, Baer HL. Discoloration of the skin due to mercury. Arch Derm Syphilol. 1929;20:27–35.
- 1085. Oettel H. Die hydrochinonvergiftung. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Exp Pathol Pharmakol. 1936;183:319–62.
- 1086. Martin GJ, Ansbacher S. Confirmatory evidence of the chromotrichal activity of p–aminobenzoic acid. J Biol Chem. 1941;138:441–2.
- Denton CR, Lerner AB, Fitzpatrick TB. Inhibition of melanin formation by chemical agents. J Invest Dermatol. 1952;18:119–35.
- 1088. Oliver EA, Schwartz L, Warren LH. Occupational leukoderma. AMA Arch Derm Syphilol. 1940;42:993–1014.
- 1089. Arndt KA, Fitzpatrick TB. Topical use of hydroquinone as a depigmenting agent. JAMA. 1965;194:965–7.
- 1090. Fitzpatrick TB, Arndt KA, el-Mofty AM, Pathak MA. Hydroquinone and psoralens in the therapy of hypermelanosis and vitiligo. Arch Dermatol. 1966;93:589–600.
- 1091. Spencer MC. Topical use of hydroquinone for depigmentation. JAMA. 1965;194:962–4.
- 1092. **Spencer MC.** Hydroquinone bleaching. Arch Dermatol. 1964;84:131–4.
- 1093. Mills OH, Kligman AM. Further experience with a topical cream for depigmenting human skin. J Soc Cosmet Chem. 1978;29:147–54.

- 1094. Kligman AM, Willis I. A new formula for depigmenting human skin. Arch Dermatol. 1975;111:40–8.
- 1095. Fraser R, Gower DB, Honour JW, Ingram MC, Kicman AT, Makin HLJ, et al. Analysis of corticosteroids. Steroid analysis. Springer, 2010.
- 1096. Nordlund JJ, Boissy RE, Hearing VJ, King R, Oetting W, Ortonne J–P, eds. The pigmentary system. Wiley–Blackwell, 2006.
- 1097. European Commission. Rapid Alert System for Non–Food Products. Reference number: 1399/09. Accessed 27 February 2012. http://ec.europa.eu/consumers/dyna/rapex/rapex_ archives_en.cfm.
- 1098. No author listed. Stillman's Freckle Cream. 27 February 2012. http://www.amazon.co.uk/Stillmans-Cream-Freckle/dp/ B004SBI4BY/ref=sr_1_1?ie=UTF8&qid=1330337323&sr=8-1.
- 1099. Barr RD, Rees PH, Cordy PE, Kungu A, Woodger BA, Cameron HM. Nephrotic syndrome in adult Africans in Nairobi. BMJ. 1972;2:131–4.
- 1100. Barr RD, Woodger BA, Rees PH. Levels of mercury in urine correlated with the use of skin lightening creams. Am J Clin Pathol. 1973;59:36–40.
- Seedat YK, Simjee AE, Naidoo DV. Letter: Nephrotic syndrome due to cosmetics containing mercury. S Afr Med J. 1974;47:506.
- 1102. Kibukamusoke JW, Davies DR, Hutt MS. Membranous nephropathy due to skin–lightening cream. BMJ. 1974;2:646–7.
- 1103. Summa JD. [Chronic mercury poisoning from cosmetic creams.] MMW Munch Med Wochenschr. 1975;117:1121–4.
- Saffer D, Tayob H, Bill PL, Baily P. Continued marketing of skin–lightening preparations containing mercury. S Afr Med J. 1976;50:1499.
- 1105. Findlay GH, Morrison JG, Simson IW. Exogenous ochronosis and pigmented colloid milium from hydroquinone bleaching creams. Br J Dermatol. 1975;93:613–22.
- 1106. Saffer D, Tayob H, Bill PL, Baily P. Continued marketing of skin–lightening preparations containing mercury. S Afr Med J. 1976;50:1499.
- 1107. Brown KG, Abrahams C, Meyers AM. The nephrotic syndrome in Malawian blacks. S Afr Med J. 1977;52:275–8.
- Luderschmidt C, Plewig G. [Chronic mercury poisoning following topical application of skin bleachers.] Klin Wochenschr. 1979;57:293–8.
- 1109. Gras G, Mondain J. [The problem of the use of mercurials cosmetics in Senegal.] Toxicol Eur Res. 1981;3:175–8.
- 1110. Cullison D, Abele DC, O'Quinn JL. Localized exogenous ochronosis. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1983;8:882–9.
- Bockers M, Wagner R, Oster O. [Nail dyschromia as the leading symptom in chronic mercury poisoning caused by a cosmetic bleaching preparation]. Z Hautkr. 1985;60:821–9.
 Oliveira DB, Foster G, Savill J, Syme PD, Taylor A.
- 1112. Oliveira DB, Foster G, Savill J, Syme PD, Taylor A. Membranous nephropathy caused by mercury–containing skin lightening cream. Postgrad Med J. 1987;63:303–4.
- 1113. Sun CC. Allergic contact dermatitis of the face from contact with nickel and ammoniated mercury in spectacle frames and skin–lightening creams. Contact Derm. 1987;17:306–9.
- 1114. Hardwick N, Van Gelder LW, Van der Merwe CA, Van der Merwe MP. Exogenous ochronosis: an epidemiological study. Br J Dermatol. 1989;120:229–38.
- 1115. Turk JL, Baker H. Nephrotic syndrome due to ammoniated mercury. Br J Dermatol. 1968;80:623–4.
- 1116. Boyle J, Kennedy CT. British cosmetic regulations inadequate. BMJ. 1984;288:1998–9.
- 1117. Dyall-Smith DJ, Scurry JP. Mercury pigmentation and high mercury levels from the use of a cosmetic cream. Med J Aust. 1990;153:409–10.
- 1118. Williams H. Skin lightening creams containing hydroquinone. BMJ. 1992;305:903–4.
- 1119. Choi J, Cheung T, Choi T. Mercury poisoning caused by use of a facial cream — a case report. Public Health Epidemiol Bull. 2002;11:49–52.
- 1120. Otto M, Ahlemeyer C, Tasche H, Muhlendahl von KE. Mercury exposure. Nature. 1994;367:110.
- 1121. Otto M, Ahlemeyer C, Tasche H, Muhlendahl von KE. [Endemic mercury burden caused by a bleaching ointment in Balken refugees.] Gesundheitswesen. 1994;56:686–9.
- 1122. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Prevention. Mercury poisoning associated with beauty cream—Texas, New Mexico, and California, 1995–1996. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1996;45:400–3.
- 1123. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Prevention. Update: mercury poisoning associated with beauty cream— Arizona, California, New Mexico, and Texas, 1996. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1996;45:633–5.
- 1124. Pitche P, Afanou A, Amanga Y, Tchangai–Walla K. [Prevalence of skin disorders associated with the use of bleaching cosmetics by Lome women.] Sante. 1997;7:161–4.

- 1125. Jovanovic S, Gabrio T, Maisner V. [The mercury burden in a family due to a beauty care ointment.] Dtsch Med Wochenschr. 1997;122:423.
- 1126. Garza-Ocañas L, Torres-Alanís O, Piñeyro-López A. Urinary mercury in twelve cases of cutaneous mercurous chloride (calomel) exposure: effect of sodium 2,3dimercaptopropane-1-sulfonate (DMPS) therapy. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol. 1997;35:653-5.
- 1127. Balluz LS, Philen RM, Sewell CM, Voorhees RE, Falter KH, Paschal D. Mercury toxicity associated with a beauty lotion, New Mexico. Int J Epidemiol. 1997;26:1131–2.
- 1128. Cordier S, Grasmick C, Paquier–Passelaigue M, Mandereau L, Weber JP, Jouan M. Mercury exposure in French Guiana: levels and determinants. Arch Environ Health. 1998;53:299–303.
- 1129. Druce M, Goldstone AP, Tan TMM, Meeran K. The pursuit of beauty. Lancet. 2008;371:596.
- 1130. Mahé A, Blanc L, Halna JM, Keita S, Sanogo T, Bobin P. [An epidemiologic survey on the cosmetic use of bleaching agents by the women of Barnako (Mali)]. Ann Dermatol Venereol. 1993;120:870–3.
- Mahé A, Ly F, Perret J–L. Systemic complications of the cosmetic use of skin–bleaching products. Int J Dermatol. 2005;44(Suppl 1):37–8.
- 1132. Mahé A, Ly F, Aymard G, Dangou JM. Skin diseases associated with the cosmetic use of bleaching products in women from Dakar, Senegal. Br J Dermatol. 2003;148:493–500.
- 1133. Ajose FOA. Consequences of skin bleaching in Nigerian men and women. Int J Dermatol. 2005;44(Suppl 1):41–3.
- 1134. Olumide YM, Akinkugbe AO, Altraide D, Mohammed T, Ahamefule N, Ayanlowo S, et al. Complications of chronic use of skin lightening cosmetics. Int J Dermatol. 2008;47:344–53.
- Dadzie OE, Petit A. Skin bleaching: highlighting the misuse of cutaneous depigmenting agents. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2009;23:741–50.
- 1136. AlGhamdi K. The use of topical bleaching agents among women: a cross–sectional study of knowledge, attitude and practices. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2010;24:1214–9.
- 1137. Adebajo SB. An epidemiological survey of the use of cosmetic skin lightening cosmetics among traders in Lagos, Nigeria. West Afr J Med. 2002;21:51–5.
- 1138. Zhu YS, Katz MD, Imperato-McGinley J. Natural potent androgens: lessons from human genetic models. Baillieres Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1998;12:83–113.
- 1139. National Health Service (General Medical Services Contracts) (Prescription of Drugs etc.) Regulations 2004. SI 2004/629. The Stationery Office, 2004.
- 1140. The National Health Service (General Medical Services Contracts) Regulations 2004. SI 2004/291. The Stationery Office, 2004.
- 1141. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaint: Saturday Times magazine article on bimatoprost – November 2011. 26 January 2012. http://www. mhra.gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/Advertisingofmedicines/ Advertisinginvestigations/CON140841
- 1142. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaint: Advertisement for bimatoprost to consumers – December 2011. 26 January 2012. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/ Advertisingofmedicines/Advertisinginvestigations/CON140838.
- 1143. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaint – Botox (botulinum toxin) – Competition prize in Bella Magazine – 16 March 2010. 3 June 2010. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howeregulate/Medicines/ Advertisingofmedicines/Advertisinginvestigations/CON084623.
- 1144. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaint – clinics advertising botulinum toxin products – January – June 2010. 4 August 2010. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/ Advertisingofmedicines/Advertisinginvestigations/CON090824.
- 1145. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaint – clinics advertising botulinum toxin products – July–September 2010. 15 October 2010. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/ Advertisingofmedicines/Advertisinginvestigations/CON096924.
- 1146. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Clinics advertising botulinum toxin products – October 2010. 9 November 2010. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howveregulate/ Medicines/Advertisingofmedicines/Advertisinginvestigations/ CON099830.
- 1147. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaints – clinics advertising botulinum toxin products – November 2010. 7 December 2010. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/ Advertisingofmedicines/Advertisinginvestigations/CON102829.

- 1148. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaints – clinics advertising botulinum toxin products – December 2010. 18 January 2011. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/ Advertisingofmedicines/Advertisinginvestigations/CON105871.
- 1149. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaints – clinics advertising botulinum toxin products – January 2011. 16 February 2011. http://www.mhra. gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/Advertisingfmedicines/ Advertisinginvestigations/CON108783.
- 1150. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaints – clinics advertising botulinum toxin products. 10 March 2011. http://www.mhra.gov. uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/Advertisingofmedicines/ Advertisinginvestigations/CON111611.
- 1151. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaints: clinics advertising botlinum toxin products – March 2011. 14 April 2011. http://www.mhra. gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/Advertisingofmedicines/ Advertisinginvestigations/CON114548.
- 1152. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaints: clinics advertising bottlinum toxin products – April 2011. 13 May 2011. http://www.mhra.gov. uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/Advertisingofmedicines/ Advertisinginvestigations/CON117398.
- 1153. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaints: clinics advertising botulinum toxin products – May 2011. 19 July 2011. http://www.mhra.gov. uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/Advertisingofmedicines/ Advertisinginvestigations/CON123166.
- 1154. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaints: clinics advertising botlinum toxin products – June 2011. 19 July 2011. http://www.mhra.gov. uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/Advertisingofmedicines/ Advertisinginvestigations/CON123230.
- 1155. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaints: clinics advertising botulinum toxin products – July 2011. 5 September 2011. http://www.mhra. gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/Advertisingofmedicines/ Advertisinginvestigations/CON128952.
- 1156. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaints: Clinics advertising botulinum toxin products – August 2011. 28 September 2011. http://www.mhra. gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/Advertising/medicines/ Advertising/investigations/CON129218.
- 1157. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaints: clinics advertising botulinum toxin products – September 2011. 12 October 2011. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/ Advertisingofmedicines/Advertisinginvestigations/CON131922.
- 1158. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaint: clinics advertising botulinum toxin products – October 2011. 14 November 2011. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/ Medicinesregulatorynews/CON134907.
- 1159. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Advertising complaint: clinics advertising botulinum toxin products – November 2011. 5 January 2012. http://www.mhra. gov.uk/Howweregulate/Medicines/Advertisingofmedicines/ Advertisinginvestigations/CON140630.
- 1160. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Clinics advertising botulinum toxin products – December 2011. 26 January 2012. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howweregulate/ Medicines/Advertisingofmedicines/Advertisinginvestigations/ CON140842.
- 1161. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Clinics advertising botulinum toxin products – January 2012. 5 March 2012. http://www.mhra.gov.uk/Howweregulate/ Medicines/Advertisingofmedicines/Advertisinginvestigations/ CON146490.
- 1162. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Botulinum Toxin Type A powder for solution for ilnjection (Clostridium botulinum toxin type A – Haemagglutinin complex) PL 06958/0028. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency, 2010.
- 1163. Dang JM, Francis J, Durfor CN, Mirsaidi N, Shoaibi A. Executive summary. Dermal filler devices. Food and Drug Administration, 2008.
- 1164. Hanke CW, Rohrich RJ, Busso M, Carruthers A, Carruthers J, Fagien S, et al. Facial soft-tissue fillers: assessing the state of the science conference—proceedings report. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2011;64(4 suppl):S53-65.
- 1165. Schmidt C. FDA approves first cell therapy for wrinkle-free visage. Nat Biotechnol. 2011;29:674–5.
- VISage: Nat Diversition. 2011;e0:01-01.
 1166. Lemperle G, Duffy DM. Treatment options for dermal filler complications. Aesthet Surg J. 2006;26:356–64.
- 1167. Mercer NSG. Dermal fillers are medical devices in the UK. BMJ. 2009;339:b2923.

- 1168. Lenzer J. Watching over the medical device industry. BMJ. 2009;338:b2321. Correction in: BMJ 2009;339:b2872.
- Wilmshurst P. The regulation of medical devices. BMJ. 2011;342:d2822.
- 1170. Cohen D, Billingsley M. Europeans are left to their own devices. BMJ. 2011;342:d2748.
- 1171. **Billingsley M.** Clinical data on high risk medical devices should be made publicly available. BMJ. 2011;342:d4162.
- Heneghan C. The saga of Poly Implant Prosthese breast implants. BMJ. 2012;344:e306.
- 1173. Virag R. Intracavernous injection of papaverine for erectile failure. Lancet. 1982;2:938.
- 1174. Brindley GS. Cavernosal alpha–blockade: a new technique for investigating and treating erectile impotence. Br J Psychiatry. 1983;143:332–7.
- 1175. Klotz L. How (not) to communicate new scientific information: a memoir of the famous Brindley lecture. BJU Int. 2005;96:956–7.
- 1176. Brindley GS. Pilot experiments on the actions of drugs injected into the human corpus cavernosum penis. Br J Pharmacol. 1986;87:495–500.
- 1177. Brindley GS. Intrapenile drug delivery systems. Int J STD AIDS. 1996;7 Suppl 3:13–5.
- Althof SE, Turner LA, Levine SB, Risen C, Kursh E, Bodner D, et al. Why do so many people drop out from auto-injection therapy for impotence? J Sex Marital Ther. 1989;15:121–9.
- 1179. Boolell M, Allen MJ, Ballard SA, Gepi-Attee S, Muirhead GJ, Naylor AM, et al. Sildenafil: an orally active type 5 cyclic GMP-specific phosphodiesterase inhibitor for the treatment of penile erectile dysfunction. Int J Impot Res. 1996;8:47–52.
- 1180. Boolell M, Gepi–Attee S, Gingell JC, Allen MJ. Sildenafil, a novel effective oral therapy for male erectile dysfunction. Br J Urol. 1996;78:257–61.
- 1181. Stief CG, Uckert S, Becker AJ, Truss MC, Jonas U. The effect of the specific phosphodiesterase (PDE) inhibitors on human and rabbit cavernous tissue in vitro and in vivo. J Urol. 1998;159:1390–3.
- 1182. Goldstein I, Lue TF, Padma–Nathan H, Rosen RC, Steers WD, Wicker PA. Oral sildenafil in the treatment of erectile dysfunction. Sildenafil Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1998;338:1397–1404.
- 1183. Campbell SF. Science, art and drug discovery: a personal perspective. Clin Sci. 2000;99:255–60.
- 1184. Rajfer J. Discovery of NO in the penis. Int J Impot Res. 2008;20:431–6.
- 1185. Guirguis WR. Oral treatment of erectile dysfunction: from herbal remedies to designer drugs. J Sex Marital Ther. 1998;24:69–73.
- 1186. Rosen RC. Sildenafil: medical advance or media event? Lancet. 1998;351:1599–1600.
- 1187. Rajfer J. From the lab to the clinic. J Urol. 1998;159:1792.
- 1188. Berger A. The rise and fall of Viagra. BMJ. 1998;317:824.
- 1189. Smith R. Viagra and rationing: Let the sunlight in, let the people speak. BMJ. 1998;317:760.
- 1190. Gregoire A. Viagra: on release. Evidence on the effectiveness of sildenafil is good. BMJ. 1998;317:759–60.
- Bloom BS, Iannacone RC. Internet availability of prescription pharmaceuticals to the public. Ann Intern Med. 1999;131:830–3.
- 1192. Tsertsvadze A, Fink HA, Yazdi F, MacDonald R, Bella AJ, Ansari MT, et al. Oral phosphodiesterase–5 inhibitors and hormonal treatments for erectile dysfunction: a systematic review and meta–analysis. Ann Intern Med. 2009;151:650–61.
- 1193. Herper M. "Weekend pill" takes on Viagra. 24 November 2003. http://www.forbes.com/2003/11/24/cx mh 1124cialis.html
- 1194. tom5852. My bremelanotide (PT-141) experiment. 28 March 2006. http://melanotan.org/cgi-bin/yabb/YaBB. pl?num=1143548875.
- 1195. **boston.** Another bremelanotide experiment. 31 March 2006. http://melanotan.org/cgi-bin/yabb/YaBB.pl?num=1143788463.
- 1196. TraderJim. Yet another bremelanotide (PT-141) experiment. 3 April 2006. http://melanotan.org/cgi-bin/yabb/YaBB. pl?num=1144090118.
- 1197. GLCARTER. Results from bremelanotide (PT-141) at Synergy Scientific. melanotan.org. 25 August 2006. http://melanotan. org/cgi-bin/yabb/YaBb.pl?num=1156489668.
- 1198. drag67. New user. 22 March 2010. http://melanotan.org/cgibin/yabb/YaBB.pl?num=1269280107.
- 1199. No author listed. Bremelanotide (PT-141) and melanotan II (sexual) usage and experimentation. Accessed 26 January 2012. http://melanotan.org/cgi-bin/yabb/YaBB. pl?board=bremelanotide-exp.
- 1200. Molinoff PB, Shadiack AM, Earle D, Diamond LE, Quon CY. PT-141: a melanocortin agonist for the treatment of sexual dysfunction. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2003;994:96–102.

- 1201. Diamond LE, Earle DC, Rosen RC, Willett MS, Molinoff PB. Double–blind, placebo–controlled evaluation of the safety, pharmacokinetic properties and pharmacodynamic effects of intranasal PT-141, a melanocortin receptor agonist, in healthy males and patients with mild–to–moderate erectile dysfunction. Int J Impot Res. 2004;16:51–9.
- 1202. Rosen RC, Diamond LE, Earle DC, Shadiack AM, Molinoff PB. Evaluation of the safety, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamic effects of subcutaneously administered PT-141, a melanocortin receptor agonist, in healthy male subjects and in patients with an inadequate response to Viagra. Int J Impot Res. 2004;16:135–42.
- 1203. Pfaus JG, Shadiack A, Van Soest T, Tse M, Molinoff P. Selective facilitation of sexual solicitation in the female rat by a melanocortin receptor agonist. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2004;101:10201–4.
- 1204. Diamond LE, Earle DC, Garcia WD, Spana C. Co-administration of low doses of intranasal PT-141, a melanocortin receptor agonist, and sildenafil to men with erectile dysfunction results in an enhanced erectile response. Urology. 2005;65:755–9.
- 1205. Diamond LE, Earle DC, Heiman JR, Rosen RC, Perelman MA, Harning R. An effect on the subjective sexual response in premenopausal women with sexual arousal disorder by bremelanotide (PT-141), a melanocortin receptor agonist. J Sex Med. 2006;3:628–38.
- 1206. Rössler A–S, Pfaus JG, Kia HK, Bernabé J, Alexandre L, Giuliano F. The melanocortin agonist, melanotan II, enhances proceptive sexual behaviors in the female rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 2006;85:514–21.
- 1207. Pfaus J, Giuliano F, Gelez H. Bremelanotide: an overview of preclinical CNS effects on female sexual function. J Sex Med. 2007;4(Suppl 4):269–79.
- 1208. Safarinejad MR, Hosseini SY. Salvage of sildenafil failures with bremelanotide: a randomized, double–blind, placebo controlled study. J Urol. 2008;179:1066–71.
- 1209. Safarinejad MR. Evaluation of the safety and efficacy of bremelanotide, a melanocortin receptor agonist, in female subjects with arousal disorder: a double-blind placebocontrolled, fixed dose, randomized study. J Sex Med. 2008;5:887–97.
- 1210. Palatin Technologies, Inc. Bremelanotide for Female Sexual Dysfunction. 26 January 2012. http://www.palatin.com/ products/bremelanotide.asp.
- 1211. No author listed. Bremelanotide in premenopausal women with Female Sexual Arousal Disorder and/or Hypoactive Sexual Desire Disorder. 9 January 2012. http://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ ct2/show/NCT01382719?term=bremelanotide&rank=1.
- 1212. Musacchio NS, Hartrich M, Garofalo R. Erectile dysfunction and viagra use: what's up with college–age males? J Adolesc Health. 2006;39:452–4.
- 1213. Santtila P, Sandnabba NK, Jern P, Varjonen M, Witting K, Pahlen von der B. Recreational use of erectile dysfunction medication may decrease confidence in ability to gain and hold erections in young males. Int J Impot Res. 2007;19:591–6.
- 1214. Peters RJ, Johnson RJ, Kelder S, Meshack AF, Jefferson T. Beliefs and social norms about sildenafil citrate (Viagra) misuse and perceived consequences among Houstonian teenage males. Am J Men's Health. 2007;1:208–12.
- 1215. Freitas VM de, Menzes FG de, Antonialli MMS, Nascimento JWL. Use of phosphodiesterase–5 inhibitors by college students. Rev Saude Publica. 2008;42:965–7.
- 1216. Korkes F, Costa–Matos A, Gasperini R, Reginato PV, Perez MDC. Recreational use of PDE5 inhibitors by young healthy men: recognizing this issue among medical students. J Sex Med. 2008;5:2414–8.
- 1217. Korkes F, Costa–Matos A, Gasperini R, Reginato PV, Perez MDC. Recreational use of PDE5 inhibitors by young healthy men: recognizing this issue among medical students. J Sex Med. 2008;5:2414–8.
- 1218. Bechara A, Casabé A, De Bonis W, Helien A, Bertolino MV. Recreational use of phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors by healthy young men. J Sex Med. 2010;7:3736–42.
- Swearingen SG, Klausner JD. Sildenafil use, sexual risk behavior, and risk for sexually transmitted diseases, including HIV infection. Am J Med. 2005;118:571–7.
- 1220. Benotsch EG, Seeley S, Mikytuck JJ, Pinkerton SD, Nettles CD, Ragsdale K. Substance use, medications for sexual facilitation, and sexual risk behavior among traveling men who have sex with men. Sex Transm Dis. 2006;33:706–11.
- 1221. Sanchez TH, Gallagher KM. Factors associated with recent sildenafil (Viagra) use among men who have sex with men in the United States. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2006;42:95–100.
- 1222. Prestage G, Jin F, Kippax S, Zablotska I, Imrie J, Grulich A. Use of illicit drugs and erectile dysfunction medications and subsequent HIV infection among gay men in Sydney, Australia. J Sex Med. 2009;6:2311–20.

- 1223. Drumright LN, Gorbach PM, Little SJ, Strathdee SA. Associations between substance use, erectile dysfunction medication and recent HIV infection among men who have sex with men. AIDS Behav. 2009;13:328–36.
- 1224. Nettles CD, Benotsch EG, Uban KA. Sexual risk behaviors among men who have sex with men using erectile dysfunction medications. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2009;23:1017–23.
- 1225. Wei C, Guadamuz TE, Lim SH, Huang Y, Koe S. Patterns and levels of illicit drug use among men who have sex with men in Asia. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2012;120:246–9.
- 1226. Harte CB, Meston CM. Recreational use of erectile dysfunction medications in undergraduate men in the United States: characteristics and associated risk factors. Arch Sex Behav. 2011;40:597–606.
- 1227. Mondaini N, Ponchietti R, Muir GH, Montorsi F, Di Loro F, Lombardi G, et al. Sildenafil does not improve sexual function in men without erectile dysfunction but does reduce the postorgasmic refractory time. Int J Impot Res. 2003;15:225–8.
- 1228. Giuliano F, Jackson G, Montorsi F, Martin-Morales A, Raillard P. Safety of siidenafii citrate: review of 67 doubleblind placebo-controlled trials and the postmarketing safety database. Int J Clin Pract. 2010;64:240–55.
- 1229. Tsertsvadze A, Fink HA, Yazdi F, MacDonald R, Bella AJ, Ansari MT, et al. Oral phosphodiesterase–5 inhibitors and hormonal treatments for erectile dysfunction: a systematic review and meta–analysis. Ann Intern Med. 2009;151:650–61.
- 1230. Webb DJ, Freestone S, Allen MJ, Muirhead GJ. Sildenafil citrate and blood-pressure-lowering drugs: results of drug interaction studies with an organic nitrate and a calcium antagonist. Am J Cardiol. 1999;83:21C–28C.
- 1231. Maher B. Poll results: look who's doping. Nature. 2008;452:674–5.
- 1232. Jones R, Morris K, Nutt D. Cognition enhancers. Department for Business, Innovation and Skills, 2005.
- 1233. Repantis D, Schlattmann P, Laisney O, Heuser I. Modafinil and methylphenidate for neuroenhancement in healthy individuals: A systematic review. Pharmacol Res. 2010;62:187–206.
- 1234. Franke AG, Bonertz C, Christmann M, Huss M, Fellgiebel A, Hildt E, et al. Non-medical use of prescription stimulants and illicit use of stimulants for cognitive enhancement in pupils and students in Germany. Pharmacopsychiatry. 2011;44:60–6.
- 1235. Lennard N. One in ten takes drugs to study. Varsity. 6 March 2009:1, 5.
- 1236. Duff G. Strattera (atomoxetine) conclusions of a risk:benefit review. 17 February 2006. http://www.mhra. gov.uk/Safetyinformation/Safetywarningsalertsandrecalls/ Safetywarningsandmessagesformedicines/CON2023222.
- 1237. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency, Commission on Human Medicines. Atomoxetine: risk of psychotic or manic symptoms. Drug Saf Update. 2009;2(8):4.
- 1238. Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use. Paroxetine - Article 31 referral - annex I, II, III, IV. European Medicines Agency,2005.
- 1239. Brülde, B. Is mood enhancement a legitimate goal of medicine. In: Savulescu J, ter Meulen R, Kahane G, eds. Enhancing human capacities. Wiley–Blackwell, 2011:218–229.
- 1240. The Medicines for Human Use (Kava-kava) (Prohibition) Order 2002. SI 2002/3170. The Stationery Office, 2002.
- 1241. The Medicines (Aristolochia and Mu Tong etc.) (Prohibition) Order 2001. Sl 2001/1841. The Stationery Office, 2001.
- 1242. World Health Organization. A60/24. Progress in the rational use of medicines. World Health Organization, 2007.
- 1243. World Health Organization. Rational use of medicines. Accessed 31 January 2012. http://www.who.int/medicines/ areas/rational_use/en/.
- 1244. Mintzes B, Barer ML, Kravitz RL, Bassett K, Lexchin J, Kazanjian A, et al. How does direct-to-consumer advertising (DTCA) affect prescribing? A survey in primary care environments with and without legal DTCA. CMAJ. 2003;169:405–12.
- 1245. Stephens M: Introduction. In: Talbot J, Waller P, eds. Stephens' detection of new adverse drug reactions. John Wiley & Sons, 2004:35–59.
- 1246. Slovic P. The perception of risk. Earthscan, 2000.
- 1247. **Slovic P.** The feeling of risk: new perspectives on risk perception. Routledge, 2010.
- 1248. Mayor S. UK pilot allows pharmacists to supply sildenafil without prescription. BMJ. 2007;334:387.
- 1249. Wise J. UK supermarket is granted licence to sell Viagra to reduce internet sales. BMJ. 2010;341:c5294.



North West Public Health Observatory Centre for Public Health Faculty of Health and Applied Social Sciences Liverpool John Moores University 2nd Floor Henry Cotton Campus 15-21 Webster Street Liverpool L3 2ET

 Tel:
 0151 231 4535

 E-mail:
 nwpho-contact@jmu.ac.uk

 Web:
 www.nwpho.org.uk

 www.cph.org.uk

 ISBN:
 978-1-908929-01-3 (print)

 978-1-908929-02-0 (web)



Published April 2012